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			Chapter 1

			On the forty-eighth floor of a glistening tower on the southern tip of Manhattan, Mitch McDeere stood alone in his office and gazed out the window at Battery Park and the busy waters beyond. Boats of all shapes and sizes crisscrossed the harbor. Massive cargo ships laden with containers waited almost motionless. The Staten Island Ferry inched past Ellis Island. A cruise ship packed with tourists headed out to sea. A mega yacht was making a splendid entrance into the city. A brave soul on a fifteen-foot catamaran zigzagged about, dodging everything. A thousand feet above the water no fewer than five helicopters buzzed about like angry hornets. In the far distance, trucks on the Verrazano Bridge stood still, bumper to bumper. Lady Liberty watched it all from her majestic perch. It was a spectacular view that Mitch tried to appreciate at least once each day. Occasionally he succeeded, but most days were too hectic to allow time for such loafing. He was on the clock, his life was ruled by it, just like the hundreds of other lawyers in the building. Scully & Pershing had over two thousand scattered around the world and vainly considered itself to be the premier international firm on the planet. Its New York partners, and Mitch was one, rewarded themselves with larger offices in the heart of the financial district. The firm was now a hundred years old and reeked of prestige, power, and money.

			He glanced at his watch and the sightseeing came to an end. A pair of associates knocked and entered for another meeting. They met around a small table as a secretary offered coffee. They declined and she left. Their client was a Finnish shipping company having problems in South Africa. The authorities there had embargoed a freighter packed with electronics from Taiwan. Empty, the ship was worth about a hundred million. Fully loaded, it was worth twice that, and the South Africans were upset over some tariff issues. Mitch had been to Capetown twice in the past year and was not keen to return. After half an hour, he dismissed the associates with a list of instructions, and welcomed another pair.

			At 5 P.M. sharp he checked in with his secretary, who was leaving, and walked past the elevators to the stairs. For short rides up and down he avoided the elevators to escape the mindless chitchat of lawyers he knew and didn’t know. He had many friends in the firm and only a handful of known enemies, and there was always a new wave of fresh associates and eager junior partners with faces and names he was supposed to recognize. Often he did not, nor did he have time to pore over the firm directory and try to memorize them. So many would be gone before he knew their names.

			Taking the stairs worked his legs and lungs and always reminded him that he was no longer in college, no longer playing football and intramural basketball and able to do so for hours. He was forty-one and still in decent shape because he watched his diet and skipped lunch at least three times a week while he worked out in the firm’s gym. Another perk for partners only.

			He left the stairwell on the forty-second floor and hustled to the office of Willie Backstrom, another partner, but one with the luxury of not billing by the hour. Willie had the enviable position of running the firm’s pro bono programs, and though he kept up with his hours he did not send bills. There was no one to pay them. The lawyers at Scully made plenty of money, especially the partners, and the firm was notorious for its commitment to pro bono work. It volunteered for difficult cases around the world. Every lawyer was required to donate at least 10 percent of his or her time to various causes, all approved by Willie.

			There was an even split down the middle of the firm on the issue of pro bono work. Half the lawyers enjoyed it because it was a welcome break from the stressful grind of representing high-pressure corporate clients. For a few hours a month, a lawyer could represent a real person or a struggling nonprofit and not worry about sending bills and getting paid. The other half paid lip service to the lofty notion of giving back but considered it wasteful. Those 250 hours a year could be better spent making money and improving one’s standing with the various committees that determined who got promoted, who made partner, and who eventually got the boot.

			Willie Backstrom kept the peace, which wasn’t really that difficult because no lawyer, regardless of his or her ambition, would ever criticize the firm’s aggressive pro bono programs. Scully even gave annual awards to its lawyers who went beyond the call of duty in service to the less fortunate.

			Mitch was currently spending four hours a week working with a homeless shelter in the Bronx and representing clients who were fighting evictions. It was safe, clean office work, which was just what he wanted. Seven months earlier he had watched a death row client in Alabama utter his last words before being executed. He’d spent eight hundred hours over six years trying in vain to save the guy, and watching him die was heartbreaking, the ultimate failure.

			Mitch wasn’t sure what Willie wanted, but the fact that he’d been called in was an ominous sign.

			Willie was the only lawyer at Scully with a ponytail, and a bad one at that. It was gray and matched his beard, and just a few years before someone higher up would have told him to shave and get a haircut. But the firm was working hard to shed its fossilized image as a white-collar club filled with white men in dark suits. One of its radical changes was the ditching of a dress code. Willie grew hair and whiskers and went about his work in jeans.

			Mitch, still in a dark suit but with no tie, sat across the desk as they went through the small talk. Willie finally got around to it with “Say, Mitch, there’s a case down south I want you to take a look at.”

			“Please don’t tell me the guy is on death row.”

			“The guy is on death row.”

			“I can’t do it, Willie. Please. I’ve had two of those in the past five years and both got the needle. My track record is not very good.”

			“You did great work, Mitch. No one could have saved those two.”

			“I can’t take another one.”

			“Will you at least listen?”

			Mitch conceded and shrugged. Willie’s fondness for death row cases was legendary and few lawyers at Scully could say no to him. “Okay, I’ll listen.”

			“His name is Tad Kearny and he’s got ninety days. A month ago he made the strange decision to fire his lawyers, all of them, and he had quite a team.”

			“Sounds crazy.”

			“Oh, he is. Off-the-charts crazy, probably legally insane, but Tennessee is pushing hard nonetheless. Ten years ago he shot and killed three undercover narcotics officers in a drug bust that went haywire. Bodies everywhere, total of five died at the scene. Tad almost died, but they managed to save him so they could execute him later.”

			Mitch laughed in frustration and said, “And I’m supposed to ride in on a white horse and save the guy? Come on, Willie. Give me something to work with.”

			“There’s virtually nothing to work with, except insanity. The problem is that he probably won’t agree to see you.”

			“Then why bother?”

			“Because we have to try, Mitch, and I think you’re our best bet.”

			“I’m still listening.”

			“Well, he reminds me a lot of you.”

			“Gee thanks.”

			“No, seriously. He’s white, your age, and from Dane County, Kentucky.”

			For a second Mitch couldn’t respond, then managed to say, “Great. We’re probably cousins.”

			“I don’t think so, but his father worked in the coal mines, same as yours. And both died there.”

			“My family is off-limits.”

			“Sorry. You caught a lucky break and had the brains to get out. Tad did not and before long was involved with drugs, both as a user and a dealer. He and some pals were making a big delivery near Memphis when they were ambushed by narcotics officers. Everybody died but Tad. Looks like his luck has finally run out.”

			“No question about his guilt?”

			“Certainly not for the jury. The issue is not guilt but insanity. The idea is to have him evaluated by some specialists, our doctors, and file a last-minute Hail Mary. First, though, someone has to go in and talk to the man. Right now he’s not accepting visitors.”

			“And you think we’ll bond?”

			“It’s a long shot, but why not give it a try?”

			Mitch took a deep breath and tried to think of another way out. To pass the time he asked, “Who’s got the case?”

			“Well, technically, no one. Tad has become quite the jailhouse lawyer and he filed the necessary papers to terminate his attorneys. Amos Patrick represented him for a long time, one of the best down there. You know Amos?”

			“I met him once at a conference. Quite the character.”

			“Most death row lawyers are real characters.”

			“Look, Willie, I have no desire to become known as a death row lawyer. I’ve been there twice and that’s enough. These cases eat at you and become all-consuming. How many of your clients have you watched die?”

			Willie closed his eyes and took a deep breath. Mitch whispered, “Sorry.”

			“Too many, Mitch. Let’s just say I’ve been there. Look, I’ve talked to Amos, and talked and talked, and he likes the idea. He’ll drive you to the prison, and who knows, maybe Tad will find you interesting enough to have a chat.”

			“Sounds like a dead end.”

			“In ninety days it will certainly be a dead end, but at least we will have tried.”

			Mitch stood and walked to a window. Willie’s view was westward, over the Hudson. “Amos is in Memphis, right?”

			“Yes.”

			“I really don’t want to go back to Memphis. Too much history.”

			“Ancient history, Mitch. Fifteen years ago. You picked the wrong firm and had to leave.”

			“Had to leave? Hell, they were trying to kill me down there. People were dying, Willie, and the whole firm went to prison. Along with their clients.”

			“They all deserved prison, didn’t they?”

			“I suppose, but I got the blame.”

			“And they’re all gone now, Mitch. Scattered.”

			Mitch returned to his chair and smiled at his friend. “Just curious, Willie. Do people around here talk about me and what happened in Memphis?”

			“No, it’s never mentioned. We know the story but no one has the time to gossip about it. You did the right thing, got away, and started over. You’re one of our stars, Mitch, and that’s all that matters at Scully.”

			“I don’t want to go back to Memphis.”

			“You need the hours. You’re kinda light this year.”

			“I’ll catch up. Why can’t you find me some nice little foundation in need of pro bono counsel? Maybe an outfit that feeds hungry kids or delivers clean water to Haiti?”

			“You’d be miserable. You prefer action, drama, the ticking clock.”

			“Been there, done that.”

			“Please. I’m asking for a favor. There’s really no one else. And there’s an excellent chance you won’t get in the prison door.”

			“I really don’t want to go back to Memphis.”

			“Man up. There’s a direct flight tomorrow at one-thirty out of LaGuardia. Amos is expecting you. If nothing else, you’ll enjoy his company.”

			Mitch smiled in defeat. As he stood, he mumbled, “Okay, okay,” and headed to the door. “You know, I think I do remember some Kearnys in Dane County.”

			“Attaboy. Go visit Tad. You’re right. He might be a distant cousin.”

			“Not distant enough.”

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 2

			Most Scully partners, along with many of their rivals in Big Law, as well as countless money runners on Wall Street, scurried from the tall buildings around 6 P.M. and hopped into black sedans driven by professionals. The more important hedge fund stars sat in the spacious rear seats of long European cars they actually owned and were driven by chauffeurs on their payroll. The truly essential masters of the universe had fled the city altogether and lived and worked quietly in Connecticut.

			Though he could afford a car service Mitch took the subway, one of his many concessions to frugality and his humble past. He caught the 6:10 train at South Ferry, found a seat on a crowded bench, and, as always, buried his face behind a newspaper. Eye contact was to be avoided. The car was packed with other well-heeled professionals headed north, none of whom had any interest in chatting. There was nothing wrong with riding the subway. It was quick, easy, cheap, and, for the most part, safe. The rub was that the other passengers were, in some fashion, Wall Streeters, and as such were either making plenty of money or on the verge of it. Private sedans were almost within reach. Their subway days were almost over.

			Mitch had no time for such nonsense. He flipped through the newspaper, patiently squeezed even closer to other passengers as the car took on more riders, and allowed his mind to drift away to Memphis. He had never said he would never return. Between him and Abby, that promise did not have to be expressed. Getting away from the place had been so frightening that they could not imagine going back for any reason. However, the more he thought about it, the more intrigued he became. It was a quick trip that would probably lead nowhere. He was doing Willie a huge favor, one that would undoubtedly lead to a nice payback.

			After twenty-two minutes, he emerged from underground at the Columbus Circle station and began the daily walk to his apartment. It was a splendid April evening, with pleasant skies and temperature, one of those postcard moments when half the city’s population seemed to be outdoors. Mitch, though, hurried home.

			Their building was on Sixty-Ninth Street at Columbus Avenue, in the heart of the Upper West Side. Mitch spoke to the doorman, collected the daily mail, and rode the elevator to the fourteenth floor. Clark opened the door and reached up for a hug. At the age of eight, he was still a little boy and unashamed to show his father some affection. Carter, his twin, was slightly more mature and already outgrowing the rituals of physical contact with his father. Mitch would have hugged and kissed Abby and asked about her day, but she had guests in the kitchen. A delicious aroma filled the apartment. Some serious food was being prepared and dinner would be another delight.

			The chefs were the Rosario brothers, Marco and Marcello, also twins. They were from a small village in Lombardia in northern Italy, and two years earlier had opened a trattoria near Lincoln Center. It was a hit from day one and was soon awarded two stars by the Times. Reservations were hard to get; the current waiting time was four months for a table. Mitch and Abby had discovered the place and ate there often, anytime they wanted. Abby had the clout to get a table because she was editing the Rosarios’ first cookbook. She also encouraged them to use her modern kitchen to experiment with new recipes, and at least once a week they descended upon the McDeere apartment with bags of ingredients and a near riotous approach to cooking. Abby was right in the middle of it, rattling away in perfect Italian as Carter and Clark watched from the safety of their stools near a counter. Marco and Marcello loved performing for the kids and explained their preparations in thickly accented English. They also chided the boys into repeating Italian words and phrases.

			Mitch chuckled at the scene as he tossed his briefcase, took off his jacket, and poured a glass of Chianti. He asked the boys about their homework and received the standard assurances that it was all finished. Marco presented a small platter of bruschetta, placed it on the counter in front of the boys, and informed Mitch that he should not worry about homework and such because the boys were doing important work as taste-testers. Mitch pretended to be sufficiently chastised. He would check the homework later.

			The name of their restaurant was, not surprisingly, Rosario’s, and it was embroidered in bold letters across red aprons worn by the chefs. Marcello offered one to Mitch, who, as always, declined on the grounds that he could not cook. When they were alone in the kitchen, Abby allowed him to peel and chop vegetables, measure spices under her watchful eye, set the table, and handle the garbage, all grunt work she deemed acceptable for his talents. He had once elevated himself to the position of sous chef but was rather harshly demoted when he burned a baguette.

			She asked for a small glass of wine. Marco and Marcello declined, as usual. Mitch had learned years earlier that Italians, in spite of their prodigious production of wine and the presence of it at virtually every meal, actually drank little. A carafe of their favorite local red or white would satisfy a large family over a long dinner.

			Due to her knowledge of Italian food and wine, Abby was a senior editor at Epicurean, a small but busy press in the city. The company specialized in cookbooks and published about fifty of them a year, almost all of them thick, handsome editions loaded with recipes from around the world. Because she knew many chefs and restaurant owners, she and Mitch dined out often and seldom bothered with reservations. Their apartment was a favorite laboratory for young chefs dreaming of success in a city crowded with fine restaurants and serious gourmands. Most of the meals prepared there were extraordinary, but since the chefs were free to experiment, there was the occasional dud. Carter and Clark were easy guinea pigs and were being raised in a world of cutting-edge recipes. If the chefs couldn’t please them, their dishes were probably in trouble. The boys were encouraged to pan any dish they didn’t like. Their parents often joked quietly about raising a couple of food snobs.

			Tonight there would be no complaints. The bruschetta was followed by a small truffle pizza. Abby announced that the appetizers were over and directed her family to the dining table. Marco served the first course, a spiced fish soup called cacciucco, as Marcello found a seat. All six took a small bite, savored the flavors, and thought about their reactions. It was slow eating and this often bothered the kids. The pasta course was cappelletti, small ravioli in beef broth. Carter in particular loved pasta and declared it delicious. Abby wasn’t so sure. Marco served a second pasta course of risotto with saffron. Since they were conducting research in a lab, a third pasta course of spaghetti in clam sauce was next. The servings were small, only a few bites, and they joked about pacing themselves. The Rosarios bickered back and forth about the ingredients, the variations of the recipes, and so on. Mitch and Abby offered their own opinions, often with the adults all talking at the same time. After the fish course the boys were getting bored. They were soon excused from the table and went upstairs to watch television. They missed the meat course, braised rabbit, and the dessert of panforte, a dense chocolate cake with almonds.

			Over coffee, the McDeeres and Rosarios debated which recipes should be included in the cookbook and which needed more work. It was months away from completion, so there were many dinners to follow.

			Shortly after eight, the brothers were ready to pack up and leave. They needed to hustle back to their restaurant and check on the crowd. After a quick cleanup and the usual round of hugs, they left with serious promises to return next week.

			When the apartment was quiet, Mitch and Abby returned to the kitchen. As always, it was still a mess. They finished loading the dishwasher, stacked some pots and pans by the sink, and turned off the light. The housekeeper would be there in the morning.
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			With the boys tucked in, they retired to the study for a nightcap, a glass of Barolo. They replayed the dinner, talked about work, and unwound.

			Mitch couldn’t wait to deliver the news. “I’ll be out of town tomorrow night,” he said. It was nothing new. He was often gone ten nights a month, and she had accepted the demands of his job a long time ago.

			“It’s not on the calendar,” she said with a shrug. Clocks and calendars ruled their lives and they were diligent with their planning. “Somewhere fun?”

			“Memphis.”

			She nodded, trying and failing to hide her surprise. “Okay, I’m listening, and this better be good.”

			He smiled and gave her a quick summary of his conversation with Willie Backstrom.

			“Please, Mitch, not another death row case. You promised.”

			“I know, I know, but I couldn’t say no to Willie. It’s a desperate situation and it’s probably a wasted trip. I said I would try.”

			“I thought we were never going back there.”

			“So did I. But it’s only for twenty-four hours.”

			She took a sip of her wine and closed her eyes. When they reopened she said, “We haven’t talked about Memphis in a long time, have we?”

			“No. No need to, really. But it’s been fifteen years and everything has changed.”

			“I still don’t like it.”

			“I’ll be fine, Abby. No one will recognize me. All the bad guys are gone.”

			“You hope. As I recall, Mitch, we left town in the middle of the night, scared to death, certain the bad guys were after us.”

			“And they were. But they’re gone. Some are dead. The firm imploded and everybody went to prison.”

			“Where they belonged.”

			“Yes, but there’s not a single member of the firm still in Memphis. I’ll ease in and out and no one will know.”

			“I don’t like the memories of the place.”

			“Look, Abby, we made the decision a long time ago to live normal lives without looking over our shoulders. What happened there is old history now.”

			“But if you take the case your name will be on the news, right?”

			“If I take the case, which looks doubtful, I won’t hang out in Memphis. The prison is in Nashville.”

			“Then why are you going to Memphis?”

			“Because the lawyer, or ex-lawyer, works there. I’ll visit him in his office, get briefed, then we’ll make the drive to the prison.”

			“Scully has about a million lawyers. Surely they can find someone else.”

			“There’s not much time. If the client refuses to see me, then I’m off the hook and back home before you even miss me.”

			“Who says I’ll miss you? You’re gone all the time.”

			“Yes and I know you’re miserable when I’m out of town.”

			“We can hardly survive.” She smiled, shook her head, and reminded herself that arguing with Mitch was a waste of time. “Please be careful.”

			“I promise.”

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 3

			The first time Mitch had stepped into the ornate lobby of the Peabody hotel in downtown Memphis, he was two months shy of his twenty-fifth birthday. He was a third-year student at Harvard Law and would graduate the following spring number four in his class. In his pocket he had three splendid job offers from mega firms, two in New York and one in Chicago. None of his friends could understand why he would waste a trip to visit a firm in Memphis, which was not exactly in the major leagues of Big Law. Abby was also skeptical.

			He’d been driven by greed. Though the Bendini firm was small, only forty lawyers, it was offering more money and perks and a faster track to a partnership. But he had rationalized the greed, even managed to deny it, and convinced himself that a small-town kid would feel more at home in a smaller city. The firm had a family feel to it, and no one ever left. Not alive anyway. He should have known that an offer too good to be true came with serious strings and baggage. He and Abby lasted only seven months and were lucky to escape.

			Back then they had walked through the lobby, holding hands and gawking at the rich furnishings, oriental rugs, art, and the fabulous fountain in the center with ducks swimming in circles.

			They were still swimming and he wondered if they were the same ducks. He got a diet soda at the bar and fell into a thick chair near the fountain. The memories came in a torrent: the giddiness of being heavily recruited; the relief that law school was almost over; the unbounded certainty of a bright future; a new career, new home, fancy car, fat salary. He and Abby had even talked of starting a family. Sure, he’d had some doubts, but they had begun to dissipate the moment he entered the Peabody.

			How could he have been so foolish? Had it really been fifteen years? They were just kids back then, and so naive.

			He finished his drink and walked to the desk to check in. He had reserved a room for one night in the name of Mitchell Y. McDeere, and as he waited for the receptionist to find his reservation, he had the fleeting thought that someone might remember him. The receptionist did not, nor would anyone else. Too much time had passed and the conspirators who’d chased him were long gone. He went to his room, changed into jeans, and left the hotel for a walk.

			Three blocks away, on Front Street, he stood and stared at a five-story edifice once known as the Bendini Building. He almost shuddered at the memories of his brief but complicated time there. He recalled names and saw old faces, all of them gone now, either dead or living quiet lives elsewhere. The building had been renovated, renamed, and was now packed with condos advertising views of the river. He walked on and found Lansky’s Deli, an old Memphis tradition that had not changed. He went in, took a seat on a stool at the counter, and asked for coffee. To his right was a row of booths, all empty in the late afternoon. The third one was exactly where he’d been sitting when an FBI agent appeared out of nowhere and began quizzing him about his firm. It had been the beginning of the end, the first clear signal that things were not as they seemed. Mitch closed his eyes and replayed the entire conversation, word for word. Wayne Tarrance was the agent’s name, one he would never forget regardless of how hard he tried.

			When the coffee was gone, he paid for it and left and walked to Main Street where he caught a trolley for a short ride. Some of the buildings were different, some looked the same. Many of them reminded him of events he had struggled to erase from his mind. He got off at a park, found a seat on a bench under a tree, and called the office to see what chaos he was missing. He called Abby and checked on the boys. All was well at home. No, he was not being followed. No one remembered him.

			At dusk he wandered back to the Peabody and took the elevator to the top. The bar on the roof was a popular spot to watch the sunset over the river and have drinks with friends, usually on Friday afternoon after a hard week. During his first visit, his recruiting trip, he and Abby had been entertained there by younger members of the firm and their spouses. Everyone had a spouse. All the lawyers were men. Those were the unwritten rules at Bendini back then. Later, when they were alone, they had a quiet drink on the roof and made the calamitous decision to take the job.

			He got a beer, leaned on a railing, and watched the Mississippi River wind its way past Memphis on its eternal voyage to New Orleans. Massive barges loaded with soybeans inched along under the bridge to Arkansas as the sun finally set beyond the endless flat farm fields. Nostalgia failed him. The days of such promise had vanished within weeks as their lives became an unbelievable nightmare.

			There was only one choice for dinner. He crossed Union Avenue, entered an alley, and could smell the ribs. The Rendezvous was by far the most famous restaurant in town, and he had eaten there many times, as often as possible. On occasion, Abby had met him after work for their famous dry smoked ribs and ice-cold beer. It was Tuesday, and though always busy it was nothing like the weekends when it was not unusual to wait an hour for a table. Reservations were out of the question. A waiter pointed to a table in one of the many cramped dining rooms and Mitch took a seat with a view of the main bar. Menus were unnecessary. Another waiter walked by and asked, “You know what you want?”

			“A full order, small cheese plate, tall beer.” The waiter never stopped walking.

			He had noticed many changes in the city, but there would always be one constant: the Rendezvous would always be the same. The walls were plastered with photos of famous guests, Liberty Bowl programs, neon signs for beer and soft drinks, sketches of old Memphis, and more photos, many from decades earlier. One tradition was to tack a business card to the wall before leaving, and there must have been a million of them. He had done so himself and wondered if there were any left from the lawyers at Bendini, Lambert & Locke. Since it was evident that no one ever bothered to remove a card, he suspected they were still there.

			Ten minutes later the waiter presented a platter of ribs, cheddar cheese, and a side of slaw. The beer was as cold as he remembered. He ripped off a rib, took a large bite, savored it, and had his first pleasant memory of Memphis.
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			The Capital Defense Initiative was founded by Amos Patrick in 1976 soon after the Supreme Court lifted the ban on capital punishment. When that happened, the “death states” scrambled to spruce up their electric chairs and gas chambers and the race was on. They were still trying to out-kill one another. Texas was the clear leader with several states jockeying for second place.

			Amos grew up dirt poor in rural Georgia and had known hunger as a child. His close friends were all black, and as a small kid he was angered by their mistreatment. As a teenager, he began to understand racism and its insidious effects on black people. Though he didn’t understand the word “liberal,” he grew up to become quite a radical. A high school biology teacher recognized his aptitude and steered him to college. Otherwise, he would have spent his life working the peanut fields with his friends.

			Amos was a legend in the confined world of death penalty defense. For thirty years he had waged war on behalf of cold-blooded killers who were guilty of crimes that often defied description. To survive, he had learned to take the crimes, put them in a box, and ignore them. The issue wasn’t guilt. The issue was giving the state, with its flaws, prejudices, and power to screw things up, the right to kill.

			And he was tired. The work had finally beaten him down. He had saved many lives, lost his share along the way, and in doing so built a nonprofit that attracted enough money to sustain itself and enough talent to keep up the fight. His fight was fading fast, though, and his wife and doctor were badgering him to slow down.

			His office was legendary too. It was a bad imitation of 1930s Art Deco that had been expanded and whittled down over the decades. A car dealer built it and once sold new and used Pontiacs along “Auto Row” on Summer Avenue, six miles from the river. With time, though, the dealerships moved on, fled farther east like most of Memphis, and left behind boarded showrooms, many of which were bulldozed. Amos saved the Pontiac place at an auction that attracted no one but him. His mortgage was guaranteed by some sympathetic lawyers in Washington. He cared nothing for style, appearances, and public perception, and he had little money for renovations. He needed a large space with utilities, nothing else. He wasn’t trying to attract clients because he had more than he could handle. The death penalty wars were raging and the prosecutors were on a roll.

			Amos spent a few bucks on paint, drywall, and plumbing, and moved his growing staff into the old Pontiac place. Almost immediately the lawyers and paralegals at CDI adopted a defensive attitude toward their sparse and eclectic workplace. Who else practiced law in a converted bay where they once changed oil and installed mufflers?

			There was no reception area because there were no visiting clients. They were all on death row or some other unit in prisons from Virginia to Arizona. A receptionist was not needed because guests were not expected. Mitch rattled the bell on the front door, stepped into an open area that was once a showroom, and waited for human contact. He was amused by the decor, which was primarily posters advertising shiny new Pontiacs from decades earlier, calendars dating to the 1950s, and a few framed headlines of cases in which the CDI had managed to save a life. There were no carpets, no rugs. The floors were quite original—shiny concrete with permanent stains of paint and oil.

			“Good morning,” said a young lady as she hustled by with a stack of papers.

			“Good morning,” Mitch replied. “I’m supposed to see Amos Patrick at nine o’clock.”

			She had merely greeted him and had not offered to help. She managed a tense smile as if she had better things to do, and said, “Okay, I’ll tell him, but it might be a while. We’re in the middle of a bad morning.” She was gone. No invitation to have a seat, certainly no offer of coffee.

			And what, exactly, might constitute a bad morning in a law firm where every case dealt with death? In spite of the tall front windows with plenty of sunlight, the place had a tense, almost dreary feel to it, as if most days began badly with the lawyers up early and fighting deadlines across the country. There were three plastic chairs in a corner with a coffee table covered in old magazines. The waiting room, of sorts. Mitch sat down, pulled out his phone, and began checking emails. At 9:30, he stretched his legs, watched the traffic on Summer Avenue, called the office because it was expected, and fought off irritation. In his world of clock-driven precision, being half an hour late for an appointment was rare and expected to occur only with a suitable explanation. But he reminded himself that this was a pro bono matter and he was donating his time.

			At 9:50, a kid in jeans stepped around a corner and said, “Mr. McDeere, this way.”

			“Thanks.”

			Mitch followed him out of the showroom and past a large counter where, according to a faded sign, they once sold auto parts. They went through a wide swinging door and into a hallway. The kid stopped at a closed door and said, “Amos is waiting.”

			“Thanks.” Mitch stepped inside and got himself bear-hugged by Amos Patrick, a wild-looking character with a mass of unruly gray hair and an unkempt beard. After the hug they shook hands and exchanged preliminary chitchat: Willie Backstrom, other acquaintances, the weather.

			“Would you like an espresso?” Amos asked.

			“Sure.”

			“Single or double?”

			“What are you having?”

			“A triple.”

			“Make it two.”

			Amos smiled and walked to a counter where he kept an elaborate Italian espresso machine with an inventory of various beans and cups. The man was serious about his coffee. He took two of the larger cups—real, not paper—punched some buttons, and waited for the grinding to start.

			They sat in a corner of his rambling office, under an overhead door that hadn’t been lowered in years. Mitch couldn’t help but notice that Amos’s eyes were red and puffy. Gravely, he said, “Look, Mitch, I’m afraid you’ve wasted a trip down. I’m really sorry, but there’s nothing you can do.”

			“Okay. Willie warned me.”

			“Oh no, not that. Much worse. Early this morning they found Tad Kearny hanging from an electrical cord in the shower. Looks like he beat ’em to the punch.” His voice choked and went silent.

			Mitch could think of no response.

			Amos cleared his throat and managed to say, almost in a whisper, “They’re calling it a suicide.”

			“I’m sorry.”

			For a long time they sat in silence, the only sound being the dripping of coffee. Amos wiped his eyes with a tissue, then struggled to his feet, retrieved the cups, and placed them on a small table. He walked to his remarkably cluttered desk, picked up a sheet of paper, and handed it to Mitch. “This came across about an hour ago.”

			It was a shocking image of a naked, emaciated white man hanging grotesquely from an electrical cord cutting into the flesh of his neck and looped over an exposed pipe. Mitch took one look, turned away, and handed it back.

			“Sorry about that,” Amos said.

			“Wow.”

			“Happens all the time in prison, but not on death row.”

			More silence followed as they sipped espresso. Mitch could think of nothing to say, but the message was clear: the suicide was suspicious.

			Amos stared at a wall and said softly, “I loved that guy. He was crazy as hell and we fought all the time, but I felt such sympathy for him. I learned a long time ago not to get emotionally involved with my clients, but with Tad I couldn’t help it. Kid never had a chance in life, doomed from the day he was born, which is not unusual.”

			“Why did he fire you?”

			“Oh, he fired me several times. It got to be a joke, really. Tad was street-smart and taught himself the law, thought he knew more than any of his lawyers. I stuck with him, though. You’ve been through it. It’s hard not to get consumed by these desperate men.”

			“I’ve lost two of them.”

			“I’ve lost twenty, now twenty-one, but Tad will always be special. I represented him for eight years and during that time he never had a visitor. No friends, no family, no one but me and a chaplain. Talk about a lonely soul. Living in a cage in solitary with no one on the outside, only a lawyer. His mental state deteriorated over the years and the last few times I visited him he refused to say a word. Then he would write me a five-page letter filled with thoughts and ramblings so incoherent it should’ve been clear proof of his schizophrenia.”

			“But you tried insanity.”

			“Tried, yes, but got nowhere. The State fought us at every turn and the courts had no sympathy. We tried everything, and we had a fighting chance a few months ago when he decided to fire his legal team. Not a smart move.”

			“What about guilt?”

			Amos took another sip and shook his head. “Well, the facts were not in his favor, shall we say? A drug runner caught in a sting with narcs, three of whom took bullets to the head and died at the scene. Not a lot of jury appeal. The deliberations lasted about an hour.”

			“So he did kill them?”

			“Oh, yes, shot two in the forehead from forty feet away. The third one took a bullet in the chin. Tad, you see, was an expert shot. Grew up with guns everywhere—in every car and truck, every closet, every drawer. As a kid he could hit targets practically blindfolded. The narcs picked the wrong guy to ambush.”

			Mitch let the word rattle around the room for a moment, then said, “Ambush?”

			“It’s a long story, Mitch, so I’ll give you a quick skinny. Back in the nineties there was a gang of rogue DEA agents who decided the best way to win the war on drugs was to kill the smugglers. They worked with informants, snitches, and other thugs in the trade and set up sting operations. When the delivery boys showed up with the goods, the agents simply killed them. No need to bother with arrests and trials and such, just vigilante justice that was bought hook, line, and sinker by the authorities and the press. Pretty effective way of putting the runners out of business.”

			Mitch was speechless and decided to drink his coffee and listen.

			“To this day they’ve never been exposed, so no one knows how many traffickers they ambushed. And, frankly, no one cares. Looking back, it appears as though they lost some of their enthusiasm when Tad shot three of their buddies. Happened about twenty miles north of Memphis at a rural drop-off point. There were some suspicions, some of the lawyers were putting the pieces together, but no one really wanted to dig too deep. These were nasty, violent men of the law who made their own rules. Those who knew about it were only too happy to help with the cover-up.”

			“And you knew?”

			“Let’s say I suspected, but we don’t have the manpower to investigate something this unbelievable. My wagon is fully loaded with deadlines elsewhere. Tad, though, always knew it was an ambush, and he was making some pretty wild accusations when he fired us. I think he was onto something. Again, the poor kid was so mentally unbalanced it was hard take him seriously.”

			“What are the chances it was not a suicide?”

			Amos grunted and wiped his nose with the back of a sleeve. “I would bet good money, and I don’t have much, that Tad didn’t die by his own hand. I’ll speculate and say that the authorities wanted to keep him quiet until they could kill him properly in July. And we’ll never know because the investigation, if you could call it that, will be a whitewash. There’s no way to find the truth, Mitch. Another one’s gone and nobody cares.” He sniffled and wiped his eyes again.

			“I’m sorry.” Mitch was somewhat surprised that a lawyer who had lost twenty clients to executions would be so emotional. Wouldn’t you get callous and jaded after a few? He had no plans to find out. His time in this little corner of the pro bono world had just come to an end.

			“And I’m sorry too, Mitch. Sorry you made the trip down.”

			“No problem. It was worth it to meet you and see your office.”

			Amos waved at the overhead door attached to the ceiling. “Whatta you think? Who else practices law in an old Pontiac place. Betcha don’t have one of these in New York.”

			“Probably not.”

			“Give it a try. We have an opening, guy quit last week.”

			Mitch smiled and suppressed a laugh. No offense, but the salary would be less than his property taxes in Manhattan. “Thanks, but I’ve tried Memphis.”

			“I remember. The Bendini story was a big one around here for a while. An entire firm blows up and everybody goes to prison. Who could forget it? But your name was hardly mentioned.”

			“I got lucky and got out.”

			“And you’re not coming back.”

			“And I’m not coming back.”

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 4

			In his rental car, Mitch called his secretary and asked her to change his travel plans. He’d missed the morning nonstop to LaGuardia. Connecting flights would take hours and send him crisscrossing most of the country. There was a direct from Nashville at 5:20 and she got him a ticket. Getting to the airport would dovetail nicely with an idea he’d been kicking around.

			The traffic thinned and Memphis was behind him before an unexpected wave of exhilaration hit hard. He had just dodged an awful experience, and the rogue DEA subplot was enough to give a lawyer ulcers, at best. He had taken one for the team, notched a huge favor with Willie Backstrom, and was fleeing Memphis again, this time without threats and other baggage.

			With plenty of time, he stayed on the two-lane highways and enjoyed a peaceful drive. He ignored some calls from New York, checked in with Abby, and loafed at fifty miles an hour. The town of Sumrall was two hours east of Memphis, one hour west of Nashville. It was the county seat and had a population of 18,000, a big number for that part of the rural South. Mitch followed the signs and soon found himself on Main Street, which was one side of the town square. A well-preserved nineteenth-century courthouse sat in the center of the square with statues, gazebos, monuments, and benches scattered about, all protected by the shade of massive oak trees.

			Mitch parked in front of a dress shop and walked around the square. As always, there was no shortage of lawyers and small firms. Again he wondered why his old friend would choose such a life.
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			They met at Harvard in the late fall of Mitch’s third year, when the most prestigious law firms made their annual trek to the school. The recruiting game was the payoff, not for hard work because that was the drill at every law school, but for being smart and lucky enough to get accepted to Harvard. For a poor kid like Mitch, the recruiting was especially thrilling because he could smell money for the first time in his life.

			Lamar had been sent with the team because he was only seven years older than Mitch, and a more youthful image was always important. He and his wife, Kay, had embraced the McDeeres as soon as they arrived in Memphis.

			There had been no contact in fifteen years. The internet made it easy to snoop around and see what folks were doing, especially lawyers, who as a breed, and regardless of their success or lack of it, enjoyed all the attention they could generate. It was good for business. Lamar’s website was rather simple, but then so was his practice: the bland offering of deeds, wills, no-fault divorces, property transactions, and, of course, Personal Injuries!! Every small-town lawyer dreamed of landing some good car wrecks.

			There was no mention of such unpleasantries as Lamar’s indictment, guilty plea, and prison sentence.

			His office was above a sporting goods store. Mitch lumbered up the creaky steps, took a deep breath, and opened the door. A large woman behind a computer screen paused and offered a sweet smile. “Good morning.”

			“Good morning. Is Lamar around?”

			“He’s in court,” she said, nodding behind her in the general direction of the courthouse.

			“A trial?”

			“No, just a hearing. Should be over soon. Can I help you?”

			Mitch handed her a Scully business card and said, “Name’s Mitch McDeere. I’ll try to catch him over there. Which courtroom?”

			“There’s only one. Second floor.”

			“Right. Thanks.”

			It was a handsome courtroom of the old variety: stained wood trimmings, tall windows, portraits of white, dead, male dignitaries on the walls. Mitch eased in and took a seat on the back row. He was the only spectator. The judge was gone and Lamar was chatting with another lawyer. When he finally saw Mitch he was startled, but kept talking. When he finished he slowly made his way down the center aisle and stopped at the end of the row. It was almost noon and the courtroom was empty.

			They watched each other for a moment before Lamar asked, “What are you doing here?”

			“Just passing through.” It was a sarcastic response. Only a lost idiot would be passing through such a backwater place as Sumrall.

			“I’ll ask again. What are you doing here?”

			“I was in Memphis last night, had some business that got canceled. My flight is out of Nashville in a few hours so I made the drive. Thought I’d stop by and say hello.”

			Lamar had lost so much hair he was hardly recognizable. What remained was gray. Like a lot of men, he was trying to replace the thinness on top with the thickness of a beard. But it too was gray, as it usually is, and only added to the aging. He eased down the row in front of Mitch, stopped ten feet away, and leaned on the pew in front. He had yet to smile and asked, “Anything in particular you want to discuss?”

			“Not really. I think about you occasionally and just wanted to say hello.”

			“Hello. You know, Mitch, I think about you too. I spent twenty-seven months in a federal pen because of you, so you’re rather hard to forget.”

			“You spent twenty-seven months in a federal pen because you were a willing member of a criminal conspiracy, one that tried its best to entice me to join. I managed to escape, barely. You got a grudge, so do I.”

			In the background a clerk walked in front of the bench. They watched her and waited until she was gone, then resumed staring at each other.

			Lamar gave a slight shrug and said, “Okay, fair enough. I did the crime and did the time. It’s not something I dwell on.”

			“I’m not here to start trouble. I was hoping we could have a pleasant chat and bury the hatchet, so to speak.”

			Lamar took a deep breath and said, “Well, if nothing else, I admire you for being here. I thought I’d never see you again.”

			“Same here. You were the only real friend I had back in those days, Lamar. We had some good times together, in spite of the pressure and all. Abby and Kay hit it off nicely. We have fond memories of you guys.”

			“Well, we don’t. We lost everything, Mitch, and it was easy to blame it all on you.”

			“The firm was going down, Lamar, you know that. The FBI was hot on the trail and closing in. They picked me because I was the new guy and they figured I was the weak link.”

			“And they were right.”

			“Damned right they were. Since I had done nothing wrong, I made the decision to protect myself. I cooperated and ran like a scared dog. The FBI couldn’t even find me.”

			“Where’d you go?”

			Mitch smiled and slowly got to his feet. “That, my friend, is a long story. Can I buy lunch?”

			“No, but let’s find a table.”
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			The first café on the square was crowded with “too many lawyers,” according to Lamar. They walked another block and found a table in a sandwich shop in the basement of an old hardware store. Each paid for his own lunch and they sat in a corner, away from the crowd.

			“So how’s Kay?” Mitch asked. He assumed they were still married. His cursory internet sleuthing had found no records of a divorce in the past ten years. From time to time, Mitch would recall a face or a name from back then and waste a few minutes online digging for dirt. After fifteen years, though, his curiosity was waning. He took no notes and kept no files.

			“She’s fine, selling medical supplies for a nice company. Doing well. And Abby?”

			“The same. She’s an editor with a publishing company in the city.”

			Lamar took a bite of a turkey roll and nodded along. Epicurean Press, senior editor, a fondness for Italian food and wine. He had found some of her books at a store in Nashville and flipped through the pages. Unlike Mitch, he was keeping a file. Scully partner. International lawyer. The file existed solely for his own curiosity and had no other value.

			“Kids?”

			“Twin boys, age eight, Carter and Clark. Yours?”

			“Wilson is a freshman at Sewanee. Suzanne is in high school. You landed on your feet nicely, didn’t you Mitch? A partner in a major firm, offices around the world and all that. Living the fast life in the big city. The rest of us went to prison while you managed to get out.”

			“I didn’t deserve prison, Lamar, and I was lucky to get out alive. Think of the ones who didn’t make it, including your friends. As I recall, there were five mysterious deaths in about ten years. That about right?”

			Lamar nodded as he chewed. He swallowed and washed it down with iced tea through a straw. “You vanished into thin air. How’d you do it?”

			“You really want the story?”

			“Definitely. It’s been a big question for a long time.”

			“Okay. I have a brother named Ray who was in prison. I convinced the feds to release him in return for my cooperation. He went to Grand Cayman, met a friend there, and arranged a boat ride. A thirty-foot sloop, real nice. Not that I know much about boats. Abby and I sneaked out of Memphis with the clothes on our backs and went to Florida, near Destin. We rendezvoused with the boat and sailed off into the night. We spent a month on Grand Cayman, then sailed to another island.”

			“And you had plenty of money?”

			“Well, yes. I compensated myself with some of the firm’s dirty money and the feds let it slide. After a few months we got tired of the islands and began traveling, always looking over our shoulders. Life on the run is not sustainable.”

			“But the FBI was helping you?”

			“Sure. I gave them all the documents they needed, but I did not agree to testify at trial. I was not going back to Memphis. As you know, there were no trials.”

			“Oh no. We fell like dominoes. They offered me three years for cooperation, or go to trial and face at least twenty. We all caved. The key was Oliver Lambert. They squeezed him till he choked. When he flipped we were all sitting ducks.”

			“And he died in prison.”

			“May he rest in peace, the bastard. Royce McKnight shot himself after he got out. Avery, as you probably know, got himself rubbed out by the Mob. The firm’s final chapter is not pretty. No one returned to Memphis. No one was from there to begin with. Since we were all a bunch of disbarred and convicted felons, we scattered and tried to forget about each other. Bendini is not a popular topic.”

			Mitch stabbed an olive at the bottom of his salad and ate it. “No contact with anyone?”

			“No, not at all. It was a nightmare. One day you’re a hotshot lawyer with a fancy pedigree and plenty of money, all the toys, then, bam, before you know it the FBI is raiding the place, flashing badges, making threats, grabbing computers, locking the doors. We fled in shock and scrambled to find good criminal lawyers. There were only so many in Memphis. For months we waited for the hammer to fall, and when it did our world came to an end. My first night in jail was horrific. I thought I was about to be attacked. I spent three nights before bonding out. Every day it seemed as if there was more bad news—someone else had flipped and was cooperating. I pled guilty in federal court in downtown Memphis, you know the courtroom, with Kay and my parents in the front row, all crying. I thought about suicide every day. Then I shipped out. First stop was Leavenworth in Kansas. A lawyer in prison gives the guards and other inmates an easy target for abuse. Luckily, it was only verbal.”

			He took another bite and seemed tired of talking.

			Mitch said, “I didn’t intend to bring up the part about prison, Lamar. Sorry.”

			“It’s all right. I survived and I got stronger. I was lucky because Kay stuck with me, though it wasn’t easy. We lost the house and other stuff, but it’s all just stuff. You realize what’s important. She and the kids were tough and held on. Her parents were a big help. But there were so many divorces, so many ruined lives. I hit bottom after a year and made the decision that prison would not destroy me. I worked in the law library and helped a lot of guys. I also began studying for the bar exam, again. I was planning my comeback.”

			“How many of our former friends are practicing now?”

			Lamar smiled and grunted as if to say none. “I don’t know of anyone. It’s virtually impossible with a felony conviction. But I had a spotless record in prison, waited my time, passed the bar exam, got plenty of recommendations, and so on. I was turned down twice, but the third time worked. Now I’m a small-town ham-and-egg lawyer trying to eke out sixty thousand bucks a year. Thankfully, Kay makes more than that so we can afford tuition.” He took a quick bite and said, “I’m tired of talking. How did you go from a beach bum to a partner at Scully?”

			Mitch smiled and drank some tea. “The beach bum part didn’t last very long, got bored with it. It was okay for about a month, but then real life sort of returned. We left the islands and hiked around Europe for several months, living out of our backpacks and taking the trains. One day we found ourselves in this picturesque little town in Tuscany. Cortona, not far from Perugia.”

			“Never been to Italy.”

			“A beautiful town in the mountains. We walked past a small cottage just off the town square and saw a sign in the window. It was for rent, three hundred euros a month. We thought, What the heck. We had so much fun the first month, we signed up for another. The lady who owned the cottage also ran a bed-and-breakfast not far away, and she kept it filled with American and British tourists who wanted cooking lessons. Abby signed up and quickly became consumed with Italian cooking. Me, I was concentrating on the wines. Three months, then four, then five, and we leased the cottage for a year. Abby worked in the kitchen as a sous chef while I puttered around the countryside, trying to imitate a real Italian. We hired a private tutor for language lessons and went all in. After a year we refused to speak English around the house.”

			“Meanwhile I was in prison.”

			“Are you going to keep blaming me for that?”

			Lamar folded the wax paper around the remnants of his wrap and shoved it aside. “No, Mitch. As of today I’m letting go.”

			“Thanks. Me too.”

			“So how did Scully and Pershing enter the picture?”

			“After three years it was time to move on. Both of us wanted a career and a family. We settled in London, and, on a whim, I went to the Scully office there and asked around. A law degree from Harvard opens a lot of doors. They offered a position as an associate and I took it. After two years in London we decided to return to the States. Plus, Abby was pregnant and we wanted to raise the kids here. That’s my story.”

			“I like yours better than mine.”

			“You seem content.”

			“We’re happy and healthy. Nothing else matters.”

			Mitch rattled the ice in his empty cup. The wrap and the salad were finished, as was lunch.

			Lamar smiled and said, “Several years ago I was in New York, a small business matter for a client. I took a cab down to 110 Broad Street, your building, and I stood outside and looked up at the tower, eighty floors. A spectacular building but only one of a thousand. International headquarters of Scully and Pershing, the largest law firm the world has ever known, but just another name on the crowded directory. I went inside and marveled at the atrium. Banks of elevators. Escalators running in all directions. Baffling modern art that cost a fortune. I sat on a bench and watched the people come and go, the frantic hustling of young well-dressed professionals, half of them on their phones, frowning, talking importantly. All sprinting at a breakneck pace to make the next dollar. I wasn’t looking for you, Mitch, but I was certainly thinking about you. I asked myself: ‘What if he saw me and walked over right now? What would I say? What would he say?’ I had no answer, but I did feel a twinge of pride that you, an old friend, had indeed made the big time. You survived Bendini and you’re now playing on a world stage.”

			“I wish I’d seen you sitting there.”

			“It’s impossible because no one looks up. No one takes a moment to appreciate the surroundings, the art, the architecture. ‘Rat race’ is the perfect description of it.”

			“I’m happy there, Lamar. We have a good life.”

			“Then I’m happy for you.”

			“If you ever come back to the city, we would love to host you and Kay.”

			Lamar smiled and shook his head. “Mitch, my old pal, that’ll never happen.”

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 5

			It was almost midnight when Mitch stepped off the elevator and entered his apartment. The return trip was finally over and nothing had gone as scheduled. Delays ruled the evening: boarding, taxiing, taking off, even the cold dinner was served late. It took half an hour to get a cab at LaGuardia, and a wreck on the Queensboro Bridge wasted another forty minutes. His day had begun on time with a quiet breakfast at the Peabody. After that, nothing had gone as planned.

			But he was home and little else mattered. The twins had been sleeping for hours. Normally, Abby would have been too, but she was on the sofa reading and waiting. He kissed her and asked, “Why are you still up?”

			“Because I want to hear all about your trip.”

			He had called with the welcome news that the latest death row case had not materialized, and for that they were both relieved. He had not mentioned the detour to see Lamar Quin. She poured him a glass of wine and they talked for an hour. He assured her more than once that there was no nostalgia for the old days. They had left nothing in Memphis.

			When he began to nod off, she ushered him to the bed-room.
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			Five hours later, at exactly 6 A.M., the alarm clock pinged as always and Mitch crawled out of bed, leaving his wife behind. His first chore of the morning was to prepare the coffee. While it was brewing, he opened his laptop and found The Commercial Appeal, the Memphis daily. On the front page of the metro section the headline read: Tad Kearny Found Dead by Suicide. The story could have been written by the warden himself. There was no doubt about the cause of death. No idea how the “convicted cop killer” found an electrical cord. Death row inmates were allowed two ten-minute showers per week, during which they were “unmonitored.” Prison officials were scratching their heads, but hey, it’s prison and suicides happen all the time. Tad was about to get the needle anyway and he’d fired his lawyers. Did anyone really care? The wife of one of the dead DEA agents was quoted as saying, “We’re very disappointed. We wanted to be there and watch him take his last breath.”

			His last lawyer, Amos Patrick of Memphis, was contacted but had no comment.

			The Nashville Tennessean was even less sympathetic. The condemned man had murdered three fine officers of the law “in cold blood,” to coin an original term. The jury had spoken. The system had worked. May he rest in peace.

			Mitch poured a cup of coffee, drank it black, and mumbled a prayer for Tad, then another one of thanks for dodging another messy, hopeless case. Assuming he had met Tad and somehow convinced him to sign on, Mitch would have spent the next ninety days scrambling to prove his client was legally insane. If he got lucky and found the right doctor, he would then frantically race to find a court that would listen. Every possible court had already said no to Tad. Every remaining strategy, and there were precious few, was a desperate long shot. Mitch would fly back and forth from New York to Memphis and Nashville, stay in budget motels, rack up thousands of miles with Hertz and Avis, and eat food that was a far cry from the delightful cuisine that came from Abby’s kitchen. He would miss her and the twins, fall far behind with his paying clients, lose a month of sleep, and then spend the last forty-eight hours at the prison either yelling into the phone or staring at Tad through a row of bars and lying about their chances.

			“Good morning,” Abby said as she patted his shoulder. She poured a cup and sat at the table. “Any good news from around the world?”

			He closed his laptop and smiled at her. “The usual. A recession is looming. Our invasion of Iraq looks even more misguided. The climate is heating up. Nothing new, really.”

			“Lovely.”

			“A couple of stories from down there about Tad Kearny killing himself.”

			“It’s so tragic.”

			“It is, but my file is closed. And I’ve decided that my career as a death row lawyer is over.”

			“I think I’ve heard that before.”

			“Well, this time I’m serious.”

			“We’ll see. Are you working late tonight?”

			“No. I’ll be home around six, I think.”

			“Good. Remember that Laotian restaurant in the Village, about two months ago?”

			“Sure. How could I forget? Something Vang.”

			“Bida Vang.”

			“And the chef has a last name with at least ten syllables.”

			“He goes by ‘Chan’ and he’s decided to do a cookbook. He’ll be here tonight to destroy the kitchen.”

			“Wonderful. What’s on the menu?”

			“Far too much, but he wants to experiment. He mentioned an herbal sausage and fried coconut rice, among others. Might want to skip lunch.”

			Clark emerged from the darkness and went straight to his mother for a hug. Carter would be five minutes behind. Mitch poured two small glasses of orange juice and asked what was on tap at school that day. As always, Clark woke up slow and said little over breakfast. Carter, the chatterbox, usually handled both ends of the morning conversation.

			When the boys agreed on waffles and bananas, Mitch left the kitchen and went to shower. At 7:45 on the dot, the three guys hugged Abby goodbye and left for school. When he wasn’t out of town, and when the weather permitted, Mitch walked the twins to school. The River Latin School was only four blocks away and the walk was always a delight, especially when their father was with them. Near the school, other boys emerged, and it was obvious they had the same destination. They wore the uniform—navy blazer, white shirt, and khakis. The shoes were free of the dress code and were a startling mix of high-end basketball sneakers, L.L.Bean hiking boots, dirty buckskins, and traditional loafers.

			Mitch and Abby still worried about their sons’ education. They were paying for the best in the city, but they, like most parents, wanted more diversity. Unlike the rest of the world, River Latin was 90 percent white and all-male. However, as products of mediocre public schools, they realized that they had only one opportunity to educate their children. For the moment, they could not foresee changing schools, but their concerns were growing.

			Without showing too much affection, Mitch said goodbye to the twins, promised to see them that night, and hustled toward the subway.
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			As he entered the tower on Broad Street and walked through the soaring atrium, he paused to remember Lamar’s story about his visit here. Mitch saw the chrome and leather benches against a glass wall and sat down for a moment. He smiled as he watched the ants marching, hundreds of well-dressed young professionals like himself eager to start the day and wishing the escalators would climb faster. It would indeed be a shock to a small-town lawyer with a laid-back practice.

			He was glad he’d made the effort to see his old friend, but it would never happen again. Lamar had not offered a hand to shake as Mitch left. There were simply too many unpleasant memories.

			And that was fine with Mitch.

			He glanced at his watch and realized that about twenty-four hours earlier he had been sitting in the former showroom of a Pontiac dealership in a shady part of Memphis, waiting and waiting for a meeting he wanted no part of.

			The sharp sound of the word “Mitch” interrupted his random thoughts and brought him back to reality. Willie Backstrom was walking over, thick briefcase hanging from a leather strip over his shoulder. Mitch stood and said, “Good morning, Willie.”

			“I’ve been here for thirty years and I’ve never seen anyone use those benches. You okay?”

			“We’re too busy to sit down. Seriously, how can you bill a client when you’re sitting in the lobby?”

			“Do it all the time.”

			They walked away and joined the crowd at a wall of elevators. Once they were packed inside and moving up, Willie said softly, “If you get a minute, stop by today and let’s talk about Amos.”

			“Sure. You ever been to the Pontiac place?”

			“No, but I’ve heard about it for years.”

			“I got the impression that a visiting lawyer can get a lube job while taking a deposition.”
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			The top man at Scully & Pershing was Jack Ruch, a forty-year veteran still hitting it hard in the final months as he neared the finish line of his seventieth birthday. The firm mandated retirement at seventy with no exceptions. As a policy, it was wise but widely unpopular. Most of the older partners were renowned experts in their fields and were billing at the highest rates. When forced out, they took their expertise with them, as well as the long, trusted relationships with their clients. On the one hand it seemed shortsighted to set such an arbitrary deadline, but youth demanded it. Forty-something partners like Mitch wanted to see room at the top. The young associates were super ambitious and many refused to join big firms that did not clear the deck by shoving out the old guys.

			So Jack Ruch was counting the days. His official title was managing partner, and as such he ran the firm much like a high-powered corporate CEO. It was a law firm, though, an organization of proud professionals, not a corporation, and the titles were much weightier. Managing partner it was.

			When Jack called, every lawyer in the building dropped what he or she was doing because whatever he or she was doing was not nearly as crucial as whatever Jack might have on his mind. But he was a skillful manager and knew better than to interrupt and throw his weight around. His email asked Mitch to appear at his office at 10 A.M., “if convenient.”

			Convenient or not, Mitch planned to be there five minutes early.

			He was, and a secretary led him into the splendid corner office suite at precisely 10 A.M. She poured coffee from a silver pitcher and asked Mitch if he wanted something from the daily platter of fresh pastries on the credenza. Mitch, mindful of Chan and his band of Laotian sous chefs set to invade his kitchen in a few hours, thanked her and declined.

			They sat around a small coffee table in a corner of the suite. From sixty floors up the views of the harbor were even more impressive, though Mitch was far too focused to venture a glimpse. Those who worked in Manhattan’s tallest buildings were adept at ignoring the views while visitors gawked.

			Jack was tanned and fit and wearing another one of his fine linen suits. He could pass for a man fifteen years younger and it seemed a shame to show him the door. But he had no time to dwell on a policy that he had agreed to thirty years earlier and wasn’t about to change. “I spoke to Luca yesterday,” he said rather gravely. Obviously, something heavy was going down.

			In the vast universe of Scully, there was only one Luca. Twenty years earlier, when American Big Law went on a merging binge and gobbled up firms around the world, Scully had managed to convince Luca Sandroni to join forces. He had built a sterling international firm in Rome and was widely respected throughout Europe and North Africa.

			“How is Luca?”

			“Not good. He was not specific, rather vague actually, but he had a bad trip to the doctor’s office and got some unwelcome news. He didn’t say what it was and I didn’t ask.”

			“That’s awful.” Mitch knew him well. Luca was in New York several times a year and enjoyed a good time. He had dined at Abby’s table and the McDeeres had stayed at his spacious villa in central Rome. That the young American couple had lived in Italy and knew the culture and language meant a lot to him.

			“He wants you in Rome, as soon as possible.” Odd that he didn’t contact Mitch directly with the request, but Luca was always respectful of the chain of command. By going through Jack, the message was being delivered that Mitch should drop everything and go to Rome.

			“Of course. Any idea what he wants?”

			“It involves Lannak, the Turkish construction company.”

			“I’ve done some work for Lannak, but not much.”

			“Luca has represented the company forever, a great client. Now there’s another dust-up in Libya and Lannak’s in the middle of it.”

			Mitch nodded properly and tried to suppress a smile. Sounded like another great adventure! In his four years as a partner he had established a reputation as a sort of legal SWAT team leader sent in by Scully to rescue clients in distress. It was a role he relished and tried to expand while guarding it as his own.

			Jack continued, “As usual, Luca was light on the details. He still doesn’t like the phone and hates email. As you know, he prefers to discuss business over a long Roman lunch, preferably outdoors.”

			“Sounds dreadful. I’m leaving Sunday.”

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 6

			Scully & Pershing was known for its lavish offices wherever it ventured. Now in thirty-one cities on five continents and counting, because for Scully the numbers were important, it leased prime space in the most prestigious addresses, usually taller and newer towers designed by the trendiest of architects. It sent in its own team of decorators who filled each suite with art, fabrics, furnishings, and lighting indigenous to the locale. Enter any Scully office and your senses were touched by the look, feel, and expensive taste. Its clients expected as much. For the hourly rates they paid, they wanted to see success.

			In his eleven years with the firm, Mitch had visited about a dozen of its offices, mainly in the United States and Europe, and, truthfully, the shine was wearing off. Each was different but all were similar, and he had reached the point of not slowing down long enough to appreciate the serious money on the walls and floors. After a while, they were beginning to blur together. But he reminded himself that the opulence was not for his benefit. It was all a show for others: well-heeled clients, prospective associates, and visiting lawyers. He caught himself mumbling like the other partners about the expense of maintaining such a facade. Much of that money could have trickled down to the partners’ pockets.

			Things were different in Rome. There, the offices, as well as every other aspect of the practice, were under the thumb of Luca Sandroni, the founder. For over thirty years he had slowly built a firm that was housed in a four-story stone building with no elevators and limited views. It was tucked away on Via della Paglia near the Piazza Santa Maria, in the Trastevere neighborhood of old Rome. All of the buildings around it were four-storied stucco with red-tiled roofs, and tastefully showed the wear and tear of being built centuries earlier. Romans, new and old, never cared much for tall buildings.

			Mitch had been there many times and loved the place. It was a step back in time and a welcome break from the relentlessly modern image of the rest of Scully. No other office in the firm had such history, nor did they dare say “slow down” when you entered. Luca and his team worked hard and enjoyed the prestige and money, but they were Italians and refused to succumb to the workaholism expected by the Americans.

			Mitch stopped in the alley and admired the massive double doors. An old sign beside them read: Sandroni Studio Legale. The merger with Luca allowed him to keep his firm’s name, a point he would not concede. For a moment, Mitch thought of the law offices he’d seen that week, from his own shiny tower in Manhattan, to the grungy Pontiac place in Memphis, to Lamar Quin’s sleepy little suite upstairs above the town square, and now this.

			He stepped through the doors and into a narrow foyer, where Mia was always sitting. She smiled, jumped to her feet, and greeted Mitch with the obligatory dramatic peck on both cheeks, a ritual that still made him a bit uncomfortable. They spoke in Italian and covered the basics: his flight, Abby, the boys, the weather. He sat across from her, sipped espresso that always tasted better in Rome, and finally got around to Luca. She frowned slightly but revealed nothing. Her phone kept ringing.

			Luca was waiting in his office, the same one he’d had for decades. It was small by Scully standards, at least for a managing partner, but he could not have cared less. He welcomed Mitch with more hugs and kisses and the usual greetings. If he was sick, it wasn’t apparent. He waved at a small coffee table in a corner, his favorite meeting place, as his secretary inquired about drinks and pastries.

			“How is the beautiful Abby?” Luca asked, in perfect English with only a trace of an accent. His second law degree was from Stanford. He also spoke French and Spanish, and years earlier could handle Arabic, but had lost it through neglect.

			As they caught up on the McDeere family front, Mitch began to notice a weaker voice, but only slightly. When he lit a cigarette, Mitch said, “Still smoking, I see.”

			Luca shrugged as if the smoking couldn’t possibly be related to a health issue. A double window was open and the smoke made its way through it. Piazza Santa Maria was below and the sounds of the busy street life emanated upward. Mia brought coffee on a silver tray and poured it for them.

			Mitch tiptoed through the minefield of Luca’s family. He had been married and divorced twice and it was never clear if his current companion had lasting potential; not that Mitch or anyone else for that matter would dare to ask. He had two adult children with his first wife, a woman Mitch had never met, and a teenager with his second. A hot young paralegal broke up the first marriage, then ruined the second by cracking up and fleeing with their love child to Spain.

			Amidst that wreckage, the bright spot was his daughter, Giovanna, who was a Scully associate in London. Five years earlier, Luca had finessed the firm’s nepotism rules and quietly landed her a job. According to the firm gossip, she was as brilliant and driven as her father.

			While his private life had been chaotic, his professional career was without a blemish. The Sandroni Studio Legale had been romanced by all the players in Big Law before Luca finally got the deal he wanted with Scully.

			“I’m afraid I have a slight problem, Mitch,” he said sadly. With years of practice he had flattened out almost every wrinkle in his accent, but “Mitch” still sounded more like Meetch.

			“The doctors have run tests for a month now, and they finally agree that I have a cancer. A bad one. In the pancreas.”

			Mitch closed his eyes as his shoulders sagged. If there was a worse cancer he was not aware of it. “I’m so sorry,” he whispered.

			“The prognosis is not good and I’m in for a bad time. I’m taking a leave of absence while the doctors do their work. Maybe I’ll get lucky.”

			“I’m so sorry, Luca. This is awful.”

			“It is, but my spirits are good and there are always miracles, or so my priest tells me. I’m spending more time with him these days.” He managed a chuckle.

			“I don’t know what to say, Luca.”

			“There’s nothing to say. It’s top secret, classified and all that. I don’t want my clients to know yet. If things deteriorate, then I’ll gradually inform them. I’m already handing off some of my cases to the partners here. That’s where you come in, Mitch.”

			“I’m here, ready to help.”

			“The most important matter on my desk right now involves Lannak, the Turkish contractor and a longtime client. An extremely valuable client, Mitch.”

			“I worked on one of their cases a few years back.”

			“Yes, I know, and your work was superb. Lannak is one of the largest construction companies in the Middle East and Asia. They’ve built airports, highways, bridges, canals, dams, power plants, skyscrapers, you name it. The company is family-owned and is superbly managed. It delivers on time and on budget and knows how to do business in a world where everyone, from a Saudi prince to a cab driver in Kenya, has his hand out looking for a kickback.”

			Mitch nodded along and noticed Luca’s voice fading a little. On the flight to Rome he had read the firm’s internal client memos on Lannak. Headquarters in Istanbul; fourth-largest Turkish contractor with estimated annual revenues of $2.5 billion; large projects around the world but especially in India and North Africa; an estimated 25,000 employees; privately owned by the Celik family, who seemed to be as closemouthed as a bunch of Swiss bankers; family fortune thought to be in the billion-plus range, but one guess was as good as the next.

			Luca lit another cigarette and half-heartedly blew smoke over his shoulder. “Are you familiar with the Great Man-Made River project in Libya?”

			Mitch had read about it but only knew the basics. His knowledge, or lack thereof, didn’t matter, because Luca was in his storytelling mood. “Not really.”

			Luca nodded at the correct response and said, “Goes back decades, but around 1975 Colonel Gaddafi decided to build an underground canal to pump water from under the Sahara to the cities along the coast in northern Libya. When the oil companies starting poking around for oil eighty years ago, they found some huge aquifers deep beneath the desert. The idea was to pump the water out and send it to Tripoli and Benghazi, but the cost was far too much. Until they discovered oil. Gaddafi gave the project the green light, but most experts thought it was impossible. It took thirty years and twenty billion dollars, but damned if the Libyans didn’t pull it off. It worked, and Gaddafi declared himself a genius, something he has a habit of doing. Since he then had dominion over nature, he decided to create a river. There is not a single one in the entire country. Instead they have seasonal riverbeds known as ‘wadis,’ and these dry out in the summer. Gaddafi’s next breathtaking project would be to combine some of the larger wadis, reroute the flow of water, make a permanent river, and build a magnificent bridge over it.”

			“A bridge in the desert.”

			“Yes, Mitch, a bridge in the desert, with delusional plans to link one side of the desert to the other and somehow build cities. Build a bridge and the traffic will find it. Six years ago, in 1999, Lannak signed a contract with the government for eight hundred million dollars. Gaddafi wanted a billion-dollar bridge, so he ordered changes before construction started. In his newspapers he posed for photos with models of ‘The Great Gaddafi Bridge’ and told everyone it would cost a billion, all generated by Libyan oil. Not a dime would be borrowed. Because Lannak has done business in Libya for many years, they knew how chaotic things could be. Let’s just say that Colonel Gaddafi and his warlords are not astute businessmen. They understand guns and oil. Contracts are often a nuisance. Lannak would not begin the job until the Libyans deposited five hundred million U.S. dollars in a German bank. The four-year project took six years and is now complete, which is a miracle and a testament to the tenacity of Lannak. The company met the terms of its contract. The Libyans have not. The overruns were horrendous. The Libyan government owes Lannak four hundred million and won’t pay. Thus, our claim.”

			Luca put down his cigarette, picked up a remote, and aimed it at a flat screen on the wall. Wires ran from the screen to the floor where they joined other wires that snaked away in all directions. The current demands of technology required all kinds of devices, and since the walls were solid stone and two feet thick, the IT guys did not drill. Mitch adored the contrast between the old and new: the latest gadgets wedged into a sprawling maze of rooms built before electricity and designed to last forever.

			The image on the screen was a color photo of a bridge, a towering suspension bridge over a dried-up riverbed with six-lane highways running to and from. Luca said, “This is the Great Gaddafi Bridge in central Libya, over an unnamed river yet to be found. It was and is a foolish idea because there are no people in the region and no one wants to go there. However, there is plenty of oil and maybe the bridge will get used after all. Lannak doesn’t really care. It’s not paid to plan Libya’s future. It signed a contract to build the bridge and upheld its end of the deal. Now our client wants to be paid.”

			Mitch enjoyed the conversation and wondered where it was going. He had a hunch and tried to control his excitement.

			Luca stubbed out his cigarette and closed his eyes as if in pain. He punched the remote and the screen went blank. “I filed the claim in October with the United Arbitration Board in Geneva.”

			“I’ve been there several times.”

			“I know, and that’s why I want you to take this case.”

			Mitch tried to maintain a poker face but couldn’t suppress a smile. “Okay. Why me?”

			“Because I know you can represent our client effectively, you can prevail in the case, and because we need an American in charge. The board’s chairman, more formally known as the ruling magistrate, is from Harvard. Six of the twenty judges are American. There are three from Asia and they usually go along with the Americans. I want you to take the case, Mitch, because I probably won’t be around to see it through.” His voice faded as he thought about dying.

			“I’m honored, Luca. Of course I’ll take the case.”

			“Good. I talked to Jack Ruch this morning and got the green light. New York is on board. Omar Celik, Lannak’s CEO, will be in London next week and I’ll try to arrange a meeting. The file is already thick, thousands of pages, so you need to catch up.”

			“I can’t wait. Do the Libyans have a defense to the claim?”

			“The usual truckload of absurdities. Defective design, defective materials, unnecessary delays, lack of supervision, lack of control, unnecessary cost overruns. The Libyan government uses the Reedmore law firm out of London for its dirty work, and you will not enjoy the experience. They are extremely aggressive and quite unethical.”

			“I know them. And our claim is bulletproof?”

			Luca smiled at the question and said, “Well, as the attorney who filed the claim, I’ll say that I have complete confidence in my client. Here’s an example, Mitch. In the original design, the Libyans wanted a superhighway approaching the bridge from both directions. Eight lanes, mind you. There are not enough cars in the entire country to fill eight lanes. And they wanted eight lanes over the river. Lannak really balked and eventually convinced them that a four-lane bridge was more than adequate. The contract says four lanes. At some point, Gaddafi reviewed the project and asked about the eight lanes. He went nuts when his people told him the bridge would have only four lanes. The King wanted eight! Lannak finally talked him down to six and demanded a change order from the original design. Expanding from four lanes to six added about two hundred million to the job, and the Libyans are now refusing to pay that. It was one major change order after another. To complicate matters, the market for crude oil cratered and Gaddafi ordered some stiff belt-tightening, which in Libya means everything gets reduced but the military. When the Libyans were a hundred million dollars in arrears, Lannak threatened to stop working. So Gaddafi, being Gaddafi, sent the army, his revolutionary goons, to the job site to monitor the progress. No one got hurt but things were tense. At about the time the bridge was finished, someone in Tripoli woke up and realized that it would never be used. So the Libyans lost interest in the project and refused to pay.”

			“So Lannak is finished?”

			“All but the final punch list. The company always finishes, regardless of what the lawyers are doing. I suggest you go to Libya as soon as possible.”

			“And it’s safe?”

			Luca smiled and shrugged and seemed winded. “As safe as ever. I’ve been there several times, Mitch, and know it well. Gaddafi can be unstable, but he has an iron grip on the military and the police and there’s very little crime. The country is full of foreign workers and he has to protect them. You’ll have a security team. You’ll be safe.”
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			For lunch, they strolled across the piazza to an outdoor bistro covered with large umbrellas. Without stopping, Luca smiled at the hostess, said something to a waiter, and by the time he arrived at his table the owner was greeting him with hugs and kisses. Mitch had eaten there before, and he often wondered why Luca chose the same place every day. In a city filled with great restaurants, why not explore a little? Again, though, he said nothing. He was an extra in Luca’s world and thrilled to be included.

			A waiter poured sparkling water but did not offer menus. Luca wanted the usual—a small seafood salad with arugula and a side of sliced tomatoes in olive oil. Mitch ordered the same.

			“Wine, Mitch?” Luca asked.

			“Only if you do.”

			“I’ll pass.” The waiter left.

			“Mitch, I have a favor to ask.”

			At that moment, how could Mitch possibly say no to any request? “What is it?”

			“You’ve met my daughter, Giovanna.”

			“Yes, we had dinner in New York, twice I think. She was a summer intern for a law firm. Skadden, I believe.”

			“That’s right. Well, as you know, she’s in our London office, fifth year there, and doing well. I’ve discussed the Lannak case with her and she’s eager to get involved. She’s been cramped in the office for some time, the ninety hours a week routine, and she wants some fresh air and sunshine. You’ll need several associates for the busywork, and I want you to include Giovanna. She’s very bright and works hard. You won’t be disappointed, Mitch.”

			And, as Mitch vividly recalled, she was quite attractive.

			It was an easy request. There was plenty of grunt work ahead—documents to read and categorize, discovery to decipher, depositions to plan, briefs to write. Mitch would supervise it all, but the tedium would be delegated to associates.

			“Let’s sign her up,” he said. “I’ll call and welcome her aboard.”

			“Thank you, Mitch. She will be pleased. I’m trying to convince her to return to Rome, at least for the next year. I need her close by.”

			Mitch nodded but could think of nothing to say. The food arrived and they busied themselves with lunch. The piazza was coming to life with midday traffic, as office workers left their buildings in search of something to eat. The foot traffic was fascinating and Mitch never tired of watching the people.

			Luca stopped eating as a sudden pain stiffened his back. It passed and he smiled at Mitch, as if all was well.

			“Ever been to Libya, Mitch?”

			“No. It’s never been on my list.”

			“Fascinating place, really. My father lived there in the thirties, before the war, back when Italy was trying to colonize the country. As you probably know, the Italians were not very good at the colonizing business. Leave it to the British, the French, the Spaniards, even the Dutch and Portuguese. For some reason the Italians never got the hang of it. We bailed out after the war, but my father stayed in Tripoli until 1969, when Gaddafi took over in a military coup. Libya has a fascinating history, one worth taking a look at.”

			Not only had Mitch never planned to visit the place, he had never been curious about its history. He smiled and said, “I’ll have a PhD by next week.”

			“For the first ten years of my practice, I represented Italian companies doing business in Libya. I stayed there often, even had a little flat in Tripoli for a couple years. And there was a woman, a Moroccan.” The twinkle was back in his eye. Mitch could not help but wonder how many girlfriends Luca had kept around the world in his day.

			“She was a beauty,” he said softly, wistfully.

			Of course she was. Would Luca Sandroni waste time with a homely woman?

			Over espresso and the obligatory Italian post-lunch cigarette, Luca said, “Why don’t you stop off in London and see Giovanna? She’ll be thrilled to be personally invited onto the case. And check on her, tell her I’m doing fine.”

			“Are you doing fine, Luca?”

			“Not really. I have less than six months, Mitch. The cancer is aggressive and there’s little I can do. The case is yours.”

			“Thank you, Luca, for the trust. You won’t be disappointed.”

			“No, I won’t, but I’m afraid I might not be around to see its conclusion.”

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 7

			Two hours before he was to board the nonstop flight from Rome to London, Mitch abruptly changed plans and got the last seat on a flight to New York’s JFK. There were pressing matters at home. Dinner with Giovanna could wait.

			Confined to a narrow seat for eight hours, Mitch passed the time as always on long flights by diving into thick briefs so boring they usually led to a long nap or two. First, he reviewed the docket and current membership of the United Arbitration Board and read the bios of its twenty members. They were appointed by one of the many committees at the United Nations and served five-year terms, with a lot of time spent in Geneva and with generous expense accounts. A former member once told Mitch, over drinks in New York, that the UAB was one of the best gigs in the world for aging lawyers with international pedigrees and contacts. As always, its roster was chock-full of bright legal minds from every continent, most of whom had at one time or another passed through Ivy League law schools either to study or teach. Its business was done in English and French, though all languages were welcome and could be accommodated. Two years earlier, Mitch had appeared before the board and argued a case on behalf of an Argentine grain cooperative seeking damages against a South Korean importer. He and Abby spent three honeymoon-like days in Geneva and still talked about it. He won the case, collected the money, and sent a hefty bill to Buenos Aires.

			Winning cases before the UAB was not that difficult if the facts fell into place. It had jurisdiction because the contracts, like the one for the bridge project between Lannak and the Libyan government, had a clearly written clause requiring both parties to submit their disputes to the UAB. In addition, Libya, like virtually every other nation, was a signatory to various treaties designed to facilitate international commerce and make the bad actors—and there was never a shortage of them—behave.

			Winning was relatively easy. Collecting an award was another matter. Dozens of rogue states willingly signed whatever contracts and treaties were necessary to get the business, with no intention of paying the damages that became due at arbitration. The more Mitch read, the more he realized that Libya had a long history of trying to walk away from deals that looked promising at contract but went sour.

			According to Scully’s intelligence, the bridge was a perfect example of Gaddafi’s erratic dreaming. He became enamored with the vision of a soaring structure in the middle of a desert and ordered it built. Then he lost interest and moved on to other important projects. At some point, someone convinced him it was a bad idea, but by then those pesky Turks were demanding serious money.

			Luca’s UAB claim ran for ninety pages, and by the time Mitch had read it once he was almost asleep.
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			The pressing matter at home was a youth baseball game in Central Park. Carter and Clark played for the Bruisers, a serious contender in the Under Eight division of the city’s police league. Carter was the catcher and loved the dirt and sweat. Clark roamed the outfield and missed half the action. Mitch had almost no time to help coach the team, but he volunteered as the bench coach and tried to keep the lineup straight. It was a crucial task because if any kid, regardless of talent or interest, played one inning less than the others, his parents would be waiting in ambush after the game.

			After a few light skirmishes with parents, Mitch was already plotting ways to interest the twins in individual sports such as golf and tennis. However, some of those parents were just as terrifying. Perhaps hiking and skiing might be more enjoyable.

			The boys stood shoulder-to-shoulder in the foyer as Mitch inspected their uniforms. Abby was worrying about the time; they were already running late. They left in a rush and hurried along Sixty-Eighth Street to Central Park West. The teams were on one of the many fields of the Great Lawn, limbering up in the outfield as coaches yelled and parents huddled in the falling temperatures.

			Hiding in the dugout presented its own challenges, but Mitch preferred it to the bleachers where the adults chatted nonstop about careers, real estate, new restaurants, new nannies, new trainers, schools, and so on.

			The umpires arrived and the game began. For ninety minutes Mitch sat on the bench, surrounded by a dozen eight-year-olds, and managed to shut out the rest of the world. He kept the score book, made the substitutions, huddled with Mully, the head coach, chided the umpires, ribbed the opposing coach, and treasured the moments when his own sons sat beside him and talked baseball.

			The Bruisers crushed the Rams, and at the final out the players and coaches lined up for the postgame handshaking rituals. The staff, Mully and Mitch, were determined to teach their players the virtues of sportsmanship, and they led by example. Winning was always fun, but winning with class was far more important.

			In a crowded city with far too few fields and an abundance of kids, the games were limited by time, not innings. Another one was scheduled to start right away and it was important to clear the field. The victorious Bruisers and their parents walked to a pizzeria on Columbus Avenue where they commandeered a long table in the back and ordered dinner. The fathers had tall beers, the mothers chardonnay, while the players, all proud of their dirty uniforms, devoured pizza as they watched the Mets on a big screen.

			Almost all the fathers were in finance, law, or medicine, and they were from well-to-do families from across the country. As a general rule they didn’t talk much about where they were from. There was always plenty of good-natured talk about college football rivalries, favorite golf courses, and such, but the conversations rarely drifted to their hometowns. They were in New York now, on the biggest stage, living the big life, proud of their success, and they considered themselves real New Yorkers.

			Danesboro, Kentucky, was another world and Mitch never mentioned it. He thought of it, though, as he watched his own boys laugh and chatter with their friends. He had played all the sports the small town had to offer, and he could not remember a single game when his parents were watching. His father died when he was just a boy, and afterward his mother worked in low-wage jobs to support him and his brother, Ray. She never had the time to watch a ball game.

			What lucky kids these were. Affluent lives, private schools, and supportive parents who were too involved in their activities. Mitch often worried that his kids would be too pampered and too soft, but Abby disagreed. Their school was demanding and pushed the students to achieve and excel. Carter and Clark were, at least so far, well-rounded and being taught proper values both at school and at home.
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			Abby was startled at the news that Luca was gravely ill. She had met many Scully partners, probably too many, from all over the world, and Luca was by far her favorite. She wasn’t keen on the idea of Mitch traveling to Libya, but if Luca said it was safe, then she wouldn’t push back. Not that it would do any good. Since he made partner four years earlier, Mitch had become a seasoned traveler. She often went with him, especially when the destination was exciting. European cities were her favorite. Between her parents, her kid sister, and a collection of nannies, babysitting was rarely a problem. But the boys were getting older and more active, and Abby feared her globe-trotting days were about to be curtailed. She also suspected, though had said nothing, that her husband’s success would mean even more time away from home.

			Late that night, she brewed a pot of chamomile tea that was supposed to induce “slumber,” and they cuddled and chatted on the sofa and tried to get sleepy.

			Abby said, “And you’re gone for a week?”

			“Something like that. There’s no clear agenda because we can’t predict what might happen. Lannak has a skeleton crew still at the bridge, and we’re told that one of their top engineers will be available.”

			“What do you know about bridge construction?” she asked with a chuckle.

			“Nothing, but I’m learning. Every case is a new adventure. Right now I’m the envy of almost every lawyer at Scully.”

			“That’s a lot of lawyers.”

			“It is, and while I’m dashing across the desert in a jeep looking for a magnificent bridge to nowhere, which just happened to cost over a billion dollars, the rest of my colleagues will be stuck behind their desks, worrying about their hourly billing.”

			“I’ve heard this before.”

			“And you’ll probably hear it again.”

			“Well, your timing is good. My mother called today and they’re coming for the weekend.”

			No, my timing is perfect, Mitch thought. In years past he would have blurted it out and stuck another pin into his wife’s skin, but he was in the often uncomfortable process of reconciling with his in-laws. He had come a long way, but back at the beginning there had been so much territory to cover.

			“Anything planned?” he asked, to be polite.

			“Not really. I may have dinner with the girls Saturday and let my parents babysit.”

			“Do that. You need a night out.”

			The war had begun almost twenty years earlier when her parents insisted that she break off the engagement and ditch the McDeere guy. Both families were from Danesboro, a town so small that everyone knew everyone else. Her father ran a bank and the family had status. The McDeeres had nothing.

			“Dad said he might take the boys to see the Yankees.”

			“He should take them to see the Mets.”

			“Carter would agree. And because of that, Clark is becoming a Yankee fan.”

			Mitch laughed and said, “I have a brother. I remember.”

			“How is Ray?”

			“Fine. We talked two days ago, nothing has changed.”

			A week before they finished college, Mitch and Abby were married in a small chapel on campus, in front of twenty friends and no family. Her parents were so irate they boycotted the wedding, a slap so terrible it was years before she could discuss it with a therapist. Mitch would never truly forgive them. Ray would have attended the wedding had he not been serving time in prison. These days he was working as a charter boat captain in Key West.

			Mitch’s in-law rehab had now brought him to the point of being civil to them, dining with them, and allowing them to babysit their grandchildren. When they entered the room, though, walls went up around him and everything else was off-limits. They could not stay in the apartment. Mitch argued it wasn’t large enough anyway. They could not inquire about his work, though it was evident that his partnership was providing a lifestyle far above anything in Danesboro. They could not and did not expect the McDeere family to visit them in Kentucky. Mitch wasn’t going back anyway.

			The law degree from Harvard had somewhat tempered their disapproval of their son-in-law, but only for a moment. The move to Memphis had been puzzling, and when things blew up there and Abby disappeared for months, they of course blamed Mitch and despised him all over again.

			With time, some of the issues faded as maturity settled in. A therapist helped Abby begin the process of forgiving her parents. The same therapist realized Mitch was another story, but managed a slight breakthrough when he reluctantly agreed to at least be civil when they were in the same room. More progress was slowly made, driven more by Mitch’s love for his wife than by the manipulations of the therapist. As so often happens in complicated families, the arrival of grandchildren softened the edges and shoved even more history aside.

			“And your mom?” she asked softly.

			He took a sip of tea and shook his head. “Still the same, I guess. Ray checks on her once a week, or so he says. I have my doubts.” His mother was spending her final years in an assisted living facility in Florida. With dementia, she moved closer to the end each day.

			“And what does one do in Tripoli?”

			“I don’t know. Ride camels. Play shoot-’em-up with terrorists.”

			“That’s not funny. I went to the State Department website. According to our government, Libya is a terrorist state and they evidently hate Americans.”

			“Who doesn’t hate Americans?”

			“The State Department says it’s sort of okay to go but take precautions.”

			“Luca knows more about Libya than the bureaucrats in Washington.”

			“I wish you wouldn’t go.”

			“I have to go, and I’ll be fine. Our bodyguards are quicker than the terrorists.”

			“Ha, ha.”

			Not too many years earlier, he would have blurted something like: Well, I’d rather hang out with a bunch of Revolutionary Guards than see your parents.

			He smiled at the thought, then let it pass. After several thousand bucks in therapy, he had learned to bite his tongue.

			Often, it was almost bleeding.

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 8

			There were no direct flights from New York to Tripoli. The marathon began in New York with an eight-hour trip through the night on Air Italia to Milan, then a two-hour layover before boarding an Egyptair flight to Cairo that was delayed for two hours, no excuses given. Cancellations and rebookings followed at a languid pace, and Mitch spent thirteen hours catnapping and reading in the Cairo airport while someone somewhere sorted out the mess. Or did they? The only bright spot was the fact that his time was not completely wasted. Lannak would eventually get billed for his hours.

			When he left New York, at least half of the passengers seemed to be “Westerners,” or, in other words, people who could generally be described as looking, dressing, speaking, and acting sort of like him. Most of those got off in Italy, and by the time Mitch boarded an Air Tunisia flight for the final leg, the plane was packed with people who were definitely not “Westerners.”

			He was not bothered by the fact that he was now in a distinct minority. Libya promoted its tourism and attracted half a million visitors a year. Tripoli was a bustling city of two million with business districts filled with domestic banks and corporations. Dozens of foreign companies were registered in the country, and in some sections of Tripoli and Benghazi there were vibrant international communities with British and French schools for the children of visiting executives and diplomats.

			As he often did while traveling on the far side of the world, Mitch smiled at the thought that he was undoubtedly the only boy from Kentucky on the flight. And though he would never mention this, he was proud of his accomplishments and wanted more. He was as hungry as ever.

			Almost thirty hours after leaving New York, he stepped off the plane at Mitiga International Airport in Tripoli, and shuffled along with the crowd in the general direction of Passport Control. Signs were primarily in Arabic, but there were enough in English and French to keep the traffic moving. Under the iron hand of Colonel Gaddafi, Libya had been a military state for thirty-five years, and like most countries ruled by intimidation, it was important to impress upon new arrivals the presence of heavily armed soldiers. They roamed the concourses of the modern airport in their smart uniforms, guarded the checkpoints, and with unpleasant scowls inspected every Westerner who walked by.

			Mitch hid behind his sunglasses and tried to ignore them. Never make eye contact if possible. The same routine he’d learned long ago in the New York subway.

			The lines at Passport Control were long and slow. The vast room was hot and unventilated. When a guard nodded at an empty booth, Mitch walked forward and presented his passport and visa. The customs officer never smiled; indeed, upon seeing that Mitch was an American, he managed to frown even harder. A minute passed, then another. Customs could be nerve-wracking enough for any citizen returning to his own country. Maybe there’s a glitch in the passport. In a place like Libya, there was always the flash of horror that an American could be suddenly on the floor, handcuffed, then hauled away and detained for life. Mitch loved the thrill of the unknown.

			The officer kept shaking his head as he picked up the phone. Mitch, without the sunglasses, glanced back at the hundreds of weary travelers behind him.

			“Over there,” the officer said rudely, jerking his head to the right. Mitch looked and saw a gentleman in a nice suit approaching them. He stuck out a hand, smiled, and said, “Mr. McDeere, I’m Samir Jamblad. I work with Lannak and also with Luca, an old friend.”

			Mitch felt like kissing him, which, in the sudden embracing and grappling that followed, seemed likely. Once properly hugged, Samir asked, “How was your flight?”

			“Wonderful. I think I’ve been to at least thirteen countries since leaving New York.”

			They were walking away from the booths and crowds and security guards. “This way,” Samir said, nodding to officers as they went. Luca had told Mitch not to worry about entry. He would take care of things.

			Samir used the restricted doors, away from the crowds, and within minutes they were outside. His Mercedes sedan was parked near the crowded terminal and in a lane reserved for the police. Two officers leaned on a marked car, smoking, loitering, and appearing to guard nothing but Samir’s fine sedan. He thanked them and tossed Mitch’s bag in the rear seat.

			“First time in Tripoli?” he asked as they left the airport.

			“Yes, it is. How long have you known Luca?”

			Samir smiled easily and said, “Oh, many years. I’ve worked for Scully and Pershing and other law firms. Companies like your Exxon and Texaco. British Petroleum, Dutch Shell. Plus some of the Turkish companies, Lannak being one.”

			“You’re a lawyer?”

			“Oh no. An American client once referred to me as a ‘security consultant.’ Sort of a facilitator, a corporate handyman, the go-to guy in Libya. I was born and raised here, all my life in Tripoli. I know the people, there’s only six million of us.” He laughed at his own effort at humor and Mitch felt compelled to join in.

			Samir continued, “I know the leaders, the military, the politicians, and the government workers who get things done. I know the chief of customs back there at the airport. One word from me and they leave you alone. Another word from me, and you might spend a few days in jail. I know the restaurants, bars, good neighborhoods and bad ones. I know the opium dens and the brothels, good and bad.”

			“I’m not in the market.”

			Samir laughed again and said, “Yes, that’s what they all say.”

			From the first impression—the handsome suit, polished black leather shoes, shiny sedan—it was apparent that Samir did indeed know his stuff and was paid well for it.

			Mitch glanced at his watch and asked, “What time is it here?”

			“Almost eleven. I suggest you check in, get settled, and let’s meet for lunch around one in the hotel. Giovanna’s already here. You’ve met her?”

			“Yes, in New York, a few years back.”

			“She’s lovely, yes?”

			“Yes, as I recall. And after lunch?”

			“All plans are tentative and subject to your approval. In Luca’s absence, you are in charge. We have a meeting with the Turks at four P.M. at the hotel. You’ll meet your security team and discuss the visit to the bridge.”

			“An obvious question. Lannak is suing the Libyan government for almost half a billion dollars, a claim that certainly looks legitimate. How much friction is there between the company and government?”

			Samir took a deep breath, cracked a window, and lit a cigarette. The traffic had stopped and they were sitting bumper-to-bumper. “I would say not much. The Turkish construction companies have been in Libya for a long time, and they are very good. Much better than the Libyans. The military needs the Turks, the Turks like the money. Sure they fight and squabble all the time, but in the end business prevails and life goes on.”

			“Okay, second obvious question. Why do we need a security detail?”

			Samir laughed again and said, “Because this is Libya. A terrorist state, haven’t you heard? Your own government says so.”

			“But that’s international terrorism. What about here, within the country? Why are we taking Turkish bodyguards to visit a Turkish construction site?”

			“Because the government doesn’t control everything, Mitch. Libya has a lot of territory but ninety percent of it is Sahara, the desert. It’s vast, wild, sometimes uncontrolled. Tribes fight each other. Outlaws are hard to catch. There are still warlords out there, always looking for trouble.”

			“Would you feel safe going where we’re going tomorrow?”

			“Of course. Otherwise I wouldn’t be here, Mitch. You’re safe, or as safe as a foreigner can be.”

			“That’s what Luca says.”

			“Luca knows the country. Would he allow his daughter to be here if he was worried?”
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			The Corinthia Hotel was ground zero for Western businessmen, diplomats, and government functionaries, and the ornate lobby was hopping with corporate types in expensive suits. As Mitch waited to check in he heard English, French, Italian, German, and some tongues he couldn’t identify.

			His corner room was on the fifth floor with a splendid view of the Mediterranean. To the northeast he looked down on the ancient walls of the Old City, but he didn’t gaze for long. After a hot shower he fell across his bed, slept hard for an hour, and woke up only with the aid of an alarm clock. He showered again to knock off the cobwebs, dressed for business but without a necktie, and went to find lunch.

			Samir was waiting in the restaurant off the hotel lobby. Mitch found him at a dark corner table, and they had just been handed menus when Giovanna Sandroni arrived. They went through the rituals of hugging and pecking and when everyone was properly greeted they settled in and plunged into the small talk. She asked about Abby and the boys, and with some effort they agreed that their first meeting had been about six years earlier for dinner in New York. She’d spent a summer in New York as an intern in a rival firm. Luca was in town, and they met at, not surprisingly, an Italian restaurant in Tribeca where Abby knew the chef and there was talk of a cookbook.

			Giovanna was full-blooded Roman, with the dark sad eyes and classic features, but she had spent half of her life abroad. Elite boarding schools in Switzerland and Scotland, an undergraduate degree from Trinity in Dublin, one law school diploma from Queen Mary in London, and another from the University of Virginia. She spoke English without a trace of an accent and Italian like a native, which, of course, she was. Luca said she was “picking up” Mandarin, her fifth language, which for Mitch was too frustrating to think about. He and Abby were still clinging to their Italian and often worried that it was slipping away.

			Giovanna had been with Scully for five years and was on the inside track to a partnership, though an inside track would never be acknowledged by the firm. After the first year of associate boot camp the higher-ups usually knew who was a lifer and who’d be gone in five years. She had the brains, tenacity, and pedigree, not to mention the good looks that in principle counted for nothing but in reality opened many doors. She was thirty-two and single and had once been linked by the tabloids to a deadbeat Italian playboy who’d killed himself skydiving. That had been her only brush with fame and it was enough. As a member of a prominent family she was an easy target for gossip in Italy; thus, she preferred a quieter life abroad and had been in London for the past five years.

			“How’s Luca?” Mitch asked as soon as she settled in.

			She frowned and got right to the point. His health was deteriorating, his prognosis was grim. They talked about Luca for almost fifteen minutes and practically buried him. Samir had known him for thirty years and almost teared up. They ordered light vegetables and green tea.

			As they waited for the food, Samir pulled out a folded sheet of paper and held it so that it was obvious he had the floor. In his learned opinion, they should leave at dawn the following morning, around 5 A.M., when the city traffic was light. The bridge was a hard six-hour drive south of Tripoli. Assuming they arrived by noon, they could spend a maximum of three hours at the site before returning to the city. It was too dangerous to travel after dark.

			“What kind of danger?” Mitch asked.

			“Two hours out of the city, the roads are in bad shape and not safe. Plus, there are gangs and no shortage of bad characters. At the bridge, Lannak is breaking camp and almost finished with the job. The company is quite eager to close up shop. At least two of its engineers are still on-site and they will walk you through the design, history, problems, and so on. Luca thinks it’s important for you to actually see some of the changes that were dictated by the Libyan government as the project went out of control. We have plenty of materials—architects’ drawings, sketches, photos, videos, whatever—but the entire project is something you need to see. Luca has been there at least three times. We’ll work quickly, then start the return to Tripoli.”

			Mitch asked Giovanna, “Have you reviewed Luca’s summary?”

			She nodded confidently and said, “I have. All four hundred pages, not quite a summary. He can be windy at times, can’t he?”

			“No comment. He’s your father.”

			Lunch arrived and she removed a pair of bulky sunglasses. Mitch had already decided they were for fashion only and had nothing to do with improving her eyesight. She wore a long, black, loose dress that almost dragged the floor. No jewelry, no makeup, none needed. She said little, was sure of herself but deferential as an associate, and gave the impression that she could handle her side of the table in any discussion. They talked about the Great Gaddafi Bridge as they ate. Samir amused them with stories that had been circulating for years about the project, another boondoggle dreamed up by the Colonel. A man born in a tent. The stories, though, had never made it to print. The press was tightly controlled.

			The best story, and perhaps the most likely, was that once the bridge was finished, the Colonel wanted to blow it up and blame the Americans. His engineers had been unable to redirect the flow of the nearest river. He sacked them all and stopped paying Lannak.

			As first-time visitors to the city, and with a few hours to spare, they asked Samir if he could walk them through the Old City for a bit of sightseeing. He was delighted to show them around. They left the hotel on foot and soon entered the walled section of ancient Tripoli. The narrow streets were packed with small cars, delivery bikes, and rickshaws. A market was lined with stalls of vendors selling fresh meats and chickens, nuts roasting in hot pans, scarves, and all manner of clothing. The chorus of shouting and bantering, the honking horns and sirens, and the distant din of music combined to make a constant earsplitting roar. Then, at 3 P.M., unseen loudspeakers erupted with the adhan, the afternoon call to prayer, and virtually every man in sight scurried away and headed to the nearest mosque.

			Mitch had been to Syria and Morocco and had heard the adhan blare through the streets and neighborhoods five times each day. Though he knew little about the Muslim religion, he was fascinated with its traditions and the discipline of its adherents. Hustling off to church to pray in the middle of the day had never caught on in the States.

			The markets and streets were suddenly much quieter. Giovanna decided to do some shopping. Mitch tagged along and bought a scarf for Abby.

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 9

			Any worries about being ambushed in the desert by warlords or bandits were allayed when Mitch and Giovanna met their Turkish security detail. There were four of them—Aziz, Abdo, Gau, and one whose name sounded like “Haskel.” Their first names were such a challenge they did not offer their last ones. All Turks, they were large young men with thick arms and chests, and their bulky clothing was layered in such a way that it was evident they were concealing all manner of weaponry. Haskel, the unquestioned leader, did most of the talking in passable English. Samir was quick to point out a few things in Turkish, just to impress Mitch and Giovanna with his language skills.

			They met in a small room in a warehouse half an hour from the hotel. Haskel pointed here and there on a large, colorful map that covered an entire wall. He’d been in Libya for four years, had been to the bridge and back dozens of times without incident, and was confident they were in for an uneventful day. They would leave the hotel at five the following morning in one vehicle, a customized delivery truck with plenty of axles and fuel and other “protections.” During lunch, Samir had let it slip that the Lannak executives often zipped off to the bridge project in a helicopter. Mitch thought of asking why one was not available for their legal team, but then thought better of it.

			The truck driver would be Youssef, a trusted Lannak employee and a bona fide Libyan. There would be checkpoints and perhaps some minor harassment by local soldiers, but nothing Youssef couldn’t handle. They would carry plenty of food and water as it was best not to stop, unless of course nature called. The trip had been approved by the government and so, supposedly, their movements would not be monitored. Samir would tag along just in case, though he was obviously not looking forward to another trip to the bridge.

			He left Mitch and Giovanna at the hotel after dark and went home. After greeting his wife and nosing around the kitchen, he went to his small office, locked the door, and called his handler with the Libyan military police. The debriefing lasted half an hour and covered everything from what Giovanna was wearing to the make of her cell phone, hotel room number, purchases at the market, and her dinner plans. She and Mitch had agreed to dine in the hotel at 8 P.M. and invited Samir to join them. He’d begged off.

			In his opinion, the visit to the bridge was a waste of time, but typical of Western lawyers. Lannak was paying them by the hour, so why not do some traveling, have some fun, get out of the office, and see the eighth wonder of the world—a billion-dollar bridge over a dried-up river in the middle of the desert?
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			With so many Westerners in the hotel, Giovanna decided to ditch the local look and get dressed up. Her tight dress fell to her knees and did justice to her splendid figure. She wore a pair of dangling gold earrings, a necklace, and some bracelets. She was Italian, after all, and knew how to dress. She was meeting a handsome American partner in her law firm, and there could be some tension in the air. They were a long way from home.

			Mitch wore a dark suit with no tie. He was pleasantly surprised by her makeover and told her she looked lovely. They met in the bar and ordered martinis. Alcohol was strictly forbidden on Muslim soil, but the rulers knew how important it was to Westerners. Long ago, the hotels had convinced Gaddafi that to stay in business and show profits they needed to offer full bars and wine lists.

			They carried their drinks to a table by a large window and took in the view of the harbor. Since he was curious about her background and deemed her far more interesting than himself, Mitch gently kept the conversation on her side of the table. She had lived half of her thirty-two years in Italy, the other half abroad. She was feeling the urge to go home. Her father’s illness was a factor, and his death, heaven forbid, would leave a huge vacancy in Scully’s Rome office. Luca, of course, wanted her by his side these days, and she was serious about making the move. She loved London but was tired of the dreary weather.

			When the martinis were gone, Mitch waved to the waiter. With such an early departure the following morning, they could not indulge in a three-hour dinner, nor did they want heavy dishes of meats and sauces. They agreed on a light seafood stew and Giovanna picked a bottle of pinot grigio.

			“How old were you when you left Rome?” Mitch asked.

			“Fifteen. I was in the American school there and had traveled a lot, for a kid. My parents were splitting up and things were unpleasant at home. I was sent to a boarding school in Switzerland, an obscenely expensive getaway for rich kids whose parents were too busy to raise them. Kids from all over the world, a lot of Arabs, Asians, South Americans. It was a great environment and I had far too much fun, though I worried constantly about my parents.”

			“How often did you return to Rome?”

			“Occasionally, but only for holidays. I took summer internships here and there to stay away from home. I blamed my father for the divorce, still do, but we’ve managed to work out a truce.”

			“What happened to your mother?”

			She shrugged and smiled and made it clear that her mother was off-limits. Fine with Mitch. They were not about to discuss his parents. He asked, “Why did you choose college in Dublin?”

			The wine arrived and they went through the ritual of opening, sipping, approving. After the waiter poured two glasses and left, Giovanna continued, “I had partied a bit too much in boarding school and my application was rather bland. The Ivies were certainly not impressed and they all said no, as did Oxford and Cambridge. Luca pulled a string or two and I got admitted to Trinity in Dublin. I didn’t take rejection well and went off to school with a real chip on my shoulder. I studied hard and entered law school determined to turn the world upside down. I finished in two years, but at the age of twenty-three was not exactly ready to sit for the bar. Luca suggested I study in the States, and off I went to the University of Virginia for three delightful years. Enough about me. How’d you get into Harvard Law?”

			Mitch smiled and took a sip. “You mean, how did a poor kid from a small town in Kentucky make it to the Ivies?”

			“Something like that.”

			“Brilliant scholar, charismatic leader, you name it.”

			“No, seriously?”

			“Seriously? I had a four-oh average as an undergraduate and a near-perfect score on the law school admissions test. I was also from the coal county of Kentucky, a huge factor. Harvard doesn’t get a lot of applications from that part of the world, and so the smart people in admissions thought I might be exotic enough. The truth is, I got lucky.”

			“You make your own luck in life, Mitch. You did well at Harvard.”

			“Like you, I had a chip on my shoulder, something to prove, so, yes, I worked hard.”

			“Luca said you finished at the top of your class.”

			Why would Luca want to repeat that? “No, not true. I was number four.”

			“Out of?”

			“Out of five hundred.”

			It was almost nine o’clock and every table was filled with loud men talking at full throttle in more languages than Mitch cared to follow. A few wore robes and kaffiyehs but most were in expensive suits. In addition to plenty of alcohol going down, a lot of cigarettes were burning and the restaurant’s ventilation was inadequate. Oil drove Libya’s economy and Mitch caught snippets in English of markets, crude prices, and drilling. He tried to ignore it because he was dining with one of only two women in the room and his date deserved his attention. She was getting looks, seemed to know it, and seemed to accept them as if they were part of her world.

			Giovanna wanted to talk about Abby and the twins and they did so for a long time as they toyed with the stew, which wasn’t very good, and sipped the wine, which was okay but would have tasted much better in Lombardia. When they had covered Mitch’s immediate family, Giovanna pushed her bowl away and said she needed some advice. She had been with Scully for five years, all in their London office, and she was determined to become a partner. Would her chances be better if she stayed in London? Or if she returned to Rome? And how long might it take? The average at Scully was the same as at the other major firms in Big Law, about eight years.

			Mitch was tempted to go off the record and share the gossip he’d collected. She would probably make partner in average time if she maintained her current pace, and it didn’t matter where she was located. However, being the daughter of Luca Sandroni would certainly open more doors in Rome. She was bright and driven and had the pedigree. And, the firm was committed to diversity and needed more women at the top.

			He said it didn’t matter. Scully was known for recognizing legal talent, either homegrown or poached, regardless of where they found it.

			By the time they finished the stew and the wine they were both tired. Tomorrow would be an adventure. Mitch charged the dinner to his room. He walked Giovanna to hers, on the same floor, and said good night.

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 10

			He was fast asleep and had no idea of the time when he awoke in the darkness and grabbed the sheets because the bed was spinning. The sheets were soaked with water or sweat or something, he couldn’t tell in the first few awful seconds when he tried to sit up and breathe. His heart was pounding and ready to explode. His stomach was churning and flipping and before he could find a light switch, the dinner of light seafood stew and the pinot grigio was burning its way up. He gritted his teeth, tried hard to swallow, but couldn’t hold the surge and began vomiting off the side of the bed. He gagged and spat and coughed, and when the first batch was out he stared at the mess in the semi-dark and tried to think. It was impossible. It was all spinning—bed, ceiling, walls, furniture. His skin was oozing perspiration as his heart and lungs thundered away. He gagged and retched and puked some more. He had to get to the toilet but he was far too dizzy to stand up. He rolled out of the bed, fell into the vomit, and began crawling across the carpet to the bathroom where he turned on a light and unloaded again into the toilet. When his stomach was empty he leaned against the tub and washed his face with a hand towel and cold water. Hot sharp pains shot through his head and made him gasp. His labored breathing would not slow. His pulse felt like a jackhammer. He thought about another attempt at standing and moved slowly to all fours, then blacked out and fell to his side. He was sure he was dying.

			His stomach exploded again and he retched into the toilet. When the wave passed he leaned on the tub and turned the knobs. He could smell himself and had to clean up. Lying on his back, he pulled down his boxers and pajama pants, then wrestled off his shirt. They were wet with sweat and reeked of rancid fish stew. He tossed them into the shower and would deal with them later. He managed to roll himself into the tub without breaking bones. The water was too cold so he turned a knob. It ran over his head and down his neck, and when the tub was half full he turned it off and soaked for a long time with his eyes closed. The spinning was relentless. He noticed a clock on the counter. 1:58. He had slept less than three hours. He closed his eyes again, massaged his temples, and waited for the dizziness to go away.

			If it was food poisoning, then Giovanna would be just as sick. They ate the same stew, drank the same wine, started with the same martini. He should call her—she was only four doors away. What if she, too, was in the same shape? What if she was dying?

			The problem was he couldn’t walk. Hell, he was having trouble lying still in the lukewarm bathwater as his head spun like a top. He saw a thick white bathrobe hanging on the door and was determined to get it and cover himself. He slithered and wiggled his way out of the tub, found a towel and dried himself, then yanked the bathrobe off the hook and put it on. Nausea hit again and he stretched out on the cold tile floor and waited for it to pass. He would have vomited violently but his stomach was empty.

			He crawled to a credenza, gently lifted the hotel phone, and punched the button for the front desk. There was no answer. He cursed, tried it again. No one. He cursed some more and thought about Samir, his one pal in town who could find a doctor, maybe a hospital. The thought of being put into an ambulance in Tripoli and rushed to a Third World hospital was terrifying, but then so was the idea of being found dead in a hotel so far from home.

			He needed water but didn’t see a bottle. Five minutes passed, then ten, and he vowed to make it to thirty because by then he would still be alive and getting better, right? His guts were suddenly on fire again and cramping. He leaned to one side and tried not to retch, but he couldn’t hold back. The vomit was not last night’s dinner; that was already on the floor. Now he was regurgitating blood and water. He called the front desk but no one answered.

			He punched the number for Giovanna’s room. After four rings she finally said, “Hello, who is this?”

			“It’s me, Mitch. Are you okay?” She sounded fine, maybe a bit sleepy. With his enflamed throat and dry mouth he sounded like a dying man.

			“Well, yes, what’s the matter?”

			“You’re not sick?”

			“No.”

			“I’m in trouble, Giovanna. I think I have food poisoning and I need a doctor. The front desk doesn’t answer.”

			“Okay, I’ll be right there.” She hung up before he could say anything else. Now, if he could only get to the door to unlock it.
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			For the next half hour, he lay on the bare mattress in his bathrobe and tried not to move or speak as Giovanna put cold towels on his neck and forehead. She had stripped off the sheets, blanket, and pillowcases, and piled them on the floor, covering some of the mess he’d made. Samir said he was twenty minutes away.

			The nausea was gone, but his stomach and intestines still cramped and contracted. Mitch was in agony one moment, then drifting away to neverland the next.

			Samir arrived in a rush, still growling at the desk manager, who followed him and did little but get in the way. He and Samir bickered in Arabic. Behind them were two uniformed medics with a gurney. They spoke to Mitch as Samir translated. They checked his blood pressure—too high. His pulse was 150. He was definitely dehydrated. Samir patted Mitch on the arm and said, “We’re going to the hospital, okay, Mitch?”

			“Okay. You’re going with me, right?”

			“Of course. We have a good hospital in the city. Trust me. Don’t worry.”

			They rolled Mitch out of the room, down the hall, and to the elevators, with Samir and Giovanna close behind. Another medic was waiting in the lobby. The ambulance was at the front door. Samir said to Giovanna, “Ride with me. We’ll follow.” To Mitch he said, “I’ve called the right doctors. They’ll meet us at the hospital.”

			Mitch kept his eyes closed and nodded. He would remember nothing from his first ride in an ambulance, except for the wailing siren.

			With no traffic to contend with, they raced through the streets and within minutes wheeled him into the ER at the Metiga Military Hospital, a complex so modern it would look at home in any American suburb.

			“A military hospital?” Giovanna asked.

			“Yes, the best in the country. If you have money or connections, you come here. Our generals get the best of everything in Libya.”

			Without the slightest concern, Samir parked in a no-parking zone. They hustled into the ER and followed the gurney. Mitch was taken into an exam room and tucked into a bed. Nurses and technicians scurried about, and after fearing the worst, he was relieved at the attention and level of care. Samir and Giovanna were allowed into the room. A Dr. Omran appeared bedside and took charge. With a wide smile and a thick accent he said, “Mr. McDeere, I, too, studied at Harvard.”

			Small world. Mitch managed his first smile in hours and relaxed as much as possible. With Giovanna’s help, they tag-teamed through every bite they had eaten not only at dinner but also for lunch. While they talked, two nurses poked him with a needle and hooked him to an IV drip. They checked his vitals and drew a small vial of blood.

			Dr. Omran seemed perplexed by the narrative but wasn’t worried. “It’s not unheard of for one person to get sick while the others are not fazed. It’s unusual, but it happens.” He looked at Giovanna and said, “There’s still a chance you have the bacteria and might not feel well. It can hang around for a day or two.”

			She said, “No, I feel fine. No symptoms at all.”

			He spoke in Arabic to the nurses. A technician left to fetch something. To Mitch he said, “Let’s try a couple of meds. One to calm the nausea and stop the cramping, another to ease the pain and maybe allow you some sleep.”

			Both sounded wonderful and Mitch smiled again. In an effort at toughness, he asked, “When can I get out of here?”

			“You’re being admitted, Mr. McDeere,” the doctor said with a smile. “You’re not leaving anytime soon.”

			And he was fine with that. He especially liked the part about the painkiller and a long nap. Cramps were still rolling through his guts. His head was still spinning. He had no desire to do anything but drift away for a few hours. He thought of Abby and the boys and knew they were safe. The last thing they needed was an urgent call from Libya with bad news. He would be fine in a few hours.

			Giovanna said, “Mitch, it’s almost four A.M. We were supposed to leave at five.”

			Dr. Omran said, “He’s in no condition.”

			“Can we delay it twenty-four hours?” Mitch asked.

			Samir and the doctor stared at each other, then both shook their heads. The doctor said, “I’m not sure I can release you in twenty-four hours. I want to see the blood work.”

			Samir said, “The trip is approved for today. I would have to go back and ask for another approval. As I’ve said, the government is getting stricter. For obvious reasons they are not thrilled with this claim by Lannak, and they are approving today’s visit only to make themselves look good in court.”

			Mitch asked, “So, they might not approve another date?”

			“Who knows? I think they will, but they’ll delay a decision for a few days, just to make us wait. These are bureaucrats, Mitch. Tough guys.”

			Giovanna said, “I’ll go, Mitch. I know the summaries, the checklist, everything. I can handle it. Let’s do it and get it over with.”

			Mitch closed his eyes and endured another wave of cramps. At that moment, he had been in Libya long enough and couldn’t wait to leave. He looked at Samir and asked, “And you still think it’s safe?”

			“Mitch, if I didn’t believe so, we would not be here now. As I’ve said, I’ve made the trip a dozen times and never felt threatened.”

			“And you’ll go today?”

			“Mitch, I work for you, your firm, and your client. You are in charge. If you want me to accompany the team, then I’ll go.”

			Mitch grunted “Ahh!” and said through clenched teeth, “Diarrhea! Someone get the bedpan!”

			Samir and Giovanna found the door and fled down the hallway. They waited and watched a few minutes as orderlies and nurses went in and out of Mitch’s room. She finally said, “Let’s go back to the hotel. I need to change.”
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			The armored truck was waiting near the front entrance of the hotel. Youssef, the driver, was asleep behind the wheel. He was joined in the cab by the sixth member of the detail, Walid, another Libyan driver brought along in case Youssef needed a nap. He was facing a long day with at least ten hours at the wheel. The four Turks loitered near the street, all smoking, all dressed in desert fatigues and canvas boots.

			Samir spoke to them as they waited, then walked away with his phone stuck to his ear. He met Giovanna in the lobby and said, “Dr. Omran thinks I should stay here today and help with Mitch. There might be some complications.”

			“Such as?”

			“Maybe it wasn’t food poisoning.”

			“And that’s supposed to be reassuring?”

			“You don’t have to go, Giovanna. We can try again next week, or maybe in two weeks.”

			“You’re not worried about this trip?”

			For the fourth or fifth time, Samir said, “No. You have plenty of security and I’m sure it won’t be needed.”

			“Okay, I’m off. You take care of Mitch.”

			He pecked her on both cheeks and said, “I’ll meet you here for dinner tonight, okay?”

			“Lovely. But let’s skip the seafood stew.”

			They both laughed, and he watched her stride purposefully through the revolving door.

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 11

			The cab of the truck was like a cockpit with two captain’s chairs for the drivers. A narrow passageway ran to the back so that the drivers could talk to the passengers if necessary. Unmarked crates of supplies were stacked near the rear door, with more loaded onto a deck above the roof. When Youssef was satisfied that everything was strapped down and secure, he took the wheel and shifted gears.

			Giovanna and her bodyguards were in heavily padded chairs that could recline a few inches and were quite comfortable, at least on the paved city streets. Haskel, the leader, explained to Giovanna that the roads were not quite as smooth out in the country. According to him, the truck had been modified to haul Lannak engineers and executives from the city to the bridge and back, and had been used practically every day for years now. Youssef could make the drive in his sleep, which he often did.

			Aziz offered her thick Turkish coffee, which smelled delicious as he poured it into a metal cup. Haskel handed her a twisted pastry of some sort, flaky around the edges with a distinct sesame aroma. He explained, “It’s called a kaak. Very tasty.”

			Over his shoulder, Youssef said, “My wife makes them all the time for these trips.”

			“Thanks.” She took a bite and smiled her approval.

			The city’s streets were still dark and empty and it was too early for even a hint of sunlight. Two narrow windows on each side of the cargo hold gave them glimpses of the city. Within minutes, Gau and Abdo were slumped in their seats, eyes firmly closed. After two sips of the coffee, Giovanna knew sleep would not be possible. She nibbled on the Libyan version of a biscuit and tried to absorb her surroundings. Two days earlier she had been at her desk in London, same as always, dressed to kill and not looking forward to another round of dull meetings. Now she was in Tripoli, in the rear of a converted truck, sitting with four heavily armed Turks, and venturing into the desert where she would inspect a billion-dollar bridge to nowhere. She was wearing loose jeans, hiking boots, no makeup whatsoever. She pulled out her cell phone. Haskel noticed this and said, “Service is okay for about an hour, then nothing.”

			“How do you speak with your construction people at the bridge?”

			“A satellite system for phones and internet. You can use it when we get there.”

			She was worried about Mitch and sent him a text. She did not expect a response. She sent one to Samir, who quickly replied with the news that Mitch was feeling better. He, Samir, planned to spend the day at the hospital. She thought about Luca and decided to wait. Hopefully he was still asleep.

			Aziz nodded off, leaving only Haskel to stand guard, though no security was needed at the moment. Boredom hit hard, and Giovanna opened an exciting office memo that purported to summarize the sorry state of modern Libya, or at least since 1969, when Gaddafi pulled off his coup and installed himself as dictator, ruler, and king for life. At the edge of the city, as the highway narrowed, she began to yawn and realized that she had slept less than three hours. Mitch had called near death at 2 A.M. and she had been wired ever since.

			She checked her phone. No service. Only four hours to go.
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			The security guards at the checkpoint were regular Libyan Army. There were five of them, and they had been dead for an hour by the time Youssef made the long turn and the concrete barriers came into view. Their bodies were in the rear of a stolen truck that would soon be burned. Their uniforms were now being worn by their killers.

			Youssef saw the guards and said, “Checkpoint. We may have to get out.”

			Haskel looked at Giovanna and said, “This is the main checkpoint and we usually get out so the guards can have a look inside. It’s kind of nice to stretch our legs. There’s a restroom of sorts, if needed. Don’t worry.”

			She nodded and said, “I’m okay. Thanks.”

			The truck stopped. Two guards pointed with their rifles. Youssef and Walid got out and said hello. It was all routine. Another guard opened the rear door and motioned for the four Turks and Giovanna to get out.

			“No guns!” the guard shouted in Arabic.

			As usual, the Turks left their weapons on their seats and stepped into the sunlight. It was almost 9 A.M. and the desert was already hot. Two men in uniform climbed into the truck and looked around. Minutes dragged on and Youssef began glancing around. He did not recognize the guards, but then they rotated so often. Two of them stood close by with Kalashnikovs, their fingers close to the triggers.

			The leader stepped out of the truck holding Haskel’s automatic pistol. He waved it at them and yelled, in Arabic, “Hands up, high!”

			The four Turks, two Libyans, and Giovanna slowly raised their hands.

			“On your knees!” he shouted.

			Instead of dropping to his knees, Youssef took a step in the wrong direction and said, “What is this? We have permission!”

			The leader aimed the pistol at his face, and from three feet away, pulled the trigger.
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			Haskel had called his boss at the Lannak construction camp as they were leaving the city and said they were on schedule to arrive at 10 A.M. This had been standard operating procedure for the entire time the bridge had been under construction. Always plan the trip, nothing spur of the moment, always call ahead, and always call to announce the departure and arrival. Someone with authority was watching and waiting. Most of the highways were safe, but it was Libya, after all, a land of warring tribes that had thrived on conflict for centuries.

			At 10:30, the camp called the radio in Youssef’s truck, but there was no answer. Same at 10:45 and 11:00. If there had been a breakdown, which were not uncommon, the driver would have called the camp immediately. At 11:05, the camp received a call from the Libyan Army. The message was disturbing: Another truck had stopped at the checkpoint, only to find it deserted. The five army guards were missing, along with their two trucks and two jeeps. There was no sign of another vehicle. The army was sending helicopters and troops to the area.

			The search revealed nothing, though it wasn’t difficult to hide in the vastness of the Sahara. At 3 P.M., the Lannak executive in charge called Samir, who was at his office. He returned to the hospital to find Mitch napping again, and decided to wait an hour or so before delivering the troubling news.

			By 5 P.M., Mitch had forgotten about his food poisoning and was on the phone with Jack Ruch in New York, who in turn had patched in Riley Casey, his counterpart in the London office. With so many details yet to be confirmed, it still seemed inconceivable that an associate of Scully & Pershing could be missing in Libya. But there had been no sign of Giovanna or any of the men with her for twelve hours. And no contact. The nightmare was evolving, and with each passing hour it became grimmer.

			The most pressing issue was how to tell her father. Mitch knew he had no choice but to do so himself, and soon, before Luca heard the news from some other source.

			At 6:30 P.M., Mitch called Luca in Rome and told him his daughter was missing.

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 12

			Viewed by most of the world as a pariah state, Gaddafi’s Libya struggled to maintain normal diplomatic relations even with its friends. With its enemies, contact on sensitive matters was at best tricky and often impossible. The Turkish ambassador was the first to arrive at the People’s Palace for a hurriedly arranged meeting. He spoke with a senior military adviser to Gaddafi and was told that the government was doing everything to find the missing team. Off the record, the ambassador was assured that the government was not involved in the abductions or kidnappings or whatever they were being called at the moment. He left the meeting unsatisfied and with more questions than when he arrived, but that was not unusual when dealing with the regime.

			The Italians were next. Given their colonial history, they still maintained formal ties with the government and often did the dirty work for the Westerners who chose to deal with Libya because of its oil. The Italian ambassador spoke with a Libyan general on the phone and was fed the party line: the government was not involved, nor did they know who was, nor did they have any idea where the hostages had been taken. The Libyan Army was scouring the desert. The ambassador immediately called Luca, an acquaintance, and relayed the conversation. For some vague reason, the ambassador was confident Giovanna and the others would be found unharmed.

			Neither the British nor the Americans used diplomats when dealing with Libya. After President Reagan bombed the country in 1986, an undeclared state of war had been in effect. After that, any contact with Gaddafi and his minions was complicated and fraught with intrigue. Further compounding the situation was the fact that no American was involved. Giovanna had dual Italian and British citizenship. Scully & Pershing was headquartered in New York, but it was a law firm, a corporation, not a person. Nevertheless, the U.S. State Department and its intelligence services were on high alert, watching the internet and listening to the chatter. And they were hearing nothing. Satellite images had yet to produce anything.

			British spies in Tripoli were likewise scrambling for gossip. The details, though, were still vague, and their usually reliable sources knew virtually nothing.

			As of 10 P.M. there was still no word from the kidnappers. No one knew what to call them because no one knew who they were. Terrorists, thugs, revolutionaries, tribal warriors, fundamentalists, insurgents, bandits—many descriptions were in play. Since the state controlled the press, there had been no confirmation of the story. Not a single word had been leaked to the Western media.
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			Samir spent the long, miserable afternoon and evening sitting with Mitch in his hospital room and walking around the parking lot with his phone stuck to his ear. Neither was pleasant. Mitch had been quite ill with what was probably food poisoning. Dr. Omran could find no other cause. The vomiting and diarrhea had finally stopped, because there was nothing left in his system. He was still afraid to eat and had no appetite. His physical problems, though, had vanished with the shocking news of the ambush. Now Mitch was just trying to get out of the hospital.

			Samir’s contacts with the military police had told him little. He had been assured it was not a government ploy to force Lannak out of the country minus, of course, the $400 million or so it was demanding for the damned bridge. His sources seemed to be in the dark like everyone else. He was suspicious, though, because he hated Gaddafi and knew his capacity for depravity was boundless. He kept such thoughts to himself.

			

			
				
				[image: ]

			At 11 P.M., Eastern Standard Time, Scully made the decision to extract Mitch McDeere from Tripoli. The firm had an insurance policy that provided emergency evacuation for any of its lawyers who might fall ill in a country with less than desirable health care. Libya qualified. Jack Ruch called the insurance company, which had already been notified and was standing by. He then called Mitch, for the third time, and they haggled over the details. Mitch wanted to stay because he didn’t want to leave without Giovanna. On the other hand, he wanted to leave because he still felt awful and never wanted to set foot on Libyan soil again. He had talked to Abby twice and she was adamant that he get out as soon as possible. Ruch argued, in clear and forceful language, that Mitch couldn’t do a damned thing to help find Giovanna and her security team and he’d be foolish to try.

			At 6:30 A.M., Saturday, April 16, Mitch was placed in a wheelchair and rolled out of the hospital and into an ambulance. Samir stayed by his side, as did a nurse. Forty minutes later, they stopped on the tarmac in a section of the airfield not seen or used by the general public. Half a dozen corporate jets were parked and watched by armed security guards. A silver Gulfstream 600 was waiting. Mitch insisted on walking up the steps and boarding under his own power. A doctor and a nurse were waiting and immediately strapped him to a comfortable gurney. He shook hands with Samir and said goodbye.

			His pulse and blood pressure were too high, but that was not unusual, given the excitement of the past hour. His temperature was slightly elevated. He drank a cup of ice water but turned down some crackers. The doctor asked if he wanted to sleep and he said yes, by all means. The nurse handed him two pills, with some more water, and he was snoring before the Gulfstream took off.

			The flight to Rome was one hour and fifty minutes. He did not wake up until the doctor patted his arm and said it was time to disembark. With the help of one of the pilots, he managed to descend the steps and crawl into the rear of another ambulance.

			At Gemelli Hospital in central Rome, Mitch was taken to a private room and examined again. Everything was normal and the doctor said he would be released before noon. After the nurses left, a Scully partner named Roberto Maggi entered the room and said hello. The two had met several times over the years but were not close. He had been with Luca all afternoon and they were, of course, in shock. Luca had not been feeling well before the news. Now, he was sedated and under the care of his doctor.

			Mitch, wide awake and suddenly hungry, replayed every step he and Giovanna had taken in Tripoli. None of the information was helpful. He knew less about the abductions than Roberto. Evidently, the Libyan authorities were either still in the dark or simply not talking. As far as anyone knew, the kidnappers had yet to call.

			Roberto left and promised to be back in a few hours to help Mitch with his discharge. A nurse brought a bowl of chopped fruit, a diet soda, and some crackers. Mitch ate slowly, then called Abby again and reported that he was resting comfortably in a nice hospital room in Rome and feeling much better.

			She was watching cable news and monitoring the internet and had seen nothing out of Libya.

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 13

			The news blackout ended dramatically when the four Turks were found with their heads cut off. They were naked and hanging by their feet from a cable running between two storage buildings a mile from the bridge. Their flesh was slashed, burned, and bloodied, and it was safe to assume they had suffered greatly before being decapitated. Nearby was a large oil drum with a plank across its top. On the plank, in a neat row, were the four heads.

			Haskel, Gau, Abdo, Aziz.

			The Lannak security guard who found them early that morning did not attempt to match the heads with the bodies. Someone far smarter than him would be given that task.

			There was no sign of Youssef, Walid, or Giovanna. No sign of the murderers. No note, no demand, nothing. The Lannak security guards at the bridge heard nothing, but the nearest one was at least a hundred yards away. There was little security left because the company was pulling people off the site and sending them home. The construction was practically finished. All closed-circuit cameras in the area had been dismantled.

			The four beheadings would no doubt encourage the company to retreat even faster.

			A Libyan official quickly sealed off the area and prohibited anyone from taking photos and videos of the scene. His orders from Tripoli were to keep everyone, including Lannak employees, away from the bodies. Such a gruesome sight would go viral in an instant and only embarrass the government. The story, though, could not be buried, and before noon Tripoli released a statement confirming the murders and kidnappings. There was still no word from the “terrorists.” In its first effort at disinformation, the regime said the attack “was believed to be the work of a notorious tribal gang headquartered in Chad.” The Libyan authorities vowed to find the outlaws and bring them to justice, after, of course, it found the other hostages.
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			Mitch was leaving the hospital in a car with Roberto Maggi when the call came. An associate in their Rome office had just seen the news out of Tripoli. The government was confirming the abduction of Giovanna Sandroni, along with two Libyan employees of Lannak. Their whereabouts were unknown. Their Turkish security team had been murdered.

			They drove to Luca’s villa in the Trastevere neighborhood, in south-central Rome, and found him sitting alone on the veranda under the shade of an umbrella pine, wrapped in a quilt and gazing at a fountain in the small courtyard. A nurse sat by the open double-doors. He smiled at Mitch and waved at an empty chair.

			“It’s good to see you, Mitch,” he said. “I’m glad you’re okay.”

			Roberto said, “I’ll be inside, Luca,” and disappeared.

			Mitch asked, “How are you?”

			He shrugged and took his time. “Still fighting. I’ve been on the phone all morning with my best contacts in Libya, and I’m not getting much.”

			“Could it be Gaddafi?”

			“That’s always a possibility. He’s a madman and capable of anything. But I have my doubts. They just found five dead soldiers, Libyan Army, the guards at the checkpoint. All shot in the head, bodies burned. I doubt Gaddafi would kill his own men, but then one never knows.”

			“Why would he kill Lannak employees?”

			“Intimidation, perhaps.”

			A well-dressed woman of about fifty appeared and asked Mitch if he wanted something to drink. He asked for an espresso and she walked away.

			Luca ignored her and continued, “Gaddafi owes Lannak at least four hundred million dollars for his beautiful bridge in the desert. The price of oil is down. The Libyans are always out of cash because Gaddafi wants stockpiles of weapons. He just ordered forty more MiGs from the Russians.” His voice trailed off and he lit a cigarette. He was pale and looked ten years older than he had two weeks earlier.

			Mitch wanted to say something about Giovanna but couldn’t bear to bring up the subject. His espresso arrived on a small tray and he thanked the woman.

			When she was gone, Luca exhaled a cloud of smoke and said, “That’s Bella, my friend.”

			Luca usually had a lady friend around.

			He said, “Something told me not to let her go, Mitch. I didn’t like the idea but she insisted. Giovanna’s tired of London and I’m afraid she might be growing tired of the law. She wanted an adventure. She was home last Christmas and I talked too much, talked about the bridge Gaddafi built in the desert, and my client Lannak, a great company from Turkey. It was all cocktail talk, the way lawyers do, nothing confidential. I had no idea she would want to go there. And she couldn’t, as long as I had the case. Then I got sick, called you, and here we are, Mitch. Here we are.”

			Mitch sipped his espresso and decided to just listen. He had nothing to add.

			“How are you, Mitch?”

			He shrugged and waved him off. With the body count now at nine—five burned bodies and four decapitations—it seemed almost silly to dwell on a bad case of food poisoning.

			“I’m fine,” he said. “Physically.”

			Luca had two phones on the table and one began vibrating. He picked it up, looked at it, said, “It’s from the Libyan embassy in Milan. I need to take it.”

			“Of course.”

			Mitch walked inside and saw Roberto crouched over a laptop on a table in the kitchen. He waved Mitch over and said quietly, “There’s a video that’s going viral. Someone filmed the four dead Turks. The news stations are not showing it but it’s everywhere else right now. You want to see it?”

			“I don’t know.”

			“It’s graphic. Is your system still a bit fragile?”

			“Let’s see it.”

			Roberto slid the laptop around and hit a key. The video was shot with a cell phone and whoever took it was very close to the bodies. So close that he was told to stand back because of the blood that had pooled beneath each victim. It ran for thirty seconds and was abruptly stopped when someone began yelling in Arabic.

			Mitch stood erect, felt another knot in his stomach, and said, “I wouldn’t tell Luca.”

			“I’m not, but he’ll probably see it anyway.”

			New York was six hours behind Rome. Mitch called Abby, who had been monitoring the news reports. So far there was nothing from Libya. Bad news from North Africa didn’t sell well in the United States. However, the British and Europeans were far more interested. When the London tabloids got the story of a young British lawyer kidnapped in Libya by a ruthless gang that, at the same time, decapitated her bodyguards, the online reports ran wild. At the Scully & Pershing office in Canary Wharf, security was quickly beefed up, not out of fear of more terrorist attacks, but to protect the staff from an assault by the British press.

			Mitch and Roberto had lunch with Luca on the veranda, though he ate almost nothing. Mitch, now ravenous, devoured everything in sight. It was clear that he was feeling much better and Luca said, “Mitch, I want you to go home. I’ll call when I need you. There’s nothing for you to do now.”

			“I’m sorry this happened, Luca. I should have been there.”

			“Be thankful you were not, my friend.” He nodded at Roberto, who said, “We’ve gone back thirty years and reviewed every case involving Westerners taken hostage in Muslim countries. We’re still digging. Almost all of the women survived and very few were mistreated. Their captivities ranged from two weeks to six years, but virtually every one got out, either by ransom, rescue, or escape. The men are a different story. Almost all were physically abused and about half did not survive. Forty that we know of are still captive. So, yes, Mitch, be thankful you had a good round of food poisoning.”

			“Is there a chance of a diplomatic resolution?” Mitch asked.

			Luca shook his head. “Doubtful. We don’t know the enemy as of now, but it’s probably safe to say they don’t care much for diplomacy.”

			“So it’s rescue or ransom?”

			“Yes, and we shouldn’t dwell on rescue. That’s always incredibly dangerous. The Brits will kick into high gear and want an elaborate military-style operation. The Italians will want to pay the money. Anyway, it’s premature. Right now all we can do is sit and wait for the phone call.”

			“I’m sorry, Luca,” Mitch said again. “We thought we were safe.”

			“So did I. As you know, I’ve traveled there many times. I love Libya, in spite of its instability.”

			“Samir felt sure we were safe.”

			“You can’t trust Samir, Mitch. He’s a Libyan agent and he reports to the military police.”

			Mitch swallowed hard and tried to keep a poker face. “I thought he worked for us.”

			“He works for anyone who’ll pay him. Samir has no loyalty whatsoever.”

			Roberto added, “He was supposed to be with Giovanna, Mitch, but he found an excuse to stay at the hospital with you.”

			Mitch said, “Now I’m really confused.”

			Luca managed a smile and said, “Mitch, in Libya, you trust no one.”

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 14

			Nothing changed in the twelve hours it took KLM to fly Mitch from Rome to Amsterdam to New York. There was one seat left on a direct flight to JFK, but it was back in coach and Mitch needed the legroom up in business class. He also needed easier access to the restrooms. His stomach was rumbling again and he feared a sudden eruption. After what his system had been through over the past four days, he left nothing to chance. Along the way he called Abby twice and caught up with family matters and neighborhood gossip. He called Roberto Maggi to check on Luca, who was resting. There was no word out of Libya, nothing from the kidnappers. He called his secretary and reorganized his schedule. Over the Atlantic, he took a sleeping pill that barely knocked off the edge but eventually led to a fitful thirty-minute nap. When he woke up, he made calls to his paralegal and two associates.

			He tried not to think of Giovanna, though it was impossible. How were they treating her? Where were they hiding her? Was she getting food and water? Was she being interrogated, injured, abused? The law of the jungle accepted the torture and murder of armed men who had been trained with weapons and expected to do their own killing, but not an innocent civilian. Especially a young female lawyer who was just along for the ride.

			The ride? Mitch simmered at the hubris and foolishness of dashing off to a country known for its instability and danger, and including Giovanna as a favor to her father. Of course, Luca had suggested the trip and assured him they would be safe, but Mitch was no rookie and could have insisted on other arrangements. He had asked himself, more than once, if a visit to the bridge was actually necessary. The answer was: probably not. Had he been overly excited about the adventure? Yes. He had never been to Libya and had been too eager to add it to his list of countries he’d visited.

			Killing time in the Amsterdam airport, he had called Cory Gallant, Scully’s chief of security. When Mitch joined Scully eleven years earlier he was unaware that it had its own little army of security experts. He learned that most firms in the world of Big Law spend a fortune not only to protect their partners but to investigate their enemies, even their own clients. Before leaving for Rome and Tripoli, Mitch had been briefed by Cory on the situation in Libya. Gallant had traveled to the bridge with Luca a year earlier. In his opinion, the trip was only slightly risky. It was in the best interest of the Libyans to protect all foreign businessmen and professionals.

			Cory was waiting outside the baggage claim at JFK with a driver, a thick young man who took Mitch’s bags and hauled them to a black SUV parked illegally near the cabs. He got behind the wheel as Mitch and Cory settled into the rear seats. A plexiglass panel separated them from the driver.

			It was almost 8 P.M., Sunday, April 17, and the traffic out of JFK was brutal as usual.

			After describing the joys of a twelve-hour journey, Mitch asked, “Any news from over there?”

			“Not much.”

			“Not much? That sounds like more than nothing, which is what we had a few hours ago.”

			“There’s been a development.”

			“Go on.”

			“There’s another video. We found it about an hour ago on the deep web. The kidnappers videoed the decapitations.”

			Mitch exhaled and looked out the window.

			Cory continued, “Live and in color. Horribly graphic. I saw it and I wish I had not. These are nasty boys.”

			“I’m not sure I want to see it.”

			“You don’t, believe me, Mitch. Please don’t watch it. It has nothing to do with Giovanna, other than the fact that she’s being held by some sick and sadistic people.”

			“That’s supposed to be comforting?”

			“No.”

			The traffic was moving and they did not speak for a moment. Mitch asked, “Can you maybe describe it without going into too much detail?”

			“They used a chain saw and made the others watch. The last one, a man named Aziz, saw his three buddies lose their heads before he lost his.”

			Mitch threw up both hands and said, “Okay, okay.”

			“It’s the worst thing I’ve ever seen.”

			“I knew Aziz. I knew all four of them. We met the day before at the Lannak office in Tripoli and they briefed us on the trip. They had no worries at all, said they went to the bridge and back all the time.”

			Cory nodded sadly and said, “I guess they were wrong.”

			Mitch closed his eyes and tried not to think about Aziz, Haskel, Gau, and Abdo. He tried not to think about the image of them hanging by their feet. His stomach flipped again as his pulse went haywire. He mumbled, “Sorry I asked.”

			“I’ve seen a lot, but this is something else.”

			“Got it. Any word out of Washington?”

			“Our people there have talked to contacts at State, the CIA, NSA. Everybody’s scrambling and nobody’s hearing anything. For a lot of reasons we don’t have a lot of good sources in Libya. Gaddafi has never been too friendly. The Brits have stronger contacts, as do the Italians, and, of course, she belongs to them. The Turks are raising hell. The situation is extremely volatile and unpredictable and no one is in charge. We can’t just go barging in, as we so often do.”

			“How valuable is she?”

			“Depends on who has her, I guess. If it’s really some splinter group of terrorists or a renegade militia with big plans, then it’ll be a demand for ransom. A few million bucks might be sufficient. But if it’s Gaddafi, then who knows? He might use her as a bargaining chip to settle the lawsuit.”

			Mitch said, “Sure, she could save him some real cash.”

			“That’s your department, Mitch.”

			“If it’s Gaddafi, it’s a pretty stupid move because Lannak will not settle. The company has been furious for two years because of non-payment. Now, with four of its security guards murdered, they’ll want even more money. And the court will give it to them, in my opinion. Giovanna, of course, gets caught in the crossfire.”

			“Well, the early speculation out of Washington is that it’s not Gaddafi. He may be crazy but he’s not stupid. Anyway, we have a briefing at seven in the morning with our guys in Washington, a teleconference. Jack Ruch’s office.”

			“I’m not going to be there at seven in the morning, Cory. Rearrange the schedule.”

			“Mr. Ruch said seven.”

			“I’m taking my sons to school in the morning and I’ll be in the office around eight-thirty, my usual time. Sure, this is an important matter, but holding an urgent meeting at seven tomorrow morning, here in New York, will not do a damned thing to help Giovanna.”

			“Yes, sir. I’m sure Mr. Ruch will call you.”

			“Oh, he calls all the time and I usually do what he says.”
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			Carter and Clark were in their pajamas and enjoying an extra hour of television as they waited for their father. Mitch walked through the door shortly before nine and they raced to greet him. He picked them up, tossed them on a sofa, and went for their ribs. When both were laughing and yelling, Abby finally intervened with her usual concerns about the neighbors. When things were quieter, Carter seized the moment and asked, “Hey, Dad, can we stay up until ten?”

			“No sir,” Abby said.

			“Of course you can,” Mitch said. “And let’s make some popcorn.” Both boys raced toward the kitchen as Mitch attempted to kiss his wife.

			“Popcorn for dinner?” she asked.

			“It beats airplane food.”

			“Welcome home. There’s leftover manicotti in the fridge.”

			“Rosario Brothers?”

			“Yes, they were here last night. It may be the best manicotti I’ve ever tasted.”

			“We’ll save it. I’m not that hungry and my system is, shall we say, unstable again.”

			“We have a lot to discuss.”

			“Indeed we do.”

			When the boys were wrapped in quilts and stuffing popcorn in their mouths, Mitch and Abby eased away and went to the kitchen. She poured two glasses of wine and gave her husband a proper kiss. “Any word?” she asked softly.

			“Nothing on Giovanna.”

			“I assume you’ve heard about the video.”

			Mitch closed his eyes and grimaced. “Which one?”

			“You know Gina Nelligan? Teaches art at the upper school.”

			Mitch was shaking his head. No.

			“Her son is a junior at Purdue. He called home an hour or so ago, told her about the video on the deep web.”

			“The beheadings?”

			“Yes. Have you watched it?”

			“No. Don’t plan to. Our security guy described it for me. That’s enough.”

			“Did you know those men, the guards?”

			“Yes, I met them the day before they were murdered. They were going with us to the bridge, along with two Libyan drivers and Giovanna. All of us in one secured vehicle.”

			“I can’t believe it, Mitch. And that poor girl. They have no idea where she is?”

			“Nothing, not a clue, but we expect that will change. She’s worth a lot of money and her kidnappers will make contact at some point.”

			“You hope.”

			“Yes, no one is certain of anything right now.”

			“Well, I’m certain that you’re not going back to Libya. Agreed?”

			“Agreed.”

			“Let’s go sit with the boys.”

			By nine-thirty the boys were yawning and Abby hustled them to bed. Mitch helped tuck them in and said good night. He turned off the television as she topped off their wineglasses. They sat together on the sofa and enjoyed the quiet.

			She said, “As you might know, there’s a lot of press, especially in the U.K. I’ve been online for hours trying to find whatever I can. Plenty of stories here and in Rome. Scully and Pershing is mentioned over and over, but so far I have not seen your name.”

			“Nor have I. My secretary and two paralegals are also searching.”

			“So you’re worried?”

			“I’m worried about Giovanna, of course. I take some of the blame for what’s happened, Abby. It was my trip, my little fact-finding mission, one I asked for and was in charge of.”

			“I thought Luca told you to go.”

			“He suggested that I go but the decision was mine. He wanted his daughter to associate on the case because she was bored in London and looking for something more exciting. Looking back, the whole idea made little sense.”

			“Got it, but I was thinking more about us. Are you worried about the law firm?”

			“Our safety?”

			“Well, yes, I guess.”

			“No, not at all. More than likely the kidnappers are members of a tribal militia that roams the Sahara looking for trouble. They are far away and not that sophisticated.”

			“You hope.”

			Mitch took a sip of wine and rubbed her leg. “Sure, Abby, we’re very much in the dark here. We should learn more tomorrow, and the next day. When it’s time to worry, I’ll let you know. Now, it’s too early.”

			“I think I’ve heard that before.”

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 15

			Whatever they were—criminals or terrorists—they had a flair for the dramatic. Four days after ransacking the checkpoint and murdering five army guards, and three days after taking a chain saw to the necks of the Turkish security team, and two days after releasing their video into the vastness of the deep web, they hung Youssef’s body on a telephone pole next to a busy highway in Benghazi. He was found, head attached but with a gaping hole in it, bloody and stripped of all clothing, bound at the wrists and ankles, turning slowly at the end of a thick wire as the sun came up. A note was attached to his right ankle with a piece of string. It read: Youssef Ashour, Traitor.

			The military police swarmed the area, blocked all roads and highways, and let him hang for hours as they waited for orders. Perhaps there would be another video of the murder that might yield some clues.

			Samir went to the scene, confirmed that it was indeed Youssef, a man he’d known for years, and called Lannak, then Luca.

			Only Walid and Giovanna were left, as far as anyone knew.
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			Cory Gallant took the call at four in the morning, and after only three hours of light sleep had no trouble rolling out of bed and going to the office. He was waiting outside Mitch’s office at eight-thirty when he arrived.

			One look and Mitch knew the news was not good.

			“There’s been another development,” Cory said abruptly.

			“I’m beginning to hate the word ‘development.’ ”

			“Mr. Ruch is waiting.”

			On the elevator, Cory told Mitch everything he knew about Youssef, which was little more than the location and condition of his corpse. It had been found about nine hours earlier and, not surprisingly, there had been no word from the people who strung him up.

			

			
				
				[image: ]

			Jack Ruch was irritated because he’d wanted the teleconference at 7 A.M., which did not fit with Mitch’s schedule. Ruch still worked sixteen hours a day and was known for predawn meetings to prove his toughness. Mitch had lost all patience for such shows of machismo at Scully.

			Ruch pointed to a conference table as he glanced at a large screen high on the wall. Nonstop cable news was covering an earthquake but, thankfully, it was muted. Nothing, yet, from Libya. A secretary poured coffee and Ruch said, “I assume Cory has given you the latest.”

			“I got the elevator version,” Mitch replied.

			“That’s about all we have as of now.” He glanced at the screen again as if expecting more news at any moment. The secretary left the room and closed the door. Ruch cracked his knuckles, looked at Mitch, and asked, “Have you spoken to Lannak this morning?”

			“Not yet. It’s first on my list.”

			“Get it done. They’re rattled and very upset. Their in-house counsel is Denys Tullos.”

			“I know him.”

			“Good. I talked to him last night. The company is trying to get the four bodies back home and the Libyans are not cooperating, still pissed about the lawsuit. Everyone is. Lannak wants its money, and now it wants a lot more because of Libya’s failure to protect foreign workers, something it has always promised. So, the lawsuit will probably be amended to seek more damages. When is it likely to go to trial?”

			“Months, maybe a year from now. Who knows?”

			“Okay. I want you to step on the gas, Mitch, and get this case before the judges. Lannak is a valuable client, paid us something like sixteen million in fees last year. Make plans to meet with them in the next week or so to make them feel better.”

			“Got it.”

			“How big is your team?”

			“Well, I had two associates, including Giovanna. Now I’m not so sure. Roberto Maggi in Rome will stay on.”

			“Okay. We’ll discuss personnel later. Right now we have a much bigger problem. A Scully associate has been kidnapped in Libya and we have to do everything possible to get her released. You know Benson Wall, our manager in Washington?”

			“Yes, I’ve met him.”

			“Benson will join us in a moment by video. We have three partners in D.C. who worked in either State or CIA, so we have some contacts. Ever heard of an outfit called Crueggal?”

			“Sounds like a breakfast cereal.”

			“Far from it. Cory.”

			Cory expertly took the handoff and didn’t miss a beat. “You won’t find the company on the internet or anywhere else. It’s a bunch of ex-spooks and military intel experts who operate around the world as a super-security firm on par with MI6, Mossad, CIA, KGB, and so on. They tend to go where the trouble is, so they spend a lot of time in the Middle East. Without a doubt they are the best at handling a hostage situation involving a Westerner. They’ve had plenty of practice and a good record.”

			“And we’ve hired them?” Mitch asked.

			“Yes.”

			Ruch said, “Because we operate globally, and go into some places that are not as safe as we’d like, we carry a lot of insurance, Mitch. Hostage negotiators, ransom, stuff like that.”

			“Military operations?”

			“Not covered. And not expected.”

			Cory said, “The quickest way to get a hostage killed is to send in the dogs.”

			“The dogs?”

			“Hotshots with guns and itchy fingers, cops or special ops or otherwise. Diplomacy, negotiation, and money work much better in these situations. Ever heard of K and R insurance?”

			“Maybe.”

			“Kidnap and ransom. It’s a huge industry and most big insurance companies offer it.”

			Ruch said, “We’ve carried it for years but it’s a secret. We don’t talk about it because the kidnappers might get excited if they know we’re insured.”

			“So I’m covered?”

			“We’re all covered.”

			“For how much? What am I worth?”

			Cory looked at Ruch and said nothing. The answer had to come from the boss.

			“Twenty-five million,” Jack said. “Costs us a hundred grand a year.”

			“Sounds like plenty. Just out of curiosity, what’s a hostage like Giovanna worth on the open market?”

			Cory said, “Who knows? Throw a dart. There is a strong rumor that two years ago the French government paid thirty-eight million for a journalist being held in Somalia, denied of course. Five years ago the Spanish paid twenty million for an aid worker in Syria. But France and Spain will negotiate. Britain, Italy, and the U.S. will not, at least not officially. And there is rarely a clear line between what is a criminal gang and what’s a terrorist outfit.”

			Ruch said, “That’s where Crueggal comes in. We’ve hired them, and we convinced our insurance company to use them as well.”

			“Who’s our insurance company?”

			“DGMX.”

			“DGMX? How creative.”

			“It’s a sub of a big British insurer,” Cory said.

			“Anyway,” Ruch said, tiring of the small talk, “we have Benson Wall and a man named Darian Kasuch on the line. He’s an Israeli American who runs Crueggal worldwide.”

			He tapped the keyboard and a screen at the end of the table came to life. Two faces appeared. Benson Wall and Darian Kasuch. Both were about fifty years old. Both stared awkwardly at the camera on their end.

			Ruch made quick introductions. Mr. Wall ran Scully’s D.C. office with two hundred lawyers. He said little more than “Hello.” Mr. Kasuch didn’t even bother with that and took off with “There is no shortage of gangs that roam southern Libya, far away from Tripoli and Benghazi. They fight each other for territory but they all hate Gaddafi and at least two or three are usually planning a coup. As you know, he has survived eight attempts since he took power in 1969 and needs about ten thousand loyal soldiers to protect himself. When his enemies are not plotting to kill him, they meddle and make trouble as best they can. Kidnapping is common and it’s a profitable way for the gangs to make a buck. They like to snatch oil field workers, maybe get lucky and get an executive with British Petroleum every now and then, and it’s usually all about money. Having said that, there are some unusual aspects of this one that are disturbing. First is the appalling amount of bloodshed already on the ground. Ten dead so far.”

			Darian had close-cropped gray hair, tanned leathery skin, and the hard unblinking stare of a man who’d lived in dangerous shadows and seen his share of dead bodies. Mitch was glad they were on the same team.

			He continued, “This is unusual for the work of a criminal gang, more typical of terrorists. The second point is that the latest victim, the truck driver, was found very close to Benghazi. The gangs seldom go near the big cities. These two factors alone indicate that we might be dealing with a new, more ominous threat.”

			He paused and Mitch asked, “So, you don’t think it’s Gaddafi?”

			“No, and for several reasons. The most obvious is that his regime has dealt with foreign companies for the past thirty-five years without this type of violence. The Libyans need foreign workers and have done a good job of protecting everyone. Lannak has been there for twenty years without a serious incident. Why attack them now? Because the government is angry over the lawsuit? Doubtful. Lawsuits come and go and they always get settled. How many projects has Lannak completed in Libya?”

			“Eight,” Mitch replied.

			“And how many times was the company forced to sue the government?”

			“Five.”

			“And of that number how many were eventually settled?”

			“All five went to trial and Lannak won them all. After the court orders were entered, the cases were settled.”

			Darian nodded slightly as if he, too, knew the numbers. “My point exactly. You take them to trial, you win an award, they stall and stall, then you convince the court to impose sanctions. The Libyans don’t like the word ‘sanctions’ and they usually settle, right?”

			“It’s not quite that simple,” Mitch said. “Some of the settlements were for a lot less than Lannak was entitled to. It’s hardball litigation.”

			“Understood, but it’s the way of doing business over there. The Libyans have been through it many times and know the routine. Why would they suddenly decide to start killing people? So, to answer your question, we have ruled out, for the moment, any involvement by the regime. It’s too risky for them. They can’t survive if foreign companies get scared and run away.”

			Darian was convincing and Mitch had nothing to argue.

			He continued, “We have people on the ground in Tripoli and we’re digging. We have a couple of suspects, but I’m not prepared to discuss them remotely. One problem right now is that half the spies and double agents in the world are snooping around Libya, desperate for intelligence. The Brits, Turks, Italians, even the Libyans. And of course the Americans can’t wait to get in the middle of it. But we should have something to talk about by late afternoon. I can meet in our Manhattan office tomorrow at eight in the morning. Does that work?”

			Everybody nodded and Jack said, “Yes, we’ll be there.”
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			It was raining when Mitch left the office that afternoon. Rain in the city usually made a mess of things, which was taken in stride by New Yorkers accustomed to surviving in all sorts of weather. Rain never bothered Mitch, except on game days. If the Bruisers had a game, then rain was catastrophic.

			While he was on the subway, it had gone from a hard drizzle to a downpour, and there would be no chance of a game in Central Park. He entered their apartment at five-thirty and was met with the sad scene of Clark and Carter sitting side-by-side on the sofa, in full Bruiser uniforms, one holding a baseball, the other a glove, staring at the television. They were too deflated to say hello to their father.

			“Rough bunch,” Mitch whispered to Abby as he pecked her on the cheek.

			“I suppose it’s still raining out there.”

			“Pouring. No chance of a game.”

			“I really wanted to get them out of the house.”

			Carter tossed the baseball into a chair and walked over to hug his father. He appeared to be near tears and said, “I was supposed to pitch, Dad.”

			“I know, but that’s baseball. Even the Mets get rained out occasionally. The game will be made up this Saturday.”

			“Promise?”

			“I promise it will if it doesn’t rain again.”

			“I guess you can take those uniforms off,” Abby said.

			“I have a better idea,” Mitch said. “Leave the uniforms on. Let’s call the whole team, all the Bruisers, tell them to keep their uniforms on, and meet at Santo’s for pizza.”

			Clark bounced off the sofa with a big smile.

			“Great idea, Dad,” Carter said.

			“Tell them to bring umbrellas,” Abby said.

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 16

			Giovanna was fourteen years old when her parents divorced. She loved them both and they adored her, their only daughter and youngest child, but when the marriage began to crack Luca and Anita thought it best to remove their children from the hostilities. They sent Sergio, their son, to a prep school in England and Giovanna to one in Switzerland, and when they were out of the way the parents fought some more, then grew weary of it and signed agreements. Anita moved out of the villa and gave up all claims to it. It had been in Luca’s family for decades and Italian matrimonial law leaned heavily in his favor.

			Anita took some money and a vacation home on Sardinia, and left Rome to try to put things back together. By the time she left, Luca had already arranged for his girlfriend, and future wife number two, to move in. The transition was another good reason for Giovanna to stay away.

			She watched this from afar, grateful to be in Switzerland. She still loved her father, but at the time she didn’t really like him. They had never been close, primarily because of his ambition to build the greatest law firm in Italy. His drive kept him at the office or on the road far too often. Her brother, Sergio, was so turned off by Luca’s routine that he vowed never to become professional at anything. Currently he was living in Guatemala, drifting and painting street scenes in the city of Antigua.

			Nor had she been close to her mother, Anita, who was a beautiful woman and watched with growing envy as Giovanna became just as beautiful. She competed with her daughter in fashion, style, weight, height, almost everything. Anita could not accept the realities of aging and grew more resentful as her daughter blossomed and grew taller and thinner. They had great mother-daughter times together, but there was always the undercurrent of competition.

			When Anita realized her husband had a girlfriend, she was crushed and ran to her teenage daughter for support. Giovanna wasn’t prepared to deal with such chaotic emotions and pushed her away. For a long time she avoided her father, but there was always the nagging suspicion that she really couldn’t blame him for looking around. To get away from both of them, she embraced the idea of boarding school.

			When Luca’s second marriage blew up, Anita was elated and wished him even worse luck. Giovanna was turned off by her mother’s gloating and tried to ignore both parents. During her last two years of boarding school she did not see either one. When they mentioned attending her graduation, she vowed to disappear and hide.

			With time, most of the pain and anger dissipated. Luca, always quite the statesman, managed to patch things up with Giovanna. He was, after all, paying her college bills. When she started talking about law school, he was elated and made sure the right doors were opened. Anita found happiness in a serious boyfriend, a slightly older man with more money than Luca. He was Karlo, a wealthy Greek, and he had been through enough marriages to understand the need for tranquility. He would never marry again, but he, like Luca, would always adore women. He insisted on meeting Luca, and eventually brokered a truce between the exes.
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			Luca and Anita sat on the veranda, under quilts and sipping tea as the sun set. The night air was chilly but pleasant. The wide doors were open and, just inside them, in the breakfast room, Karlo played backgammon with Bella, Luca’s current companion. All spoke in low voices, and for long stretches of time the only sound was the tumbling of dice across the board. It was all so civilized.

			As always, Luca had not been entirely forthcoming with Anita. He admitted he had pulled strings to get their daughter assigned to the Lannak case, but he had said nothing about encouraging Mitch to take her to Tripoli. Nor would he.

			For Anita’s benefit, he was projecting the image of the wise old veteran who knew Libya inside and out and was confident Giovanna would survive this ordeal. Whether or not this soothed her mother was not clear. Anita was high-strung, emotional, and overly dramatic. Perhaps age, along with Karlo’s steady influence, had softened some of the edges and settled her down. Perhaps it was the pills she was taking in the bathroom. Whatever the reason, she had surprised Luca hours earlier with the phone call, said she was in Rome with Karlo and thought it was important for the parents to support one another. Could they stop by for a visit and maybe dinner? Luca thought it was a wonderful idea.

			And so they sat together as the day turned to night, and recalled warm and funny stories of their little girl. They did not dwell on what was happening to her now; that was too awful to contemplate. With long pauses in their conversation, time to reflect and remember, they dwelt on the past. And they had regrets. Their tumultuous breakup was entirely Luca’s fault, and he had said so before. He’d made a mess of his family. His selfishness had led to Giovanna’s desire to leave home and get away from them. Contrition, though, was not his strong suit, and he would not apologize again. So much had happened since then.
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			At least she was alive. And she was no longer being held in a tent in the desert. Her first two nights in captivity had been unpleasant; sleeping on a dirty mat on top of a dirty quilt that served as the floor; watching the sides of the tent ripple and shake in the howling wind; surviving on one bottle of water and nothing to eat; cowering when her masked kidnappers entered her little space. After that they wrapped a coarse fabric around her head and led her outside to a vehicle where they shoved her under boxes and began moving. They drove for hours, the only sounds being the engine and transmission grinding away. When they stopped she heard voices, the quick, sharp exchanges of men under pressure. When they stopped again the engine died and the men dragged her out quickly and led her a few steps to a building. She could see nothing, but there were sounds. The honk of a car horn. A radio or television in the distance. Then they untied her hands and left her so she could remove the shroud. Her new room had a floor that was not sand. There were no windows. There was a narrow bed of the size and design of a military cot and a small table with a dim lamp, the only light. In one corner there was a large tin pot where, she guessed, she was expected to relieve herself. The temperature was neither warm nor cold. The first night she assumed it was dark, though she had no idea. She slept off and on but hunger pangs kept her awake. Occasionally she heard muted voices in the hall, or whatever was out there.

			A door opened and a veiled woman with a tray of food entered, nodded, and placed the tray on the table. She nodded again and left the room. The door lock clicked as she pulled it. A bowl of dried fruit—oranges, cherries, figs, and three thin slices of a bread that was similar to tortillas.

			Giovanna ate like a refugee and drank half the bottle of water. The hunger pangs dissipated but she needed more food. Evidently, they had no plans to starve her to death. She hadn’t thought much about their plans because of her hunger, but now that her body felt more normal her thoughts returned to the possibilities. None were pleasant. There had been no hint of physical or sexual assault. Other than a few grunts here and there, they had not spoken to her in the past twenty-four hours. She had heard no language other than Arabic, of which she knew almost nothing. Did they plan to interrogate her? If so, what did they hope to get? She was a lawyer. She could discuss their legal strategies, but it was difficult to believe that these guys cared much about the law.

			And so she waited. With nothing to read, see, do, and no one to talk to, she tried to remember the most important cases in American constitutional law. First Amendment—freedom of speech: Schenck, Debs, Gitlow, Chaplinsky, Tinker. Second Amendment—right to bear arms: Miller, Tatum. Third Amendment? It was useless because it protected citizens from being forced to house soldiers, barely a footnote in history. The Supreme Court had never considered a challenge to the amendment. Fourth Amendment—unreasonable searches and seizures: Weeks, Mapp, Terry, Katz, Rakas, Vernonia. The Fourth had always been laden with controversy.

			She had aced Con Law at Virginia not too many years ago, primarily because she could memorize almost anything. During her final exam, she cited three hundred cases.

			Law school was now far away. She heard voices and braced for a knock on the door. The voices faded and disappeared.

			She had no idea what had happened to the others. After the horror of watching Youssef get shot in the face, she was thrown to the ground, handcuffed, blindfolded, dragged away, and thrown into the back of a truck. She was aware that other bodies were nearby—live bodies grunting, groaning, breathing. Probably the Turks. She lost all concept of time, but not long afterward she was removed and separated from the other hostages.

			She could only hope and pray they were safe, but she had doubts.

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 17

			By 6:30 A.M. Mitch was well into his second cup of strong coffee and deep into the internet. For the third morning, he went from one tabloid to the next and marveled at how the Brits could make so much out of so little. The story itself was certainly newsworthy—an associate in the London office of the world’s largest law firm kidnapped by murderous thugs in Libya—but the scarcity of real facts did nothing to throttle the breathless headlines, photography, and speculation. If the facts were insufficient to carry a story, others were simply created on the fly. The thugs were demanding ten million pounds in ransom, or was it twenty? There was a deadline three days away before Giovanna would be executed, or was it four? She had been spotted in Cairo, or maybe it was Tunis. She had been targeted because of her father’s shenanigans with Libyan oil companies. A nut claiming to be an ex-boyfriend said she had always professed admiration for Muammar Gaddafi.

			But the true sensation was, of course, all the dead bodies. Most of the tabloids continued to run photos of the four headless Turks hanging by their feet. Youssef, hanging by his neck, was still page-three news. Under the photo of him, one tabloid asked in bold print: Could Giovanna Be Next? The titillating tone left little doubt that the reporter would not be disappointed by more tragic news.

			The Italian press was slightly more subdued and had stopped running photos, other than a portrait of Giovanna. A few of her friends spoke to reporters and said nice things about her. Luca got more press than he could have dreamed of, though not the kind he wanted.

			The Americans were preoccupied with their invasion of Iraq and the unexpected insurgency that was causing headaches. Casualties were mounting. Each day brought more bad news, and for a country accustomed to bad news in the Middle East, the kidnapping of a British lawyer was not enough for headlines. The stories were being reported but only in passing.

			Scully & Pershing maintained a stone wall of silence. “Could not be reached for comment” was in many of the reports. The firm had issued a press release when the news of the abduction first broke, and its PR people were working around the clock to monitor events. Classified memos to every lawyer and employee went out daily. All said basically the same thing: Not a word to the press without authorization. Any leaks will be dealt with severely.

			But what was there to leak?

			The firm would not speak until it had something to say, and it would have nothing to say until Giovanna was home safe.

			Abby wandered into the kitchen and, before uttering a word, went straight for the coffee. She sat down, took the first sip, then smiled at her husband. “Tell me only good news,” she said.

			“Yankees lost.”

			“No more bodies?”

			“Not yet. Nothing new from the kidnappers. Scully and Pershing gets mentioned, as does Luca Sandroni, but no one else.”

			Satisfied with the updates, she took another sip. Mitch turned off the television and closed his laptop. “What’s on tap in your world today?”

			“I haven’t got that far yet. Meetings, always meetings. Marketing, I think. And you?”

			“A briefing by our security consultant first thing this morning. I can’t walk the boys to school.”

			“I’m happy to. A security consultant? I thought Scully had its own little spy shop.”

			“We do. It does. But this is far more serious and requires us to spend a fortune on an outside intelligence service, a rather shadowy outfit run by former spooks and retired colonels.”

			“And what might they brief you on?”

			“It’s classified, top secret and all that. Ideally, they would tell us who abducted Giovanna and where they are hiding her, but they don’t know yet.”

			“They have to find her, Mitch.”

			“Everybody’s trying, and that might be part of the problem. Maybe we’ll learn something this morning.”

			“And can you tell me?”

			“It’s classified. Who’s invading our kitchen tonight?”

			“It’s classified. Actually, no one. But we have some frozen lasagna from the Rosarios’ last visit.”

			“I’m kinda tired of those two. When are you going to finish their cookbook?”

			“Could be years. Let’s take the boys out tonight.”

			“Pizza again?”

			“No, let’s make them pick a real restaurant.”

			“Good luck with that.”
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			The building was a 1970s high-rise with more brown brick than steel and glass, so dull that it blended in with a block of others, none of which were in any way attractive or imposing. Midtown was packed with such bland edifices, buildings designed only for the collection of rents with no regard for aesthetics. It was the perfect place for a mysterious operation like Crueggal to hide. Its main entrance on Lexington Avenue was staffed with armed guards. More of the same monitored a wall of closed-circuit screens.

			Mitch had walked past the building a hundred times and never noticed it. He walked past it again, then turned onto Fifty-First, as instructed, and entered through a side door, one with a smaller number of pit bulls waiting to pounce. After being mug-shot and fingerprinted, he was met by a guard who could actually smile, and led to a bank of elevators. As they waited he scanned the directory, and of course there was no mention of Crueggal. He and his escort rode in absolute silence to the thirty-eighth floor where they got out and stepped into a small foyer with nothing to welcome guests. No firm name, no weird art, no chairs or sofas, nothing but more cameras to film the arrivals.

			With time, they worked their way through the layers of protection and came to another thick door where Mitch was handed off to a young man in a non-polyester suit. They walked through the door and entered a large open space with no visible windows. Jack Ruch and Cory Gallant were chatting with Darian Kasuch in the middle of the room. Everybody said hello. Coffee was poured, pastries declined. They gathered around a wide table and Darian reached for a remote. He pushed a button and a detailed map of southern Libya appeared on a large screen. There were at least eight of them around the walls of the room.

			He picked up a laser pointer and aimed the red dot at the region of Ubari near the southern border with Chad. “The first question is: Where is she? We don’t have an answer because we have not heard a word from her abductors. The second question is: Who are they? Again, nothing definite. Ubari is highly unstable, and not friendly to Gaddafi. He’s from up here.” The red dot moved to the far north, to Sirte, then back to Tazirbu.

			So far, he had told them nothing they did not already know. He went on, “For at least forty years the Libyans have fought with their neighbors, Egypt to the east, Chad to the south. In southern Ubari, there is a strong revolutionary movement, fiercely anti-Gaddafi. In the past five years a warlord named Adheem Barakat has managed to kill off many of his rivals and consolidate power. He’s a hard-liner who wants Libya to become an Islamic state and kick out all Western companies and economic interests. He’s also a terrorist who enjoys bloodshed. In that regard, he’s one of many.”

			Darian tapped a key and the face of Barakat was suddenly glowering at them. Full black beard, sinister black eyes, white hijab, two bandoliers of shiny bullets draped over his shoulders and crossing over his chest. “Age about forty, educated in Damascus, family unknown. Fully committed to overthrowing the regime.”

			“So he can have the oil,” Jack Ruch said.

			“Yes, so he can have the oil,” Darian repeated.

			Mitch studied the face and had no trouble believing the man could order wholesale bloodshed. He shuddered at the thought that he had Giovanna somewhere in his possession. He asked, “And why do we believe he’s the man?”

			“We’re not sure. Again, until they make contact we’re just speculating. However, last month Barakat attempted to blow up a refinery here, near the city of Sarir. It was a well-planned and tactically impressive raid involving about a hundred men, and it probably would’ve worked but for a breakdown in security. The Libyans were tipped off at the last minute and the army showed up. Several dozen were killed on both sides, though we never get the exact numbers. Not a word on the world news scene. Two of Barakat’s men were captured and tortured. Under extreme duress, they talked before they were hung. If they can be believed, his organization now has several thousand well-armed gunmen operating on various fronts. They are committed to driving out foreign investment. Gaddafi has sold out to the West and so on, and this is motivating the revolutionaries. One of the captives said the bridge in the desert is still a target. We have an asset in Libya who confirms this. Barakat has been operating closer and closer to Tripoli, sort of daring Gaddafi to commit to a fight. He’ll probably get what he wants.”

			Mitch was suddenly bored with the briefing. Crueggal could confirm almost nothing, and Darian was working too hard to impress Scully with information that was not reliable. Not for the first time in the past week, he caught himself longing for the old days when he could practice law without worrying about hostages and terrorism.

			Jack Ruch, known for his lack of patience, said, “So, we’re still just guessing.”

			“We’re getting closer,” Darian said coolly. “We’ll get there.”

			“Okay, and when we know who has Giovanna, then what? Who makes decisions at that point?”

			“That depends on what they want.”

			“Got that. Let’s play hypotheticals. She has British citizenship, right, so what if the Brits decide to go in with guns blazing? But the Italians say no. The Libyans say yes. The family says no. The Americans, who knows? But does it really matter? She’s in Libya, we think, and as long as she’s there our options are basically zero, right?”

			“It’s fluid, Jack, it changes daily. We can’t begin to make plans until we know a lot more.”

			Cory asked, “How many people do you have on the ground in Libya right now?”

			“Contacts, agents, double agents, assets, runners, probably a dozen. All are being paid, bribed, whatever it takes. Some are old trusted assets, others have just been recruited. It’s a murky world, Cory, with uncertain loyalties and fragile relationships.”

			Mitch drank some coffee and decided he’d had enough caffeine for the morning. He looked at the face of Adheem Barakat and asked, “What are the chances this guy has Giovanna?”

			Darian shrugged and kicked it around for a moment. “Sixty-forty.”

			“Okay, and if he does have her, then what does he want?”

			“The easy answer is money. A fat ransom to buy more guns and pay more soldiers. The other answer is more complicated. He may not want an exchange. He may do something dramatic, something awful, to announce his presence to the world.”

			“Kill her?”

			“Unfortunately, that is a real possibility.”

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 18

			In Giovanna’s absence, Mitch needed an ambitious associate to step in and do the grunt work. There was no shortage of them at Scully; indeed, the firm hired three hundred of the brightest law grads each spring and marched them through the meat grinder of 100-hour workweeks and relentless deadlines. After a year, the blue-chippers began to emerge from the pack. After two years, those falling behind were jumping ship, but by then the veterans could spot the lifers, the future partners.

			Stephen Stodghill was a fifth-year senior associate from a small town in Kansas who had excelled at the University of Chicago Law School. Mitch had a secret bias in favor of the small-town kids who were succeeding nicely in the big leagues. He asked Stephen to join the team and was not surprised when he jumped at the chance. There were no snide jokes about what happened to the last associate Mitch had picked. They were still trying to find her.

			Giovanna’s plight was on the minds of every Scully lawyer, all two thousand of them in thirty-one offices around the world. There was much concern and quiet talk as they went about their work, waiting. Always waiting for news of the next development. In the Atlanta and Houston offices, small groups of lawyers and employees met for coffee and prayer early each morning. A female partner in Orlando was married to an Episcopal priest who was thoughtful enough to stop by the office for a moment of prayer.
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			Mitch worked late on Thursday afternoon and met for an hour with Stephen to begin the arduous process of covering all aspects of Lannak Construction versus The Republic of Libya. The file was four thousand pages thick and counting. Scully had retained eight experts who were preparing to testify on such topics as bridge design, architecture, construction methods, materials, pricing, delays, and so on. The idea of an exotic case in a foreign country excited Stephen at first, but the fun wore off quickly as they plowed through the material.

			Mitch left at seven and had a quiet evening with Abby and the boys. He returned at eight the next morning and found Stephen exactly where he had left him—at the small worktable in one corner of his office. When Mitch realized what had happened, he dropped his head as he shook it.

			“Let me guess. An all-nighter?”

			“Yes, I really had nothing else to do and I got into it. Fascinating.”

			Mitch had worked his share of brutal hours, but he had never felt compelled to pull an all-nighter. Such feats were common in Big Law, and were supposed to be admired and hopefully add to the legend of some gunner aiming for an early partnership. Mitch had no patience with it.

			But Stephen was single and his girlfriend was an associate at another large law firm and suffering the same abuse. He wanted to propose but couldn’t find the time. She wanted to get married but worried they’d never see each other. When they managed to meet for a late dinner they often nodded off after the first cocktail.

			Mitch smiled and said, “Okay, a new rule. If you want to remain on this case you cannot work more than sixteen hours a day on it. Understood?”

			“I guess.”

			“Then guess again. Listen to me, Stephen. I am now the attorney of record, and that means I’m your boss. Do not work more than sixteen hours a day on this case. Am I clear?”

			“Got it, boss.”

			“That’s more like it. Now get out of my office.”

			Stephen jumped to his feet and grabbed a pile of papers. On his way out he said, “Say, boss, I was fooling around last night on the internet and found the video, the one with the chain saw. Have you seen it?”

			“No. Not going to.”

			“Smart. I wish I’d never seen it because I’ll never forget it. That’s one reason I stayed up all night. Couldn’t sleep. Probably won’t sleep tonight either.”

			“You should’ve known better.”

			“Yes, I should have. The screaming—”

			“That’s enough, Stephen. Go find something else to do.”
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			Another day passed with no word from the kidnappers or those trying to find them. Then another. Mitch began each morning with a security briefing with Cory in Jack Ruch’s office. By closed-circuit, they listened with increasing frustration to Darian’s updates from North Africa. He did a credible job of filling twenty minutes with what-might-happen-next, but the truth was he was guessing.

			Finally, there was high drama. On the night of Sunday, April 24, nine days after the abduction, a Libyan counter-terrorism unit attacked a camp near the border of Chad. The area was a no-man’s-land with few inhabitants, and those who did live there did so because they carried weapons and were either expecting trouble or planning more of it. The sprawling, hidden camp was rumored to be the headquarters of Adheem Barakat and his small army of revolutionaries. Given the vastness of the Sahara, surprise attacks were almost impossible to pull off and the Libyans did a lousy job of it. Barakat may have been warned by tribesmen on his payroll, or his sentries and their drones may have been on high alert. Regardless, the attack was met head-on and a fierce battle raged for three hours. Hundreds of Libyan commandos arrived in troop carriers while others were air-dropped from Mi-26 Russian-made helicopters. Two were shot down by shoulder-mounted Strela missiles, also made by the Russians. The Libyans were shocked at such firepower. Casualties on both sides were horrendous, and when it became apparent that the fight might go on until everyone was dead, the Libyan commander called for a retreat.

			Tripoli immediately released a statement describing the mission as a precision strike by government forces against a terrorist group. It was a resounding success. The enemy had been routed.

			At the same time, the government leaked a story that the real reason behind the raid was to rescue Giovanna Sandroni. It was intended as clear proof that Gaddafi was not involved in her abduction. He was trying to save her.

			Mercifully, she’d been four hundred miles away.
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			Mitch and Jack Ruch left LaGuardia on the 8:15 A.M. shuttle to Reagan National in Washington. They were met at the curb by Benson Wall, Scully’s managing partner in D.C. A driver whisked them away in a black company sedan and just minutes after landing they were sitting in traffic above the Potomac. Their meeting with Senator Lake was at 10:30, so they had plenty of time. Lake was famously late for every other meeting, but for the ones in his office he expected punctuality.

			Elias Lake was in his third term but still the junior senator from New York. The senior senator was elected in 1988 and was showing no signs of fatigue or vulnerability. Not surprisingly, Scully & Pershing had deep ties to both men, warm relationships built on the firm’s ability to raise large sums of money and the senators’ willingness to listen. With little effort, Jack could get either one on the phone at almost any reasonable hour, but the urgency of the Sandroni matter necessitated a face-to-face meeting. Senator Lake was a sub-committee chairman on Foreign Affairs, and in that position had become close to the current secretary of state. Also, Benson Wall had hired Lake’s nephew three years earlier as an associate out of Georgetown. Jack and Benson agreed that their time would be better spent with Lake than with the senior senator from New York.

			Four years earlier, Mitch had visited Capitol Hill for the first time. He had tagged along with another partner and a client, a defense contractor who had hired Scully to extract it from some unfair contracts. A certain senator from Idaho needed to be stroked. Mitch disliked Capitol Hill and saw it as a frantic place where little was accomplished. He had vowed to never go back.

			Unless. Unless there was something as urgent as a kidnapped Scully associate and the firm was desperate for help.

			He, Jack, and Benson arrived at 10:15 at the Dirksen Senate Office Building and went to the second floor where they were greeted by more security guards at the door of Lake’s suite. They were shown to a small conference room where they waited a few minutes until an assistant chief of staff greeted them and said “The Senator” was running behind and tied up with other important matters.

			At 10:40 they were led into his grand office where he greeted them warmly and showed them seats around the table. He was a pure New Yorker, from Brooklyn, and loved everything about his city. His walls were adorned with banners and pennants for all sports teams. No decent politician could play favorites and expect to be re-elected in New York. Lake was about sixty, fit, hyper, energetic, and always ready for a good scrap.

			It was his office, his turf, so he would direct the conversation. “I appreciate your coming, fellas, but we could’ve done this by phone. I understand what’s at stake.”

			Jack said, “I know. She’s Italian and British, Senator, so she’s not technically one of us. But she is. She’s a part of Scully, and though we have offices around the world, Scully is and always has been an American firm. A New York firm. She spent one summer as an intern at Skadden, in the city. She has a law degree from Virginia. Her English is better than mine. We’d like for you, and the State Department, to consider Giovanna as one of us, practically an American.”

			“Got it, got it, got it. I spoke to Madam Secretary again yesterday. Believe me, Jack, they are taking this very seriously. Daily briefings here and over there. Contacts galore. Nobody is asleep here, Jack. But the problem is that nobody knows anything. Some nasty boys have their hands on her, but so far they’re not talking. Am I right?”

			Jack nodded and looked grimly at Benson.

			The senator glanced at some notes and continued, “According to our people, and mind you our people are not exactly welcome in Libya so we have to rely on the Brits, Italians, and Israelis for intel, but what we’re hearing is that some insurgent militia of desert rats run by a thug named Barakat is, more than likely, calling the shots. They have Ms. Sandroni but haven’t made contact yet. As you know, there was some initial speculation that Gaddafi might be behind the abduction, but our people don’t believe it.”

			Mitch felt as though he was sitting through another briefing by Darian Kasuch. Could he please hear something new?

			Jack had cautioned him that the meeting would seem to be a waste of time, but Senator Lake could be crucial later on.

			To impress them, the senator retrieved a classified memo from his desk. It was top secret, of course, so confidentiality all around. The raid two nights earlier, the one the Libyans were crowing about, was a total disaster for them. According to the CIA, which trusted the senator with all manner of sensitive material, the Libyan Army lost far more men than the enemy and had to pull back after a brutal counterattack.

			More than likely, this had nothing to do with Giovanna, but since the senator had the information he felt compelled to share it. Confidentially, of course.

			There were clocks on three of the walls, just so his visitors would know that his time was crucial, his days planned to perfection, and at exactly 11:00 a secretary knocked on the door. Lake pretended to ignore her and kept talking. She knocked again, opened it slightly, and said, “Sir, your meeting is in five minutes.”

			He nodded without interrupting his line of chatter and she withdrew. He talked on as if his visitors were far more important than the crucial meetings that followed. The first interruption was for show and designed to make the visitors feel uncomfortable and want to leave. The second interruption was just as scripted and occurred five minutes later when the chief of staff knocked as he entered. He held paperwork that could prove, if ever examined, that things needed to run on schedule and the senator was already late. The chief of staff smiled at Jack, Mitch, and Benson, and said, “Thank you, gentlemen. The senator has a meeting with the vice president.”

			Which vice president, Mitch wondered? VP of the Rotary Club? The nearest branch bank?

			The senator kept talking as his visitors rose and headed for the door. He promised to stay on top of the situation and contact Jack if there were any developments. Blah, blah, blah. Mitch couldn’t wait to leave.

			Lunch was a sandwich in a cafeteria somewhere under the Capitol.

			At 1 P.M. they met with a lawyer from the Office of the Legal Adviser to the secretary of state. He was a former Scully associate in the Washington office who had burned out and left private practice. Benson had hired him out of law school and they had maintained a friendship. He claimed to have strong contacts with the deputy secretary of state and was monitoring the hallway gossip. He found it hard to believe that a Scully associate could be abducted.

			Crossing the Potomac on the way back to the airport, Mitch was a team player and agreed that the day went well. To himself, he vowed once again to avoid Capitol Hill if at all possible.

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 19

			The United Arbitration Board was headquartered on the fifth floor of the Palais de Justice in downtown Geneva. Its twenty judges came from around the world and served five-year terms, with the chance of being re-appointed for an additional term. Seats on the bench were quite prestigious, often lobbied for, and were doled out through the United Nations. The UAB’s docket was a dizzying collection of civil disputes from all over. Governments fighting each other; corporations from different countries suing each other; individuals seeking vast sums from foreign companies and governments. About half the cases were heard in Geneva, but the board was quick to take its show on the road. Travel was first-class, as were the expense accounts. If Cambodia wanted to sue Japan, for example, it made little sense to require the lawyers and witnesses to set up camp in Geneva, so the board would pick a more convenient venue in Asia, preferably one near a fashionable resort.

			Luca had filed Lannak’s claim against Libya the prior year, in October of 2004, and requested a trial in Geneva. The chair of the board, known as the ruling magistrate, agreed.

			Now she wanted a reschedule, a nuisance in every lawyer’s opinion but not an uncommon one. Mitch was of the opinion that the board was curious about the case because of its sudden notoriety. Virtually all of the other cases on its docket were exceedingly boring disputes from the other side of the world. Nothing could match a half-billion-dollar fight that involved a bridge in the desert, four beheadings, several related murders, and the saga of a missing Scully associate. When Mitch first received the notice to appear for the reschedule, he thought seriously about asking for a postponement, which was standard practice. A thirty- to ninety-day continuance would have been granted. However, after conversations with Lannak, it was agreed that the hearing in Geneva would be a better time and place to meet and discuss the lawsuit.

			Mitch and Stephen flew to Rome and visited with Luca in his villa. Two weeks had passed since Giovanna’s abduction and there was still no word from her captors. The days were getting no easier for Luca. He seldom ate or slept and was losing weight. He was due for another round of chemo but simply wasn’t up to it. He was bickering with his doctors and unhappy with the home nurses. He was, however, pleased to see Mitch and even had a glass of wine, his first in days.

			With Roberto Maggi, the team spent two hours in Luca’s home office going over strategies, then flew to Geneva where they met the men from Lannak: Omar Celik, the CEO and grandson of Lannak’s founder; Denys Tullos, his chief lawyer and Mitch’s principal contact; and Omar’s son, Adem, a graduate of Princeton and the future owner of the company. They were not Muslim and enjoyed alcohol. After cocktails in the hotel bar, they walked to a restaurant and settled in for the evening. Joining them late was Jens Bitterman, a Swiss lawyer who was part of the team and handled the dealings with the UAB.

			Omar had been close to Luca for over twenty years and was concerned about his friend. He had met Giovanna on a number of occasions as she was growing up. Several times Luca and his family had vacationed at the Celik beach estate on the Black Sea. Omar was, of course, angered by the fact that the Libyans owed him $400 million for the bridge, money he was determined to collect, but he was much more concerned about Giovanna’s welfare.

			In one of their many conversations, Denys Tullos told Mitch that the company was financing private security deep inside Libya in an effort to find her. Mitch relayed this to Darian Kasuch at Crueggal, who was not surprised. “Join the crowd,” he said.
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			The hearing was scheduled for 2 P.M., Thursday, April 28. Mitch and his team spent the morning in a hotel conference room with the Celiks and Denys Tullos. They reviewed Luca’s timetable and looked for ways to streamline the mountain of discovery still to be done. They debated the strategy of amending the lawsuit to include damages for the deaths of the four security guards and Youssef, all Lannak employees. Early on, Omar took control of the meeting and proved why he was regarded as a tough corporate boss who didn’t back down. He had been fighting with the Libyans for over twenty years, and while he usually got paid he was fed up. No more projects there. He doubted the regime was responsible for the ambush and bloodshed because it had always promised to protect foreign workers, especially those with Lannak. It was clear to Omar that Gaddafi was losing control of much of his territory and could no longer be trusted. Omar certainly wanted the lawsuit expanded to cover the deaths, to hold the Libyan government responsible, but agreed with Mitch that more time was needed. Walid would likely be found with his throat cut. No one could predict what would happen to Giovanna. At the moment there were too many unknowns to map out strategies.

			After a sandwich for lunch they taxied to the Palais de Justice and went to the courtroom on the fifth floor. Waiting outside in the vast, empty hall were two reporters. One, with a camera hanging from his neck, was with a London tabloid, the other from a broadsheet. They asked Mitch if he had time to chat. He offered a polite no, kept walking, and entered the courtroom.

			It was a wide, tall room with soaring windows, plenty of light, and enough seating for hundreds of spectators. But, there were none—only small groups of lawyers huddled here and there, whispering gravely as they watched each other from across the room.

			The bench was an imposing piece of furniture, at least eighty feet long and made of some dark, rich wood that had probably been harvested two hundred years earlier. It stood six feet tall, and behind it were twenty leather rockers that swiveled and rolled. They were identical, deep burgundy in color, and exactly the same height so that the magistrates, when court was in session, looked down at the lawyers and litigants from positions of great knowledge and power.

			All twenty were empty. A clerk led Mitch, Stephen, Jens, and Roberto to the plaintiff’s table on one side of the room. They unpacked thick briefcases as if they might be there for hours. Across the way another team of grim-faced lawyers marched to their table and also unpacked. The Reedmore firm, from London, Libya’s favorite firm, a notorious bunch of arrogant boys who seemed to relish their reputations as world-class assholes.

			Reedmore had only 550 lawyers, not even enough to crack the top twenty-five in size, and limited its business to only a handful of countries, primarily in Europe. The firm had been in bed with the Libyan regime for many years. Luca said that was probably why they had such a sour outlook on life.

			Along with its wealth of talent, ambition, skills, and diversity, one great asset of working at Scully & Pershing was its sheer size. It had been the largest firm in the world for a decade and was determined to stay on top. Its lawyers were known to often walk with a little swagger because of the firm’s remarkable reach and depth. There had never been a bigger law firm. Size did not always equal talent, nor did it guarantee success, but in the world of Big Law, being number one was the envy of firms two through fifty.

			The Reedmore lawyers were formidable foes and Mitch would never take them lightly, but at the same time he wasn’t impressed by their aloofness. Jerry Robb was the attorney of record for the State of Libya. He’d brought with him a couple of younger guys, and all three wore matching, impeccably tailored navy suits. They seemed incapable of smiling.

			However, since there was bad news at the other table, Robb felt compelled to pick at the scab. He walked over, stuck out a hand, and said, “Good afternoon, gentlemen.” He was stiff as a board and shook hands like a twelve-year-old.

			Nose up a bit, he said, “I spoke with Luca last week. I hope he’s doing well, in spite of.”

			In spite of. In spite of the fact that he’s dying of cancer and his daughter is being held hostage by some really unpleasant people.

			“Luca’s fine,” Roberto said. “In spite of.”

			“Any word on Giovanna?”

			Mitch refused to take the bait and shook his head. No.

			“Nothing,” Roberto said. “I’ll tell him you asked.”

			“Please do.”

			Any further conversation would have been just as stilted, but a clerk by the bench began bellowing and Robb went back to his table. In English, the clerk called things to order. He sat down, and another one stood and did the same in French. Mitch glanced around the vast room. There were two pockets of lawyers seated far apart with a few clients sprinkled in between. The two British reporters were in the front row. He doubted anyone in the room spoke French, but the court had its procedures.

			Three judges entered from behind the bench and took their seats. The ruling magistrate was in charge and she sat in the middle. Her two colleagues were at least twenty feet away. Seventeen of the thrones were empty. The reschedule docket did not warrant full participation by the board.

			She was Madam Victoria Poley, an American from Dayton, a former federal judge who’d been one of the first women to finish at Harvard Law. It was acceptable to address her as Madam, Magistrate, Judge, Your Honor, or Lord. Anything else was problematic. Only lawyers from the British Isles and Australia dared use the word “Lord.”

			To her right was a judge from Nigeria. To her left was one from Peru. Neither wore headphones, so Mitch assumed there would be no delays for the interpreters.

			Madam Poley welcomed everyone to the afternoon session and said there were only a few matters on the docket. She glanced at a clerk who stood, called the Lannak case, then proceeded to read its history, beginning with the filing of the complaint in October of the prior year. It would be next to impossible to make such a reading anything but dull, but the clerk’s monotone cast a heavy pall over the courtroom. She went on, flipping pages as her voice grew flatter and flatter. Mitch’s last thought before he fell into a coma was, I hope they don’t do this again in French.

			“Mr. McDeere,” a voice called out, and Mitch snapped back to life. Madam Poley was saying, “Welcome to the court and please give my regards to Signor Luca Sandroni.”

			“Thank you, Your Honor, and he sends his regards as well.”

			“And Mr. Robb, always nice to see you.”

			Jerry Robb stood, bent slightly at the waist and made an effort at a grin, but said nothing.

			“You may be seated and feel free to remain so.” Both lawyers sat down.

			Madam Poley said, “Now, a trial date has been scheduled for February of next year, almost a year away. I’ll ask each of you if you can be prepared for trial by then. Mr. McDeere.”

			Mitch stayed in his chair and began by saying yes, of course, the plaintiff would be ready. The plaintiff had filed the complaint and it was always incumbent upon the plaintiff to push hard for a trial. A plaintiff rarely backed away from a trial date. Regardless of how much work was yet to be done, Mitch was confident he was on schedule. His client wanted a trial sooner than February, but that issue would be raised another day.

			Madam Poley was curious about discovery and asked how it was going. Mitch thought it should be wrapped up in ninety days. There were more depositions to take, more documents to haggle over, more experts to pin down, but ninety days should be enough.

			Mr. Robb?

			He wasn’t much of an actor and did a lame job of pretending to be surprised that counsel opposite would be so optimistic. There were at least six hard months of discovery left, maybe more, and a trial in less than a year was simply not possible. Using the standard defense playbook, Robb checked off a handful of reasons why much more time was needed. After rambling on for too long, he finished with “And I can only imagine how much more complicated our issues will become in light of recent events in Libya.”

			As if waiting for an opening, Madam Poley said, “Well, let’s talk about recent events. Mr. McDeere, do you foresee amending your complaint to ask for additional damages?”

			The answer was yes but Mitch wasn’t about to say so in court. He feigned frustration and said, “Your Honor, please, the situation in Libya is fluid and can change dramatically on any day. I can’t possibly predict what will happen and what the legal consequences will be.”

			“Of course not, and I understand your position. But, given what has already happened, it’s safe to say that the issues will only become more complicated, right?”

			“Not at all, Your Honor.”

			Robb saw an opening and jumped in with “Your Honor, please, you are indeed correct. Events beyond our control are muddying the water, so to speak. It’s only fair that we agree on an extension of time and not force ourselves to rush to an unworkable deadline.”

			Mitch came back with “The deadline works, Your Honor, and I can promise the court that the plaintiff will be ready by February, if not sooner. I can’t speak for the defense.”

			“Nor should you,” retorted Robb.

			“Gentlemen,” Madam Poley said firmly before the debate dissolved into bickering. “Let’s see how things play out down there and discuss it later. Now I’d like to move on and take up some of the issues already raised in discovery. By my count, the plaintiff has listed eight potential experts who might testify at trial. Six for the defense. That’s a lot of testimony and I’m not sure we need that much. Mr. McDeere, I’d like a brief summary of each of your experts’ testimony. Nothing fancy. Off the cuff.”

			Mitch nodded and smiled as if he would like nothing better. Roberto was quick off the mark and handed him some notes.

			By the time he finished discussing his third expert, an expert in cement, he was certain all three judges were asleep.

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 20

			Two London newspapers ran stories about the hearing. The Guardian, on page two, back-filled with some history of the case and reminded its readers that there had been no “reported” contact with the kidnappers. It described the reschedule in Geneva as “boring” with little progress being made. The Board seemed reluctant to make decisions with so much uncertainty in the case. It ran a small stock photo of Giovanna, and a new one of Mr. McDeere walking into the Palais de Justice with Roberto Maggi at his side. Both were correctly identified as partners in the mammoth law firm of Scully & Pershing. They were seeking at least four hundred million dollars for their client from the Libyan government.

			Mitch, once again over the Atlantic, studied the black-and-white of himself. He was not pleased at being identified but knew it was inevitable.

			The Current ran a teaser on the front page—Gaddafi’s Lawyers Seek Delays: Nothing From Giovanna—and on page five attacked the “ruthless dictator” for not paying his bills. The slant was clear—Gaddafi was behind the killings and kidnappings because he was angered by the lawsuit. There was a photo of Mitch; one of Giovanna; and the same sad image of poor Youssef hanging by a wire.
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			On May 1, Walid got what everyone expected. His killers chose to prolong his suffering by slashing his testicles and letting him bleed out. He was hanging by one foot from a tall cypress tree near a busy road, twenty miles south of Tripoli. A similar note was attached to his unencumbered foot: Walid Jamblad, Traitor.

			A lawyer in the Rome office saw the news first and alerted Roberto Maggi, who in turn called Mitch. A few hours later a video was dropped into the deep web, another sick clip of thugs killing an innocent man for sport. Or maybe there was a reason, or a message. Roberto watched it and warned Mitch not to.

			No one was left but Giovanna. Of course she was the prize, and there would be nothing simple about her destiny.

			Mitch, Jack Ruch, and Cory Gallant endured another conference call with Darian at Crueggal. If he told them anything that wasn’t obvious or that they didn’t already know, it was not noted. After the call ended, and Mitch was certain there were no hot mikes or unflipped switches, he asked Jack, “And how much are we paying these guys?”

			“A lot.”

			“That was another wasted half hour.”

			“Not exactly. Bill it to Lannak.”

			Mitch looked at Cory and asked, “You still believe in these guys? They’ve produced nothing so far.”

			“They’ll come through, Mitch. I think.”

			“What’s our next move?”

			“We don’t have one. We wait. Until we hear from Giovanna or the bad boys holding her, there’s nothing we can do here.”

			Jack asked Mitch, “What’s the latest from the arbitration court?”

			“Not much. Nothing really. It’s waiting too. The case is on hold as long as she’s a hostage. Remember, it doesn’t take much to inspire the court to find ways to delay itself.”

			“And Luca?”

			“I talk to him every day. Some are better than others but he’s hanging on.”

			“Okay. Time’s up. Let’s chat again in the morning.”
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			On May 4, Riley Casey arrived at his office at his usual time of 8:30 A.M. He was the managing partner of Scully’s London office and had been with the firm for almost three decades. Eleven years earlier, he had drawn the short straw and interviewed a young American lawyer in town looking for a job. A law degree from Harvard barely got him in the door. A nimble mind, quick wit, and good looks got him the job, and Mitch joined Scully as a thirty-year-old associate.

			Six years after that, Riley hired Giovanna Sandroni, and, like most of the men in the office, had a secret crush on her. Secret but quite professional and, of course, unspoken. Riley was a happily married man who kept his pants on; otherwise, he would have already made a fool of himself. Having hired her, at Luca’s quiet behest, he was watching with great pride as she developed into a fine lawyer, one who would probably run the entire firm one day.

			Before he could have a drink of his morning coffee, his secretary entered without a word and handed over her cell phone. On the screen, the message read: “Unknown Caller. Tell Riley to check spam.”

			He looked at the screen, looked at her. Something wasn’t right, and given the suffocating pressure around the office since Giovanna’s abduction, every little aberration was treated cautiously. He motioned for her to walk around to his side of his desk. They looked at his large desktop computer. He went to spam, then clicked on an email from an unknown sender that had landed eleven minutes earlier. Both recoiled in disbelief.

			On the screen was a large black-and-white photo of Giovanna, sitting in a chair, wearing a black robe and a black hijab that covered everything but her face. She was neither smiling nor frowning. She was holding a newspaper, the morning edition of Ta Nea, “The News” in Greek, and the largest daily in the country. Riley enlarged it and the date became readable—May 4, 2005. That very morning. The lead story was a farmers’ strike and there was a photo of a row of tractors blocking a highway. Nothing about Giovanna, at least not on the front page above the fold.

			Riley said, “You call tech and I’ll call security.”
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			Cory knew Mitch was an early riser, so he let him sleep until five-thirty before calling. Seconds later, Mitch was in the kitchen. First, he punched the ON button for the coffeepot, then he quickly opened his laptop. His first thought was, At least she’s alive.

			Cory said, “The Greek newspaper is validated, everything is as it seems. It’s sold in Tripoli, but you have to know where to look. They picked up a copy of today’s edition early this morning, took the photo, and sent it to London. As far as we can tell, it was not sent anywhere else.”

			“And no message from the sender?”

			“Not a word.”

			Mitch took a drink of coffee and tried to clear his head.

			Cory asked, “You think you should tell Luca?”

			“Yes. I’ll call Roberto.”
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			The following morning, the news out of Athens was far more ominous. At 3:47 A.M., according to the alarm system, a bomb blew up in the mail room of the offices of Scully & Pershing, in the central business section of the city. Since no one was at work at that hour, there were no injuries. The bomb maker included incendiary combustibles designed not to knock down walls, but rather to spread fire, and an impressive one raced through the suite. With only four lawyers in Athens, it was one of Scully’s smallest outposts, and their offices were engulfed and destroyed before the firemen arrived. The flames spread along the third floor as smoke poured out of the building from broken windows. Two hours after the alarm went off, the fire was contained and put out. By sunrise, the firemen were rolling up their hoses and retreating, though the cleanup would take days.

			The managing partner was allowed into the building and led to the charred shell of what had been his rather plush suite of offices. The destruction was complete. Everything—walls, doors, furniture, computers, printers, rugs—was blackened and ruined. A few metal file cabinets had withstood the heat and smoke but were drenched with water. Their contents, though, were not valuable. All important files and papers were stored online.

			By noon, the fire officials were calling it arson.

			With that, the managing partner phoned New York.

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 21

			Epicurean Press occupied the bottom three floors of a turn-of-the-century brownstone on Seventy-Fourth Street, near Madison Avenue, on the Upper East Side. Above it, on floors four and five, the owner, an eccentric recluse who was pushing ninety, lived alone with her cats and her opera. She played records all day long, and as she aged and lost even more of her hearing, she gradually turned up the volume. No one complained because she owned the building, and also the ones on both sides. The editors on the third floor could sometimes hear the music, but it was never a problem. The brownstones of that era were built with thick walls and floors. She charged modest rent because, number one, she didn’t need the money, and, number two, she enjoyed having nice tenants below her.

			A perfect morning for Abby began with clear skies, a fifteen-minute walk with Clark and Carter to school, then a thirty-minute walk across Central Park to her office at Epicurean. As a senior editor, she was on the first floor and thus far away from the opera but close enough to the kitchen. The offices were small but efficient. Space was cramped, like most of Manhattan, but also because valuable footage had been given to the kitchen, a large, modern, fully equipped facility designed to accommodate visiting chefs working on their cookbooks. One showed up almost every day, and the air was perpetually filled with delicious aromas of dishes from around the world.

			Giovanna had been abducted twenty-seven days earlier.

			As always, Abby ducked into a trendy coffee shop on Seventy-Third for her favorite latte. She was waiting in line at about nine-fifteen, her mind on the day ahead, her boys at school, her husband forty-eight floors up and hard at work, and her eyes on her phone. The person behind her gently tapped her on the arm. She turned around and looked into the face of a young Muslim woman in a long brown robe with a matching hijab with a veil that covered everything but her eyes.

			“You’re Abby, right?”

			She was startled and could not remember the last time, nor the first time, she had talked to a woman so completely covered. But it was, after all, New York City, home to plenty of Muslims. She offered a polite smile and said, “Yes, and you are?”

			The man behind the Muslim woman was reading a folded newspaper. The nearest barista was loading a display case with croissants and quiches. No one was paying attention to anyone else.

			She said, in perfect English with only a slight Middle Eastern accent, “I have news from Giovanna.”

			The eyes were dark, young, heavily made-up, and Abby looked at them in disbelief as her knees wobbled, her heart skipped, and her mouth was almost too dry to speak. “I beg your pardon,” she managed to say, though she knew exactly what she had heard.

			From somewhere inside her robe the woman pulled out an envelope and handed it to Abby. Five-by-seven, too heavy for only a letter. “I suggest you do as you’re told, Mrs. McDeere.”

			Abby took the envelope, though something told her not to. The woman turned quickly and was at the door before Abby could say anything. The man with the folded newspaper glanced up. Abby turned around as if nothing had happened. The barista said, “What would you like?”

			With difficulty, she said, “A double latte with cinnamon.”

			She found a chair, sat down, and told herself to breathe deeply. She was embarrassed when she realized there were beads of sweat on her forehead. With a paper napkin from the table she wiped them off as she glanced around. The envelope was still in her left hand. More deep breaths. She placed it in her large shoulder bag and decided to open it at the office.

			She should call Mitch, but something told her to wait a few minutes. Wait until she opened the envelope because whatever was in there would involve him too. When her latte was ready, she took it from the counter and left the shop. Outdoors, on the sidewalk, she managed a few steps before stopping cold. Someone was, or someone had been, watching, waiting, following her. Someone knew her name, her husband’s name, her husband’s business, her walking route to work, her favorite coffee shop. That someone had not gone away, but was nearby.

			Keep moving, she told herself, and act as if nothing is wrong.

			The nightmare was back. The horror of trying to live normally while knowing someone was watching and listening. Fifteen years had passed since the Bendini mess in Memphis, and it had taken a long time to relax and stop looking over her shoulder. Now, as she dodged pedestrians along Madison Avenue, she wanted desperately to turn around and see who was watching her.

			Five minutes later she opened the unmarked door of Epicurean Press on Seventy-Fourth, spoke to the usual lineup of friends and colleagues, and hustled to her office. Her assistant wasn’t in yet. She closed her door, locked it quietly, sat at her desk, took another deep breath, and opened the envelope. In it was a phone and a sheet of typing paper.

			
				To Abby McDeere. (1). The most disastrous thing you can do is involve your government in any way. That would guarantee a bad ending for Giovanna and possibly others. Your government cannot be trusted; by you or anyone else.

				(2). Involve Mitch and his law firm, a firm with plenty of contacts and money. You, Mitch, and his firm can succeed and bring about a good outcome. Involve no one else.

				(3). You know me as Noura. I am the key to Giovanna. Follow my instructions and she will be delivered. She is not being mistreated. The others deserved to die.

				(4). The enclosed phone is crucial. Keep it close at all times, even when you sleep. I will call at odd hours. Do not miss a call. Use the same charger as your cell. The code is 871. The Menu has Photos, which you will find interesting.

			

			Abby put down the sheet of paper and picked up the phone. Unmarked and about the same size as other cell phones, there was nothing distinctive or suspicious about it. She tapped 871 and a menu appeared. She tapped PHOTOS, and was instantly nauseous. The photo was of her, Clark, and Carter, less than an hour earlier, as they said goodbye on the sidewalk outside of River Latin School, four blocks from their apartment. She took another deep breath and reached for a bottle of water, not the coffee. She unscrewed the top, took a sip, and spilled water on her blouse. She closed her eyes for a moment, then slowly scrolled left. The next photo was an exterior shot of the brownstone in which she was now sitting. The next photo was an exterior shot of their apartment building, taken from Sixty-Ninth and Columbus Avenue. The next photo was a long-distance one of 110 Broad, where Scully & Pershing was headquartered. The last photo was of Giovanna, sitting in a dark room, wearing a black veil, holding a spoon, and looking into a bowl of what appeared to be soup.

			Time passed but Abby was not aware of it. Her brain was a jumbled mess of rapid thoughts. Her heart pounded like a jackhammer. She closed her eyes again and rubbed her temples and became aware that someone was gently knocking on her door.

			“In a minute,” she said and the knocking stopped.

			She called Mitch.
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			They were frozen, too stiff to move as they looked at the wide screen and waited for Abby’s video to appear. And there it was: a close-up of the typed note to Abby from Noura. They read it quickly, then slower a second time. The camera moved to the mysterious phone on Abby’s desk, next to the envelope it came in. After twenty-two seconds the video was over.

			Mitch finally breathed and exhaled and walked to the window of Jack’s office. Jack stared at his small conference table, too stunned to say anything. Cory, who had been operating under extreme duress since the bombing in Athens, stared at the blank screen and tried to think clearly. Without looking at Mitch he asked, “And there were five photographs on the phone?”

			“That’s right,” Mitch answered without turning around.

			“Tell her not to send the photos, okay?”

			“Okay. What do I tell her?”

			“Not sure yet. Let’s assume they are monitoring everything the phone does. Let’s assume the phone can be used to track Abby wherever she goes, whether or not it’s turned on. Let’s assume the phone hears and records everything said around it, whether it’s on or off.”

			As if he heard nothing, Mitch said, “They took a photo of my kids going to school this morning.”

			Cory shot a glance at Jack, who shook his head. The shock had not begun to wear off; indeed, they were still in the middle of the shock and everything was a blur.

			Still speaking to the window, Mitch said, “My instinct is to walk out of this building right now, get a cab, go to the school, get my kids, take them somewhere safe and lock the doors.”

			“Totally understand, Mitch,” Cory said. “Go if you must. We’re not stopping you. First, though, we need to see the phone. Is your cell phone secure?”

			“I don’t know. You installed all that anti-viral stuff.”

			“And Abby’s too?”

			“Yes. We should be hack-proof, if anything is hack-proof these days.”

			Jack said, “I have an idea. The Carlyle Hotel is on Seventy-Sixth, near Park, close to Abby’s office. Call Abby and tell her to meet you for lunch at the Carlyle. Bring the new phone. We’ll get a conference room and look it over while you have lunch.”

			Cory said, “Great idea.”

			Mitch turned around and said, “So it’s a go?”

			“Yes.”

			Mitch pulled out his phone, called Abby, talked as though others might be listening, and said he would be in the neighborhood for lunch. Meet him at the Carlyle at noon. They would discuss whether or not to do something at the school. When he finished he asked Cory, “Could they possibly hack our phones and email? Are they listening to us?”

			“Highly unlikely, Mitch. Everything is possible these days but I doubt it.”

			Jack asked, “And why would they? They don’t care what you’re doing for lunch or dinner. This is now all about money. If they were going to kill Giovanna it would’ve already happened, right Cory?”

			“Probably, but who knows?”

			“Look guys, the game has now changed. We’ve finally heard from the enemy and they want to talk. Talk means negotiation and that means money. What else can Giovanna do for them? Assassinate Gaddifi? Broker a Middle East peace deal? Find more oil in the desert? No. She has a price on her head and the question is how much?”

			“It’s not quite that simple, Jack,” Mitch said. “There is also the question of how much damage we’re willing to absorb before we knuckle under. Setting aside for a moment the killings so far, and there are eleven dead bodies by my count, we also have an office bombed in Athens and now they’re right here in the city.”

			Cory said, “Let’s not get ahead of ourselves. We’re not in charge. They are, and until Noura reappears we can’t do much.”

			“Oh really? Well, I plan to protect my family.”

			“Got it, Mitch. I don’t blame you. Any ideas?”

			“You’re the security guy, right? What would you do?”

			“I’m still thinking.”

			“Please hurry.”

			Jack said, “We should discuss Crueggal. Do they get involved?”

			Mitch shrugged as if the question was not aimed at him. He returned to the window and looked at the streets below. Dozens of yellow cabs inched along in heavy traffic. In a few short minutes he planned to be in the backseat of one of them, barking instructions at the driver.

			Jack asked, “Have you spoken to Darian lately?”

			Cory replied, “Not since nine A.M. I begin every day with a fifteen-minute update from Darian in which he reveals nothing new. They’re digging, waiting, and digging. We have to tell him, and soon. The enemy has made contact, Jack, which is what we’ve all been waiting for. Crueggal knows far more about this game than we do.”

			“And you trust them? I mean, their roster is loaded with ex-spies and CIA types. They pride themselves on having contacts in every cave around the world. What if someone has loose lips?”

			“Not gonna happen. Darian’s in the city. I’ll call him and he’ll meet us at the Carlyle.”

			“Mitch?”

			“Until I know my kids are safe I won’t be worth much, okay? Abby’s a wreck.”

			Jack said, “Understood. Go meet her for lunch. We’ll be there and make a plan.”

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 22

			Mitch was waiting in the lobby of the Carlyle when Abby rushed in at ten minutes before noon. He waved her over and, without a word, they disappeared into Bemelmans Bar, one of the most famous in the city. At that hour, though, it was nearly empty. They sat on stools at the bar, face-to-face, and ordered diet sodas. Her eyes were moist and worried. Mitch tried his best to remain calm. By nature they were not excitable, but then they had never had their children threatened.

			He motioned and she put her shoulder bag on the floor under her stool. Softly, he said, “There’s a chance your new phone will track you wherever you go. Also a good chance it hears and records everything, whether off or on.”

			“I’d like to get rid of it. Have you called the school?”

			“No, not yet.” He nodded, stood, and motioned for her to follow him. They walked a few feet away and kept their eyes on her bag. Almost whispering, Mitch said, “We’ll meet with the security folks upstairs in a few minutes. Maybe we’ll figure out what to do.”

			Her jaws clenched and she tapped her teeth together. “I say we get the boys and get the hell out of the city, go hide somewhere for a few days.”

			“I like that. The problem is you can’t leave. The phone might track you and you have to keep it in your pocket at all times. You’re the link, Abby. They chose you.”

			“I’m honored.” Her eyes suddenly watered. “Can you believe this, Mitch? They followed us to school this morning. They know where we live and work. How did we get here?”

			“We’re here and we’ll get out, I promise.”

			“No promises, Mitch. You don’t know any more than I do. I want to help Giovanna, okay, but right now my only concern is my two little boys. Let’s go snatch ’em and run.”

			“Maybe later, but right now let’s go upstairs and meet with the team.”
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			The two conference rooms in the business center were taken, so Cory booked a suite on the third floor. He was waiting with Jack and Darian. Quick introductions were made. Abby knew Jack from the annual partners’ Christmas dinner, a fussy black-tie party that almost everyone loathed. She had met Cory years earlier during one of the firm’s security audits.

			For obvious reasons, Abby was feeling vulnerable at the moment. In addition, she was suddenly in a meeting with a complete stranger and expected to discuss private matters. Always eager to take charge, Darian bulled right ahead and said, “It is important to walk through your confrontation with Noura.”

			Abby shot him a look and said, “I’m not sure I like your tone.”

			For a second all the air left the room. Mitch felt compelled to soothe tensions and said, “Look Darian, it’s been a rough morning and we’re a bit on edge. What, exactly, do you want to know?”

			“Who said it was a confrontation?” Abby demanded.

			Darian offered a quick phony smile and said, “You’re right, Ms. McDeere. Bad choice of words.”

			“Okay.”

			“Mind if we see the phone?” he asked pleasantly.

			“No problem.” It was buried in the bottom of her large bag and it took a moment to fish it out. She placed it in the center of a small round table. Darian pressed his index finger to his lips to ask for quiet. He held it, examined its casing, and with a small screwdriver took the back off. With his phone he took photos and sent them to someone who worked for Crueggal. He opened his laptop, pecked away like a manic hacker, and stopped to admire whatever he had found. He half turned the screen around for the others to see. The trade name was “Jakl” and it was made in Vietnam for a company in Hungary. The list of specifications was in small print and ran on for pages. The message was clear: it was a specialized, complicated phone not intended for the average consumer. Darian returned to his rapid key-tapping and kept searching. His cell phone rang and he spoke in some coded dialect, then smiled and ended the call.

			“It’s not listening to us,” he said with relief. “However, it does emit a tracking signal regardless of the ON/OFF switch.”

			Mitch asked, “So right now they know the phone is in the Carlyle Hotel?”

			“They know the phone is within fifty yards of where it really is. They probably don’t know it’s up here and not in the restaurant.”

			Abby half snorted in disgust and shook her head.

			Darian gave the phone to Cory, who held it so he and Mitch could see the screen. He touched the Photos key, and there were the boys with their mother bounding off to another day of school. Mitch shook his head in disbelief at all five photos. When he’d seen enough, he said, “Okay, Abby, why don’t you walk us through what happened with Noura?”

			She looked at Darian and said, “Sorry I snapped. Things are a bit tense.”

			“No apology necessary, Abby. We’re here to help.”

			Abby recalled every possible detail as Darian recorded her and everyone else took notes. He prodded with questions about Noura’s appearance: Height—about the same as Abby’s, five feet seven. Weight—who could tell with all the layers of robes. Age—young, under thirty, but again impossible to be sure with the heavy veil and all. Accent—perfect English with maybe a slight Middle Eastern accent. Anything memorable about her hands, arms, shoes? Nothing, everything was covered. Did Noura order food or drink? No.

			As the interrogation went on, Jack stepped into the other room and began making calls.

			When Abby had told them everything, she said, “That’s it. Nothing else. I feel like I’m on the witness stand here. I’d like to spend some time alone with my husband.”

			Cory said, “Good idea. You two go downstairs and have lunch while we figure out the next steps.”

			Mitch said, “That’s great, Cory, but the next step is our kids. Giovanna is important, but right now nothing matters but the safety of Clark and Carter.”

			“We’re with you, Mitch.”

			“Right. And nothing is done without my approval, okay?”

			“Got it.”
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			Thoughts of eating were impossible but it seemed imperative to at least order something. They chose salads and tea and could not help but glance around the lovely restaurant, Dowling’s, to see if anyone was staring at them. No one was.

			Though the wretched Jakl phone was wedged deep in the bottom of Abby’s sizable shoulder bag, which itself was stuffed under her chair, they still spoke softly. The question was, Where? Not if, or when, or how, but where? They had to find a safe place to run and hide with the boys. Her parents’ home in Kentucky, her childhood home, was a possibility, but would be too obvious. Abby’s boss, the publisher of Epicurean, had a cottage on Martha’s Vineyard. But then, virtually everyone they knew in the city had a getaway either in the Hamptons or upstate or somewhere in New England, and the list of options grew longer as they talked. It was easy to think of possible places; the difficulty would be in the asking.

			Mitch doubted she would be able to leave the city. They had no idea when Noura might call again and Abby would be expected to drop everything for a meeting. Mitch was more than ready to flee with the boys and forget the office.

			The head of River Latin School was Giles Gatterson, a veteran of the city’s pressurized private school business. Mitch served on the Legal & Policy Committee and knew Giles well. He would call him later in the day and explain that they were in an unusual situation that was not covered by any of the rules. For safety reasons, they were taking the boys away for a few days, perhaps even a week. He would be as vague as possible and would not tell Giles the boys were being watched, followed, or threatened. No need to alarm anyone else at the school. He might be more forthcoming later, but not now.

			For the $57,000 a year they paid in tuition per child, the school could damned well bend a little. The boys’ assignments would be monitored in person by their parents and online by their teachers.

			It was time to make a move. The only question was—Where?
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			In the restaurant, lunch was ignored. Up in the suite, it was never considered. Cory, Jack, and Darian sat around a small coffee table and walked through various scenarios. For the sake of argument, Darian broached the subject of notifying the FBI and CIA. Crueggal had close contacts with each and he was certain the information would be protected. He did not advocate any contact, but thought it appropriate to at least air it out. The obvious reason to say no was that Giovanna Sandroni was not an American. Jack believed strongly that neither agency would want to get involved, given the unstable relationship with Libya and the likelihood of a bad outcome. The CIA had blown enough operations in recent history to want to stay in its box. Darian agreed. During his long career in intelligence, he’d seen the CIA mishandle many crises, many of which it had created in the first place. He had no confidence in the agency’s ability to either keep its nose out of it or to protect Giovanna if and when it got involved.

			Jack decided there would be no contact with the U.S. authorities until later, if necessary. And he warned Darian and Cory there would be no action taken without the approval of the firm and Mitch McDeere.

			They discussed Luca and whether he should be informed. It was a tough call because he was, after all, her father, as well as their esteemed partner. Any parent would certainly want to be involved in such delicate discussions. But Luca was ill and fragile and not at the top of his game. And, the kidnappers had chosen not to approach the family. Luca was a wealthy man by any measure, but he didn’t have millions to toss around. Scully, being the greatest firm in the world, certainly did, or at least projected the aura of enormous wealth. Its lawsuits around the world sought billions in damages from big corporations and governments. Surely it could pay any ransom if money was the objective.

			There was no playbook, no rules. Darian had worked through several kidnappings in his career, but each was radically different. Most had ended successfully.

			They decided to wait twenty-four hours and discuss Luca again.
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			Less than forty minutes after Abby and Mitch left for lunch, they returned to the suite and found that nothing had changed. Jack held a sheet of paper with notes scribbled all over it and said, “We have some ideas for the next twenty-four hours.”

			Mitch said, “Let’s hear it.”

			“Okay, pick up the boys from school today as usual and we’ll be close by.” He nodded at Cory, who said, “We’ll have guys on the ground, Mitch. Do you ever meet them after school?”

			“Rarely.”

			“Abby?”

			“All the time.”

			“Good. You get them today at three-fifteen and walk them home by the same route.”

			“I’ll be at home,” Mitch said.

			“Get them packed for a long weekend, a very long one. Tomorrow is Friday and they’re leaving town with you, Mitch. Abby, it’s advisable for you not to leave the city at this time. It’s the phone. You gotta stay close.”

			Abby didn’t flinch but asked, “So you want them in school tomorrow?”

			“Yes. We think they’ll be safe.”

			Mitch said, “They’ll go to school but they’re leaving at noon. Abby and I will talk to the school tonight and explain things. She’ll walk them to school in the morning. I’ll sneak them out the back door at lunchtime.”

			Jack asked, “Got a destination, Mitch?”

			“No, not really. Not yet.”

			“I have a good one.”

			“We’re listening.”

			“My brother Barry retired from Wall Street ten years ago, made a fortune.”

			“I’ve met him.”

			“That’s right. He has a nice home in Maine and it’s very secluded. A place called Islesboro, a small island on the Atlantic coast near the town of Camden. You have to take a ferry to get there.”

			It certainly sounded safe and secluded enough, and Mitch and Abby both relaxed a little.

			Jack went on, “I just talked to him. He summers there, stays about five months until it starts snowing. We go every August and enjoy the weather. He opened the house last week.”

			“And he has plenty of room?”

			“The house has eighteen bedrooms, Mitch, plenty of staff. A couple of boats. The summer traffic hasn’t arrived yet so there aren’t too many folks on the island. Again, it’s quite secluded.”

			“Eighteen bedrooms?” Mitch repeated.

			“Yes. Barry likes to tell everyone that we have a large family. What he doesn’t say is that he can’t stand the rest of them. I’m his only ally. He and his wife use the house to entertain friends from here and Boston. It’s a slightly older crowd who want to sit on the porch in the cool breeze and soak in the views while eating lobster and drinking rosé.”

			Cory added, “And we’ll have a couple of guys there as well, Mitch. You won’t see much of them but they’ll be close by.”

			Mitch looked at Abby and she nodded. Yes.

			“Thanks, Jack. Sounds good. I’ll need an airplane.”

			“No problem, Mitch. Anything.”

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 23

			After Carter and Clark were finally convinced that a weekend away from the city and on a remote island in Maine could be a great adventure, and that the Bruisers’ game Saturday would probably be rained out, and that they would be staying in a mansion with eighteen bedrooms and two boats waiting at the dock, and that they would ride on a small private jet, then a ferry, and that their grandparents would be there to play with them, as would their father, and that their mother needed to stay in the city for some unclear reason, the boys were ready to go. They reluctantly went to bed, still chattering away.

			The next conversation was just as complicated but forty minutes shorter. After swapping emails to arrange things, Mitch called Giles Gatterson of River Latin at exactly nine-thirty. He apologized again for the intrusion and they quickly dispensed with the preliminary chitchat. As vaguely as possible, he explained that one of his cases, an international one, had presented a “security concern” that necessitated an early and furtive departure from school for the boys the following day, and would likely keep them out of the city for a week or so. Giles was eager to help. The school was filled with the children of important people who traveled the world and ran into unusual situations. If questions were asked about the boys’ absences, the company line was that they were suffering from measles and were quarantined. That should keep the curious at bay.

			Abby made the next call, the third one to her parents in the past few hours. A private jet would fetch them in Louisville at 2 P.M. Saturday and fly nonstop to Rockland, Maine, where they would be met by a driver who would take them to the harbor in Camden.

			As they talked, Mitch kept thinking about the eighteen bedrooms and was thankful that the summerhouse was large enough to put distance between himself and his in-laws. Only a threat from a terrorist organization could force him to spend a weekend with Harold and Maxine Sutherland. “Hoppy” and “Maxie” to the boys. His therapist would want to know how it happened, and he was already practicing his stories. The fact that he was still spending good money to deal with his “in-law issues” irked him to no end. But Abby insisted, and he did love his wife.

			Oh well. His dislike of Hoppy and Maxie seemed rather trivial at the moment.

			With the phone calls out of the way, an unforgettable day was finally coming to an end. Mitch poured two glasses of wine and they kicked off their shoes.

			“When will she call?” Abby asked.

			“Who?”

			“What do you mean, ‘Who’?”

			“Oh, right.”

			“Yes, Noura. How long will she wait?”

			“How am I supposed to know?”

			“No one knows, okay? So what’s your guess?”

			Mitch drank some wine and frowned as if in deep and meaningful thought, calculating exactly what the terrorists were thinking. “Within forty-eight hours.”

			“And what do you base that on?”

			“That’s what they taught us in law school. I went to Harvard, you know?”

			“How could I forget?”

			He took another sip and said, “They’ve proven to be patient. Today is number twenty-seven, and the first contact. On the other hand, it’s a lot of work holding a hostage. She’s probably in a cave or a hole in a wall, not a good place. What if she gets sick? After a while the kidnappers will get tired of her. She’s worth a lot of money so it’s time to cash in. Why wait longer?”

			“So it’s all about ransom?”

			“Let’s hope so. If they were going to hurt her in some dramatic way it would’ve already happened. Probably, and according to our experts anyway. And what would they gain by it?”

			“Because they’re savages. They’ve managed to shock the world already. Why not do it in an even bigger way?”

			“True, but the men they’ve killed were of little value, dollar-wise. Giovanna’s a different story.”

			“So it’s all about money.”

			“If we’re lucky.”

			Abby was not convinced. “So why did they bomb the office in Athens?”

			“Something else we didn’t cover in law school. I don’t know, Abby. You’re asking me to think like a terrorist. These people are fanatics who are half crazy. On the other hand, they’re smart enough to put together an organization that can send an agent into a coffee shop down the street and hand you a package.”

			Abby closed her eyes and shook her head. Nothing was said for a long time. Other than the occasional sip from a glass, nothing moved. Finally, she asked, “Are you scared, Mitch?”

			“Terrified.”

			“Me too.”

			“I really want a gun.”

			“Come on, Mitch.”

			“Seriously. The bad guys have plenty of guns. I’d feel safer if I had one in my pocket.”

			“You’ve never held a gun, Mitch. Giving you one would endanger half the city.”

			He smiled and rubbed her leg. He gazed at a wall and said, “Not true. When I was a kid, my father took me hunting all the time.”

			She took a deep breath and considered his words. They had been in love for almost twenty years, and she had learned at the beginning not to be curious about his early years. He never discussed them, never opened up to her, never shared the memories of a rough childhood. She knew his father died in the coal mines when he was seven. His mother cracked up and worked low-wage jobs but had trouble keeping them. They moved often, from one cheap rental to another. Ray, his older brother, dropped out of school and pursued a life of petty crime. Mitch once spoke of an aunt he lived with before running away.

			“We grew up in the mountains where every kid was hunting by the age of six. Guns were a part of life. You know Dane County.”

			She did. It was Appalachia, but she was a town girl whose father wore a suit and tie to work each day. They owned a nice home with two cars in the driveway.

			“We hunted year-round, regardless of what the game warden said. If we saw an animal that might make a good stew, it was dead. Rabbits, turkeys, I killed my first deer when I was six. I could handle a gun—rifles, pistols, shotguns. After my dad died, Mom wouldn’t let us hunt anymore. She was afraid we might get hurt and the thought of losing another son was too much. She gave away all the guns. So, yes, dear, you are correct in saying that if I had one now I’d probably hurt somebody, but you’re wrong in saying I’ve never fired a gun.”

			“Forget the guns, Mitch.”

			“Okay. We’ll be safe, Abby, trust me.”

			“I do.”

			“No one will be able to find us up there. Cory and his gang will be close by. And since it’s in Maine I’m sure the house will be full of guns. Don’t they shoot moose up there?”

			“You’re asking me?”

			“No.”

			“Don’t touch a gun, Mitch.”

			“I promise.”

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 24

			Promptly at six the following morning, Cory rang the buzzer for the McDeere apartment and was welcomed by Mitch. Abby poured coffee at the breakfast table and offered yogurt and granola. No one was hungry.

			Cory walked them through the plan for the day and gave each a little green phone that flipped open. He said, “These are cell phones that cannot be hacked or traced. Only five—these two, me, Ruch, and Alvin.”

			“Alvin?” Abby asked, obviously becoming irritated with the cloak-and-dagger stuff. “Have we met an Alvin?”

			“He works for me and you probably won’t meet him.”

			“Of course.” She held her newest gadget and stared at it in frustration. “Yet another phone?”

			“Sorry,” Cory said. “I know your collection is growing.”

			“What if I make a mistake and pull out the wrong one?”

			Mitch frowned at her and said, “Please.”

			She said to Cory, “I thought our cell phones cannot be hacked or tracked.”

			“That’s right, as far as we know. These are just another layer of security. Stick with us, okay?”

			“I’ll shut up now.”

			“So, the plan is to leave the front door of the building at exactly eight A.M., as always, with Carter and Clark, just another walk to school. South on Columbus, west on Sixty-Seventh, two more blocks to the school. We’ll be watching every step.”

			“Watching for what?” Mitch asked. “You don’t really think these guys will do something stupid on a busy sidewalk.”

			“No, more than likely they will not. We want to see who’s watching. It’s doubtful Noura is working alone. It would take a team to follow Abby and the boys yesterday, take the photos, follow her across the park, and arrive at the coffee shop at about the same time. Somebody gave her the Jakl, a rather exotic gadget. She has a boss somewhere. These cells are not run by women.”

			“And what if by chance you notice someone following Abby today?”

			“We’ll do our best to track them.”

			“How many people do you have on the ground right now?”

			“I’m not allowed to say, Mitch. Sorry.”

			“Okay, okay. Continue.”

			“You leave at the normal time, take the subway to work, nothing unusual. At ten I’ll have a car nearby and I’ll call with directions.” He picked up his green phone, smiled, and said, “We’ll use these. Hope they work.”

			“Can’t wait.”

			“You’ll return here, enter this building through the basement exit, get the bags, hustle back to the car. At eleven you’ll enter the school through a side door off Sixty-Seventh, get the boys, and get out of there. I’ll meet you at the Westchester airport. We’ll hop on a cute little jet and thirty-five minutes later land in Rockland, Maine. Any questions so far?”

			Mitch said, “You look exhausted, Cory. Are you sleeping?’

			“Are you kidding? A Scully lawyer has been held hostage somewhere in North Africa for a month now. How can I sleep? My phone starts ringing at one A.M. when the sun comes up over there. I’m running on fumes.”

			Mitch and Abby looked at each other. “Thanks for all this, Cory,” she said.

			“You’re under a lot of pressure,” Mitch said.

			“I am. We are. And we’ll get through it. You’re the key, Abby. They chose you and you have to make it work.”

			“I’ve never felt so lucky.”

			“And I’ll be hunting moose,” Mitch said with a laugh, one that was not shared by the others.
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			The walk took seventeen minutes and went off without incident. Abby managed to chat with the twins and watch the traffic without glancing around. At one point she was amused by the thought that the boys had no idea how many people were watching them as they walked to school. Nor would they ever.

			Cory and his team were almost certain Abby and the boys were not followed. He was not surprised. The threat had already been delivered the day before. Why take more photos? Five were plenty. But top security, as well as good spy-craft, dictated the surveillance. They probably would not get the chance to do it again.

			Mitch arrived at the office and immediately called Luca in Rome. He sounded tired and weak and reminded Mitch that his daughter had been gone for a month. Mitch said he was in constant contact with their security advisers. The conversation lasted less than five minutes, and when it was over Mitch again felt it would be a mistake to tell Luca about Noura. Maybe tomorrow.

			At 9:15, Cory called, on the green phone, and told Mitch that the surveillance had noticed no one trailing Abby and the boys. Mitch went to Jack’s to debrief. At 10:00, he hopped in the rear of an SUV at the corner of Pine and Nassau. Cory was waiting. As they sped away, he couldn’t help but nod off. Mitch smiled at the guy and felt sorry for him. He was also happy with the silence. He closed his eyes, took deep breaths, and tried to walk slowly through the events of the past twenty-four hours. Before coffee with Abby yesterday morning, no one in his world had ever heard of Noura.

			At 11:10, Mitch emerged from the school with Clark and Carter. A gray sedan was waiting, with another driver. Forty minutes later, they stopped at the gate of the general aviation terminal at Westchester County Airport. A guard waved them through and they drove across the tarmac to a waiting Lear 55. The boys were wide-eyed and couldn’t wait to take it up for a spin. Clark said, “Wow, Dad, is that our plane?”

			“No, we’re just borrowing it,” Mitch said.

			Cory was waiting outside the Lear, glancing at his watch. He welcomed the boys with a big smile and helped them aboard. He introduced them to the two pilots and strapped them into the thick, leather seats. Mitch and Cory sat facing the boys in club-style seating. A fifth passenger, Alvin, sat in the back. As they began to taxi, Cory fetched coffee for Mitch and cookies for the boys, but they were too busy gawking out the windows to take a bite. At 20,000 feet, Cory unlatched Carter from his seatbelt and led him to the cockpit for a quick visit with the pilots. The colorful display of switches, buttons, screens, and instruments was overwhelming. Carter had at least a hundred questions but the pilots were adjusting dials and talking on the radio and couldn’t say much. After a few minutes, it was Clark’s turn.

			The excitement of flying on a fancy little jet made the trip seem even shorter, and before long they were descending. When it taxied and stopped at the small private terminal, a black SUV pulled alongside to collect the passengers and their luggage. The boys reluctantly climbed down and got in the SUV. For the next two days they would talk of nothing but flying airplanes when they grew up.

			The date was May 13, a Friday, and coastal Maine was thawing out from another long winter. The picturesque town of Camden was coming to life and brushing aside the remnants of the spring’s last snowfall. Its scenic harbor was already busy with fishermen, sailors, and a few summer residents eager to get to the islands and open their second homes.

			One of Cory’s men was holding a table at a restaurant on the water. When they arrived he disappeared, and Mitch wanted to ask how many were on the team. Sitting at the table and taking in the magnificent view of the harbor, the distant hills, and Penobscot Bay, Mitch could almost forget why they were there.

			Away from their mother, and on some sort of vacation, Clark and Carter did not hesitate to order burgers, fries, and milkshakes. Mitch had a salad. Cory ate like one of the kids. Service was slow, or maybe they were on Maine time now, but they were in no hurry. The big city was far away and they would get back to it soon enough. It was Friday afternoon, and Mitch wanted a beer. Cory, though, was on duty and declined. Never one to drink alone, Mitch fought the temptation.

			Twice during lunch Cory excused himself to take calls. When he returned each time Mitch was tempted to grill him for the latest news, but managed to control his curiosity. He assumed Corey was dealing with his team somewhere in the vicinity and probably not getting calls from Tripoli.

			The ferry to Islesboro ran five times a day and took twenty minutes. At 2:30, Cory said, “We should get in line.”
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			The island was fourteen miles long and almost three miles wide in places. Its eastern end jutted into the Atlantic, with beautiful views from the rocky coast. Mitch and the boys were on the ferry’s upper deck admiring the other islands as they passed. Cory walked over, pointed, and said, “That’s Islesboro coming into view ahead.”

			Mitch smiled and said, “We are remote, aren’t we?”

			“I told you. It’s a perfect place to hide for a few days.”

			“Hide from who?”

			“I’m not sure, probably no one. But we’re not taking any chances.”

			As they drew closer they began to see the mansions dotting the shoreline. There were dozens of them, most dating back a hundred years to the glory days of “summering” by the rich. Families from New York, Boston, and Philadelphia built fine homes to avoid the heat and humidity, and of course they needed plenty of bedrooms and lots of staff to take care of their friends, who often stayed for weeks at a time. The homes were still in use, still splendid, and a few had even attracted celebrities. The permanent population of Islesboro was five hundred, and most of the adults either worked “in the houses” or trapped lobsters.

			They drove off the ferry and were soon on the only highway that ran the length of the island. Within ten minutes, they turned onto a narrow asphalt drive and passed a sign reading Wicklow.

			Mitch asked Cory, “Any idea where ‘Wicklow’ comes from?”

			“It’s the county in Ireland where the first owner was born. He got rich bootlegging Irish whiskey during prohibition, built this place, then died young.”

			“Cirrhosis?”

			“No idea. It’s been bought and sold several times and everyone kept the name. Mr. Ruch picked it up at an auction about fifteen years ago and did a renovation. Whacked off ten bedrooms on a different wing, according to Jack.”

			“So he’s down to eighteen.”

			“Only eighteen.”

			They were soon arriving at a circular drive in front of a sprawling old house that belonged in a travel magazine. It was classic Cape Cod architecture: two levels with steep roofs and side gables, a wide centered front entry, weathered shingle siding painted a pale blue, gabled dormers, and four centralized chimneys. Beyond it was nothing but miles of the Atlantic Ocean.

			Mr. Barry Ruch himself came through the front door and practically bear-hugged Mitch as if they were dear friends. They were not, at least not yet. Mitch had met him a few years earlier at a birthday party for his younger brother Jack. There had been at least fifty other guests and Mitch and Barry had barely spoken to each other. He was known as a quiet billionaire who loathed attention. According to an old Forbes story, Barry had made his money speculating in Latin American currencies.

			Whatever the hell that meant.

			Everybody shook hands and said hello. As trained, Carter and Clark stood as tall as possible and said, “Nice to meet you.” Their father was proud of them.

			Barry swept the whole group into the house through the front door and into the main foyer where they met Tanner, the butler-porter-driver-handyman and boat captain. He was also a part-time lobsterman who would always seem ill at ease in his navy jacket and white shirt. Thankfully, Mr. Ruch allowed him to wear khaki britches.

			Tanner handled the luggage and room assignments while Barry showed the McDeeres to the den where a fire was roaring. He laughed about the last snowfall just two nights ago and promised there would be no more of the white stuff until October. Maybe November.
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			As the men talked about the weather and how Jack was doing as he neared retirement, Carter and Clark admired the massive stuffed moose head looking down upon them from the stone fireplace.

			Barry noticed this and said, “I didn’t kill him, boys, wasn’t me. He came with the house. Tanner thinks he’s been here for about thirty years. Probably from the mainland.”

			“Are there moose on the island?” Carter asked.

			“Well, I’ve never seen one, but we’ll go looking for them if you want. Tanner says the wind is dying down and a warm front is moving in. Let’s wait a couple of hours, hop in the boat, and go for a ride.”

			The boys couldn’t wait.

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 25

			Mitch’s shot-in-the-dark prediction, allegedly based on his fancy education, was remarkably close. Noura did not wait forty-eight hours. She waited about forty-seven, and called Abby on the Jakl phone at 7:31 Saturday morning.

			Abby was on her yoga mat in the den, stretching half-heartedly and trying to remember the last weekend when she had the apartment all to herself. She missed her guys and under different circumstances would not have been worried about them. She talked to Mitch twice Friday night, on the green phone, and was fully debriefed. The boys were having a grand time in Mr. Barry’s mansion, while Mitch and the owner were smoking Cuban cigars and drinking single malts.

			They felt perfectly safe. No one could possibly find them.

			Selecting the proper phone from her collection assembled on the coffee table, always close at hand, Abby lifted the Jakl and said, “Hello.”

			“Abby McDeere, this is Noura.”

			What’s the proper greeting to a terrorist on a rainy Saturday morning in Manhattan? Though in an odd way she was relieved to get the call, she refused to show any interest. Calmly she said, “Yes, this is Abby.”

			Evidently, terrorists didn’t use greetings because Noura skipped them altogether. “We should meet tomorrow morning before noon. Are you available?”

			Do I have a choice? “Yes.”

			“Walk to the ice rink in Central Park. At ten-fifteen, approach the main entrance. There’s an ice-cream vendor to the left, on the east side. Stand there and wait. Your husband is a Mets fan, right?”

			A kick in the gut could not have jolted her more. How much did these people know about them? “Yes,” she managed to say.

			“Wear a Mets cap.”

			Mitch had at least five of them hung on a rack in his closet. “Sure.”

			“If you bring anyone with you, we will know immediately.”

			“Okay.”

			“That would be a terrible mistake, Mrs. McDeere. Understood?”

			“Yes, of course.”

			“You must come alone.”

			“I’ll be there.”

			There was a long pause as Abby waited. She repeated, “I’ll be there.”

			More silence. Noura was gone.

			Carefully, Abby put down the Jakl, picked up the green phone, walked to her bedroom, closed the door, and called Mitch.
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			Though obviously built to entertain adults, Wicklow showed signs of children passing through. At least one of the bedrooms had two sets of bunk beds, rainbows painted on the walls, outdated video games, and a wide-screen television. Tanner showed the boys around and they quickly gave the house thumbs-up. By dinner Friday, Tanner was their new best friend.

			They slept until almost eight Saturday morning and followed the smells downstairs to the breakfast room where they found their father drinking coffee and talking to Mr. Cory. Miss Emma appeared from the kitchen and asked what they would like for breakfast. After much indecision, they settled on waffles and bacon.

			Cory finished his omelette and excused himself. Mitch asked the boys how the night went and everything was awesome. They said they wanted bunk beds at home. “You can discuss it with your mother. She’s in charge of furniture and decorating.”

			“Where’s Mr. Barry?” Clark asked.

			“I think he went to his office.”

			“Where’s his office?”

			“That way,” Mitch replied, waving over his shoulder as if the office was far away but still under the same roof. “I don’t want you guys roaming around the house, okay? We are guests and this is not a hotel. Do not go in a room unless you’re invited.”

			They listened intently and began nodding. Carter asked, “Dad, why are the rooms so big here?”

			“Well, it might be because Mr. Barry has a lot of money and can afford big houses with big rooms. Also, he invites guests to stay here for weeks at a time and I suppose they need plenty of space. Another reason might be that you guys live in a city where almost everybody lives in apartments. They tend to be smaller.”

			“Can we buy a mansion?” Clark asked.

			Mitch smiled and said, “We certainly cannot. Very few people can afford a house like this. Do you really want eighteen bedrooms?”

			“Most of them are empty,” Carter said.

			“Does Mr. Barry have a wife?” Clark asked.

			“Yes, a lovely woman named Millicent. She’s still in New York but will be here later this month.”

			“Does he have kids?”

			“Kids and grandkids, but they live in California.”

			According to Jack, Barry was estranged from both of his adult children. The family had been bickering for years over his fortune.

			The waffles and bacon arrived on platters, each large enough for a small family, and the boys lost interest in Mr. Barry. Mitch left them at the table and walked outside to a covered deck not far from the pier to the boat dock. Cory, of course, was on the phone. He put it away and Mitch asked, “What’s the plan?”

			“Let’s stay here tonight, get the grandparents settled, then take off early in the morning for the city. That was Darian and he’ll be there. We’ll set up camp in the Everett Hotel on Fifth, across from the ice rink.”

			“How often do you remind yourself that we have no idea who we’re dealing with, other than a woman named Noura?” Mitch asked.

			“Once every thirty seconds.”

			“And how often do you ask yourself if Noura could be a hoax?”

			“Once every thirty seconds. But she’s not a hoax, Mitch. She found your wife in a coffee shop in Manhattan. They had her under surveillance. Hell, they were watching your entire family. She gave her that phone. She’s not a hoax.”

			“And how much money will they want?” Mitch asked.

			“Probably more than we can begin to imagine.”

			“So, do we expect Abby to negotiate?”

			“I have no idea. We’re not running this show, Mitch. They are. All we can do is react and pray we don’t screw up.”
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			Harold and Maxine Sutherland had never been to Maine but it was on their list. In their retirement they were having far too much fun checking off the places they had dreamed of and were now visiting. With no dogs or cats, a downsized cottage in the country, and a healthy bank account, they were the envy of their friends as they repacked their bags almost as fast as they unpacked them. Luckily, they were at home when Abby called Thursday afternoon and said it was urgent.

			Tanner fetched them at the ferry and delivered them to Wicklow. Mitch and the boys greeted them at the door. Once again, Mitch was touched by how excited they were to see Maxie and Hoppy, who, of course, were even more excited to see their grandsons. Everybody helped with the bags and Tanner settled them into a fine suite across the hall from the bunk room. The boys couldn’t wait to show their grandparents around Mr. Barry’s mansion. After being there for twenty-four hours they felt like they owned the place and had forgotten their father’s warning about roaming the halls. A late lunch was in order, and Mr. Barry appeared from some far corner of the house to dine with the McDeeres and Sutherlands. He was a gracious host and had the knack for making complete strangers feel welcome. Mitch figured this came from years of hosting lots of friends at Wicklow, but he was also an easy soul to be around. A billion bucks in the bank probably added to his quiet, laid-back approach to life. But Mitch had met his share of self-made Wall Streeters, and many of them were to be avoided.

			Mitch kept an eye on the boys. They had been taught by their mother to say little in the presence of adults and to mind their table manners. Mitch was thankful for her proper, small-town upbringing. Abby had been “raised right,” as they say in Kentucky. To himself, he acknowledged this and thanked her parents.

			So why did he find it so hard to forgive them? And to actually like them? Because they had never apologized for their slights and transgressions of twenty years ago, and, frankly, Mitch had stopped waiting. The last thing he wanted now was an awkward forced hug with a tearful “We’re sorry.” His therapist had almost convinced him that carrying such a heavy grudge for so long was hindering his growth as a mature person. It had become his problem, not theirs. He was the one being damaged. The therapist’s mantra was: Just let it go.

			Over lunch, common ground was soon found with fly-fishing. Barry had shucked the 80-hour workweeks years earlier and found solace in mountain streams all over the country. Harold had begun as a child and knew every creek in Appalachia. As the fish got bigger and bigger, Mitch found himself drifting away. He chatted with Maxine off and on. It was obvious they were concerned and wanted details.

			Tanner appeared and suggested another boat ride. The boys beat him down to the dock. Mr. Barry retired into the depths of Wicklow to watch the Yankees game, a daily ritual.

			Mitch led his in-laws into the library, closed the door, and explained to them why they were there. He gave only the barest of details, but it was enough to frighten them. The fact that terrorists were following their daughter and grandsons around Manhattan, and taking photos, was shocking.

			They would hide in Maine with the boys for a month if necessary.

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 26

			The runway at Islesboro’s small airport was only 2,500 feet long, too short for a jet. Early Sunday morning, Mitch and Cory took off in a King Air 200, a turboprop with small field capacity.

			They left Alvin and one other guard behind at Wicklow. Mitch was convinced the boys were safely tucked away where no one could find them and he told himself to stop worrying. The day would be complicated enough without thinking of them. But there was no way not to.

			An hour later they landed at Westchester, drove into the city, and by 10 A.M. were in a large suite on the fifteenth floor of the Everett Hotel, with a view of the Wollman ice rink in Central Park. Darian was there from Crueggal, along with Jack. Over coffee, Mitch gave Jack a full report on his brother and all the gossip around Wicklow, which wasn’t much. Jack planned to retire July 31 and spend the month of August at Islesboro fishing with his brother.

			The weather was cool and clear and Central Park was crowded. In the distance, they could see skaters circling the rink, but they were too far away to distinguish anyone. At 10:20, Mitch was certain he saw his wife walking down Fifth Avenue, on the park side. She was wearing jeans, hiking boots, and a brown barn coat she’d had for years. And a faded blue Mets cap.

			“There she is,” he said with a knot in his stomach. She disappeared into the park and they lost sight of her. Cory and Darian had argued over placing someone near the entrance of the rink to watch Abby, but decided not to. Cory thought there was nothing to gain by doing so.

			At 10:30 she walked to the counter of an ice-cream vendor near the rink’s main entrance. From behind large, dark sunglasses, she watched everyone while trying to appear nonchalant. It wasn’t working; she was a wreck. The Jakl vibrated in her pocket and she pulled it out. “This is Abby.”

			“This is Noura. Leave the ice rink and walk to the Mall. Go past the statue of Shakespeare and to your left you’ll see the one of Robert Burns, then a long row of benches. Stay to the left, walk about a hundred feet, and find a spot on a bench.”

			Minutes later, she passed the statue of Shakespeare and turned right onto the Mall, a long promenade lined with stately elms. She had made the walk countless times, and flashed back to their first winter in the city when she and Mitch had shuffled along, arm in arm, in a foot of snow with more falling. They had spent many long Sunday afternoons, in all seasons, sitting in the shade of the elms and watching the endless parade of New Yorkers outside for the day. When the twins arrived, they put them in a tandem stroller and pushed them up and down the Mall and all over Central Park.

			Today, though, there was no time for nostalgia.

			Hundreds of people were strolling along the Mall. Vendors sold hot and cold drinks. Loud carousel music echoed from speakers in the distance. As Abby walked she counted thirty steps, found an empty bench, and sat down as nonchalantly as possible.

			Five minutes, ten. She clutched the Jakl in her pocket and tried not to look at everyone who passed. She was looking for a Muslim woman in full robes and a hijab, but saw no one of that description. A woman in a navy jogging suit pushing a baby stroller eased beside her. “Abby,” she said, barely loud enough to be heard.

			Both were wearing large sunglasses, but somehow they made eye contact. Abby nodded. She assumed it was Noura, though she could not identify her. Same height and build but that was all. The bill of an oversized cap sat low and covered her forehead.

			“Over here,” she said, nodding to her right.

			Abby stood and said, “Noura?”

			“Yes.”

			They walked together. If there was a baby in the stroller it wasn’t visible. Noura turned right onto a sidewalk and they left the Mall. When they were away from everyone, she stopped and said, “Stare at the buildings. Don’t look at me.”

			Abby gazed at the skyline of Central Park West.

			Noura took her time and said, “The safe return of Giovanna will cost one hundred million dollars. The price is not negotiable. And it must be paid ten days from today. May twenty-fifth at five P.M. Eastern is the deadline. Yes?”

			Abby nodded and said, “I understand.”

			“If you go to the police, or the FBI, or involve your government in any way, there will be no safe return. She will be executed. Yes?”

			“Understood.”

			“Good. In fifteen minutes a video will be sent to your phone. It is a message from Giovanna.” She turned the stroller and walked away. Abby watched her for a second—stylish Adidas jogging suit, red and white sneakers with no brand visible, goofy cap. She had seen only a portion of her face and would never be able to identify her.

			Abby went the other direction and zigzagged northeast to Seventy-Second Street, then followed it east to Fifth Avenue. She entered the Everett Hotel, walked to the dining room, and asked for the table she had reserved earlier that morning. A table for three. She was meeting a couple of friends for brunch. When her coffee was served, she left the table and took the elevator to the fifteenth floor.
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			Darian connected the Jakl to a laptop with an eighteen-inch screen and they waited. And while they waited, each silently pondered the rather formidable task of somehow finding a hundred million dollars. As the shock began to wear off, it became evident that no one in the room had a clue.

			The screen was blank for a few seconds, then there she was: Giovanna in a dark room wearing a dark robe or dress with a black hijab covering her head. She looked frail, even frightened, though she tapped her teeth together and tried to appear brave. A small candle burned on a table next to her. Her hands were not visible. She said, without smiling, “I am Giovanna Sandroni of the law firm of Scully and Pershing. I am healthy and well fed and I have not been harmed. Noura has now delivered the news. The price of my safe return is one hundred million U.S. dollars. This is not negotiable and if it is not paid by May twenty-fifth, I will be executed. Today is Sunday, May fifteenth. Please, I beg you, pay the money.”

			She was gone; the screen was blank again. Abby took the Jakl, placed it in the bottom of her shoulder bag and took it to the bathroom. Mitch stood at a window and looked at Central Park. Darian was still staring at the screen. Cory studied his shoes. Jack sat at a breakfast table and sipped coffee. No one seemed capable of speaking.

			Scully & Pershing was a law firm, not a hedge fund. Sure, its lawyers made plenty of money and the veteran partners were millionaires, at least on paper, but they were far from billionaires. Not even close. They had nice apartments in the city and pleasant weekend cottages in the country, but they didn’t buy yachts and islands. The private airplanes they used were leased not owned, and every trip was billed to a client. The previous year the firm grossed just over $2 billion, and after the bills were paid and the profits were split, there was almost nothing left over. It was not uncommon for the firm to tap into its line of credit for extra cash during the slow months. Virtually every firm in Big Law did so.

			Cory finally said, “We’ve asked ourselves if this is a hoax, if Noura is for real. This removes any doubt. She’s part of a pretty slick operation over there with plenty of contacts here.”

			“Mitch, you’re sure that’s Giovanna?” Darian asked.

			Mitch snorted as if the question was ridiculous. “No doubt.”

			Darian appeared ready to take charge, but Mitch would have none of it. It was a Scully matter and its partners would make the hard decisions. He turned from the window and said, “It’s clear that our line of communication is rather limited. It’s Noura and no one else, and I doubt she has the authority to negotiate. So, if we can’t negotiate we’re stuck with a nine-figure ransom that seems impossible. But we do not have the option of giving up. Does anyone doubt that in ten days these thugs will execute Giovanna in some spectacular fashion?” He glared at Jack, Cory, Darian, and he nodded at Abby. Everyone agreed.

			“She has dual citizenship, British and Italian. What are the chances of asking those two governments to contribute to a ransom fund?”

			Darian was shaking his head. “Slim. They don’t negotiate with terrorists and they don’t pay them ransom. Officially, at least.”

			“No one is negotiating, Darian. That’s part of the problem. They’re using Noura to deliver messages to Abby. Let’s make it clear to both governments that in ten days there is a good chance that one of their citizens, one with a high profile, could be murdered, probably in front of a camera.”

			Jack asked Darian, “What do you mean ‘officially’?”

			He nodded and said, “The Italians made a large payment a few years ago to rescue a tourist in Yemen. They kept it quiet and still deny it.”

			“And you were involved?” Mitch asked.

			He nodded but said nothing.

			“So there is wiggle room with the governments,” Mitch said and waited for a response. Darian shrugged but said nothing. He looked at Jack and asked, “When does the management committee meet?”

			“Early in the morning. Emergency session.”

			“Great. I’m off to Rome. I have to tell Luca that they’ve made contact and are demanding ransom. I’ll show him the video and try to allay his fears. Knowing Luca, he’ll have ideas about where to find some cash.”
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			To emphasize the urgency of the matter, and to prod the world’s largest law firm into action, the terrorists firebombed another Scully office. The timing was perfect: exactly 11 A.M. Eastern Standard Time, half an hour after Noura met Abby.

			It was another basic package bomb: reinforced cardboard holding tubes of highly combustible fluids, probably ammonium nitrate and fuel oil, though the authorities would never be certain because of the extensive damage. It was similar to the one used in Athens and was not designed to knock down walls, blow out windows, or kill people. Its purpose was to set off a roaring fire on a Sunday when no one would be in the shipping room of the Barcelona office. It was on the fifth floor of a new building with plenty of sprinklers. They kicked in immediately and minimized the blaze until the fire crews showed up. The Scully & Pershing suites were either fire-gutted or soaked with water, but there was little damage in the rest of the building.

			Mitch was in a cab headed to JFK for the flight to Rome when Cory called with the latest. “Crazy bastards,” he mumbled in disbelief.

			Cory said, “No doubt, and we’re easy targets, Mitch. Just look at our beautiful website. Offices in every major city and some minor ones as well. World’s biggest firm, blah, blah, blah. It practically invites trouble.”

			“And now we’ll spend a fortune on security.”

			“We’re already spending a fortune on security. How am I supposed to protect two thousand lawyers in thirty-one offices?”

			“Make that twenty-nine.”

			“Ha, ha, very funny.”

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 27

			The firm’s management committee consisted of nine senior partners, ranging in age from fifty-two to almost seventy, Jack Ruch being the oldest at sixty-nine. There was no additional compensation for serving on the MC and most partners tried to avoid it. However, someone had to take the ultimate responsibility for running the place and making the most difficult decisions. But, obviously, never in the firm’s illustrious history had any partner been faced with such a momentous predicament.

			Jack rousted them out of bed for a seven o’clock emergency meeting Monday morning. He immediately called for an executive session, meaning the two secretaries and Cory had to leave the boardroom. He asked a partner named Bart Ambrose to take minutes, and, though it was completely unnecessary and borderline irksome, he reminded them of the need for confidentiality. He began with a quick slide show of the photographs Noura had sent to Abby’s new phone the previous Thursday morning: Abby and the boys, their apartment building, her office. He saved the best for last and revealed the long-distance photo of 110 Broad, the handsome tower in which they were now sitting.

			“We’re being watched,” he said dramatically. “Watched, followed, photographed, and threatened. And now they’re firebombing our offices on the other side of the world.”

			All breathing had ceased as they gawked at the images.

			The photos were from Thursday. The McDeeres went into hiding on Friday. Noura, the messenger, made contact on Saturday, met with Abby McDeere on Sunday, and passed along the demand for a hundred million.

			Gloom was added to fear as the other eight members of the committee realized just how much money was at stake and that the firm might be on the hook for some of it.

			The room was still silent as Jack played the video of Giovanna on a wide screen. Only a few had actually met her, but all of them knew her father. The visual impact of a Scully associate held hostage was breathtaking. They had been apprised of the situation over the past month, but nothing had prepared them for the shock of seeing her gaunt face and hearing her strained voice.

			Jack stopped the video but left an indelible image of Giovanna on the screen for them to contemplate. He told them that Mitch had landed in Rome about an hour ago and was on his way to see Luca.

			When the questions began, they came in a flood and from every side. Why not involve the FBI and CIA? The firm had strong contacts at the State Department. What were the Brits doing, and the Italians? Was there a plan to try to negotiate? The firm had insurance that paid for highly qualified hostage negotiators, why not use them? How much did they know about the terrorist group? Had they even identified it? Had the bankers been called?

			Jack was not expecting the committee to agree on a plan, or on anything else for that matter, so he proposed nothing. He answered the questions he could, deflected those he couldn’t, argued when necessary, and in general let everyone blow off steam and try to impress the others. After a raucous first hour, the committee was split into three or four factions, with loyalties swinging back and forth. The loudest group wanted to go straight to the FBI and CIA, but Jack held firm. A couple didn’t like the idea of Mitch operating like a lone wolf out there, without real supervision.

			No one held back. Opinions rose up swiftly, then dissipated. Some of the facts got blurred. Tempers flared and cooled, but no insults were hurled. They were too professional for that and most of them had been close for decades. At one time or another every member of the committee thought of Giovanna and silently asked the question What if that was me? More than once, Bart Ambrose said, aloud, “She’s one of us.”
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			When, in Jack’s opinion, the discussion had run its course, he moved the conversation to the issue of security. The executive session was adjourned and Cory re-entered the boardroom. He passed out copies of the preliminary report from the crime scene in Barcelona, complete with graphic photos of the firm’s fire-gutted offices.

			One benefit of being a player in Big Law was unlimited travel. A senior partner could go almost anywhere in the world, or at least anywhere a person of stature would want to go, and call it work, and with deductions galore. Stop by the Scully office, take a partner to lunch or dinner, maybe see an opera or a soccer match, and write off the whole trip. If there was business to discuss, then double-bill the client and stick him for the tickets as well. Barcelona had always been a favorite, and every member of the management committee had visited the stylish offices there. Seeing the place in charred ruins was difficult to absorb.

			Cory outlined their emergency plans to beef up security and surveillance at every office. In his opinion, the terrorists, still unidentified, had hit Athens and Barcelona because the offices were soft targets. Not too secure, easy to get into, unsuspecting. For a bloodthirsty bunch, they were careful not to harm anyone. The fires were meant as warnings.

			Where were the other soft targets? He mentioned Cairo, Cape Town, and Rio, but made it clear he was only guessing. This led to a meandering chat about which offices were safe and which weren’t, all bordering on speculation. One partner had been impressed with the security in their Munich office. Another had just returned from Mexico City and was surprised by the lack of surveillance cameras. And so on. They were successful lawyers, proud of their intelligence, and felt compelled to share their thoughts.

			Jack knew them well. After an exhausting two-hour marathon, he could filter what had been said and gauge what had not been said. And he knew that in the end Scully would come through. The question was—How much?
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			Roberto picked up Mitch at the airport in Rome and drove him to Luca’s. During the forty-five-minute drive they covered a lot of territory. Luca was doing okay physically, or at least his condition was somewhat stable, and the news that the kidnappers had made contact and wanted a ransom lifted his spirits considerably. He didn’t happen to have $100 million in his bank accounts, but he was confident that with some good negotiations the figure would come down. He was already working on the Italian politicians.

			During the drive, Mitch played the video of Giovanna on his cell phone. Roberto’s eyes instantly watered and he had to look away. He said she was like a little sister, and he hadn’t slept well in a month. He wasn’t sure if Luca should see the video. They agreed to discuss it later.

			Luca was on the veranda, in the shade and on the phone. He looked even thinner but he was put-together as always. His light gray tailored suit hung loose. He managed to hug Mitch as he kept talking on the phone. His voice was stronger. Later, over coffee, he replayed his recent conversations. He was not a fan of the current prime minister but knew one of his deputy ministers. The goal was to convince the Italian government to come to the rescue of an Italian citizen. With cash. One of the more immediate problems was that Italy had a law on the books that forbade the government from negotiating with terrorists and paying ransom. Its rationale was simple: big checks paid to criminals only encouraged the kidnapping of more Italians. The British and the Americans had similar policies. Luca said they meant almost nothing. The prime ministers and presidents could pound the podium, denounce terrorists, and promise no ransom, but through back channels deals could be made.

			The more pressing issue was confidentiality. How could Scully expect help from the Brits and Italians when their governments knew nothing about the demand for ransom?

			The three—Luca, Mitch, and Roberto—had talked at length about amending the Lannak complaint against the Libyan government and asking for more damages. Lannak had lost four valuable employees. Giovanna had been held for a month now. The defendant, the Republic of Libya, had implicitly agreed to provide safety for foreign workers.

			The arbitration claim Luca had filed the previous October demanded $410 million in unpaid bills, plus $52 million in interest that had accrued over the past three years. Mitch believed strongly that they should amend the claim, pile on more damages for the bloodshed and kidnapping, and press hard for a settlement. When Luca and Roberto finally agreed, Mitch called Stephen Stodghill, his associate, who was still in New York, and who happened to be asleep at 4 A.M. on a Monday, and instructed him to amend the complaint in Geneva, then meet him in London.

			At eleven o’clock Luca retired from the veranda for a quick nap. Mitch went for a stroll around the piazza and called Omar Celik in Istanbul. He was on an airplane somewhere near Japan. Mitch talked to his son, Adem, and informed him of their plans to increase the amount of damages. He did not mention the contact with the kidnappers or the ransom, but that would happen soon enough.

			At noon, 6 A.M. in New York, Mitch called Abby and said good morning. Things were fine there. She had talked to her parents at least three times on Sunday and everyone was having a splendid time in Maine. They were not being missed by the boys. No word from Noura.

			Luca had an appointment with his doctors at noon and was not available for lunch. Mitch and Roberto walked to a café on a side street away from the tourists. Roberto knew the owner and at least two of the waitresses. With deep frowns and in low voices they inquired about Luca’s health. Roberto passed along the more optimistic version.

			Even for an Italian, the ritual of lunch seemed like a waste of time. Who could relax and enjoy food? The two had no experience with hostage negotiations and felt helpless. And what would a professional do? The enemy was unseen, unknown. There was nothing to negotiate, no one to talk to. Noura was just a messenger with no authority. As lawyers they negotiated all the time, back and forth, give and take, as both sides grudgingly inched toward a solution neither really liked. Kidnapping, though, was a different monster because murder was in the equation. But how many professional negotiators had ever dealt with an enemy as savage and inhumane as this one? Chain saws? On video?

			They barely touched their pasta.

			After the table was cleared and they sipped espressos, Roberto said, “Luca is wealthy by any measure, Mitch, but most of it is old family money. His fine home here has been handed down. He owns the office building. The country home is near Tivoli.”

			“I’ve been there,” Mitch said.

			“He’s meeting with a banker this afternoon to arrange a mortgage on everything he owns. He thinks it’s around five million. He has liquid assets of roughly the same. He’s putting it all on the table, Mitch. If I had serious money, I would do the same.”

			“Me too. But I hate for Luca to lose everything.”

			“He can’t lose his daughter, Mitch. Nothing else matters.”

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 28

			By 2 P.M. Luca had knocked back two double espressos and was ready for action. He greeted an important visitor at the front door and escorted him to the veranda where he introduced him to Roberto and Mitch. His name was Diego Antonelli and, according to Roberto, he was a career diplomat in the foreign service and had known Luca for many years. Supposedly, he could be trusted with secrets and had contacts in the prime minister’s office.

			Mr. Antonelli seemed ill at ease and Mitch got the impression he felt too important to make house calls. A light rain began so Luca invited everyone to his dining table where coffee and water were served. He thanked Mr. Antonelli for coming and said there had been a major development in the kidnapping.

			Roberto took notes. Mitch listened as intently as possible. He always appreciated Luca’s Italian because it was slow and thoughtful, easier to follow. Mr. Antonelli, who no doubt spoke multiple languages, also spoke with perfect diction. Roberto, on the other hand, began each sentence in a mad dash to get to the end of it. Mercifully, he said little.

			Luca told the story of the mysterious Noura and her contact with Abby McDeere in New York: the meetings, the photographs, the phones, and eventually the demand for ransom. The deadline was May 25, and, given their recent history, it was their belief that the terrorists would not hesitate to carry out the execution.

			He made it clear that they had not contacted him or anyone else. They had chosen his law firm and had done so on American soil. In his opinion, it was not wise to involve the Italian police or intelligence services, nor those in Great Britain.

			Antonelli took no notes, never touched his pen, nor his coffee. He absorbed every word as if filing away the details in perfect order. Occasionally, he glanced at Mitch with a mildly disdainful look, as if he really didn’t belong at the table.

			Luca asked him to inform the foreign minister, who should then inform the prime minister.

			“How do you know she’s still alive?” Antonelli asked.

			Luca nodded at Roberto who slid a laptop into view, pressed a key, and there was Giovanna. When she finished and the screen went blank, Luca said, “That arrived yesterday in New York. It has been validated by our security.”

			“A hundred million dollars,” Antonelli repeated but did not seem surprised. Nothing surprised him, and if something did no one would ever know it.

			“The second question is, who are you negotiating with?” he said.

			Luca touched his eyes with a tissue and took a deep breath. The image of his daughter had upset him for a moment. “Well, there are no negotiations. We don’t know who the terrorists are. But we do know they have my daughter, they are demanding ransom, and they will not hesitate to kill her. That is sufficient for the Italian government to get involved.”

			“Involved? We have been expressly forbidden to interfere.”

			“There is nothing you can do except help with the ransom. She is an Italian citizen, Diego, and right now she has a high profile. If the government does nothing, and she is sacrificed, can you imagine the backlash?”

			“It’s against our law, Luca. You know the statute. It’s been on the books for over twenty years. We do not negotiate with terrorists and we do not pay ransom.”

			“Yes, and the law has loopholes. I’ll be happy to point them out. There are ten ways around that law and I know every one of them. As of now, I’m asking you to speak to the foreign minister.”

			“Of course, Luca. They are very concerned about Giovanna. All of us are concerned. But we’ve heard nothing until now.”

			“Thank you.”

			“May I ask if the British are involved?”

			Luca was suddenly winded. He looked pale as his shoulders sagged. “Mitch.”

			“I’m going to London tonight. We have a large office there and many of our partners have experience in the government. Tomorrow, we will meet with the British officials and tell them exactly what we have just told you. We will ask them to contribute to the ransom fund. Our firm has kidnapping and ransom insurance in the amount of twenty-five million dollars and we’ve put the insurance company on notice. Our firm will kick in an additional amount, but we cannot handle the entire ransom. We need help from both the Italian and British governments.”

			In English, Antonelli said, “I understand. I will speak to the foreign minister this afternoon. That’s all I can do. I’m just the messenger.”

			“Thank you.”

			“Thanks, Diego,” Luca said softly. He suddenly needed another nap.
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			The second hostage raid was about as successful as the first.

			After dark on Monday, May 16, two teams of Libyan commandos dropped from the sky and landed in the desert two miles south of the small, forlorn village of Ghat, near the Algerian border. They were met by a third team that had been on the ground for twenty-four hours and had trucks, equipment, and more arms.

			Surveillance and informants had confirmed the “high likelihood” that the hostage was being held in a makeshift camp at the edge of Ghat. Adheem Barakat and about a hundred of his fighters were hiding there as well. They were being forced to move continually as the Libyan Army tightened the net.

			Barakat’s informants proved to be more reliable than the Colonel’s.

			As the three teams, thirty men in all, moved into position near Ghat, they were being closely monitored by enemy drones. Their plan was to wait until after midnight, crawl to within fifty yards of the camp, and attack from three sides. Their plans went haywire when gunfire erupted behind them. The convoy truck with the equipment and arms exploded and its fireball lit up the night. Barakat’s men stormed out of the camp with Kalashnikovs blazing. The commandos retreated and regrouped in a gathering of date palm trees, saplings that were too thin to provide adequate cover. From there they managed to hold off the insurgents as gunfire came from everywhere. In the darkness, injured men screamed for help. Searchlights swept the area but only attracted more gunfire. When the grenade launchers found their range, the commandos were forced to retreat even more. Their captain picked up a signal from one of their drones, and, out of the range of gunfire, they found their way back to the trucks. One was still burning. One had been raked with gunfire and its tires were blown. They piled into the third truck and took off in a frantic, inglorious retreat. The carefully planned and rehearsed rescue of the hostage was a disaster.

			They left eight of their own behind. Five were presumed to be dead. The other three were not accounted for.

			Giovanna was awakened by an explosion, then listened in horror as the gun battle raged for an hour. She knew she was in a small dark room behind a small house at the edge of a village, but nothing more. They moved her every third or fourth day.

			She listened and wept.
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			For a variety of reasons, the Libyans chose not to report the attack. They had failed miserably again, been embarrassed by a ragtag band of desert fighters, and had lost men in the chaos. And they had rescued no one.

			Adheem Barakat had plenty to crow about but remained silent. He had something far more valuable: three Libyan soldiers. And he knew exactly what to do with them.

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 29

			The Scully & Pershing office in London was in the heart of Canary Wharf, the modern business district on the Thames. Similar in ways to lower Manhattan, the area was filling up with a dazzling collection of soaring skyscrapers, no two even remotely alike. London and New York were slugging it out to be the financial center of the world, and for the moment the Brits were winning because of oil. The Arabs felt more welcome in the U.K. and parked their billions there.

			Scully, with a hundred lawyers, leased the top third of an outlandish structure designed along the lines of a vertical torpedo. Critics and purists hated the building. Its Chinese owner was crying all the way to the bank. Every square foot had been leased for years and “the Torpedo” was printing money.

			Mitch had been there many times, and on each visit he always stopped in the canyon-like lobby and smiled. He never wanted to forget the first time, eleven years earlier, when he walked through the doors and gazed upward. He and Abby had lived for three years in Cortona, Italy, then two years in London. They had made the decision to rejoin reality, stop drifting, put down some roots, and start a family. With considerable effort, he had managed to obtain a thirty-minute interview for an associate’s position, a mere courtesy that would not have been possible without the law degree from Harvard. Two longer interviews followed, and at the age of thirty he began his legal career for the second time.

			The nostalgia came and went. He had more important matters at hand. He rode the elevator to the thirtieth floor, stepped off, and was immediately greeted by armed security guards who meant business. They demanded his briefcase, cell phone, and any other metallic items. He asked if he could keep his shoes and no one laughed. He explained that he was a partner in the firm and one of them said, “Yes sir, thank you sir, now move along.” He was scanned by a new machine that blocked the hallway, and when no weapons or bombs were found he was released without being frisked. Hustling away, he shrugged it off and knew that in all the remaining Scully offices around the world the lawyers, secretaries, paralegals, clerks, and couriers were being inspected. The firm could not afford another bombing.

			He met Riley Casey, the managing partner, who led him to a small conference room where Sir Simon Croome was enjoying a splendid breakfast. He did not stand or say hello, nor did he stop eating. With his white linen napkin he sort of waved at the chairs across the table and said, “Please have a seat.”

			Sir Simon had served in Parliament as a young man, spent thirty years on the bench at the High Court, advised a handful of prime ministers, and was a close friend to the current solicitor general. In his golden years he had been recruited by Scully to serve as “of counsel,” a title that gave him an impressive office, a secretary, an expense account, and only a client or two to fool with. The firm paid him a hundred thousand pounds a year for his name and connections and allowed him, at eighty-two, to hang around, primarily for breakfast and lunch.

			Mitch declined the offer of food but said yes to strong coffee, which he drank as he and Riley waited for Sir Simon to finish chewing and swallow. Scrambled eggs, link sausage, dark toast, a cup of tea, and a small glass of what appeared to be champagne.

			The life of a legend who knew the right people.

			Mitch had not seen the old guy in at least five years and was sad to see he was aging badly. And he was quite plump.

			“The way I see it, Mitch, is that you have a fine mess on your hands.” Simon thought himself funny and laughed too hard. Mitch and Riley were obliged to play along.

			“I spoke with Jack Ruch last night, at length, and he filled in the blanks. Good chap.” He shoveled in another bite of sausage. Mitch and Riley nodded along, confirming that Jack Ruch was indeed a good chap.

			“The way I see it, the key here is the Colonel. Sure, he’s unstable, always has been, but I do not believe for a moment he was involved in the abduction of Giovanna. I’m quite fond of her, you know, and I go back decades with her father. A real prince.”

			More nods to confirm that Luca was indeed a real prince.

			“The way I see it, Gaddafi desperately wants to deliver the hostage. He’ll be the hero, of course, something he craves as a megalomaniac. Keep in mind, though, Mitch, that we have something he doesn’t. We have contact with the terrorists. We don’t know who they are, and may never know, but they’ve come to us, not him.”

			“So we lean on Gaddafi?” Mitch asked.

			“No one leans on Gaddafi. No one gets near him, except for his family. He has some boys from different wives and the whole clan is always in a row, much like my family but for different reasons, but he really listens to no one. Take that damned bridge. His engineers and architects knew it was a bad idea. One poor chap, an architect I think, called it foolish, and the Colonel had him shot. That curtailed the dissension and everybody got in line. Halfway through the project the Colonel finally realized that they couldn’t find enough water to fill a bucket of piss and all the streams had dried up.”

			Mitch was impressed that Sir Simon knew so much about his case. He was also reminded that he had the annoying habit of beginning almost every sentence with “The way I see it.”

			“The way I see it, Mitch, is that we lean on the Libyan ambassador here and the one in Rome and ask them to get the damned lawsuit settled, and quick. They owe our client the money so hand it over. Have there been settlement negotiations?”

			“None at all. We just amended our claim to add more damages. A trial is a year away.”

			“And the Libyans still use the Reedmore bunch?”

			“Yes, Jerry Robb.”

			Sir Simon cringed at the thought of opposing counsel. “That’s unfortunate. Intractable as ever, I presume?”

			“He’s certainly an unpleasant fellow, though we have not yet approached the stage of negotiating.”

			“Go around him. He’ll do nothing but obstruct.” He ripped off a bite of toast and pondered his next thought. “The way I see it, Mitch, this is a diplomatic matter. We chat with our Foreign Office boys and send them over to the Libyans. Can we arrange this, Riley?”

			Finally asked to speak, Riley said, “We’re on the phones now. We have a solid contact inside the Foreign Office and I have a call in to her. The prime minister is traveling in Asia, gone for a week. His office has been superb, calls almost every day for updates. Same for the Service. Giovanna has been a priority from day one, but there was no movement until now. Now we have a demand and a threat. But no one knows where it’s coming from.”

			Mitch asked, “Can we expect money from the British government? We’re passing the hat here, Mr. Croome.”

			“I understand. The way I see it, our government should come to the rescue. However, it would be expecting too much for the Foreign Office to chip in when they have no idea where the money is going. Our intelligence services are being shut out. We haven’t a clue who the bad guys are. We’re not even sure they exist. Could be an elaborate hoax for all we know.”

			“It’s not a hoax,” Mitch said.

			“I know that. But I can just hear the foreign minister raising objections. We have no choice, though. We have to ask him for money, and quickly.”

			Riley said, “There is a law on the books that prevents these sort of maneuvers. Just to remind everybody.”

			“The way I see it, that law is there for the terrorists to read. Officially, we don’t negotiate and we don’t pay. But we do, in certain circumstances. This, gentlemen, is an exceptional circumstance. You’ve seen the tabloids. If something awful happens to Giovanna we’ll all be sickened by it and never forgive ourselves. You cannot fail, Mitch.”

			Mitch held his tongue and took a deep breath. Thanks for nothing. That’s the way I see it.
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			The best they could do in a pinch was a Third Secretary named Mona Branch. Her title placed her about halfway down the ladder at the Foreign Office and she was not the choice Riley had in mind. However, she was the first one willing to set aside thirty unscheduled minutes in a hectic day to have a chat with the two lawyers from Scully.

			They arrived at the Foreign Office complex on King Charles Street at ten minutes before eleven, and waited twenty minutes in a cramped holding room as, they figured, Mona cleared her desk and made room for them. Or perhaps she and her colleagues were just having tea.

			She finally stepped out and offered a pleasant smile as introductions were made. They followed her into an office even more cramped than the holding room and sat down across her cluttered desk. She uncapped a fine pen, arranged a writing pad, seemed poised to take notes, and said, “Ms. Sandroni is on our morning sheet, which means her abduction is a primary concern. The prime minister is updated every day. You said you have some information.”

			Riley, the Brit, would do most of the talking. He said, “Yes, well, as you know, there has been no contact with her kidnappers, or abductors, or whatever. That is, until now.”

			Her pen froze. Her mouth dropped open slightly though she tried hard to project the standard diplomatic blankness. Her eyes narrowed as she stared at Riley. “They’ve made contact?”

			“Yes.”

			A pause as she waited. “May I ask how?”

			“It happened in New York, through our office there.”

			Her spine stiffened as she laid down her pen. “May I ask when?”

			“Thursday of last week. Again on Sunday. There is a demand for ransom and a deadline. With a threat.”

			“A threat?”

			“Execution. The clock is ticking.”

			The gravity of this news began to sink in. Ms. Branch took a deep breath as her officious mood changed. “All right, what can I do for you?”

			Riley said, “It is imperative that we see the foreign minister immediately.”

			She nodded and said, “All right, but I need more information. The ransom, how much?”

			“We can’t go there. We are under strict instructions from the kidnappers not to do exactly what we are doing now. Run to the government. This must be kept as confidential as possible.”

			“Who are they?”

			“We don’t know. I’m sure the Foreign Office has its own list of suspects.”

			“The usual ones. Libya has no shortage of bad actors. But we can’t negotiate with someone we don’t know, can we?”

			“Please, Ms. Branch. We need to have this conversation with the foreign minister.”

			The stone face returned as Ms. Branch accepted the inevitable, as difficult as it was. Her rank was too low. The issue was too important. She had no choice but to hand the matter off to her superior. With a proper nod, she said, “Very well. I’ll see what I can do.”

			Riley pushed and said, “Time is crucial.”

			“I understand, Mr. Casey.”
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			For lunch they ducked into a pub, found a corner booth, and ordered pints of Guinness and bacon sandwiches. Mitch had learned years ago that alcohol with lunch seriously hampered his afternoon and made him sleepy. For the Brits, though, a couple of pints at noon worked like early morning espressos. The brew recharged their batteries and prepped them for the rigors of what the rest of the day had to offer.

			As they waited for their food, they worked the phones. It was impossible to simply sit in a pub and sip ale when they could feel the pressure of the deadline. Riley called Sir Simon and recapped the meeting with Ms. Branch. Both agreed it was a waste of time. Sir Simon was hot on the trail of a former ambassador who could move mountains, and so on. Mitch called Roberto in Rome to check on Luca. They were having little luck with their contacts inside the prime minister’s office. Penetrating the Italian foreign service would be just as tricky as finding an audience in London.

			Halfway through their sandwiches, and as Riley ordered another pint while Mitch declined, Darian called with news out of Tripoli. Unconfirmed, of course, but Crueggal’s sources were reporting another botched commando raid by the Libyan Army, somewhere in the desert near the Algerian border. Barakat got away. No hostage was found. Gaddafi was out of his mind and sacking generals right and left.

			Darian’s fear was that the Colonel would overreact and send in his troops for a full-blown war. Once the bombing started, the casualties would be enormous and the aftershocks unpredictable.

			Mitch ordered a second pint. After a lunch that was much longer than planned, and after a round of coffee, he and Riley returned to the Torpedo and tried to do something productive. Mitch called Abby for the family update. He called his office and chatted with his secretary and a paralegal.

			Riley appeared at his door with the news that there was movement at the Foreign Office. They had a 5 P.M. meeting with a Madam Hanrahan, a Second Secretary.

			“How wonderful,” Mitch mused. “We started with a Third Secretary and now we’ve moved up to a Second. I presume the next one will be a First. Then, beyond that, where do we go? How many layers are there?”

			“Oh Mitch. The Foreign Office has ten times more departments than Scully. We’re just getting started. It could take months to see all the right people, and the more we talk the more dangerous it gets.”

			“We have eight days.”

			“I know.”

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 30

			The 5 P.M. meeting with Second Secretary Madam Sara Hanrahan began at 5:21 and ended ten minutes later. She complained of a long day, looked frazzled, and really wanted to go home. In Mitch’s opinion, which he shared with no one, she had the watery eyes of a drinker and they were probably intruding on her happy hour. She had been briefed by the Third Secretary, and felt strongly that “her government” could not possibly get involved in a ransom scheme when it had no role in the negotiations. She claimed to be an expert on Libya and knew all that was knowable about the abduction of Giovanna Sandroni. Her department was briefed every morning and had grave concerns.

			For Mitch and Riley, the only successful part of the otherwise useless meeting was a promise by Madam Hanrahan to push the matter upward and to do so with haste.

			Leaving her office, in the rear seat of a shiny black Jaguar with a trusted Scully driver at the wheel, Riley yanked out his phone, looked at the message, and mumbled, “This should be fun.” He listened for a moment, grunted a few times, rang off, then said to the driver, “The Connaught Hotel.”

			“Seems we’re having tea with Sir Simon. He’s found an old friend.”

			The Connaught was a legendary London hotel in the heart of Mayfair. Mitch had never stayed there because he couldn’t afford it and Scully wouldn’t expense it. Its elegant bars offered the priciest drinks in town. Its restaurant had three Michelin stars. Its staff was a study in tradition and precision.

			Sir Simon looked right at home in the main tea room, with a platter of fancy sandwiches on the table and a pot of tea ready to pour. He was with a friend, a dapper little man at least his age or older. He introduced him as Phinney Gibb.

			Riley knew him and was immediately suspicious. As Sir Simon explained to Mitch, Phinney had been a deputy minister of some variety back in the Thatcher years and was still connected. One look at the old guy, though, and it was hard to believe he was connected to anything but his pearl-handled cane.

			Mitch went silent as Sir Simon laid out a plan. Phinney could still work the back channels and had contacts in the prime minister’s office. He also knew a ranking secretary in the Foreign Office. Mitch and Riley exchanged glances. They’d had a full day with important secretaries. And, on top of that, Phinney knew Libya’s ambassador to the U.K.

			Phinney was confident he could arrange a meeting with the prime minister’s office. The goal, of course, was to convince the PM that the government should pay some of the ransom to rescue a British citizen.

			Mitch listened hard, sipped tea that he had never learned to enjoy, nibbled on a cucumber sandwich, and worried once again that too many people were getting involved. And the more they met and the more they listened, the more time was being wasted. It was Tuesday evening. Six thirty-five. Two days down, eight to go, and the ransom pot was still empty, except for Luca’s commitment.

			Phinney prattled on about what a fine fellow the Libyan ambassador was. Riley asked if he could arrange a meeting the following day. Phinney would certainly try, but there was a good chance the ambassador was not in London.
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			Inviting Samir Jamblad to Rome was a calculated risk. Under the guise of an old friendship, Luca asked him to come for a visit and he implied that it might be their last. Thirty years earlier they had often worked together and had enjoyed many long dinners together in Tripoli, Benghazi, and Rome. Luca had known back then that Samir was a government informant, as were many professionals and businessmen in Libya, and he had always been careful with his words. Now, desperate for information about his daughter, he hoped Samir might know something Crueggal and the others did not.

			Samir arrived in time for dinner. Roberto Maggi met him at the door, introduced him to Bella, and escorted him to the veranda where Luca sat on a leather stool, his wheelchair nowhere to be seen. They greeted each other like old friends and got through the necessary chatter about the beautiful weather and so forth. Samir expected to find Luca pale and gaunt and he was not surprised. A server brought a tray with three small glasses of white wine. They sat on the table, untouched.

			Luca nodded off. Samir glanced at Roberto, who frowned and kept talking about Italian football. A few minutes passed and Luca was still asleep.

			“I’m sorry,” Roberto whispered. He waved Bella over and said to her, “He needs to rest. We’ll have dinner in the kitchen.”

			When Luca was gone, Roberto and Samir picked up their wineglasses and took a sip. Roberto said, “I’m sorry, Samir, but he’s very ill. His doctors think he has less than ninety days.”

			Samir shook his head as he gazed across the rooftops of Rome.

			“Of course, the stress of Giovanna’s abduction is not helping things.”

			“I wish I could do something,” Samir said.

			The nagging question was: Should the Libyans know that the terrorists had contacted Scully? It had been debated back and forth between Luca, Mitch, Roberto, Jack, Cory, and Darian until there was no way to reach an agreement. Those who thought so argued that the Libyan government, or simply Gaddafi, could help facilitate a release and make himself look good in the process. Those who disagreed did so out of utter distrust of the Libyans. Who could possibly know what Gaddafi would do if he knew the kidnappers were demanding ransom in his own kingdom?

			Compounding the issue was the apparent plan by Gaddafi to destroy Barakat and his forces, regardless of cost or casualties. If Giovanna got caught in the crossfire, then so be it.

			Mitch had made the decision.

			“Can you tell us anything new?” Roberto asked.

			“I’m afraid not, Roberto. From what I gather, the military is convinced it’s the work of Adheem Barakat, a nasty character with a growing army. But there’s been no contact, as far as I know. As always, in Libya information is tightly controlled.”

			“Why can’t the army liquidate Barakat?”

			Samir smiled and lit a cigarette. “It’s not that easy, Roberto. My country is a vast desert with many hiding places. Its borders are porous, its neighbors are rarely friendly and often treacherous. There are many warlords, tribes, gangs, terrorists, and thieves, and they’ve roamed the desert for centuries. It’s impossible for anyone, including a violent dictator like Gaddafi, to exercise a firm grip.”

			“And the first commando raid was not a success.”

			“Not really, in spite of what was reported. Sounds like nothing went as planned.”

			“Was the goal to rescue Giovanna?”

			“That’s the rumor, but then most of the rumors started by the military are not reliable.” Samir spoke like a disinterested man on the street, not a career informant.

			“What happened in the second raid?”

			“The second?” Samir asked with raised eyebrows, a lame effort to feign ignorance.

			“The one last night, near the town of Ghat, on the Algerian border. Surely you heard about it, though evidently it’s being buried by the government. Looks like the army walked into another trap and things went badly. No mention of Giovanna.”

			“Your intelligence is better than mine, Roberto.”

			“Sometimes. We pay a small fortune for it.”

			“I know only what I read in the newspaper, which is rarely accurate.”

			Roberto nodded along as if he believed him. “Here’s the danger, Samir. The army doesn’t know where she is and they still don’t know who has her. They’ve tried two commando raids to rescue her and have nothing to show but casualties and embarrassment. They’re desperate. Gaddafi could lose his mind and turn this into a full-scale war. If that happens then a lot of people will die. Including Giovanna.”

			Samir nodded along, agreeing with the logic. He said, “He loses his mind all the time. Sort of a habit.”

			Roberto lit his own cigarette, sipped his wine, and let a moment pass. “There’s a confidential matter, Samir. Of utmost importance and it has to be handled carefully.”

			“I’m at your service.”

			And the Colonel’s as well. “Contact has been made. Not here, not with the family, but in New York, through the law firm.”

			Samir could not suppress a look of disbelief. He inhaled quickly as his head twitched slightly to the right, then he collected himself. “By the terrorists?”

			“Yes. With a demand for ransom and a deadline for an execution. We have eight more days.”

			“Who are they?”

			“We don’t know. The communications are coming from a mysterious contact in New York. Quite brilliant, actually.”

			“How much ransom?”

			“I can’t say. A lot. More than Luca and our law firm can scrape together. I know you have contacts everywhere in Libya, Samir. Can you get a message to the right people?”

			“And who are the right people?”

			“The ones who make the final decisions about everything in Libya.”

			“Gaddafi himself?”

			“If you say so.”

			“No, I have no link to the man, nor do I want one.”

			“But you can make it happen, Samir. The message is twofold. First, leave the terrorists alone until Giovanna is safe. Second, settle the Lannak lawsuit as soon as possible and on our terms.”

			Bella eased behind them and said, in Italian, “Gentlemen, dinner is served.” Roberto acknowledged her but neither man moved.

			“The lawsuit?” Samir asked.

			“Yes. The government owes the money. It can pay now and close the matter, or it can spend a fortune in legal fees and pay the money three years from now. Settling the lawsuit now might possibly help to bring Giovanna home.”

			“I’m not sure I follow.”

			“The ransom, Samir. It’s all about the money. We’re trying to collect a lot of money and Lannak will be at the table.”

			“You want the Libyan government to pay the ransom?”

			“Of course not. We want the government to honor its contracts and pay the money it rightfully owes to settle the lawsuit.”

			Samir stood and walked to the edge of the veranda. He lit another cigarette and for a long time stared into the distance, seeing nothing. After a few minutes, Roberto joined him. “We should have dinner, Samir.”

			“Okay. Perhaps my connections are not as strong as you think, Roberto. I’m not sure where to go with this request.”

			“We don’t know either. That’s why Luca wanted you here. He should feel better tomorrow.”
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			Mitch skipped dinner and went for a walk along Charlotte Street in Fitzrovia. He and Abby had lived in the upscale neighborhood back then and it was still their favorite part of London.

			At the moment, though, he had no time to reminisce. The day had not been a complete waste but, so far, there seemed to be little to show for their efforts. There was no plan to meet the foreign minister or any of his senior advisers. Luca had made no progress on the same front in Rome. The Libyan ambassadors to both countries were either back home in Libya or globetrotting on official business. His law firm was supportive but seemed content to let him decide what to do. No one knew what to do. There was no guide or playbook. No lawyer at Scully had ever been down this road. Luca was quite ill and not emotionally stable, and for good reasons. Healthy and clearheaded, he was the one person who would know precisely the next five moves. Jack Ruch was a steady hand, but as the hours passed he was becoming more and more deferential to Mitch, as if he wanted some distance in case there was a bad outcome.

			Mitch was making decisions with insufficient intelligence and no real clue as to their effectiveness. They could well be wrong. A bad ending was too awful to dwell on.

			As always, when he was troubled he called his best friend and talked to Abby for half an hour. Clark and Carter had been fishing with Tanner. Her parents were finding it difficult to make the boys study, but having a grand time. It was like a vacation. Barry Ruch had left the island for a few days and they had the big house to themselves.

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 31

			At dawn, Mitch checked out of the hotel and got into the rear seat of the same Jaguar as the day before. Fortunately, the driver wasn’t much of a talker and the ride to Heathrow was quiet. At eight-fifteen, he boarded a Turkish Airlines flight to Istanbul, four hours nonstop. At customs there, he was greeted by a Lannak representative and led to an express lane where he was waved through with hardly a glance. He did look over his shoulder at the long lines behind him and was once again grateful he worked for an outfit like Scully. A black car was waiting near the terminal, and less than twenty minutes after touching down Mitch was on the phone as his driver zipped through traffic with little regard for speed limits and other annoyances.

			Of course, a proud old company like Lannak would insist on being headquartered in a prestigious section of Istanbul’s central business district. There were several in the sprawling city of eleven million. Maslak was arguably the best known, and it was there that Omar Celik built a forty-story tower in 1990 and claimed the top half for Lannak, the family’s holding company.

			Omar was away on business in Indonesia. In his absence, his son, Adem, was ostensibly in charge, though it was well known that his father kept virtually everything under his thumb. Adem was being groomed to take over one day, but Omar had many miles to go. Those close to him expected he would at least try to run things from the grave.

			Adem was forty-four and had an American wife he’d met at Princeton, two teenage children in school in Scotland, and friends around the world. He and his wife fancied themselves an international couple and traveled extensively. Though they had an apartment in New York, Mitch and Abby had yet to entertain them. But they were on the list.

			Adem welcomed Mitch to his splendid office on the thirty-fifth floor and inquired about lunch. It was almost 2 P.M. and Mitch had not eaten. Neither had Adem. They took the stairs up two floors and settled into the company’s small private dining room where a waiter took their orders and served ice water. The other six tables were empty. After some more of the obligatory small talk, Mitch went through the latest about Giovanna. The terrorists had made contact. There was a demand for $100 million in ransom, a threat, and a deadline. The questions began and Mitch had anticipated every one of them. Lunch arrived and they ignored it as the discussion continued.

			Mitch had no idea why “they” would use Noura. They chose Scully because it is accessible, well known, and wealthy. Squeezing money out of Scully would be far more productive than hounding Luca, but the ransom demand was much too high. The British and Italian governments had been given most of the details, but neither was eager to jump into the middle of a mess over which they had no control. Both had tentatively agreed to work their diplomatic channels to push the Libyans into a settlement, but such efforts moved at a glacial pace even on a good day. So far, everyone seemed convinced that the terrorists were willing to carry out their threats. The Libyans had badly botched two rescue efforts.

			It was not a hoax. Using his cell phone, Mitch showed Adem the video of Giovanna asking for help. Its date and time had been validated by private security. Obviously, its location was unknown.
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			After lunch, they walked down the stairs to Adem’s office and took off their jackets. Mitch handed over a brief memo outlining Lannak’s losses and claims on the bridge project. Adem had seen it all before.

			Mitch finally got down to business. “Our plan is to push hard for an immediate settlement. It’s a long shot, but right now so is everything else. As your lawyer, it is my job to get as much money for you as possible. The question is—”

			“What’s our bottom line?” Adem said with a smile.

			“What’s your bottom line?”

			“Well, we’re owed four hundred and ten million dollars. That’s our starting point. You believe you can prove that in court, right?”

			“Yes. It will be hotly disputed by the Libyans, but that’s why we have courtrooms and trials. I am confident we will win.”

			“And we are entitled to interest at five percent on the unpaid bills.”

			“Correct.”

			“And the balance due has been on the books for almost two years.”

			“Correct.”

			“Your figure for interest is fifty-two million.” Adem sort of waved at the memo. The figures were clear.

			Mitch said, “And we’ve amended our claim to cover damages for the security guards and the kidnapping. We’re demanding half a billion dollars, all in. I don’t expect to recover that much because the Libyans will claim they are not liable for the attack and murders. It’s debatable. There has always been an implied promise of protection for foreign workers, but the arbitration board has never been too impressed with it.”

			“So the four families receive nothing?”

			“Unlikely, but we’ll try. I’m sure your company will take care of them.”

			“Oh, we will, but the Libyans should pay too.”

			“I’m prepared to argue that. I’ll argue everything, Adem,” Mitch said with a smile. “That’s my job. But a trial could be months away, maybe a year or more. Meanwhile, your company is losing money at the going interest rate. There is value in settling now.”

			“You want to discount our damages?”

			“Perhaps, but only if it will facilitate the settlement. That’s where your bottom line comes in. There’s also the real danger of getting nothing.”

			“Luca has made that clear.”

			“The arbitration board’s ruling is nonbinding. It has no real teeth. There are ways to enforce the judgment and make the Libyans pay, but it could take years. We would demand more sanctions from the board, from the Turks, Brits, Italians, even Americans, but Gaddafi has lived with sanctions for many years. I’m not sure they bother him that much.”

			“We’re finished with Libya,” Adem said in disgust.

			“Don’t blame you.”

			“What’s your advice, Counselor.”

			“Can you live with four hundred million?”

			Adem smiled and said, “We would be delighted.”

			“We discount our claim to four hundred, but only for purposes of settlement negotiations. Lannak gets the first four hundred. With your permission, I’ll ask for more, with any overage going into the pool for the ransom. In the meantime, you ask your government to lean on the Libyan ambassador to get some relief in Tripoli.”

			Adem was shaking his head. “We’ve done that, Mitch, repeatedly. Our ambassador to Libya has met on more than one occasion with Gaddafi’s people and pled our case. No good. Our prime minister has met with the Libyan ambassador to Turkey here in the city and tried to twist arms. Nothing. We’ve been told that Gaddafi is embarrassed by his bridge project and blames everyone involved, including our company. You know he shot one of his own architects.”

			“So I’ve heard. Does he shoot his lawyers?”

			“Let’s hope not.” Adem glanced at his wristwatch and scratched his jaw. “My father is three hours ahead of us, in Jakarta. He’ll be home late tonight. I’ll have to get his approval to discount our claim.”

			“Perhaps both of us should talk to him.”

			“I’ll go first. I don’t foresee a problem.”
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			When traveling alone in an unfamiliar city, and with a few hours to kill, Mitch often hired a car and driver to at least catch a glimpse of landmarks and famous places, sort of hitting the high spots on the tourist maps. During his flight to Istanbul he had read travel guides on Turkey and was fascinated by the country. He told Abby it definitely deserved another look, a place on their wish list.

			But sightseeing was not possible. Wasting time seemed frivolous. In his hotel room he made a desk on a coffee table and worked his phones. Abby again, just to check in. Jack Ruch for the same. Roberto in Rome broke the news that Luca had been hospitalized with a fever, dehydration, and probably other symptoms and ailments. He was resting fitfully and being watched closely. Samir was in town and they had spent a few hours together. Diego Antonelli had called with little to report. He was obviously finding it difficult to find an ear inside the prime minister’s circle. Cory was in New York and had just finished speaking to Darian, one of their daily updates. Nothing much to report from Libya except snippets regarding the latest commando raid that went badly. The government was still stonewalling the story. There were rumors that the Barakat gang had captured three Libyan soldiers. As always, there was no sign of Giovanna. In London, Riley Casey was still slogging his way up the endless ladder of the Foreign Service in search of someone with real authority. Sir Simon Croome was having lunch as they spoke with a bona fide Libyan, a businessman who’d been in the U.K. for decades and had made a mint. There was a chance this old friend and client could twist an arm or two and prod Tripoli into paying his bills and settling the Lannak claim. Mitch found the idea silly. The two old goats would probably drink their lunches, take long naps, then forget whatever they talked about.

			After two fruitless hours on the phone, Mitch was deflated and fell asleep.

			He rallied in time for dinner. Adem suggested a table at 10 P.M. in an Asian fusion place with a Michelin star, and Mitch was tempted only because his wife routinely expected him to bring back menus and notes from new restaurants. Not surprisingly, she knew a Turkish chef in Queens and they were discussing a cookbook. However, Mitch preferred to eat no later than eight and did not want a late night. Instead, they met in the Brasserie of the St. Regis Hotel, where he was staying. Adem had hinted that his wife might join them, and Mitch was relieved when she did not.

			Over whiskey sours, Adem relayed a conversation he’d had with his father late that afternoon. Omar wanted blood from the Libyans, and he certainly wanted every dime he was due for the bridge, but he was a pragmatist. Four hundred million dollars in today’s money might seem like a great deal years down the road. If Mitch could deliver that much, then anything above it was his to bargain with for Giovanna’s return.

			They shook hands, though both knew that a settlement was unlikely.

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 32

			At 11:55 Wednesday night, Abby was still awake and reading magazines in bed. She was tired of the quiet apartment and tired of living alone. She wanted to hug her twins, crawl in bed with her husband, and say farewell to all the horrible drama she had not asked for. Someone else could play the spy game.

			The Jakl buzzed on the nightstand and startled her. It had not made a sound since Sunday morning. She picked it up and walked to a small table near the den where she placed it next to her cell phone. She tapped both phones. An app on hers would record the conversation without the Jakl knowing it, according to Darian.

			“Hello.”

			“This is Noura. Are you alone?”

			Don’t you know the answer? Aren’t you people watching us? “Yes.”

			“Do you have the money?”

			“Well, no, but we’re working on it.”

			“Is there a problem?”

			Who knew how many people were listening on the other end? Be careful, measure every word. There is a language difference here and something might be misunderstood or taken the wrong way.

			“Not a problem, just the challenge of finding that much money.”

			“That should be easy, I would think.” A definite British lilt in the last phrase.

			“Why would you think that?” Keep her talking.

			“Rich lawyers, largest law firm in the world, offices everywhere. It’s all right there on the website. Billings last year of over two billion.”

			Oh, the frustration of lawyers pounding their own chests. Abby said, “The firm has lost a couple of offices lately, in case you haven’t heard.”

			“That’s unfortunate, but it will continue until we have the money.”

			“I thought the money was for Giovanna’s release.”

			“It is. Deliver the money and everything will be fine.”

			“Look, I’m not a member of the firm and I don’t know what they’re doing. I know my husband is in Europe right now trying to raise the money, but I don’t know what’s going on. I’m a book editor, you know?”

			“Yes. There has been a change in plans.” A pause. Say something, Abby.

			“Okay, what kind of change?”

			“There shall be a deposit, to show good faith.” Another pause.

			“I’m listening.”

			“Ten million dollars by noon Friday, sent from a bank here in New York.”

			Abby exhaled and said, “Okay. All I can do is relay this to my husband. I have no control over anything.”

			“Noon Friday. I will send instructions. I will also send a new video of Giovanna to prove she is in good hands.”

			Good hands? Same hands that held the chain saw?
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			Jack Ruch finally yielded to the grumbling. It was irritating enough that the management committee had to meet daily for the crisis update, but to meet at 7 A.M. was too much. Jack pushed it back to 9:30 on Thursday, and called the executive session to order for the fourth day in a row. By then most of the members were secretly wondering if it was really necessary to meet every day, but it was a crisis like no other. No one had yet found the spine to question Jack. All nine were present.

			He began with, “There’s a new development. Our dear Noura made contact late last night with Abby, and informed her that a good-faith deposit is now part of the deal. Ten million by noon tomorrow, Friday.”

			The news settled heavily around the room. All eyes were on the table.

			Jack cleared his throat and continued, “I spoke with Mitch an hour ago. He’s leaving Istanbul and going to Rome, where Luca has been hospitalized.”

			Ollie LaForge asked, “And we still don’t know who we’re talking to, right? We’re supposed to fork over ten million up front and hope for the best?”

			“You got a better idea?” Jack shot back.

			“Has Mitch had any luck since yesterday?” asked Mavis Chisenhall.

			“If you’re asking me whether Mitch has obtained any commitments for money, then the answer is no. But he’s trying. That’s all I can say.”

			Month in and month out, the firm kept about $15 million in extra cash on hand for emergencies and other contingencies. There was a larger reserve for the sacred year-end bonuses, but that money could not be touched.

			Sheldon Morlock, one of the more influential partners on the committee, said, “There must be a way to negotiate with these people. What they’re asking is outrageous and beyond our capacity. And, you can’t convince me they’ll walk away if they don’t get every dime. Say we somehow scrape together only half the money. Are they going to say no?”

			Jack said, “That’s just it, Sheldon, no one knows. We can’t predict. This is not a typical business transaction with rational people on both sides. They could kill her at any moment.”

			Piper Redgrave, the third woman on the committee, said, “Jack, are you saying we should hit the line of credit and borrow the money?”

			“Yes, that’s exactly what I’m saying. We should borrow twenty-five million because that’s the extent of our policy. We give them ten tomorrow and say a prayer.”

			Bart Ambrose said, “I talked to Citibank, as instructed. They’re ready, but they’ll require personal guarantees from each of us.”

			There were groans, sighs, silent expletives, head-shaking in frustration. A two-thirds majority vote was required to borrow money.

			Jack said, “That’s nothing new. Any objections?”

			“Are we voting?” Morlock asked.

			“Yes. Anyone opposed to borrowing twenty-five million from Citi on our line of credit?”

			All nine shot quick, fierce looks around the table. Morlock raised his hand, then lowered it. Slowly, Ollie LaForge raised his.

			“Anybody else?” Jack asked with contempt. “Okay, the vote is seven in favor, two opposed. Right?”

			There was no further discussion. They filed out of the conference room in silence and hurried to their own offices.

			And that was the easy vote. Every dime would be reimbursed under the firm’s insurance policy.

			Or so they thought.
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			After the meeting, Jack called the insurance company for the update. Instead, he was put on hold and waited far too long. When the CEO said good morning, Jack was surprised. What he heard next was deflating. The claim was being denied on the grounds that Giovanna had been kidnapped and was being held by terrorists, as opposed to a criminal gang. The policy unequivocally excluded coverage for acts of terrorism.

			“I can’t believe this,” Jack roared into the phone.

			“It’s right there in black and white, Jack,” replied the CEO calmly.

			Black and white. Since when were insurance policies clear about anything?

			“Kidnapping is kidnapping,” Jack said, trying to control his anger. “The damned policy covers kidnapping.”

			“Our sources tell us it’s the work of a terrorist organization, Jack. So we are denying. I’m sorry.”

			“I don’t believe this.”

			“Our counsel is emailing a denial memo as we speak.”

			“I guess I’ll see you in court.”

			“That’s up to you.”

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 33

			Luca rallied somewhat after a few hours in the hospital. Some different meds stabilized his blood pressure. A drip rehydrated him. A stronger sedative sent him into a long, much-needed nap. The best medicine was the constant attention of a thirty-year-old nurse with a stunning figure and a short white skirt. Bella watched it all from a corner, shaking her head. Some men were hopeless.

			Luca was attempting to put together a deal that involved a reclusive Italian billionaire he had known for a long time. Carlotti was his name and he was an heir to an old family fortune built on olive oil. His politics did not jibe with Luca’s, but when it came to money the two had always managed to see past their differences. Carlotti was close to the prime minister and had bankrolled him for years. At Luca’s urging, he had agreed to pressure the prime minister into an elaborate plan to funnel money from the Italian treasury into a ransom fund owned by a company in Spain, where Carlotti spent most of his time. He was reluctant because paying kidnappers was against the law in Italy but not in Spain. However, he adored Giovanna and would do anything to help her. The prime minister was reluctant because one more scandal would easily topple his fragile government. But, as Luca argued vehemently, a bad outcome for Giovanna could do even more damage. The prime minister was getting shoved into a no-win situation. Luca was confident he could skirt the law and bluff the prosecutors later if necessary. Mitch was uncomfortable with any conversation in which the word “prosecutors” was mentioned.

			The next step was a conversation with Diego Antonelli, the deputy minister they had met Monday afternoon at Luca’s. His office was in a nondescript government building in the Lateran section of eastern Rome, near a palace where some popes once lived, according to Roberto, who had the mildly annoying habit of pointing out minor points of historical interest to any non-Roman around him.

			Mr. Antonelli had been less than cordial during his house call on Monday. Evidently, a meeting at 6:30 P.M. on a Thursday did not please him either. He made them wait twenty minutes and finally waved them into a small conference room near his suite. There were quick handshakes but no smiles.

			“There is no record of this meeting,” he began pleasantly, and actually looked around to see if anyone was eavesdropping. The door had been shut tight and locked. Mitch suspected there were bugs everywhere.

			“If someone asks, the meeting never happened.”

			Not for the first time, Mitch questioned what he was doing. If an illegal bribe or payment was in the works, why was he in the room? Luca had hinted at finding enough loopholes in the law to get the ransom paid, but Mitch had thought that was solely the concern of Luca and his Italian buddies. Scully could not be a part of a conspiracy to circumvent the laws of any country. He shuddered at the thought of federal prosecutors in Manhattan having a rowdy time with those charges.

			According to Luca, the purpose of the meeting was to confirm “the deal” with Antonelli, who would serve as the intermediary between Carlotti and the prime minister. From one of its discretionary funds, the Foreign Service would loan $50 million to a faceless corporation registered in Luxembourg and controlled by one of Carlotti’s sons. A repayment agreement would be signed but buried. The money would then be wired here and there and parked in an account where it would sit at the ready.

			Antonelli seemed less than enthusiastic about the deal and spoke only to Roberto, in Italian. That was fine with Mitch. He followed the conversation well enough, but would have preferred to miss all of it.

			Antonelli asked, “And in your opinion, Counselor, this complies with all statutes and will not raise concerns at the Justice Ministry?”

			“I see no problem,” Roberto said confidently, though all three knew there was trouble at every turn.

			“Well, the prime minister’s attorneys will review it tonight. I suspect they may have a different opinion.”

			“Then I’m sure you’ll inform Luca.”

			The meeting lasted less than ten minutes and both sides were eager to get out the door. Mitch left Roberto on the street and took the first cab to the airport. His secretary had juggled flights again and he was booked on one to Frankfurt, then JFK. In the back of the cab, he closed his eyes and dreaded the next ten hours.

			What about the next five days? Not only was the ransom pot still empty, it had sprung a significant leak. Tomorrow’s “deposit” of $10 million was the easy step, though Mitch was irritated that two members of the management committee had voted no. By yanking the rug out from under them, the insurance company not only acted in bad faith, an issue for another day, but it had upset all possible scenarios for pooling the ransom. The deal with Carlotti was precarious at best and illegal at worst and was probably already unraveling. Mitch would report it to Jack Ruch, who would no doubt call Luca and start yelling. Everyone was sympathetic and desperate to save Giovanna, but Scully was not about to start breaking laws in any jurisdiction. There was no movement from the British government, in spite of numerous Scully operatives pecking away at the Foreign Minister. Riley Casey had met with Jerry Robb of the Reedmore firm that afternoon to gauge any interest in a quick settlement of the Lannak lawsuit. Typical for Robb, the meeting was short, tense, and a total waste of time.

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 34

			Mitch had learned years earlier that jet lag was best shaken off with a long run through Central Park. He couldn’t sleep it off, especially not with a clock ticking and his boys in hiding and his wife increasingly anxious. Abby joined him at dawn as they entered the park at Seventy-Second Street and fell in behind a crowd of early runners. They rarely talked as they ran, preferring instead to soak in the first rays of the sun and enjoy the coolness of New York in the spring. As the boys got older and life marched on, the long runs they cherished were becoming less frequent.

			Back in their Cortona days, before children and careers and such, they ran every morning, through farms and vineyards and villages. They would often stop and chat with a farmer to see if they could understand his accented Italian, or stop at a sidewalk café in a village for a glass of water or a shot of espresso. Their favorite character was the owner of a small winery who often flagged them down to inquire about the odd American habit of voluntarily running down a road, in a sweat, going nowhere in particular. Several times he invited them into his small courtyard where his wife poured glasses of cold rosé and insisted they try slices of buccellato, a sugary cake with raisins and aniseed. Such mid-workout stops usually drifted into longer wine tastings and the joggers forgot about their mileage. After a few detours, Abby insisted they alter their route.

			They circled the reservoir and headed home. The streets were coming to life with morning traffic. Another busy day in the city. They had no plans to be there after dark.

			At 11 A.M., they took a cab to the Citibank office on Lexington Avenue near Forty-Fourth, and went up twenty-six floors to the office of Ms. Philippa Melendez, a VP of some variety and an expert on moving money. She led them to a conference room where Cory and Darian were having coffee. Within minutes Jack arrived, and the firm’s ultimate authority was ready to sign. Philippa confirmed that the $10 million was on hand. All they had to do was wait for Noura.

			She called at 11:30 and asked if Abby had her laptop. She had been told to bring it. The email arrived quickly with the wiring instructions. Cory’s team of hackers would track the sending address to a cyber café in Newark, but the sender was long gone. Jack Ruch signed an authorization on behalf of the firm. All $10 million would go to a numbered bank account in Panama.

			“Ready?” Philippa asked Jack. He nodded gravely, and Scully said goodbye to the money.

			“Impossible to track?” Abby asked as they stared at her laptop screen.

			Philippa shrugged and said, “Not impossible, but not practical either. It’s going to a shell company in Panama, and there are thousands of them. The money is gone.”

			They waited eight minutes before the Jakl rattled again. Noura said, “The money has arrived.”

			The larceny had been quick, efficient, almost painless. They all took deep breaths and tried to adjust to the reality that a lot of money had just evaporated, with nothing, at the moment, to show for it. They said quiet goodbyes and left the office.

			On the street, Abby and Cory got into a black SUV and headed uptown to the apartment. Mitch and Darian took another one and headed south to the financial district.

			Abby’s overnight bag was packed and waiting. At the kitchen table, she sent a text on the Jakl informing Noura that she would be away from the phone until noon Sunday. She left it, along with her cell phone, hidden in her closet. She slipped out of the apartment through a basement entrance and returned to the same SUV, where Cory was waiting. The driver left the city over the George Washington Bridge and disappeared into northern New Jersey. Cory was certain they had not been followed. In the town of Paramus they stopped at a small airport, boarded a King Air, and took off. Ninety minutes later, they landed on Islesboro, where Carter and Clark were waiting at the airfield to see their mom. It had been a week.
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			At 12:30, Jack called the management committee to order for the fifth straight day. All nine were present. The mood was tense and gloomy. The firm had just lost ten million dollars.

			He brought them up to date on the morning’s activities then opened the door. Mitch walked in and said hello. They were pleased to see him and had plenty of questions. He briefed them on Luca’s condition, gave an update on the Lannak claim in Geneva, and passed along the latest rumors out of Tripoli.

			On the ransom front, there was little progress. The governments of Italy and Great Britain were still stonewalling and hoping the crisis would pass, or just go away. Since they were not involved with the negotiations and had no idea exactly who in hell they were dealing with, they were understandably reluctant to commit cash for the ransom.

			Now that the kidnappers had collected a nice deposit, Mitch planned to ask them for more time. The deadline, as everyone well knew, was the following Wednesday, May 25. His gut told him this would be fruitless since they had shown no interest in negotiating.

			After carefully painting the grim picture, Mitch moved on to more unpleasant business. As he paced back and forth in front of a large blank screen, he finally cut to the heart of the matter. They knew it was coming.

			“It is imperative that this law firm commit its full resources to the safe return of Giovanna Sandroni. To do so will be to guarantee that the demands of her kidnappers are met in full, whatever the ultimate terms may be. As of now, it’s ninety million dollars.”

			As senior partners, their average gross earnings the previous year were $2.2 million, third on the list of national rankings. They lived well, spent well, some saved more than others. Almost all were financially conservative, but a few were rumored to spend as much as they took home. On paper they were all millionaires, and in the not too distant past, maybe twenty years or so, they would have been considered the rich boys of Wall Street. Now, though, their incomes were dwarfed by the money runners—hedge funders, private equity guys, venture capitalists, currency speculators, bond boys—the new kings of the street.

			The first comment came from Ollie LaForge, who oddly enough found some humor in the moment. He smiled as he chuckled and said, “You gotta be kidding.”

			Mitch knew better than to respond. He’d said enough and the ensuing conversation was for the committee members. He sat down, not at the table, but against a wall.

			Sheldon Morlock said, “I am not going to risk everything I’ve worked for and the financial security of my family by guaranteeing a bank loan in the amount of ninety million dollars. It’s out of the question.” He would not look at Mitch.

			Piper Redgrave said, “I’m sure we all feel the same way, Sheldon, but no one will ever expect you to fork over that much money. The firm will own the debt, and I’m sure that with some belt-tightening here and there, and some sacrifice, we can muddle through it. Bart, what would the terms of the loan look like?”

			Muddle through, Mitch said to himself. As if Scully’s partners might skip a weekend in the Hamptons or even miss a Michelin star meal.

			Bart Ambrose said, “Well, for now, it would be a line of credit for ninety million, three percent interest, something like that. If we go all in, we can convert it to a long-term note.”

			Bennett McCue said, “It won’t be ninety mil, Sheldon. We’ll have a nasty lawsuit with the insurance company but in the end they’ll pay. That’s twenty-five mil right there.”

			“It could take years,” Morlock shot back. “And winning is not a sure thing.”

			Ollie LaForge said, “Look, I hate debt, you know that. I have none, never have. My father went bankrupt when I was twelve years old and we lost everything. I hate banks and you’ve all heard this speech before. Count me out.” He still lived in a bungalow in Queens and took the train to work. And because of his tightfistedness he undoubtedly saved more money than anyone in the room.

			Mavis Chisenhall was another tightwad. She looked at Mitch and asked, “Would you sign a personal guarantee, Mitch?”

			The perfect question. One he was begging for. He got to his feet, pulled out a folded sheet of paper, tossed it to the center of the table, and said, “I’ve already signed it. There it is.”

			As they stared at it, he pulled out another, tossed it too on the table, and said, “And here’s one from Luca. We’re all in.”

			He studied their faces, though most were looking at their notepads. While he had the floor, he decided to try and close the deal. “Here’s why this is important. There is a chance we might collect monies from other sources, but nothing is certain. We might get promises, but not in time. We need certainty, and the only way to have certainty at this point is to have the money in the bank. Only Scully can put it there. I’m leaving Sunday for London, then Rome, then who knows where else. I’m passing the hat, begging on street corners, whatever it takes. But if I fail, at least we’ll have the money in the bank. All of it. I don’t know if they’ll give us more time. I don’t know if they’ll cut the ransom, settle for less. It’s impossible to predict the next five days. But, it is possible to know we can pay the ransom.”

			When he finished, Jack nodded at the door and they stepped outside. He whispered, “Nice job. You should probably leave now. This may take some time.”

			“Okay. I’m off to your brother Barry’s to see my kids.”

			“Hug the boys for me. I’ll give you a call.”
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			The driver took the Brooklyn Bridge and the traffic barely moved. It was a Friday afternoon in late May and half of Manhattan was headed for somewhere on Long Island. An hour later they arrived at Republic Airport, a small general aviation field outside the town of Farmingdale. Mitch thanked the driver, and as he drove away he realized he had not bothered to check the traffic behind him. What a lousy spy. He was so fed up with looking over his shoulder.

			A pilot who appeared to be no more than fifteen took his bag, led him to a twin-engine Beech Baron, and helped him inside. It was snug but comfortable, a far cry from the Falcons and Gulfstreams and Lears that Scully often leased. Mitch didn’t care. He was taking twenty-four hours off and about to spend time with his boys. The pilot pointed to a small cooler and Mitch thought why not. The weekend was starting. He popped a top and had a cold beer. As they taxied, Mitch called Roberto in Rome for an update. Luca was awake and griping about this and that. The nurses liked him better when he wasn’t awake.

			For almost two hours they flew at 8,000 feet. The weather was perfectly clear. As they descended along coastal Maine, Mitch gazed from above and was touched by the beauty of the ocean, the rocky shores, the quiet coves, and the quaint fishing villages. Thousands of small sailboats bounced across the azure water. They buzzed the picturesque town of Camden with its busy harbor, then aimed for Islesboro. At five hundred feet, Mitch saw a row of mansions on the water and picked out Wicklow. Clark and Carter were on the dock with Abby, and they waved as the Baron flew over. Half an hour later, Mitch was sitting by the pool watching the boys swim and chatting with his wife and her parents.

			The week had been summer camp for the boys. Mr. and Mrs. Sutherland admitted they had been somewhat less than diligent with the lessons and homework. Bedtime, too, had been rather flexible, and with Miss Emma at their service in the kitchen the meals had been total kid food. Mitch and Abby could not have cared less. Given the stress they were under, any help from the grandparents was more than welcome.

			Over drinks—white wine for Mitch and Abby, lemonade for the Sutherlands—they gently inquired as to how much longer they would be needed so far from home. This irritated Mitch, it didn’t take much, because the safety of the boys was far more important than anything the Sutherlands might be missing back in Danesboro, Kentucky. He held his words and said maybe, perhaps, just a few more days.

			May 25, to be exact.

			They watched as Tanner walked to the end of the pier and met a lobster boat that had pulled alongside the dock for a home delivery.

			“More lobster,” said Mr. Sutherland. “We’re eating it three times a day.”

			Maxine, a thoroughly humorless woman, added, “Lobster quiche in the morning. Lobster rolls for lunch. Baked lobster tails for dinner.”

			At the edge of the pool Carter was listening and added, “And don’t forget lobster mac and cheese, my favorite.”

			Harold said, “Lobster bisque, lobster fritters, New England lobster dip.”

			“Sounds delicious,” Abby said.

			Maxine was happy not to be cooking every meal. “Miss Emma is wonderful, really.”

			Clark said, “Mom, you should do a lobster cookbook. Put Miss Emma on the cover.”

			“I like that,” Abby said, trying to recall the dozens of seafood cookbooks she had already collected.

			Barry Ruch appeared in shorts and deck shoes, a long cigar in one hand and a Scotch in the other. He had managed to stay away from Wicklow all week, and Mitch assumed he wanted no part of the babysitting. Or the grandparents. He smiled at Mitch and said, “Jack’s looking for you.”
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			Holding the green phone, Mitch walked along the pier and called Jack. When he answered it was clear the news was not good. It was almost six-thirty on Friday evening, and they had started their long day together at Citibank’s offices, watching ten million evaporate.

			Jack said, “We met for almost five hours, Mitch, and it was without a doubt my worst experience in forty years at Scully. Four of us voted to borrow the money, say to hell with it, save Giovanna, and worry about the future starting next week. The other five would not budge. Not surprisingly, Morlock became their mouthpiece. I have never been so disgusted. I lost some friends today, Mitch.”

			Mitch stopped walking and watched the lobster boat disappear. “I don’t know what to say.”

			“Retirement’s looking better.”

			“How many times did you vote?”

			“I don’t know. Several. But the bottom line is the same. I’m not giving names here, Mitch. In fact, this is all confidential. You’re not supposed to know what happened in the executive session.”

			“I know, I know. I’m just, you know, stunned.”

			“You did your best, Mitch.”

			“And there’s no way around the management committee?”

			“You know our by-laws. Every partner does. You could force a recall, fire the committee, and so on, elect new members if you could find anyone willing to serve. Believe me, Mitch, with this issue on the table not a single lawyer at Scully would want to serve.”

			“So what happens next week if they murder Giovanna and video the whole damned thing for the world to see?”

			“The usual. Point fingers, blame everyone else. The terrorists, the Libyans, the Turks, the foreign services. No one will ever know that we had the chance to ransom our way out of this mess. That will not be publicized. And with time I’m sure our colleagues will get over our loss and move on. Lots of eager young lawyers out there, Mitch. Giovanna was just another associate. They can all be replaced.”

			“That’s pretty sick.”

			“I know. I’m pretty disgusted with this firm.”

			“I guess you should call Luca.”

			“That’s for you, Mitch. You’re closer to him than anyone else.”

			“No, Jack, sorry. You’re the managing partner and it’s your committee. But call Roberto, not Luca.”

			“I can’t do it, Mitch. Please.”

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 35

			She could tell by the way he walked back to the pool that the conversation had gone badly. Whoever was on the other end had delivered unpleasant news. He flashed a fake grin at Carter when he tried to splash water on him. Hoppy was telling Barry another story about catching salmon on a river in Oregon.

			“You okay?” Abby whispered.

			“Peachy.” Which, of course, meant things just went south.

			“The boys want a boat ride?” Tanner yelled.

			To which Maxie jumped in with “Oh yes, we do a boat ride every afternoon as soon as the water settles down.” The twins were climbing out of the pool, reaching for towels.

			“Sounds like fun,” Mitch managed to say. Nothing, at that moment, could be fun.

			Maxie said, “You guys take them. We’ll watch from the porch.”

			Tanner was already on the dock checking the engine. The boys bounded aboard without using the stepladder. Mitch and Abby were more careful. The air was cooler on the water and the boys were wet and freezing. Abby wrapped them in thick towels and they assumed their favorite spots on cushions near the bow while their parents settled into leather deck chairs. Mitch tried to relax with “Not a bad rig here, Tanner. All wood?”

			“It’s a classic. Made in Maine by a famous builder named Ralph Stanley. Thirty-six feet long. A beauty. Slow as molasses, though.”

			“Who cares?”

			Before he shoved off, Tanner said, “A beverage is required on Friday afternoons.”

			“White wine, please,” Abby said.

			“Double bourbon,” Mitch said. Tanner nodded and disappeared into the cabin.

			“Double bourbon?” Abby asked with a frown.

			“That was Jack Ruch. The management committee met for five hours today and voted not to borrow the money. As of now, the ransom account is empty. Ten million down the drain, nothing left. Giovanna’s a step closer.”

			Her mouth fell open but she didn’t speak. Instead, she looked across the water and saw nothing.

			Mitch went on, “Jack is upset, says he lost some friends today.”

			“This is terrible.”

			“I know.”

			“Has he told Luca?”

			“Not yet. You wanna call him?”

			“I think not. I don’t understand.”

			Carter bounced around the cockpit, disappeared into the cabin as if he owned it, and emerged with two small bags of popcorn. He smiled at his parents but did not offer them the snack. Then he was gone.

			Mitch said, “These kids are out of control, you know?”

			“Totally. I don’t think my parents are exactly cracking the whip.”

			“And we do? I feel sorry for their teachers when they go back to school.”

			“And when might that be?”

			Mitch thought for a second and said, “Another week. Are your folks okay with that?”

			“They’ll manage.”

			Tanner was back with the drinks on a proper tray. He served them, yelled at the boys, and shoved off. Sitting close together and facing the stern, Mitch and Abby watched Wicklow fade behind them. The hum of the engine muffled their voices.

			“I don’t understand,” she said again.

			“They’re cowards, Abby. More concerned with protecting their assets than rescuing Giovanna. Put each one of them in her place, and they’d say hell yeah, borrow the money, get me outta here. The firm can absorb the loss, over time. But sitting in their nice offices in Manhattan they feel threatened and want to protect their money.”

			“The firm grossed how much last year?”

			“Two billion plus.”

			“And more this year?”

			“Yes, always more.”

			“I don’t understand.”

			“You know, we’ve had eleven good years with Scully and never thought about leaving.”

			Tanner inched the throttle up a notch and the wake grew wider. They were nearing a cove with the Atlantic not far away. The water was deep blue and flat, but an occasional wave sent mist over the boat and refreshed everyone. With his left hand, Mitch reached over and took hers. With his right hand, he took a sip of bourbon and savored it as it wet his mouth and seeped down his throat. He rarely touched the hard stuff, but it was soothing at the moment.

			“I’m sure you have a plan,” she said.

			“Oh, lots of them, and none are working. There’s no playbook here. We’re all guessing.”

			“Do you really think they’ll do something awful to Giovanna?”

			“Oh yes. Definitely. They’re savages and they obviously crave attention. Look at all the videos. If they harm her, we’ll get to see it.”

			Abby shook her head in frustration. “I think of her all the time. I’m living in a safe world with family and friends all around. I go anywhere, do anything I want, while Giovanna’s buried in a cave praying that we’ll come get her.”

			“I’m still blaming myself, Abby. The trip to the bridge would probably have been productive at some level, but it wasn’t crucial. I couldn’t wait to go, another adventure.”

			“But Luca insisted.”

			“He pushed hard, but I could’ve said no, or not at this time. Actually seeing the bridge would not have affected our representation of Lannak.”

			“You can’t beat yourself up, Mitch. Blaming yourself is wasted energy and you have more pressing matters at hand.”

			“You don’t say.”
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			Barry skipped dinner with his house guests. Seemed as if a fancier party was underway at another mansion down the road, old friends from Boston were on the island and rounding up their pals for a long night. Tanner chauffeured him, dropped him off, and would collect him hours later when the last cigars and brandies were finished. Tanner worked long days, but, according to Hoppy, who was never shy about prying, the winter and spring months were slow and the staff caught up on their rest. When the big houses were open, usually from May to October, the owners and their guests came in waves, and eighteen-hour shifts were common.

			Miss Emma, too, seemed to be in the kitchen around the clock. For dinner, she suggested they dine outside on the deck and watch the sunset. She and Miss Angie served lobster mac and cheese with fresh greens from the garden.

			Fortunately, Hoppy was in a talkative mood and carried the conversation. Maxie chimed in when she could, and Abby worked hard to keep the mood light for the boys. Mitch was off his game and obviously distracted. The entire family was out of place and had been for a week. The boys were missing school. Mitch was living on airplanes and visibly stressed. Abby was ignoring her job. Hoppy and Maxie were supposed to be in Utah with friends and they were tired of Islesboro. And no one really knew when their secret little detour to Maine would be over.

			One side benefit of it, though, was Mitch’s kindness to his in-laws. They were pinch-hitting in a big way and he was truly appreciative.

			After dinner, the Sutherlands hastily retired to their suite and locked the door. They wanted a quiet night, away from the kids. The McDeeres gathered in one of the dens to watch television on a big screen. A small fire crackled in the fireplace. Clark immediately found a spot between his parents on the deep sofa and curled up with his mother. The first movie was Shrek, but because they had seen it so many times they were soon bored with it. They couldn’t decide on the next one until Abby mentioned an old classic, E.T. She and Mitch had seen it when it was released in 1982 on their second date. The twins objected for a few minutes, primarily because it was an old-fashioned movie, but within ten minutes were completely hooked. Carter said he was cold and joined them under the covers. Mitch soon dozed off, and when he woke from his nap he glanced at Abby.

			She was drifting away too.

			They were running on fumes, but the fatigue could not overtake the stress. They took turns catnapping until, typically, the boys were hungry again. Mitch wandered into the kitchen in search of popcorn.

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 36

			When Tanner opened the house at daybreak on Saturday, he found Mitch at the breakfast table, pecking away on his laptop. Notepads and memos were scattered about. Mitch said, “I wasn’t sure how to make the coffee and didn’t want to screw up the machine.”

			“I’ll take care of it. Anything else?”

			“No. I’ll be leaving in a couple hours. Abby will leave tomorrow. We’re hoping to retrieve the boys by the end of next week, if that’s okay. We feel like we’re imposing here.”

			“No, sir, not at all. This house was built for guests and Mr. Ruch enjoys your company. You have a very nice family, Mr. McDeere. Please don’t feel rushed or anything like that. I promised the boys we’d go fishing this afternoon, if the weather holds.”

			“Thank you, Tanner. They’re city boys and they’re having a blast, an unexpected vacation. You’re very patient with them.”

			“Good kids, Mr. McDeere. We’re having fun. Emma will be along shortly for breakfast, but can I offer you anything?”

			“No, thanks. Just coffee.”

			Tanner disappeared into the kitchen and began making noise. Mitch took a break and walked outside to enjoy the brisk morning. Then the calls began. The first was to Stephen Stodghill, who was already at the office. Mitch wanted two paralegals on standby. Jack Ruch was en route. Cory was in the city and still asleep, or he was until Mitch called. It was early afternoon in Rome, and Roberto had just left the hospital where Luca had been through another bad night.

			Abby wandered in at seven in search of coffee. Miss Emma fixed them cheese omelets and they ate alone in the dining room. With each day being entirely unpredictable it was difficult to plan, but plans had to be made. Mitch would leave for New York in half an hour, then on to Rome. Abby would leave Sunday morning for the city and be in their apartment staring at that damned Jakl at precisely noon. They expected a call from Noura, and the great question would be: “Do you have the money?”

			The answer would be: “Yes. What’s next?”

			Mitch showered and changed and peeked in on the boys. He wanted so badly to wake them and squeeze them, then go outside and play baseball. But the games would have to wait, hopefully for only a few more days.

			A King Air was waiting at Islesboro Airport.
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			Lannak’s claim against the Republic of Libya was for unpaid bills in the amount of $410 million, plus interest on the balance of $52 million. After the murders and abduction, Mitch had tacked on another $50 million for additional damages. It was a sum he chose arbitrarily and represented the “soft” part of the claim. The interest was also a moving target since it was accumulating daily. Of the original claim, the $410 million, about half included sums due that, at least in his opinion, were not disputable. These included “hard” charges for labor, supplies, cement, steel, equipment, transportation, professional fees, and so on. These were costs that were built into the project from day one and incurred regardless of how much Lannak and the Libyans bickered over change orders and design flaws.

			During their many hours on airplanes, Mitch and Stephen had reviewed every invoice and labor timesheet. They had put together a four-page summary of expenses paid by Lannak that were indisputable. For fun, they labeled it: Dossier GGBN84. Great Gaddafi Bridge to Nowhere. Clark’s baseball jersey was number 8. Carter was number 4.

			In Jack’s conference room, Stephen passed around current drafts of the dossier as Mitch stood by the window. Jack, Cory, and Darian looked at the drafts. Two paralegals sat in the hallway, outside the closed door, waiting for instructions. It was 11:45 on a gorgeous Saturday morning in late May.

			Mitch was saying, “We’ve gone through all the numbers so you don’t have to. The bottom line on page four sums it all up. We can argue that there are at least a hundred and seventy million dollars in unpaid bills that are beyond dispute. Needless to say, we think Lannak is due half a billion and I’m confident I can prove it in Geneva, but that’s for another day.”

			Jack said, “So a partial settlement?”

			“Exactly. We present this to the Libyans now, today even, and demand payment. And we make it clear that an expedited settlement could quite possibly facilitate the release of Giovanna Sandroni.”

			No one in the small audience seemed moved.

			Jack laid down his copy and rubbed his eyes. “I don’t get it. You’re asking the Libyans to pay one-seventy to Lannak so we can pay the ransom.”

			“No. We’re asking the Libyans to pay this amount because they owe this amount.”

			“Got that. But what about Lannak? They’re going to chip in a pile of money because they’re good guys?”

			“No. Frankly, I don’t know what they’ll do, but they’ll contribute something to the fund.”

			Darian said, “May I ask who else is contributing to the fund at this time? Anyone? We’re ten million down with ninety to go, right?”

			“Right,” Mitch said. He glanced at Jack, who looked away. Neither Darian nor Cory knew that mighty Scully & Pershing had declined further participation in the ransom plot.

			Mitch continued, “There are many moving parts, Darian. We continue to push hard in diplomatic circles, in Rome and London.”

			“The goal being?”

			“The goal being to squeeze money from both governments to prevent the murder of a high-profile hostage. We’ve just learned that last year the Brits paid something like ten million pounds to get a nurse out of Afghanistan. It’s technically against their law but sometimes laws get in the way of saving lives. We’ve asked the Brits and the Italians for twenty-five million each, and we know that both requests are being considered by the prime ministers.”

			“What about your insurance policy? Another twenty-five, right?”

			“Wrong,” said Jack. “The insurance company has denied coverage. We intend to sue but that’ll take a few years. We have four days.”

			Cory gave Mitch a puzzled look and asked, “How did you learn of the nurse in Afghanistan?”

			“Sources. It came out of Washington.”

			“Can we discuss it later?”

			“Maybe. If there’s time. It’s not a priority at the moment.”

			Cory withdrew, chastened. The nurse was secret intel he was supposed to know about, not the lawyers at Scully.

			Mitch said, “Anything else? The plan is to zip this to Roberto in Rome and Riley in London and crank up the pressure on the Libyan embassies there.”

			Jack shook his head and said, “It’s a long shot, Mitch.”

			“Of course it’s a long shot, highly unlikely and all that. I get it! Does anyone have a better idea?” Mitch immediately regretted his sharp tone. He was, after all, still addressing the managing partner. For the moment, anyway.

			“I’m sorry,” Jack said like a true friend. “I’m on board.”
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			The meeting moved from the conference room at Scully & Pershing to the cabin of a Gulfstream G450 parked at Teterboro Airport in New Jersey. When they were belted in—the same team minus the paralegals—the flight attendant took their drink orders and informed them they would land in Rome in seven hours. Lunch would be served when they reached altitude. Phones and Wi-Fi were all working. There were two sofas in the rear cabin for napping.
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			Shortly after 7 P.M. in Rome, Roberto Maggi entered the Caffè dei Fiori in the Aventine neighborhood of southwestern Rome. Diego Antonelli lived around the corner and agreed to a quick glass of wine. He and his wife had plans for dinner later in the evening and he did little to hide his annoyance at being bothered on a Saturday. But bothered as he might be, he also appreciated the gravity of the moment. The government he served was being whipsawed by events beyond its control. It was compelled to protect an Italian citizen being held hostage, yet it was not allowed to know the details of the captivity and possible release. It could not negotiate. It could not consider a rescue. Only the Americans were in contact with the kidnappers, and that had become a source of great irritation.

			They sat at a small table in the corner and ordered glasses of Chianti. Roberto began with “The Carlotti deal is off the table.”

			“That’s good to hear. What happened?”

			“Carlotti got cold feet. His lawyers convinced him he was risking too much by trying to circumvent our laws. He wants to help Luca, of course, but he also wants to avoid trouble. Plus, the American wing of my law firm was skittish. There are some nasty federal prosecutors over there and they’d love to catch a big law firm getting its hands dirty.”

			Diego nodded along, as if he completely understood the motivations of federal prosecutors in the United States. The wine arrived and they clinked glasses.

			“There’s something else,” Roberto said.

			“So you said.” Diego glanced at his watch. Ten minutes in and he was ready to go.

			“Our client is Lannak, the Turkish contractor.”

			“Yes, yes. I know the file. Arbitration. I talk to Luca.”

			“We have a plan to settle the claim, in part only, and quickly. Some of the money will go to the ransom. We want your boss to meet with the Libyan ambassador as soon as possible and urge him to urge Tripoli to settle the claim.”

			“A waste of time.”

			“Maybe, but what if a settlement leads to the release of the hostage?”

			“I don’t follow.”

			“Money. We take some of it and add it to the pot.” Roberto removed a legal-sized manila envelope from his attaché case and handed it across the table. “Read it and you’ll understand.”

			Diego took it without showing any interest. He sipped his wine and said, “I’ll give it to my boss.”

			“The sooner the better. It’s rather urgent.”

			“So I’ve heard.”

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 37

			It was after 3 A.M. Sunday morning when the two vans carrying the Scully team stopped in front of the Hassler Hotel in central Rome. The weary travelers wasted no time getting out, checking in, and heading up to their rooms. Mitch had stayed there before and knew the Spanish Steps were just outside the hotel’s front door. His room faced east, and before crashing he pulled back the curtains and smiled at the fountain and piazza far below at the foot of the famous stairway. He missed Abby and wished they could be enjoying the evening together.

			The day promised to be long and stressful. Sleep could wait. The team met at nine for breakfast in a private dining room. Roberto Maggi joined them and reported that Luca was preparing to check himself out of the hospital and go home. It was unclear what his doctors thought of it. The good news of the morning was a phone call from Diego Antonelli an hour earlier in which he reported that the prime minister himself had spoken with the Libyan ambassador to Italy and pressed the need for a quick settlement of the lawsuit.

			Over the weekend, Roberto had spent time on the phone with Denys Tullos, the chief legal adviser to the Celik family in Istanbul. Tullos passed along the encouraging news that Turkey’s deputy foreign minister had dined the previous evening with the Libyan ambassador to Turkey. The principal item on their agenda had been Lannak.

			Thus, the Libyan ambassadors in Italy, Turkey, and Great Britain were getting squeezed in various ways to expedite the settlement. What that meant back in Tripoli was anybody’s guess. Roberto, with more experience in Libya than anyone else in the room, cautioned against even the slightest optimism.

			Other than Mitch and Jack, no one else in the room knew how much, or how little, money had actually been committed to the ransom fund. Both had picked up the vibe from Cory and Darian that Scully wasn’t doing enough to help with its considerable resources. If they only knew, and of course they would never know. Over the Atlantic, in the back of the jet, Mitch had asked Jack if he thought it was even remotely possible to go back to the management committee and beg again. Jack said no. At least not now.
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			As Abby rode the elevator to her apartment she tried to dismiss her frustration with armed security, basement entries and exits, surveillance, black SUVs, and the whole silly espionage routine. She wanted her husband home and her kids back in school. She wanted normalcy.

			And she wanted to take the Jakl phone and pitch it out the window onto Columbus Avenue where it would shatter into a hundred pieces and never be able to track her again. Instead, she placed it on the kitchen table as she made some coffee and tried to ignore it.

			At 12:05, as Mitch predicted, Noura called, and for the first time tried to project a bit of warmth. “How was your trip?”

			“Lovely.”

			“It’s noon Sunday. The deadline is five P.M. Wednesday, Eastern Time.”

			“If you say so. I’m in no position to argue.”

			“Do you have the money?”

			The answer had been rehearsed a dozen times. There was no way to logically explain the efforts underway to raise a hundred million dollars under such pressure. Noura and her fellow revolutionaries were probably naive enough to believe that a mammoth law firm like Scully could simply stroke a check and all would be well. They were right and they were wrong.

			“Yes.”

			A pause as if there was relief on the other end. On Abby’s end there was nothing but fear and dread.

			“Good. Here are your instructions. Please listen carefully. You are to travel tonight to Marrakech in Morocco.”

			Abby almost dropped the phone. Instead she just stared at it. She’d been home for an hour. Her family was scattered. Her job was being neglected. Everything in her world was upside down and the last thing she wanted was to spend the next day on a plane to North Africa. “Okay,” she mumbled. For the umpteenth time she asked herself, Why am I in the middle of this mess?

			“British Air flight number 55 departs JFK this evening at five-ten. There are seats in business class but book one now. There is a three-hour layover at Gatwick in London, then eight hours nonstop to Marrakech. You will be monitored along the way but you will not be in danger. In Marrakech, take a taxi to La Maison Arabe Hotel. Once there you will await further instructions. Any questions?”

			Only a thousand. “Well, yes, but give me a minute.”

			“Have you been to Marrakech?”

			“No.”

			“I hear it’s lovely. So decadent, so popular with you people.”

			Whoever “you people” were, it was obvious Noura did not approve of them. Westerners.

			Two years earlier, Abby had tried to buy a cookbook by a Moroccan chef from Casablanca. He had a small restaurant on the Lower East Side and she and Mitch ate there twice. It was loud and rowdy, always full of Moroccans who loved to sit together at long tables and welcome strangers. They loved their country, culture, and food, and talked of being homesick. She and Mitch had discussed a vacation there. They read enough to know that Marrakech was filled with history and culture and attracted many tourists, primarily from Europe.

			Abby said, “I’m sure this phone will work over there.”

			“Yes, of course. Keep it with you at all times.”

			“And I have to leave now?”

			“Yes. The deadline is Wednesday.”

			“So I’ve heard. Do I need a visa?”

			“No. There is a room reserved for you at the hotel. Do not tell anyone but your husband. Understood?”

			“Yes, yes, of course.”

			“It is imperative that you travel alone. We will be watching.”

			“Got it.”

			“You must understand that this is an extremely dangerous situation. Not for you but for the hostage. If something goes wrong, or if a rescue is attempted, she will be shot immediately. Understood?”

			“Of course.”

			“We are watching everything. One bad move and it will be disastrous for the hostage.”

			“Got it.”
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			Abby closed her eyes, tried to steady her shaking hands and take deep breaths. A jumble of thoughts rattled around. Her boys: they would be just as safe with her out of the country as in New York. Mitch: she wasn’t worried about his safety but what if he said no to her trip? A no wouldn’t bother her. Her job: tomorrow was Monday and she had the typical busy schedule for the week. The exchange: What might happen if the money did not materialize? She was already lying about having the ransom, but she had no choice.

			And Giovanna. Nothing really mattered but “the hostage.”

			She called Mitch on the green phone but couldn’t get through.

			She opened her laptop and booked the flight; one-way because she had no idea when she might return.
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			Against his doctors’ wishes, Luca left Gemelli Hospital and rode in the front seat as Bella weaved through traffic. Once home, he asked for a caprese salad on the veranda, and he and Bella dined under the shade of an umbrella. He asked her to phone Roberto and invite him over, along with Mitch and Jack Ruch.

			After another nap, Luca returned to the veranda and greeted his colleagues from New York. He wanted details of everything—every meeting, phone call, partners’ conference. He was angry at the Italians for dragging their feet. He had never really trusted the British. He still thought Lannak would come through.

			When the time was right, and when it was obvious that Jack was not going to deliver the bad news, Mitch told Luca that his law firm had declined to borrow money to pay the ransom.

			“I’m ashamed to say, Luca, that the partners ran for cover and said no.”

			Luca closed his eyes and for a long time everything was quiet. Then he took a sip of water and said, in a soft scratchy voice, “I hope I live long enough to see my daughter. And I hope I live long enough to face my esteemed colleagues and call them a bunch of cowards.”

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 38

			Day 40. Or was it 41? She wasn’t sure anymore because there was no sunlight, only darkness. Nothing to measure time. Even when they moved her she was shrouded and blindfolded and saw nothing but darkness. And they moved her constantly, from a lean-to that smelled of farm animals, to a cavern with sand for a floor, to a darkened room in a house with city noises not far away, to a dank underground cellar where rusty water dripped on her cot and made sleep difficult. She never stayed more than three nights in one place, but then she wasn’t sure what was day or night. She ate when they brought her fruit and bread and warm water, but it was never enough. They gave her toilet paper and sanitary napkins but she had not bathed once. Her long thick hair was now matted and stringy from grease and dirt. After she ate, when she knew she would not be bothered for hours, she stripped and tried to clean her undergarments with a few ounces of water. She slept for long periods of time, the dripping water notwithstanding.

			Her minder was a young girl, probably no more than a teenager, who never spoke or smiled and tried to avoid any eye contact. She was veiled and always wore the same faded black dress that hung like a bedsheet and dragged the ground. For humor, Giovanna nicknamed her “Gypsy Rose” after the famous stripper. She doubted the girl had ever taken her clothes off in the presence of a man. Wherever Giovanna went, Gypsy Rose went too. She had tried to engage her with simple words, but the girl had obviously been instructed not to talk to the captive. When it was time to move, Gypsy Rose would appear with a pair of oversized handcuffs, a blindfold, and a heavy black shroud. Not since the first days had Giovanna seen the face of a man. Occasionally she heard low voices outside her doors, but they disappeared.

			She recalled from law school the Gibbons case. For over twenty years, Gibbons had been an inmate on death row in Arkansas, and as such was confined to an eight-by-ten-foot cell from which he was released one hour each day for exercise in the yard. He sued the state, claiming solitary confinement violated the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition of cruel and unusual punishment. When the U.S. Supreme Court agreed to hear the case, it attracted an enormous amount of attention, primarily because of the thousands of prisoners living in solitary. Everybody piled on: death row lawyers, psychiatrists, psychologists, sociologists, law professors, prisoners’ rights groups, civil libertarians, and penal experts. Virtually everyone agreed that solitary was cruel and unusual punishment. The Supreme Court felt otherwise and Gibbons eventually got the needle. The case became famous and made it all the way to the constitutional law casebook Giovanna purchased and studied at UVA Law.

			After forty or forty-one days in solitary, she now understood. She could now qualify as an expert witness and explain in vivid testimony exactly how and why such confinement was unconstitutional. The physical deprivations were bad enough; a lack of food, water, soap, toothbrushes, razors, tampons, exercise, books, clean clothes, a hot bath. But she had made those adjustments and could survive. The maddening aspect of solitary was the lack of human contact.

			And, as she recalled, Gibbons had a television, radio, buddies next door, guards who brought dreadful food three times a day, 2200 calories of it, two showers a week, unlimited visits with his lawyer, weekend visits with his family, and plenty of books and magazines. He still went insane but Arkansas killed him anyway.

			If she was ever free again, she might consider shucking Big Law and working for a death penalty lawyer or a prisoners’ rights group. She would welcome the opportunity to testify in court or perhaps before lawmakers and detail the horrors of solitary confinement.

			Gypsy Rose was back with the handcuffs and they had the routine perfected. Giovanna frowned but said nothing, then touched her wrists together. Gypsy Rose slapped them on like a veteran beat cop. Giovanna leaned forward to take the blindfold, a thick velvet cloth that smelled like old mothballs. Her world was black again. Gypsy put the hood over her head and led her from the cell. After a few steps, Giovanna almost stopped when she realized the girl’s eyes had been moist. Gypsy Rose was showing emotion. But why? The horrible truth was that after caring for her prisoner for so long, she had feelings for her. Now, the captivity was over. After forty days the big moment had arrived. The prisoner was about to be sacrificed.

			They stepped outside into cooler air. A few steps, then two men with strong hands lifted her into the back of a vehicle and sat close to her. The engine started, the truck began to roll, and soon they were bouncing along another sandy roadbed somewhere in the Sahara.

			Gypsy Rose had forgotten the morning bowl of fruit. After an hour, Giovanna was starving again. There was no ventilation in the back of the truck or whatever the vehicle happened to be, and Giovanna’s face and hair were dripping with sweat under the thick shroud. At times, breathing was difficult. Her entire body was sweating. Her captors reeked of a pungent body odor she had been forced to endure many times now. The stink of desert soldiers who rarely bathed. She didn’t smell too refreshing either.

			As a hostage, she had logged thousands of miles over brutal roads without a glimpse of the outside. This ride, though, was different.

			The truck stopped. Its engine was turned off. Chains rattled, and the men lifted her to the ground. It was hot but at least she was outside. There were voices all around her as something was being organized. One guard firmly held her right elbow; another one had the left. They led her this way and that way and then they were climbing steps, steep ones made of wood, though she could not see her feet. Her guards helped her climb by lifting her arms. She had the sensation of being with others who were also struggling to climb the steps. Somewhere above a man was mumbling in Arabic and it sounded like a prayer.

			When the climb was over they shuffled along a wooden platform until they stopped. Dead still. Waiting.

			Giovanna’s heart was pounding and she could barely breathe. When they put a noose around her neck and yanked it tight, she almost fainted. Close by a man was praying. Another one was crying.
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			Once again, the killers chose to do it all on camera. The video began with the four victims already in place on the gallows with ropes around their necks and their hands cuffed behind them. From left to right, the first three were wearing uniforms of the Libyan Special Forces. They had been captured by Barakat’s men in the second commando raid five days earlier near Ghat. The fourth person was to the far right and wore a skirt or a dress and not a uniform. Close behind each stood a masked warrior with an assault rifle.

			The surname Faras appeared at the bottom of the screen, and seconds later Faras was pushed by the gunman behind him. He fell forward, dropped fifteen feet, stopped abruptly as the rope jolted tight and shrieked just as his neck snapped. He jerked violently for a few seconds as his body slowly gave up. His boots were five feet above the sand. For good measure, a commandant of some variety stepped forward with an automatic pistol and pumped three slugs into his chest.

			With each shot the next two soldiers shuddered and would have collapsed but for the nooses. They would fall soon enough. The woman on the end stood rigid and unmoving, as if too stunned to react.

			Hamal followed, and at the age of twenty-eight the veteran solider with a wife and three children back home in Benghazi was murdered by a gang of insurgents. Moments later, Saleel took his last breath.

			The camera refocused and zoomed in on the woman, Sandroni. Seconds passed, then a minute with no movement anywhere, or at least none on camera. Suddenly, the unmistakable whine of a chain saw began, off camera.

			The guard behind her stepped closer, loosened the noose, and removed it. He took her arm, and as she was being led away the video ended.

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 39

			It was beneficial to have a real Roman in the group. Roberto Maggi knew all the restaurants, especially the famous ones with starred reviews and staggering bills. But he also knew the neighborhood trattorias where the food was just as enjoyable. With the clock ticking, no one was in the mood for a three-hour dinner early on a Sunday evening. He chose a place called Due Ladroni, “Two Thieves” in Italian, and they enjoyed a fifteen-minute stroll along Via Condotti. Of course Roberto knew the owner, a jolly Irish woman, and she had no trouble rearranging tables to accommodate the six of them outdoors.

			Mitch was working through the menu when his green phone vibrated. It was Abby.

			“I need to take this,” he said as he stood. “It’s my wife.” He stepped around the corner, said hello, and absorbed the blow. She was expected in Morocco. She replayed her conversation with Noura, with all the details. It was almost 1 P.M. in New York. Her flight left JFK at 5:10. Should she go? What should she do? Would she be safe? His first reaction was to say hell no. It’s dangerous. Think about the boys. But he realized his judgment was clouded by his last visit to North Africa. Abby had already blitzed through the internet and was convinced the trip would be reasonably safe. It was, after all, British Airways. The hotel was expensive, highly rated by travel magazines and websites. The more she surfed, the more attractive Marrakech became, though she would always feel vulnerable. She would not be the typical tourist.

			Her confidence settled his nerves, but he was still bothered by the question of what might happen to his wife if they could not deliver the money. The pot was still empty. They wouldn’t kidnap her, too. Not from a four-star hotel. And why would they? If Mitch and his team couldn’t raise the money for one hostage, why bother with a second?

			As they spoke, he ventured back to the table and said to Roberto, “I’ll take the cioppino, fish stew.” It was his favorite, then he remembered the fish stew in Tripoli. “Big news,” he said to Jack and walked around the corner.

			Abby had to go. No question. She had been chosen as the messenger from day one and it was her obligation to Giovanna to follow instructions. They agreed on the plan, and Mitch promised to call back in an hour. She began packing, though with no idea how long she might be away. The temperature was already above ninety in Morocco. Where were her summer clothes?

			When Mitch returned to the table, the team was waiting. His report was stunning at first, then troubling. The idea that Abby was being directed to Morocco to facilitate an exchange was excellent news. What would she do, though, with no money?

			Cory said little but was thinking it through. Mitch looked at him and asked, “What about security? For Abby?”

			“Low to moderate risk. She’s in a nice hotel, plenty of tourists from Europe. If she’s asked to do something she’s not sure of, then she says no. And we’ll be there.” He looked at Darian and said, “I think I should go, take a plane and a nurse. Check into a hotel nearby. Make contact with Abby. Monitor her movements. You have people in Morocco, don’t you?”

			“We do,” Darian said. “I’ll notify them.”

			“A nurse?” Roberto asked.

			Cory nodded and said, “We have no idea what condition Giovanna’s in.”

			Darian added, “It’s always best to have a nurse, if possible. I’ll stay here with the team.”

			“Of course.”

			“Jack, can we use the jet?”

			Jack was not anticipating the question and hesitated only slightly, as if he didn’t really want to let go of the airplane. “Sure. There are plenty available.”

			Other ideas came and went as they tried to enjoy dinner. The optimism ebbed and flowed. One moment they were excited about Abby’s trip to Morocco, and the next moment they were once again fretting over the ransom.

			After dark, and as they were strolling back toward the Hassler and trying to enjoy another beautiful Roman evening, Roberto’s phone buzzed in his pocket. It was Diego Antonelli. Roberto held back from the others and listened intently as Diego rattled away in Italian. There were rumblings out of Tripoli. Somewhere in the depths of the regime a senior diplomat had been contacted by their embassies in Rome, London, and Istanbul, all urging the same course of action. The senior diplomat had Gaddafi’s ear and an approval of the settlement was expected.

			An hour later, Riley Casey called Mitch from London with similar news. Sir Simon Croome had received a call from an old friend in the Foreign Office. The rumor was that the Libyan ambassador to the U.K. had also been informed that his government had decided to settle the Lannak matter, all of it, and to do so promptly.

			Mitch, Jack, and Roberto met in a dark corner of the Hassler bar to talk about their client. Assuming a settlement, and they were cautious enough to assume nothing, they needed a strategy to press Lannak into using the money for the ransom. Roberto, who knew them best because of their long history with Luca, thought it likely that the Celiks would go along, but only with some guarantee that they would eventually receive $400 million. All three lawyers knew that in litigation there were no guarantees. A lawyer who promised one was a fool.

			Roberto wanted some answers. He asked Jack, “Can Scully be convinced to borrow the funds? I know you’ve tried, but can you try again?”

			“Maybe, but I’m not optimistic about the firm right now.”

			“This is disturbing. Luca is devastated and he feels betrayed.”

			“With good reason,” Mitch said.

			“Would the committee vote differently if she were the child of an American partner?”

			“Great question,” Mitch mumbled.

			“I don’t know,” Jack said. “But I doubt it. The majority are more concerned with protecting their own assets. Asking them to cosign and guarantee such a loan was just too frightening, I guess. I tried, Roberto.”

			“Luca’s putting up ten million of his own money. He’s mortgaged everything. He was expecting more from the firm.”

			“So was I. I’m very sorry.”
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			From the moment Abby entered the British Airways lounge at JFK, she was looking for whoever might be watching her. Not following, but “monitoring,” as Noura said. Seeing no one suspicious, and fully aware that anyone on her tail would appear not the least bit suspicious, she relaxed, ordered an espresso, and found a magazine.

			She had always enjoyed British Air and was pleased that it would take her all the way to Marrakech. She remembered, with some amusement, Mitch’s circuitous route from New York to Tripoli only last month. It had taken thirty hours and three airlines. She would need only one and BA was a favorite. Business class was quite comfortable. The champagne was delicious. Dinner was edible, but then she had become such a food snob that nothing served on an airplane could ever be described as delicious.

			She thought of her boys and the wonderful time they were having at Miss Emma’s table, eating precisely whatever they wanted and getting little or no pushback from their grandparents. How many kids get lobster every day?

			The layover in London’s Gatwick Airport was three hours and twenty minutes. To kill time, she napped in a chair, watched the sunrise, read magazines, and worked on a Laotian cookbook. She noticed a North African gentleman wearing a white linen suit and blue espadrilles trying to hide most of his face under a straw fedora. The third time she caught him glancing at her she decided he was one of her “monitors.” She shrugged it off and figured there would be tenser moments ahead.

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 40

			Samir called Mitch Monday morning and said he had good news. Mitch invited him to breakfast with Roberto at the Hassler, and the three of them met in the restaurant at nine-thirty.

			Mitch had been so out of step the past ten days that he wasn’t sure who was paying for what. He’d lost track of his expenses, a sin for any big firm lawyer. The Hassler was costing someone seven hundred dollars a night, plus meals and drinks. He assumed Lannak would eventually get the bills, but that didn’t seem entirely fair. The Celiks were not responsible for Giovanna’s kidnapping. Scully might have to eat the expenses, which was fine with Mitch because he was frustrated with the firm.

			Samir was all smiles as they settled in. And he was quick to announce, quietly, “A call from Tripoli this morning, my friend in the Foreign Service. Late last night he heard that the government decided yesterday to settle the entire Lannak dispute and to do so quickly.”

			Mitch swallowed hard and asked, “For how much?”

			“Between four and five hundred million.”

			“That’s quite a range.”

			“Excellent news, Samir,” Roberto said. “Can it be done quickly?”

			“My friend thinks so, yes.”

			They ordered coffee, juice, and eggs. Mitch glanced at his phone. A text from Abby. She had left Gatwick on time. Some new emails, none related to Giovanna and thus of little importance. He needed to call Omar Celik in Istanbul with an update. Settlement looked likely, but he decided to wait an hour.

			He lost interest in breakfast.
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			An hour later all of the early euphoria over the likelihood of a quick settlement was shattered by a two-minute video that was sent by text message to two London newspapers, The Guardian and The Daily Telegraph; two Italian newspapers, La Stampa and La Repubblica; and The Washington Post. Within minutes it was raging through the internet. A Scully associate in Milan saw it and called Roberto.

			In the hotel conference room Mitch hurriedly opened his laptop and waited. Roberto hovered over his left shoulder; Jack over his right. Darian stood nearby. They watched in muted disbelief as the three hooded soldiers, in full Libyan commando garb, were knocked forward from the makeshift gallows and twisted violently at end of their ropes. Faras, Hamal, Saleel. They jerked more with each shot to the chest.

			Roberto gasped at the image of “Sandroni.” Obviously a woman, in a skirt or dress, to the far right, standing bravely with a black shroud over her head and a noose around her neck. “Mother Mary,” he mumbled, then said something in Italian that Mitch had never heard before. Seconds passed, then, mercifully, the noose was removed and she was led away, her life spared for the moment.

			They watched it again. When Roberto recovered, he called Bella and told her to keep Luca away from his phone, computers, and television. He and Mitch would be there as soon as possible.

			They watched it a third time.

			Mitch immediately knew it would kill any interest the Libyans may have had in writing a fat check to Lannak and its lawyers. He was almost certain Samir had passed along the secret that the kidnappers had made contact with Scully. It was not a stretch to believe the regime blamed the whole mess on Scully to begin with.

			The cold-blooded murder of three more Libyan soldiers, on Libyan soil no less, would most likely provoke the Colonel into a fit of rage and revenge. Settling an embarrassing lawsuit, a nuisance to him anyway, had just lost whatever importance it had. He was now being mocked on the world stage.

			Mitch closed his laptop and both lawyers stared at their phones.

			Samir called from his hotel to make sure they had seen it. He told Roberto that he could think of no possible way the video could help them. He feared even more for Giovanna’s safety. He was talking to sources in Tripoli and would call if he heard anything of substance.

			As the morning dragged on they worked their phones because there was little else to do. Jack had a long conversation with someone at the State Department in Washington, but it produced little worth discussing. Mitch talked to Riley Casey in London. Riley said not a soul at Scully & Pershing was working that morning. Everyone was staring at their computer screens, too stunned to do little more than whisper. Some of the women were crying. It was impossible to believe that the horrible image was really their colleague. Roberto was trying to find Diego Antonelli. Evidently, the Libyan diplomats who had been reluctant to talk over the weekend had suddenly lost interest in talking at all.

			Cory was on a corporate jet headed to Marrakech to monitor Abby’s movements. Mitch was fretting about what could go wrong there when she arrived with no ransom. Darian took a call from Tel Aviv. A source in Benghazi said that Gaddafi had unleashed his air force and was bombing suspected targets near the borders of Chad and Algeria. Extensive bombing, with entire villages being strafed and leveled. Not a single soul on a camel was safe at the moment.

			Sir Simon called Mitch from London and in a voice that was much too cheerful explained that, in his opinion, the terrorists had played a masterful hand. The image of young Giovanna on the gallows, with three freshly murdered soldiers hanging nearby, had shocked the nation. He knew for a fact that the prime minister had seen the video three hours earlier and had summoned the foreign minister to 10 Downing Street. Doubtless, they were talking money.

			Ten minutes later, Riley Casey called with the startling news that he, too, had been summoned to 10 Downing Street. The prime minister was demanding details. Mitch nodded at Jack, who said, “Go! And tell him everything.”

			At 6 A.M. Eastern Time, Jack called Senator Elias Lake at his home in Brooklyn and left a voicemail. Ten minutes later, the senator called back. An aide had just awakened him and sent over the video. Jack asked him to call the secretary of state with the plan to corral the British and Italian foreign services into a gang of three and find some damned money.
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			With only a carry-on bag, Abby moved quickly through Menara Airport in Marrakech. She followed the signs, in Arabic, French, and English, to the taxi stand, and as she walked through the revolving circular doors she was hit with a jolt of hot, humid air. A dozen dirty taxis were waiting and she took the first one. She wasn’t sure which language the driver might speak, so she handed him a note card with La Maison Arabe Hotel’s address.

			He said, “Thank you. No problem.”

			Fifteen minutes later she arrived at the hotel and paid him in U.S. dollars, which he gladly accepted. It was almost 6 P.M. and the lobby was empty. The receptionist seemed to be expecting her. A nice corner suite on the second floor had been reserved for three nights. Abby finally knew how long she was supposed to stay. She took the elevator to the second floor, found her room, and locked herself inside. So far, she had seen no one but the receptionist. She opened the curtains and looked out onto a beautiful courtyard. A knock at the door startled her and she instinctively said, “Who’s there?”

			There was no answer. She cracked the door without unfastening the chain. An impeccably uniformed bellman smiled through the opening and said, “A letter for you.”

			She took the letter, thanked him, and closed the door. In block letters on hotel stationery, someone had written, Please join me for dinner in the hotel restaurant this evening. Hassan. Friend of Noura.

			She called Mitch on the green phone and they went through the latest developments. There was plenty of activity but little progress. He described the video and said that it had evidently negated all efforts to settle the lawsuit. The Libyans were in no mood to negotiate or do anything but find the terrorists. Mitch and the others believed that the U.S. secretary of state herself had spoken to her counterparts in the U.K. and Italy. Luca was feeling better and monitoring his phones. During the day, Jack had called every member of Scully’s management committee and lobbied hard for approval of the loan agreement, but there was no movement. He surprised Abby with the news that Cory was also in Marrakech and would contact her soon.

			Having Cory in town was certainly a relief.

			She unpacked her carry-on and hung up two traveler’s dresses, one white, one red, both wrinkle-free. The minibar had nothing but water and sodas and she needed something stronger. Morocco was staunchly Muslim with strict prohibitions against alcohol. It was also a former French colony and an historic melting pot of cultures, religions, and languages from Europe, Africa, and the Middle East. In Marrakech, somebody somewhere consumed over two hundred tons of alcohol each year. Surely she could get a glass of wine in the restaurant. She took a nap, then a long hot bath in a clawfoot tub, washed her hair and dried it, and put on her red wrap dress.

			If she felt safe, why was there a knot in her stomach?

			The restaurant was a grand dining room with a blue Persian-style ceiling and heavily draped tables. It was beautiful and small, with only a few tables distanced discreetly apart. It felt more like a private club.

			Hassan stood as she approached, and flashed an impressive smile. “Hassan Mansour, Mrs. McDeere.” She was afraid he would start the usual hugging and cheek-smacking but he was content with a gentle handshake. He helped her into her chair and took his across the table. The nearest diners were thirty feet away.

			“A pleasure to meet you,” she lied, only because she had to say something polite. Whoever he was and whatever he did, he was in bed with the enemy. Their relationship would last only hours and she was determined not to like him, regardless of how much phony charm he tried. He was about fifty, with short graying hair slicked back severely and small black eyes that were too close together.

			The eyes took her in and liked what they saw. “How was your flight?” he asked.

			No wedding ring but a diamond on the right pinkie. Fine designer suit, light gray in color, linen probably. Brilliant white shirt that contrasted nicely with his swarthy skin. Expensive silk tie. Matching pocket square. All the trimmings.

			“Okay. The British know how to run an airline.”

			He smiled as if this was supposed to be humorous. “I’m in London a lot and I always enjoy British Air. And Lufthansa, two of the best.” Perfect English with a slight accent that could be from anywhere a thousand miles south of Rome. She would bet serious cash his name was not Hassan Mansour and she didn’t care. He was nothing but a facilitator, a connector between the money and the hostage. If she ever saw him again, maybe he would be wearing handcuffs.

			“May I ask where you live? I’m sure you know a lot about me. Apartment, office, kids’ school, important stuff like that.”

			He kept smiling and said, “We could spend hours batting questions back and forth, Mrs. McDeere, but I’m afraid there would not be many answers, not from me anyway.”

			“Who is Noura?”

			“I’ve never met her.”

			“That’s not what I asked. Who is she?”

			“Let’s say she is a soldier in the revolution.”

			“Certainly doesn’t dress like a soldier.”

			A waiter appeared and asked if they wanted drinks. Abby glanced at a short wine list and said, “Chablis.” Hassan ordered herbal tea. When the waiter was gone, he leaned forward a few inches and said, “I don’t know as much as you might think, Mrs. McDeere. I’m not a member of the organization. I am not a soldier in the revolution. I am being paid a fee to broker a deal.”

			“You’ve seen the latest video, I’m sure. Released this morning.”

			He kept smiling. “Yes, of course.”

			“Giovanna with a rope around her neck. Three men in the process of being murdered. Chain saw noise in the background. Its timing was perfect and it was obviously intended to put even more pressure on Giovanna’s friends.”

			“Mrs. McDeere, I had absolutely nothing to do with the events recorded in that video. Is your husband responsible for the actions of his clients?”

			“No, of course not.”

			“Then I rest my case.”

			“Spoken like a real lawyer.”

			He smiled and nodded as if to concede that he was indeed a member of the profession. “We can discuss many things, Mrs. McDeere, but we’re not here for social reasons.”

			“Right. Is it fair to assume that our deadline is still five P.M. Wednesday, May twenty-fifth?”

			“That’s correct.”

			She took a deep breath and said, “We need more time.”

			“Why?”

			“Rounding up another ninety million dollars is not something we have much experience with. It’s proving to be rather complicated.”

			“How much time?”

			“Forty-eight hours.”

			“The answer is no.”

			“Twenty-four hours. Five P.M. Thursday.”

			“The answer is no. I have my orders.”

			She shrugged as if to say, Well, I tried.

			“Do you have the money?”

			“Yes,” she said, with a confidence built on plenty of practice. The only answer was “Yes.” Anything else could set in motion events that would become unpredictable. Just as quickly she added, “We have commitments. It may take a day or two to gather the money. I don’t see how an extra twenty-four hours will harm your position.”

			“The answer is no. Are you having problems?” The smile was gone.

			“No, not problems, just a few challenges. It’s not a simple matter of getting the law firm to write a check. There are many moving parts that involve various entities.”

			He shrugged as if he understood.

			The drinks arrived and Abby took her glass as quickly as possible without appearing desperate for the wine. Hassan toyed with his teabag as if time meant nothing. She had checked with the front desk and knew that room service was available. After five minutes with Hassan, the last thing she wanted was a long painful dinner with the man as they bobbed and weaved around topics they could not discuss. She had even lost her appetite.

			As if reading her mind, he asked, “Would you like to discuss dinner?”

			“No, thank you. I’m jet-lagged and need rest. I’ll order room service.” She took another shot of Chablis. He had yet to lift his teacup.

			The smile was back as if everything was okay. “As you wish. I have some instructions.”

			“That’s why I’m here.”

			Finally, he raised his dainty little cup to his lips and wet them. “As soon as possible, your husband travels to the island of Grand Cayman, in the Caribbean. I believe he knows the place. When he arrives tomorrow afternoon, he presents himself to the Trinidad Trust in Georgetown and asks for a banker named Solomon Frick. He will be expected. Mr. Frick represents my client, and your husband will do exactly as he says. He will know immediately if anyone attempts to track the wires. Any hint that someone is watching, that someone being the FBI, Scotland Yard, Interpol, Europol, or any of the other boys who carry guns and badges, and bad things will happen to your friend. We’ve come this far without the interference of the police or military, and it would be a shame to do something stupid at this late stage of the game. If you have the money, Mrs. McDeere, Giovanna is practically free.”

			“We’d like to confirm she’s still alive.”

			“Of course. She is alive and doing well and on the verge of going home. Don’t allow a bad decision to lead to her demise.” He reached into the pocket of his jacket and withdrew a folded sheet of paper. “Here are the instructions in more detail. Your husband is to follow them closely.”

			“He’ll be traveling tomorrow, from New York to Grand Cayman.”

			Hassan offered the widest smile yet as he gave her the sheet of paper and said, “Mitch is not in New York, Mrs. McDeere. He is in Rome. And he has access to a private jet.”

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 41

			Grand Cayman?

			The Caymans are three tiny islands in the Caribbean, south of Cuba and west of Jamaica. Still a British territory, they cling to old traditions and still drive on the left. Large numbers of tourists are attracted to their beaches, scuba diving, and fine hotels. No taxes are levied on money earned there. Or stored there. At least 100,000 corporations, more than one per citizen, register in Georgetown, the capital. Billions of dollars are parked in huge banks where they accumulate even more billions in interest, tax-free of course. Highly paid tax lawyers work in nice firms and enjoy a splendid quality of life. In the world of international finance, the word “Caymans” means, among other things, a safe place to hide money, clean or dirty.

			Grand Cayman, Little Cayman, Cayman Brac.

			Mitch had tried to forget about all three.

			It was the shadier side of the Caymans that attracted the Bendini firm years earlier, in the 1970s, when drug money was pouring into the islands. Bendini was laundering money for its own criminal clients and found some friendly banks on Grand Cayman. The firm even bought a couple of swanky condos on the beach for its partners to enjoy when they were down on “business.”

			“Tell me again, Abby, what he said. Word for word.”

			“He said, ‘Tomorrow morning your husband goes to Grand Cayman. I believe he knows the place.’ ”

			He knows the place.

			Mitch paced around his room in his boxers, thoroughly baffled and ready to pull out his hair. How could anyone, especially a man like Hassan or whatever his name was, really know that Mitch had ever had any contact with the Cayman Islands? It had been fifteen years ago. He sat on the edge of his bed, closed his eyes, and began breathing deeply.

			Some details were returning. When Bendini imploded, there were dozens of arrests and news reports. Mitch and Abby were hiding on a sailboat with his brother Ray near Barbados. Mitch was not being sought by the FBI, but the Chicago Mob damned well wanted to find him. Months later, when the McDeeres finally came ashore, Mitch went to a library in Kingston, Jamaica, and found the newspaper stories. In several, the Caymans were mentioned in connection with criminal activity by the Bendini firm. But Mitch’s name was never in print, at least not in the reports he could find.

			That was the one possible link: the Bendini firm, of which he was briefly a member, and some of its alleged wrongdoings in the Caymans. As old and as obscure as it was, how could Hassan have possibly found it?

			Equally baffling was how he knew Mitch was in Rome, and that he got there on a private jet. Mitch called a partner in New York, a friend who was a pilot and aviation junkie. Without being specific, he asked how difficult it would be to track the movements of a private jet. No problem at all if you have the plane’s tail number. Mitch thanked him and rang off.

			But how could they know Mitch was on the plane?

			Because they were watching Mitch.

			He didn’t tell Abby this because she would immediately think of the boys and freak out. If “they” were watching the McDeeres this closely, then how safe were they?
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			For additional privacy, Jack moved their operations to a large suite on the third floor of the Hassler. He ordered some snacks, no alcohol, and the team nibbled on finger food as they waited anxiously to hear from Mitch. When he arrived they listened raptly as he replayed his conversation with Abby and described the events in Marrakech. Abby was staying in a lovely hotel, felt safe, and was eager to get on with it. The Hassan character was a smooth professional who seemed firmly in control. The fact that he knew of Mitch’s history with the Caymans, and that he knew Mitch was in Rome and not New York, was nothing less than astonishing. The team was once again reminded that they were only reacting. The rules were being made by some nasty people far more informed and better organized than them.

			Mitch and Jack decided they would leave Rome early the following morning and fly to New York. From there, Mitch would fly to Grand Cayman and arrive midday, Caribbean time. He called a Scully partner in New York and told him to contact their affiliated law firm on Grand Cayman and get a banking expert on standby. He called another partner and asked him to research the bank called the Trinidad Trust.

			Darian talked to Cory, who was on the ground in Marrakech and had hired Moroccan security. One agent was now a guest of La Maison Arabe Hotel and was staying in a room two doors down from Abby. She was supposed to meet Hassan Mansour Tuesday for breakfast and an update. The Moroccans on their team would be watching for Mr. Mansour, a man they had so far been unable to track down. Darian warned Cory to caution the team that they were to take no chances. Just observe diligently and don’t get caught doing it.

			Just after 9 P.M., 3 P.M. on the East Coast, the senator came through with the news they had been waiting for. Elias Lake informed Jack, in deepest confidence of course, that the British foreign minister had brokered a deal with the Italians and Americans in which all three governments would chip in $15 million each for the ransom. The payments would originate from sources so hidden they may as well have been on Mars, and they would get routed through banks on four continents. In the end, though, they would arrive almost magically in the new account in a Cayman bank. And any poor soul curious enough to try and track where all the money came from would probably lose his or her mind.

			Jack thanked the senator profusely and promised to call later.

			Forty-five million was half of ninety, their goal. Add Luca’s ten, and they were still far short.

			An exasperated Darian said, “In the dirty world of American slush money, fifteen million is peanuts. The DEA pays that much to drug informants on a monthly basis.”

			Jack said, “She’s not an American citizen.”

			“Right, and neither are the snitches down in Colombia.”

			For many hours over many days, they had debated whether the terrorists might bend. How much would they settle for if the entire $100 million could not be raised? It was difficult to imagine them walking away from a large pile of money. They had $10 million in hand. Another $55 mil was within their grasp.

			Darian thought the current record was the $38 million paid by the French to a Somalian gang for a journalist, but since there was no centralized clearinghouse for international hostage taking, no one really knew. Sixty-five million was certainly an impressive sum.

			The alternative, though, was too gruesome to think about.

			Mitch stepped into another room and called Istanbul.
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			The Bombardier Challenger lifted off from Rome’s Leonardo da Vinci international airport at 6 A.M. Tuesday, May 24. Both Jack and Mitch needed sleep, and the flight attendant prepared two beds in separate quarters in the rear of the cabin. First, though, Mitch had something to say. “Let’s have a Bloody Mary, only one, and a chat. There’s something you need to know.”

			All Jack wanted was a few hours’ sleep, but he knew this was serious. They asked the flight attendant for drinks, and once they were served she disappeared.

			Mitch rattled his cubes, took a couple of sips, and began, “Years ago, when Abby and I left Memphis in the middle of the night, literally running for our lives, we barely got out of town. My employer, the Bendini firm, was owned by the Mob, out of Chicago, and once I realized that I had to get out. The FBI was moving in and the sky was falling. The firm suspected I was whispering to the FBI and there were plans to eliminate me. By then I knew that the firm had a history of keeping its lawyers quiet. Once you joined the firm, you never left. At least five lawyers had tried in the decade before I got there. All were dead. I knew I was next. As I was planning my escape, I saw the opportunity to re-route some money. Some offshore funds that were hidden in a bank, on Grand Cayman, oddly enough, and I knew how to wire it to other places. It was dirty money, firm money, Mob money. I was frightened and angry and facing a very uncertain future. My promising career was in the sewer, thanks to Bendini, and if I survived I was looking at a life on the run. So, as compensation, I took the dirty money. Ten million dollars of it. Whisked away by the magic of wire transfer. I sent some to care for my mother, some to Abby’s parents, the rest I kept hidden offshore. Later, I told the FBI about it and offered to give most of it back. They didn’t care. They were too busy prosecuting thugs. What would they do with the money? With time I guess they forgot about it.”

			Jack sipped his drink, thoroughly amused.

			“After I went to work for Scully, in London, I contacted the FBI one last time. They had lost all interest. I pushed them and finally got a letter, a waiver, from the IRS. No taxes owed. Case closed.”

			“It’s still sitting out there, offshore,” Jack said.

			“Still there, in the Royal Bank of Quebec, which happens to be just down the street from the Trinidad Trust.”

			“On Grand Cayman.”

			“On Grand Cayman. Those guys keep secrets, believe me.”

			“And by now it’s a lot more than ten million.”

			“Correct. It’s been earning interest for fifteen years, all tax-free. I’ve talked to Abby, and we think this is the perfect time to unload most of this money. For some reason, we’ve always felt like it’s not really ours, you know?”

			“Ransom?”

			“Yes, we’re kicking in another ten million. So, with another ten million from Luca, we’re up to sixty-five, in addition to the first ten. Not a bad payday for a bunch of desert thugs.”

			“That’s very generous, Mitch.”

			“I know. Do you think they’ll take sixty-five?”

			“I have no idea. They seem to love blood as much as money.”

			They were quiet for a long time as they enjoyed their drinks. Finally, Mitch said, “And there’s something else.”

			“Can’t wait.”

			“I called Omar Celik a few hours ago and I asked him for ten million. He adores Luca and Giovanna but I’m not sure his fondness translates into that much cash. So, I did a foolish thing. I guaranteed him we would recover the money in the lawsuit.”

			“That’s pretty foolish.”

			“As I said.”

			“But I don’t blame you. Desperate times call for desperate measures. What did he say?”

			“Said he’d sleep on it. So, I doubled down and went even crazier. I threatened him, told him that if he didn’t pitch in I’d withdraw as counsel and he’d be forced to hire a new firm.”

			“You don’t threaten Turks.”

			“I know. But he kept his cool. I’ll bet he comes through.”

			“That would be seventy-five million.”

			“The math is pretty simple, if nothing else is. Will they walk away from seventy-five million?”

			“Would you?”

			“No. Plus, they get rid of the hostage. She can’t be an easy prisoner.”

			The booze blended nicely with the fatigue and jet lag, and an hour after takeoff, Mitch and Jack were in deep sleep 40,000 feet over the Atlantic.

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 42

			For morning coffee, Abby wore her white dress and no makeup. Hassan wore another fine linen suit of a soft olive color. Brilliant white shirt, no tie. They met at the same table, one she was already tired of. They ordered coffee and tea and told the waiter they would think about breakfast later.

			Hassan, ever the charming pro, kept smiling until she said, “We need more time, an additional twenty-four hours.”

			A sudden frown and a shake of the head. “I’m sorry. That’s not possible.”

			“Then we can’t arrange the entire sum of ninety million.”

			A deeper frown. “Then things get complicated.”

			“Things are beyond complicated. We are collecting money from at least seven different sources and in multiple languages.”

			“I see. A question. If you have twenty-four additional hours, how much more money can you scrape together?”

			“I’m not sure.”

			His small black eyes zeroed in like lasers. “Then, that says it all, Mrs. McDeere. If you can’t promise more money, then I can’t promise more time. How much do you have?”

			“Seventy-five. Plus, of course, the deposit of ten.”

			“Of course. And it is in hand and your husband will be prepared to wire it tomorrow?”

			The waiter was back and he slowly set the tea and coffee in front of them. He inquired again about breakfast, but Hassan rudely waved him off.

			He glanced around, saw no one, and said, “Very well. I shall speak to my client. This is not good news.”

			“It’s the only news I have. I want to see Giovanna.”

			“I doubt that’s possible.”

			“Then there’s no deal. No seventy-five million. No wire transfer tomorrow. I want to see her today and I’m not leaving this hotel.”

			“You’re asking too much, Mrs. McDeere. We’re not walking into a trap.”

			“A trap? Do I look like a person who could set a trap? I’m a cookbook editor from New York.”

			He was smiling again as he shook his head in amusement. “It’s not possible.”

			“Figure it out.”

			She abruptly stood, picked up her cup of coffee, and left the restaurant with it. Hassan waited a moment until she was out of sight and pulled out his phone.
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			Two hours later, Abby was working at the small table in her room when the Jakl vibrated. It was Hassan with the grim news that his client was quite disturbed by the news that its demands were not being met. The deal was off the table.

			However, it would be wise for Mitch to continue with his plans on Grand Cayman. Establish a new account at Trinidad Trust, and wait for instructions. So, the deal was not off the table.

			Mitch was somewhere in the clouds, and the jet’s cell service was out of range.
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			The Challenger touched down at Westchester at 7:10, almost exactly seven hours after leaving Rome. Two black sedans were waiting. One went north with Jack, who lived in Pound Ridge. Mitch took the other south into the city.

			Moroccan time was four hours ahead of New York. He called Abby, who was holed up in her hotel room editing a cookbook. She replayed the morning coffee with Mr. Mansour and their subsequent conversation. Of course he was disappointed with the money, but then he had been prepared for such a development. He was coy, a real pro, and she could not read him. She had no idea if he would accept only $75 million more, but she had a hunch he had a bigger role in the negotiating than he let on.

			An hour after landing, he entered his apartment on Sixty-Ninth, his home for the past seven years and a place he adored, and felt like a trespasser. Where was everybody? Scattered. For a moment, he longed for their old routines. The silence was haunting. But there was no time for melancholy. He showered and changed into casual clothes. He dumped dirty laundry from his bag and repacked it with clean clothes. He did not pack a jacket or tie. As he recalled, from fifteen years earlier, even the bankers down there avoided suits.

			He called Abby again and reported that the apartment was still standing. They agreed that they both wanted their lives back.

			The car was waiting on Sixty-Ninth Street. Mitch tossed his bag in the trunk and said, “Let’s go.” Driving against the traffic was easier and they were back at the Westchester airport in forty minutes. The Challenger was refueled and ready to go.
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			The waiting was beginning to grate. Four hours had passed since she had seen Hassan for coffee. Her room was getting smaller and now the housekeeper wanted to have it. She walked around the hotel and knew she was being watched. The clerk at the front desk, the concierge in his little nook, the uniformed bellman—everyone glanced at her nonchalantly, then did a quick second look. The small dark bar was empty at 2 P.M. and she took a table with her back to the door. The bartender smiled at her when she entered, then took his time easing over.

			“White wine,” she said.

			With no other customers, how long does it take to pour a glass of wine?

			At least ten minutes. She stuck her nose in a magazine and waited impatiently.

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 43

			His first trip to the islands, some fifteen years earlier, had been with Avery Tolar, his mentor and supervising partner, and they had flown from Miami on Cayman Airways with a load of rowdy scuba divers, all guzzling rum punch and trying to get plastered before landing. Avery made the trip down several times a year, and though he was married and though the firm frowned on womanizing, he chased the women hard. And he drank more than he should have. One morning as he nursed a hangover, he apologized to Mitch and said the pressure of a bad marriage was getting the best of him.

			Over the years Mitch had trained his mind to shut out thoughts of the Memphis nightmare, but there were moments when it was impossible. As the Challenger descended through the clouds and he caught the first glimpses of the bright blue Caribbean, he had to smile at his luck in life. Through no fault of his own, he had been within an inch of either being killed or indicted, yet he had managed to wiggle free. The bad guys went down, and hard, and they deserved it, and while they were serving time Mitch and Abby were starting over.

			Stephen Stodghill had flown from Rome to Miami to Georgetown and arrived four hours earlier. He was waiting outside customs with a cab and they headed for downtown.

			Another memory. The first wave of warm tropical air blowing in through the open windows of the cab as the driver listened to soft reggae. Just like fifteen years earlier.

			Stephen was saying, “Our lawyer’s name is Jennings, British chap, nice enough. I met him two hours ago and he’s up to speed. According to our people, he’s a top guy here in the Caymans and knows all the banks and the ins and outs of transferring money. He knows Solomon Frick, our soon-to-be newest friend at Trinidad Trust. They probably launder money together on the side.”

			“That’s not funny. According to my research, the Cayman bankers have cleaned up their act in the past twenty years.”

			“Do we really care?”

			“We do not. Over dinner I’ll tell you all about my first trip down here.”

			“A Bendini story?”

			“Yes.”

			“I can’t wait. Around Scully the legend is that the Mob almost got you. But you pulled a fast one and outfoxed the Mob. Is that true?”

			“I outran the Mob. I didn’t realize I was a legend.”

			“Not really. Who has time to tell war stories at a place like Scully? All they care is about billing fifty hours a week.”

			“We prefer sixty, Stephen.”

			The cab turned a corner and there was the ocean. Mitch nodded and said, “That’s Hog Sty Bay, where the pirates used to dock their ships and hide on the island.”

			“Yeah, I read that somewhere too,” Stephen said, with no interest whatsoever.

			“Where are we staying?” Mitch asked, happy to forgo the tourist spiel.

			“Ritz-Carlton on Seven Mile Beach. I’ve already checked in. Pretty nice.”

			“It’s a Ritz.”

			“So.”

			“So, isn’t it supposed to be nice?”

			“I suppose. I wouldn’t know. I’m just a lowly associate who’d normally be staying in cheaper joints but since I’m hanging with a real partner I get the upgrade though I still had to fly commercial. Economy, not first class.”

			“Your brighter days are ahead.”

			“That’s what I keep telling myself.”

			“Let’s go see Jennings.”

			“Here’s his firm,” Stephen said, handing over a file. “It’s a British outfit, a dozen lawyers.”

			“Aren’t all the firms down here British?”

			“I guess. Wonder why we haven’t bought one and added it to our letterhead.”

			“At the rate we’re losing them we might need to expand.”

			Jennings was on the third floor of a modern bank building a few blocks from the harbor. They met in a conference room with a view of the ocean that would have been enticing if not for the three mammoth cruise ships docked in Hog Sty Bay. He was a stuffy sort who talked down through his nose and had trouble smiling. He wore a coat and tie and seemed to enjoy being better dressed than his American counterparts, neither of whom gave a damn. In his opinion, the best strategy was to establish a new account at Trinidad Trust, a bank he knew well. Solomon Frick was an acquaintance. Many of the banks on the islands refused to do business with Americans, so it was best to have Scully’s London office open the account and keep everything away from the feds.

			“Your tax people are notoriously difficult,” he explained through his nose.

			Mitch shrugged. What was he supposed to do? Rush to the defense of the IRS? When the money was collected, hopefully by the following morning, it would be transferred to a numbered account at the Trinidad Trust, pursuant to Mr. Mansour’s instructions. From there, with one push of a button, it would be wired to some yet-to-be-determined account, and gone forever.

			After an hour, they left his office and walked two blocks to a similar building where they met Solomon Frick, a gregarious backslapper from South Africa. A quick Scully background check on Frick raised a number of red flags. He had worked in banks from Singapore to Ireland to the Caribbean and was always on the move, usually with some debris scattered behind. However, his current employer, Trinidad Trust, was reputable.

			Frick handed Mitch and Jennings the paperwork, which they reviewed and emailed to Riley Casey, who was at his desk in London. He signed where necessary and sent everything back to Frick. Scully & Pershing now had an account in the Caymans.

			Mitch emailed his contact at the Royal Bank of Quebec, which was just down the street, and authorized the transfer of his contribution of $10 million. He watched the large screen on Frick’s wall, and about ten minutes later his money hit the new Scully account.

			“Your money?” Jennings asked, confused.

			Mitch nodded slightly and said, “It’s a very long story.”

			Mitch called Riley, who then called his contact in the Foreign Office. Stephen emailed Roberto Maggi with the wiring instructions. Luca’s money was sitting in an account on the island of Martinique, another Caribbean tax haven. Luca had dealt with several of them and was no stranger to the offshore games.

			As they waited, Mitch glanced occasionally at the screen and the sum of money he’d just said goodbye to. There was a measure of relief in parting with the dirty funds he should have never grabbed way back then. He remembered the exact moment he made the decision to do it. He had been where he was now—in a bank building in Georgetown, not five minutes away by foot. He had been frightened and angry that the entire Bendini conspiracy had robbed him of his future, and maybe his life as well. He had convinced himself that they, the firm, owed him something. He’d had the access code and passwords and written authority, so he took the money.

			There was now a relief in knowing it might actually do some good.

			He called Abby, who was six hours ahead, and they talked for a long time. She was bored, killing time, and waiting on word from Hassan. She had talked to Cory, on the green phone of course, and they agreed that no money would change hands unless Abby was convinced Giovanna was safe. Assuming, of course, she was still alive and the deal was still on.

			The British slush money arrived at 3:25 and came from a bank in the Bahamas. Twenty minutes later, the Italian funds arrived from a bank on Guadaloupe in the French West Indies. The current tally was $50 million, including Luca’s contribution.

			Riley called Mitch from London with the intel that the American money would not arrive until Wednesday morning, unwelcome news. Since he had no idea who was sending it or where it was coming from, he could not complain.

			Mitch had sent emails to Omar Celik and Denys Tullos in Istanbul but they had not responded. When it was time to leave, Mitch called Jack in New York on the off chance that he’d had some luck with the Scully management committee. He had not. With some bitterness that was uncharacteristic, Jack explained that enough of them had fled the city to prevent a quorum.
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			At the Ritz-Carlton, Mitch shook off Stephen and promised to meet him at eight for dinner by the pool. He changed into shorts and a golf shirt, and walked two hundred yards down the busy street to a rental place they had just passed in the cab. He picked a red Honda scooter and said he’d have it back by dark. Scooters were everywhere on the island and he and Abby had enjoyed them years earlier, when they were in hiding.

			The Georgetown traffic was unrelenting and he weaved through it trying to get out of town. He did not remember so much congestion. There were more hotels and condos, and strip malls offering fast food, T-shirts, cheap beer, and duty-free booze. Georgetown had been thoroughly Americanized. On the other side of Hog Sty Bay the traffic thinned and the scooter hummed along. He passed through Red Bay, left the city, and saw the signs for Bodden Town. The road followed the shore but the beaches were gone. The sea rolled gently in and splashed against rocks and small cliffs. With little sand to offer, the hotels and condos thinned too, and the views were impressive.

			Grand Cayman was twenty-two miles long and the main road looped around all of it. Mitch had never had the time in his earlier visits to see much of the island, but at the moment he had nothing better to do. The salty air in his face was refreshing. Thoughts of Giovanna could be set aside for at least a few hours because the banks and offices were closed. He stopped at Abanks Dive Lodge outside of Bodden Town and had a beer at the bar at the water’s edge. Barry Abanks had rescued Mitch, Abby, and Ray from a pier in Florida as they made their escape. He had sold his operation years earlier and settled in Miami.

			Moving on, Mitch scootered east to the far coast and crept through the settlements of East End and Gun Bay. The road continued to narrow and at times two cars could barely pass. Georgetown was on the other end of the island, far away. On the leeward side he parked and walked to the edge of a cliff where other tourists had left their trash. He sat on a rock and watched the water churn below. At Rum Point, he had another beer, a Red Stripe from Jamaica, as he watched a large group of middle-age couples eat and drink at an outdoor barbecue.

			When it was almost dark, he headed back to Seven Mile Beach. Stephen was waiting and it was time for dinner.

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 44

			Wednesday, May 25.

			At 9 A.M. Abby entered the hotel’s restaurant and asked for the same table. She followed the waiter to it and was mildly surprised because Mr. Hassan Mansour was not there. She took a seat and ordered coffee, juice, toast and jam. She texted Mitch just to say good morning and he responded quickly. She was not surprised that he was awake because he had not slept ten hours in the last month.

			A well-dressed Moroccan couple sat at the nearest table. The gentleman was working for Cory and on her team. He glanced at her but did not acknowledge her presence.

			Hassan finally came in and was all smiles and apologies. He had been delayed in traffic and so on, and wasn’t the weather nice? He asked for tea and went on for a few minutes as if they were tourists. She ate dry toast and tried to calm her nerves.

			“So, Mrs. McDeere, what is the status?” She had asked him at least three times to call her Abby.

			“We’re expecting two wires this morning, and they will tally things up to seventy-five million, as I promised.”

			A lame effort at a frown, but it was obvious Hassan and his clients wanted the money. “But the deal was for a hundred million, Mrs. McDeere.”

			“Yes, we are aware of that. You demanded one hundred and we tried our best to get it. But we’re a bit short. Seventy-five is all we have. And, it is imperative that I see Giovanna before the money is wired.”

			“And you have an account at Trinidad Trust, as directed?”

			“Yes,” she said, playing along. She knew that he knew the answer. His banker, Solomon Frick, had informed him that the account had been opened, or that’s what Jennings had told Mitch. Frick and his bank were waiting. Everything was set. The fortune was practically in hand, and Hassan was having a difficult time hiding his excitement.

			“Would you like some toast?” she asked. There were four buttered slices on the small plate.

			He took one, said “Thank you,” and pulled it in half.

			She said, “We have plenty of time. The deadline is hours away.”

			“Yes, it’s just that my client still demands one hundred.”

			“And we cannot meet that demand, Mr. Mansour. It’s quite simple. Seventy-five, take it or leave it.”

			Hassan actually grimaced at something, probably the idea of walking away. He sipped his tea and tried to appear concerned that things were falling apart. They ate for a few moments, and he said, “Here is our plan. I’ll meet you in the lobby at four P.M. You will inform me that all of the wires are complete and your money is ready. We will then leave together, go to a safe place, and you will see Giovanna.”

			“I’m not leaving the hotel.”

			“As you wish.”
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			At 9:15 a wire transfer arrived from a bank in Cyprus. Ten million dollars, as promised by Omar Celik, from a Lannak subsidiary in Croatia. Mitch, Stephen, Jennings, and Frick all smiled and took a deep breath. Neither Jennings nor Frick knew the backstory. They had no idea where the money was going or what it was being used for. However, given the Scully lawyers’ anxiety, it was obvious that time was crucial. Jennings, British to the core, suspected it was related to the Scully hostage the press had been salivating over, but he was much too professional to ask. His job was to simply advise his client and oversee the wires coming in and the big one going out.

			Mitch called Riley Casey in London, not really expecting to learn anything, but just to inquire anyway and ask, “Where is the damned money from the Americans?” Not surprisingly, Riley had no idea what the Americans were up to.

			At 10:04, a wire arrived from a bank in Mexico City. The last installment of $15 million had just landed, and now the question was what to do with it. Solomon Frick stepped into another office to call his client with the good news. Mitch called Abby with the same.
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			By 3:45, Abby was ready to go. She had been there for only two nights but it seemed much longer. She felt captive in the hotel, as nice as it was, but when you’re afraid to leave the premises and you know you’re being watched, the clock slows considerably.

			At 4 P.M. she walked into the lobby and smiled at Hassan. Though no one was around he whispered anyway, “What is the status?”

			“Nothing has changed. We have seventy-five million.”

			He frowned because he had to. “Very well. We will accept it.”

			“Not until I see Giovanna.”

			“Yes, well, to see her, you must leave the hotel.”

			“I’m not leaving the hotel.”

			“Then we have a problem. It’s too risky to bring her here.”

			“But why?”

			“Because you cannot be trusted, Mrs. McDeere. You were told to come here alone but we suspect you have friends in the vicinity. Is this true?”

			Abby was too stunned to answer quickly and lie convincingly and her hesitation revealed the truth. “Well, uh, no, I don’t know what you’re talking about.”

			Hassan smiled and pulled out his phone, which appeared to be another Jakl. He stuck it in front of her and said, “You don’t recognize this person?”

			It was a shot of Cory leaving the front entrance of the hotel. Even with sunglasses and a cap he was recognizable. Nice work, Cory.

			She shook her head and said, “Don’t know him.”

			“Oh really,” Hassan said with a nasty smile as he slid the phone back into his pocket and glanced around the lobby. It was still deserted. Softly he said, “His name is Cory Gallant and he works in security for the law firm of Scully and Pershing. I’m sure you know him well. He’s here in the city with at least two local agents he thinks he can trust. So, Mrs. McDeere, we are not foolish enough to bring the lady here to the hotel. You can’t be trusted either. The entire operation is on the verge of a terrible collapse. Giovanna’s life is in danger. Right now she has a gun pointed at her head.”

			Stunned as she was, Abby tried to think clearly. “Okay, I was told to come alone, and I did. I had nothing to do with this guy showing up and I’ve never seen any local agents. You know I traveled here alone because you watched me. I’ve done everything you’ve asked me to do.”

			“If you wish to see her, you must take a walk with me.”

			Among her many thoughts, the most prominent at that moment was: I’m not trained for this. I have no idea what to do next. Somehow, she managed to say, “I’m not leaving this hotel.”

			“Very well, Mrs. McDeere. Your refusal is putting Giovanna’s life at risk. I am offering to take you to see her.”

			“Where is she?”

			“Not far. A pleasant walk on a nice day.”

			“I don’t feel safe.”

			“How do you think Giovanna feels?”

			With a gun to her head? There was no time to ponder or negotiate. She said, “Okay, I’ll walk, but I’m not getting in a vehicle.”

			“I didn’t mention one.”

			They left the hotel through the front entrance and turned onto a busy sidewalk. Abby knew the hotel was in the center of the city and near the medina, the original walled settlement that is the heart of Marrakech. From behind oversized sunglasses, Abby tried to see every face and every movement, but she was soon overwhelmed by the crowd. Wearing jeans and sneakers and carrying a bulky designer shoulder bag, she got a few looks, but there were other tourists, mostly Westerners, roaming about. She prayed that Cory and his boys were somewhere close behind, watching, but after his getting busted by Hassan she was not so confident.

			Hassan said nothing as they strolled along. She followed him through an ancient stone entrance and into the medina, an incredible maze of narrow cobblestone streets packed with pedestrians and donkey carts. There were a few scooters but no automobiles. They drifted with the waves of human traffic, passing endless rows of stalls selling everything imaginable. Hassan weaved deeper into the maze, in no particular hurry it seemed. Abby stole a few looks behind her in a futile effort to see a landmark she might remember later, but it was impossible.

			The medina had been centuries in the making and its markets, called souks, sprawled helter-skelter in every conceivable direction. They walked past souks for spices, eggs, textiles, herbs, leathers, carpets, pottery, jewelry, metals, fish, fowl, and animals, some dead and ready to eat, others alive and looking for a new home. In a large, dirty cage a pack of howler monkeys screeched but no one seemed to hear them. Everyone spoke loudly, some practically yelling, in a dozen languages as they haggled over prices, quantity, and quality. Abby heard a few words in English, a few more in Italian, but most of it was incomprehensible. Some of the merchants barked at the customers, who were quick to bark right back. In a crush of people, Hassan yelled over his shoulder, “Watch your bag. The pickpockets are aggressive around here.”

			In an open plaza they walked with caution near a row of snake handlers playing their flutes as their cobras danced from colorful urns. They slowed to admire a troop of acrobats and transvestite dancers. Young boys were boxing with heavy leather gloves. Street magicians were trying to draw enough people for the next show. Musicians strummed away on lutes and santirs. In one souk a dentist appeared to be pulling teeth. In another a photographer was coaxing tourists to pose with his beautiful young model. Beggars were everywhere and seemed to be doing a brisk business.

			When they were hopelessly lost in the depths of the medina, Abby asked, above the din, “Where, exactly, are we going?”

			Hassan nodded ahead but said nothing. Surrounded by swarms of people, she did not feel completely vulnerable, but seconds later she felt lost and terrified. They turned in to another section, another narrow street with squat shabby buildings lining the cobblestones, and a souk for spice on one side and carpets on the other. From the open windows upstairs, colorful rugs hung by the dozens and shaded the stalls below. Hassan suddenly took her by the elbow, nodded, and said, “Over here.” They stepped into a dark, tight passageway between two buildings, then through a door that was covered with a faded rug. Hassan shoved it open. They entered a room with walls and the floor made of rugs, then walked into another room, seemingly identical. A woman was placing a tea service on a small ivory table with two chairs. Hassan nodded at her and she disappeared.

			He smiled, waved at the table, and said, “Will you join me for some tea, Mrs. McDeere?”

			As if she could say no. Tea would not have been her beverage of choice at that moment. She sat in a chair and watched him slowly fill two cups with black tea. It even smelled strong.

			He took a sip, smiled, and put his cup down. To his left he said, loudly, “Ali!” Two hanging rugs separated slightly and a young man stuck his head through the gap. Hassan nodded slightly and said, “Now.”

			The rugs slid farther apart to reveal a figure seated in a chair less than twenty feet away. It was a woman draped in black with a small hood covering her face. Her long light brown hair fell to her shoulders beneath the hood. Behind her was a tough guy also in black with a mask hiding his face and a pistol on his hip.

			Hassan nodded and the man lifted the hood. Giovanna exhaled at the light, dim as it was, and blinked several times. Abby knew it was no time to be timid so she blurted, “Giovanna, it’s me, Abby McDeere. Are you okay?”

			Giovanna’s mouth dropped open as she tried to focus. “Yes, Abby, I am okay.” Her voice was weak and scratchy.

			Abby said, “Andiamo a casa, Giovanna. Luca sta aspettando.” Let’s go home, Giovanna, Luca is waiting.

			She replied, “Si, okay, va bene, fai quello che vogliono.” Yes, just do what they want.

			Hassan nodded and the carpets were quickly pulled back together. He looked at Abby and said, “Now, are you satisfied.”

			“I guess.” At least she was alive.

			“She looks nice, yes?”

			Abby looked away, unwilling to dignify his question with a response. Keep her in a cage for forty days and I’m supposed to be impressed with how good she looks?

			“The next move is yours, Mrs. McDeere. Please inform your husband.”

			“And when I do, and when you receive the money, what happens then?”

			He smiled, snapped his fingers, and said, “We disappear, just like that. We leave from here and no one follows. You leave from here and no one follows.”

			“And I’m supposed to find my way out of here?”

			“I’m sure you’ll manage. Please make the call.”

			From her collection of phones, Abby selected her old cell and called Mitch.
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			Mitch put the phone back in his pocket, smiled at the others, and said, “All systems go.”

			Frick produced a one-page document and handed it to Jennings, who pored over every word, then handed it to Mitch, who did the same. Stripped of the verbiage, it was a simple authorization. Mitch and Jennings signed it.

			Frick sat at his desk, opened his laptop, and said, “Gentlemen, please watch the screen. I am now transferring seventy-five million dollars from account ADMP-8859-4454-7376-XBU to account number 33375-9856623, both of said accounts in-house at Trinidad Trust, Grand Cayman office.” As they watched the screen, the balance of the first account suddenly became zero, and a few seconds later the balance of the second account became $75,000,000.

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 45

			Hassan listened intently for a moment, then put his phone on the table. He poured himself more tea and asked, “For you?”

			“No thanks.” She had taken one sip. She doubted she would ever want another cup of tea.

			Hassan removed another phone from another pocket and stared at the screen. Minutes passed slowly. He sipped even more deliberately. Finally, his first phone buzzed softly. He suppressed a smile, gathered both phones, and said, “The money has arrived. A pleasure doing business, Mrs. McDeere. I’ve never had a lovelier adversary.”

			“Sure. Whatever. A real pleasure.”

			He stood and said, “I’ll go now. It’s best if you wait a moment before leaving.”

			In a split second he was gone. He stepped between two hanging rugs on the other side of the room and vanished. Abby waited, counted to ten, got to her feet, listened silently, then said, “Giovanna. Are you there?”

			There was no answer.

			Abby yanked open the rugs and froze in horror.

			“Giovanna!” she yelled. “Giovanna!” She pulled at other hanging rugs looking for another room, another exit, but found nothing. She stood and gawked at the empty chair, the empty room, and felt like screaming. But she couldn’t hesitate. She had to find Giovanna and she couldn’t be far away.

			Abby managed to slip through more rugs and find the cramped passageway. She hurried through it and back to the cobblestone street where she stopped and looked around at thousands of people wandering in all directions. The vast majority were men in long robes of various colors, but white was dominant. At first glance she did not see a single woman robed in black.

			Which way to go? Where to turn? She had never been so lost in her life. It was hopeless. She saw the top of the dome of a mosque and remembered passing near it earlier. Going toward it made as much sense as anything else.

			She had lost the money and she had lost Giovanna. It was surreal, impossible to believe, and she had no idea what to do next. As she drifted with the crowd she realized she had to call Mitch. Perhaps he could stop the wire, get the money back, but she knew the truth.

			A man was screaming at her, a wild-eyed, red-faced lunatic ranting in another language, angry at her for some reason. He blocked her path and stepped closer and stumbled. She realized he was drunk, but he did not stop his tirade. She turned to her right and picked up her pace. He stumbled again, then fell hard. She got away from him but was rattled even more. She kept moving, and when she saw a small group of people who were obviously tourists she kept close to them. They were Dutch, with neat backpacks and hiking boots. She followed along for a few moments as she tried to collect her thoughts. The Dutch found an outdoor café and decided to take a coffee break. Abby found a table nearby and tried to ignore them. She also tried to settle her nerves but realized she was crying.

			Her nearest ally was Cory. With the green phone she called him and he answered immediately. “Where are you?” he snapped, obviously wired.

			“In the medina, close to the mosque. Where are you?”

			“Hell if I know. I’m trying to find my colleagues. We’re close by, I think.”

			“They’re watching you?”

			“What?”

			“Listen to me, Cory. The money has been wired and Giovanna has disappeared, again.”

			“Shit!”

			“I’m afraid so. I saw her for a second and she is alive. At least she was moments ago. Mitch completed the wire, then she vanished. I blew it, Cory. She’s gone.”

			“Are you okay, Abby?”

			“Yes. Please come find me. I’m at an outdoor café near a row of stalls selling leather goods.”

			“Go to the Mouassine Mosque, the nearest one. There is a fountain on the north side. I’ll find you there.”

			“Got it.” Where the hell was north?

			She walked across a crowded plaza and saw the dome in the distance. It was not as close as she thought.

			A familiar sound rang in her bag and she realized she had forgotten about the Jakl. She stopped next to a stall selling cheese and looked at the Jakl. Of course they were still following her. It was Noura.

			“Yes,” Abby said.

			“Listen to me, Abby. Turn to your left and walk past the large souk with brown pottery. Do you see it?”

			“Where are you, Noura?”

			“I’m here, watching you. Do you see the brown pottery?”

			“Yes. I’m walking that way. Where’s Giovanna, Noura?”

			“In the medina. Stay on the phone. Next you’ll see the small plaza with a row of donkey carts. Walk toward them.”

			“I am, I am.”

			Noura materialized from thin air and was beside Abby. “Just keep walking,” she said and put her phone away. Abby returned hers to her bag. She glanced at Noura, who looked exactly as she had when they first met in the coffee shop a month earlier. Her face was completely veiled, her eyes barely visible. She wondered if it was the same person and realized there was no way to know. However, her voice sounded familiar.

			“What’s going on, Noura?”

			“You will see.”

			“Is Giovanna okay? Tell me nothing has happened to her.”

			“You will see.”

			They walked past the donkey carts and onto a residential street that was quieter and slightly less crowded. A smaller mosque, Sidi Ishak, was in front of them.

			“Stop here,” Noura said. “To the right of the mosque, on the corner there, is a tiny souk for coffee and tea. Go inside.”

			Noura abruptly turned and walked away. Abby hurried down the street, past the mosque and into the store. In a corner, partially hidden, was Giovanna Sandroni, wearing the same jeans, jacket, and hiking boots she had worn the day she was abducted. She grabbed Abby and they embraced tightly and for a long time. The shopkeeper eyed them suspiciously but said nothing.

			They stepped outside and onto the street. Abby called Cory, gave him the news, then called Mitch.

			“Are we safe?” Giovanna asked as they walked back to the market.

			“Yes, Giovanna, we are safe. And we’re taking you to Rome. The airplane is waiting. Do you need anything?”

			“No. Just food.”

			“We have food.”

			Abby glanced at an alley behind a row of stalls selling fruits and vegetables. A cardboard box was half filled with rotten produce and other garbage. She took a few steps toward it and dropped the Jakl into the mess.

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 46

			“Have you ever stopped to think about how much misery those bad boys can create with seventy-five million dollars?” Stephen asked.

			“It’s actually eighty-five, and yes I have,” Mitch replied. “More people will be terrorized and killed. More bombs bought and detonated. More buildings burned. Nothing good will come from the money. Instead of being used for food and medicine, it’ll be wasted on more bullets.”

			“You feel bad about that?”

			“If I think of it in that context, yes. But I don’t. We had no choice because there was a life at stake.”

			“I wouldn’t worry about it either. As long as it’s bad actors killing one another, who really cares?”

			They were sitting at a small table on the shaded porch of a coffee bar overlooking Hog Sty Bay. One massive cruise ship was docked and another was visible on the horizon. They were nervous and staring at Mitch’s phone in the center of the table.

			It finally buzzed and Mitch grabbed it. From 4,500 miles away, Abby said, “We’ve got her and we’re going to the airport.” He flashed a smile and gave Stephen a thumbs-up.

			“Great. Is she okay?”

			“Yes. She called Luca and can’t wait to get home.”

			“I’ll call Roberto.” Mitch was choked up for a second, then said, “Great job, Abby. I’m so proud of you.”

			“I didn’t really have a choice, did I?”

			“We’ll discuss it later.”

			“You have no idea. She disappeared after the money was wired. I’ll tell you all about it.”

			“I’ll see you in Rome. I love you.”

			Mitch pressed the OFF button and looked at Stephen. “They’re going to the airport and headed for home. We did it.”

			Stephen shrugged and said, “Oh well, all in a day’s work.”

			“Right. I’m calling Roberto and Jack. You call Riley in London.”

			“Will do. Where am I going from here?”

			“You’re going to New York. I’m going to Rome.”

			“Who gets the jet?”

			“Not you.”

			“Figures.”

			“But I’ll approve an upgrade to business class.”

			“That’s nice. Thanks.”
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			On the plane, the nurse finished a quick exam and found nothing wrong. Pulse, blood pressure, heart rate—all within normal ranges. She offered a sedative to help her relax, but Giovanna wasn’t thinking about pills. She asked for a glass of very cold champagne. She drank half of it as they waited for clearance, then stretched out on the sofa and closed her eyes. Abby gently placed a blanket over her. As she tucked it tight around her legs, she realized Giovanna was crying softly.

			When they lifted off, Abby smiled at Cory, who gave her a thumbs-up. They were in the air! Twenty minutes later, as they leveled off at 40,000 feet, Giovanna sat up and draped the blanket over her shoulders. Abby unbuckled her belt and sat close to her and said, “There’s a small shower in the back.”

			“No. They moved me into the hotel last night and I was allowed to bathe for the first time in forty days. Try that sometime. My hair was nothing but knots and grease. My teeth were covered with a grungy film. I was gross from head to toe. I stayed in the bathroom for hours.”

			Abby was touching the sleeve of her shirt. “Looks clean.”

			“Yes, I wasn’t allowed to wear this stuff. Did you see the videos?”

			“Yes, some of them.”

			“They dressed me a like a monk, hijab and all. Last night they gave me this outfit back, all clean and pressed. Such nice boys.”

			“You said you were hungry.”

			“Yes, what’s on the menu?”

			“Sea bass or steak.”

			“I’ll take the fish. Thanks. And more champagne.”
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			Mitch was six hours behind them. Roberto had a car waiting for him at the Rome airport, along with strict instructions from Luca to come straight to his villa where a small party was underway. He arrived just after midnight, and practically tackled his wife when he saw her. After they finished a long embrace, he went for Giovanna. She thanked him repeatedly. He apologized repeatedly. He embraced Luca and thought the old guy looked ten years younger.

			Along with Roberto and his wife, Cory, Darian, and Bella, there were about a dozen old family friends on the veranda and the mood was one of sheer euphoria and relief. They had feared the worst for so long, now it was time to celebrate the miracle. They did not want the night to end.

			A friend who owned a restaurant around the corner arrived with another wave of food. Neighbors who complained of the noise were invited to join the revelry. “Giovanna’s back!” someone yelled and the word spread.
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			Mitch and Abby slept on a narrow bed in a guestroom, and awoke with mild, matching hangovers. Nothing that sparkling water and strong coffee couldn’t fix.

			One glance at his phone and he wanted to toss it. Dozens of missed calls, voicemails, emails, texts, all related to the release of the hostage. He and Roberto huddled and put together a quick media strategy. They wrote a press release that gave the most important fact—Giovanna’s release and safe return—while avoiding all other details. They sent it to New York and London. Roberto would deal with the Italian newspapers. No one was getting near a television camera.

			Mid-morning Luca appeared and joined them on the veranda. He said that Giovanna had agreed to follow the advice of his doctor and spend a couple of days in the hospital for tests and observation. She had lost at least twenty pounds and was dehydrated. He and Roberto would leave with her in half an hour.

			Luca thanked Mitch and Abby again, and when he hugged them his eyes were moist. Mitch wondered if he would ever see him again.

			Yes, he would. Once things were settled at home, he and Abby would return to Rome and hang out with Luca and Giovanna. He had made the decision to take some time off.

			At noon, the Gulfstream left Rome again, bound for New York, where it would deposit Cory and Darian, then fuel up for a quick trip to Maine, where the McDeere family would be reunited and enjoy a long, lazy weekend.

			Monday would be brutal. The boys were two weeks behind at school.

		

	
		
		
			Chapter 47

			As Mitch entered 110 Broad for the last time, he paused and drifted to his right where the designer benches sat empty, always empty, and the expensive and baffling paintings hung in plain view, ignored by all. He sat down and watched, just like his old pal Lamar Quin, as hundreds of young professionals raced upward with their phones stuck to their ears. The crowd was not as thick because the hour was late, almost 9:30 A.M., an unheard-of hour for arrivals in Big Law.

			For the past week, Mitch had been going in later and leaving earlier, if he went in at all.

			He finally made it to his office, where he checked on his storage boxes, then left without a word to his secretary. He might call her later.

			Jack was expecting him at 9:45.

			“Please thank Barry again,” Mitch said. “For his incredible hospitality. We might go back in August.”

			“Well, I’ll be there, Mitch. I’m leaving July thirtieth.”

			“I’m leaving now, Jack. I’m walking out, resigning, quitting, whatever you want to call it. I can’t work here. I saw Mavis Chisenhall yesterday in the cafeteria and she almost broke her neck trying to get away. Too ashamed to speak to me. I can’t work in a place where people avoid me.”

			“Come on, Mitch. You’re a hero right now, the man of the hour.”

			“Doesn’t feel that way.”

			“It’s true. Everyone knows what the management committee did, or didn’t do, and the entire firm is upset.”

			“Scully lost its spine, Jack, if it ever had one.”

			“Don’t do it, Mitch. Let some time pass. Everybody will get over it.”

			“That’s easy for you to say. You’re leaving.”

			“True. I just hate to see you go somewhere else, Mitch.”

			“I’m outta here, Jack. So is Luca. I talked to him yesterday and he’s resigning. Giovanna too. She’s moving back to Rome and will take over his office.”

			“Please, Mitch, don’t overreact.”

			“And I’m keeping Lannak. They’re fed up with Scully.”

			“Poaching clients already?”

			“Call it whatever. You’ve done your share. I can think of a few you’ve snagged. That’s the game in Big Law.”

			Mitch stood and said, “There are four boxes of my office junk on my desk. Could you have them delivered to my apartment?”

			“Of course. You’re really leaving?”

			“I’m gone, Jack. Let’s part as friends.”

			Jack stood and they shook hands.

			“I’d love to see you and Abby and the boys in August. Barry’s counting on it.”

			“We’ll be there.”

		

	
		
		
			Author’s Note

			The law firm of Scully & Pershing was founded in 2009 when I needed it to add flavor and authenticity to The Associate, that year’s legal thriller. Big law firms are big targets for writers of fiction, and I’ve had my share of fun at their expense. Five years later, I retained Scully again in Gray Mountain.

			It was the perfect place to put Mitch fifteen years after The Firm imploded in Memphis. Now, he’s leaving again and I’m not sure where he’ll turn up next.

			I was once a lawyer in a small town, far removed from the world of Big Law. And since I’ve always tried to avoid big firms, I have no idea how they function. Typically, I did what I usually do when trying to avoid research. I called a friend.

			John Levy is one of the senior partners of Sidley & Austin, a mammoth Chicago firm with offices around the world. He invited me to stop by for lunch and toss questions at him and some of his colleagues. I had a delightful time talking books and law with Chris Abbinante, Robert Lewis, Pran Jha, Dave Gordon, Paul Choi, Teresa Wilton Harmon, and, of course, Mr. Levy himself. John is one of the finest lawyers I’ve had the pleasure of knowing.

			If asked to, I would swear on a Bible that Scully is not based on Sidley.

			Thanks also to other friends: Glad Jones, Gene McDade, and Suzanne Herz.

			A special thanks to the readers who have enjoyed The Firm over the years and been kind enough to write and ask: Will we ever see Mitch and Abby again?

		

	
		
			[image: Penguin Random House publisher logo.]

			
				What’s next on
 your reading list?

			Discover your next
 great read!

			 

			Get personalized book picks and up-to-date news about this author.

			Sign up now.

		

		_145134796_

	

OEBPS/images/9780385548960_cover.jpg
y & e
GRISHAM

NNNNN

THE
EXCHANGE

FFFFFFFFFFF






OEBPS/9780385548960_nav.xhtml

		
			Contents


			
						Cover


						Other Titles


						Title Page


						Copyright


						Contents


						Chapter 1


						Chapter 2


						Chapter 3


						Chapter 4


						Chapter 5


						Chapter 6


						Chapter 7


						Chapter 8


						Chapter 9


						Chapter 10


						Chapter 11


						Chapter 12


						Chapter 13


						Chapter 14


						Chapter 15


						Chapter 16


						Chapter 17


						Chapter 18


						Chapter 19


						Chapter 20


						Chapter 21


						Chapter 22


						Chapter 23


						Chapter 24


						Chapter 25


						Chapter 26


						Chapter 27


						Chapter 28


						Chapter 29


						Chapter 30


						Chapter 31


						Chapter 32


						Chapter 33


						Chapter 34


						Chapter 35


						Chapter 36


						Chapter 37


						Chapter 38


						Chapter 39


						Chapter 40


						Chapter 41


						Chapter 42


						Chapter 43


						Chapter 44


						Chapter 45


						Chapter 46


						Chapter 47


						Author’s Note


			


		
		
			Landmarks


			
						Cover


						Cover


						Title Page


						Contents


						Start


						Copyright


			


		
		
			Print Page List


			
						iii


						v


						vi


						1


						2


						3


						4


						5


						6


						7


						8


						9


						10


						11


						12


						13


						14


						15


						16


						17


						18


						19


						20


						21


						22


						23


						24


						25


						26


						27


						28


						29


						30


						31


						32


						33


						34


						35


						36


						37


						38


						39


						40


						41


						42


						43


						44


						45


						46


						47


						48


						49


						50


						51


						52


						53


						54


						55


						56


						57


						58


						59


						60


						61


						62


						63


						64


						65


						66


						67


						68


						69


						70


						71


						72


						73


						74


						75


						76


						77


						78


						79


						80


						81


						82


						83


						84


						85


						86


						87


						88


						89


						90


						91


						92


						93


						94


						95


						96


						97


						98


						99


						100


						101


						102


						103


						104


						105


						106


						107


						108


						109


						110


						111


						112


						113


						114


						115


						116


						117


						118


						119


						120


						121


						122


						123


						124


						125


						126


						127


						128


						129


						130


						131


						132


						133


						134


						135


						136


						137


						138


						139


						140


						141


						142


						143


						144


						145


						146


						147


						148


						149


						150


						151


						152


						153


						154


						155


						156


						157


						158


						159


						160


						161


						162


						163


						164


						165


						166


						167


						168


						169


						170


						171


						172


						173


						174


						175


						176


						177


						178


						179


						180


						181


						182


						183


						184


						185


						186


						187


						188


						189


						190


						191


						192


						193


						194


						195


						196


						197


						198


						199


						200


						201


						202


						203


						204


						205


						206


						207


						208


						209


						210


						211


						212


						213


						214


						215


						216


						217


						218


						219


						220


						221


						222


						223


						224


						225


						226


						227


						228


						229


						230


						231


						232


						233


						234


						235


						236


						237


						238


						239


						240


						241


						242


						243


						244


						245


						246


						247


						248


						249


						250


						251


						252


						253


						254


						255


						256


						257


						258


						259


						260


						261


						262


						263


						264


						265


						266


						267


						268


						269


						270


						271


						272


						273


						274


						275


						276


						277


						278


						279


						280


						281


						282


						283


						284


						285


						286


						287


						288


						289


						290


						291


						292


						293


						294


						295


						296


						297


						298


						299


						300


						301


						302


						303


						304


						305


						306


						307


						308


						309


						310


						311


						312


						313


						314


						315


						316


						317


						318


						319


						320


						321


						322


						323


						324


						325


						326


						327


						328


						329


						330


						331


						332


						333


						334


						337


						338


			


		
	

OEBPS/images/next-reads_logo.jpg
Penguin
Random
House








OEBPS/images/Gris_9780385548960_epub3_001_r1.jpg





OEBPS/images/9780385548960_title_page.jpg
JOHN
GRISHAM

o

THE
EXCHANGE

After The Firm

e

DOUBLEDAY
New York





